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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

. make “forward-locking ststements™ within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 throughout this document.
Whenever you read & siaiement that is Dot simply a statement of historical fact (such as when we describe what we “believe,” “intend,” “plan,”
“estimete,” “expect” or “anticipaie™ will ocour and otber similer statcmicats), yoo must remember that our expectations may not be correct,
even though we bebicve they are reasonable. We do not guarantec that agy fuhure transactions or events described herein will happen as
described or that they will happen st all. You should read this document completely and with the understanding that actual forare results may
be maxrally different from what we expect. Whether actual cvents or results will conform with our expectations and predictions is sebject to »
mumber of risks and uncertainties. For further discussion sec Jiem IA. Risk Factors. The risks end uncenwinties include, but arc not Limited to,
the following:

we face intense and increasing competition from satcllmmdublctd:vmptwﬂzrncwcnmpeumn including tclephone
compénies, &re entering the subscription l:lcmmbnsm;andncwtndmbgm,mclu&ngwdaoovumem are likely o
further incresse competition;

= lcchmbgychmgn.ndnwdubmnmmpcuuvt,w:mﬂhv:muppﬁeornpbcewme,uun subscriber cquipment

periodically. We will not be abke to pass on to our customers the entire cost of these upgrades;
DISH Network subsariber growth may decrease, subscriber tumover may increase snd subscriber acquisition costs may Increase,

saicllite propramming signals have becn subject to theft and will contimue to be subject to theft in the foture; thefl of service coald
increasc and causc us 10 lose subscribers and revesue, and result in highar costs to us;

we depend on others to produce programming. programming costs may increase beyoad our cunrent expectations; we may be unable 1o
obtain of rencw programming agreements oo acoepiable terms or at all; existing programming agreements could be subject to
canceliation; foreign programmimg is increasingly offered on other platforms which conld cause our subscriber additions and related
revenue to dechine and could canse our subscriber tumover to increase; .

we depend on the Telecommumications Act of 1996 a5 Amended (“Commuaications Act”) and Federal Communications Commission
{“FCC™) program access rules 1o secure nondiscriminatory access t progmnming produced by others, neither of which assure that we
have fair access to all programming that we need to remain competitive;

the regulations goveming ow industry may change;

cermin provisions of the Satcllite Home Viewer Extension and Reanthorization Act of 2004, or SHVERA, may force us (o stop
offering local chanmels in cortain mackets or may force us t incar sdditional costs to contimie offering local channels in cestain
markets;

our satrllite lannches may be delayed or fuil, or our satellstes may fail in orbit prior to the end of their scheduled lives ing ex
imtexruptions of some of the channcls we offer; ,

we curvently do not have commercial insurance covering losscs incurred from the failure of satellite bumches and/ar in-orbit satcllites
we own;

service interroptions arising from technical apomalies on satellites or on-ground components of our direct broadcast satellite (‘DBS')
Fystem, or cansed by war, terrorigt activities or natural disasters, may caust customer canceliations or otherwise harm our business,
we arc heavily dependeat on lex information technologics; wesknesses in ow information tecknology syscms could have an
ndvmcunpwununhmms wemyhnwdxﬁi:ultynwuqmdnmnngnﬁdpuwmdwmmnommfmm
technology infrastructure;

we rely o key persoancl inclading Charles W. Ergea, our chainman and chicf executive officer, and ather executives;

we may be unable 1o obtain needed retransmission conseaw, FCC suthorizations or export locnscs, snd we may lose our current or
future authorizations; )

we are party to various lawsits which, if adversely decided, could have a significant adverse impact on owr busimess;

$rearbonrd
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+  we may be unsble to obtar patent licenses from bolders of intellectnal propeny of redesign our products to avoid patent ipfringement;
sales of digital equipment and related services to intemationa! direct-to-home savice providas may decrease;

«  we are highty leveraged and subject to numerous constraints on our ability 10 raise additional debt;

»  we may pursue acquisitions, busincss combinations, stratcgic partnerships, divestures snd other significant transections that involve
uncertamties;

»  weakness in the global or U.S. economy may harm owr business gencrally, and adverse political or economic developments may occur
in some of our markets;

+  temorist attacks, the possibility of war or other hostilities, nature] end man-made disasters, snd changes in political and economic
conditions as a resuht of these events roay continue to affect the U.S. and the global economy and may increass othes risks;

«  we periodically cvahuate and test ow intemal control over finantial reporting in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Althongh our menagement concinded that our nternal coutrol over financial reporting was effective 25 of
December 31, 2005, if in the future we arc unabie to report that our sntemal contro] over fmancial reporting is effective (or if owr
auditors do pot agree with our sssessment of the effectiveness of, or are unabie 10 express an opinion on, our inteynal control over
financial reporting), we could Josc investor confidence in our financial reports, which could have a materiz] adverse effect oo our stock
prico and our business; md

e we may face other risks described from time 1o time in periodic and cumrent reports we file with the Securitics snd Exchange
Comnussion (“SEC™).

All cautionary statcments made herein should be read es being applicable to all farward-looking statements wherever they appear. In this
connection, investars should consider the risks described herein and should not piace undue reliance on aay forward-looking statements.

We assume no respounsibility for updating forward-looking information contained or incorpereted by reference herein or in other reports we file
with the SEC.

In this document, the words “EchoStar,” the "Campuy,." “we,” “our” and “us” refer w EchoStar Communications Corporation end it
subsidianes, unless the conext otherwise requires. “EDBS™ refam to EchoStar DBS Corporatioa and its subsidiaries.

1
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<. PART I

1cem 1. BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

Our Buosiness

EchoSter Communications Corparation, through its DISH Network, is a leading providar of satellite delivered digital television o customers
acvass the United States. DISH Network services include huadreds of video, sudio and data channcls, interactive television channcks, digital
video recarding, high definition teievision, intcraational programming, profeasional installation and 24-bour customer service.

We started offering subscription television services an the DISH Network in March 1996, As of December 31, 2005, the DISH Network bad
approximately 12.040 million subscribers. We currently bave 14 owned or leased in-orbit sutellites which enable us 1o offer over 2,300 video
and sudio chanpels o consumers across the United States. Since we use many of thesc chamnels for locs] programming, no particular consumer
could subscribe to all chamels, but all are availablc using small consumer satzilitc antcmnac, or dishes. We belicve that the DISH Netwark
offers programming peckages that have a betier “price-to-value” reltionship thsn packages currentty offered by most other subscription
tekvision providers. As of December 31, 2005, there were over 27.0 million subscriben to direct broadcast satelfiee services in the United
States. We believe thay there are more thaa 94.2 million pay television subscribers in the United State, and there contimues to be unsatisfied
dernand for high quality, reasonably priced television programming scrvices.

DISH Network and EcheStar Technologies Corperation

FchaStar Communications Corporstion ("ECC”) is » holding compeny. Its subsidiarics (which together with ECC are refared to a8
“EchoStar,” the “Company,” “we,” "us” and/or “0ur”) operatc two intexrelated busimess units:

e The DISH Networ k — which provides a direct broadcast satellite (DBS ™) subscription television service in the United Stetes; and

e EchaSiar Technologies Corparation (‘ETC™) — which designs and develops DBS set-top baxes, anteonac snd other digital equipment
. for the DISH Network. We refer to this equipment collectively as "EchoStar receiver sysiems.” ETC also designs, develops and
distribotes similar equipment for international satellite service providers. .
We have deployed substantial resoorees 1o develop the “EchoStar DBS Syswem.” The EchoStar DBS System consists of-owr FCC allocated
. 1S spectrum, our owned and leased satefliles, EchoStar reciver systems, digital broadcast operati tere, service facilitios, sad
wertain other assets ubilized in our operations. Our principal business symtegy is 10 continue developing our subscription televisica service in the
United Stales to provide consumers with a competitive aliernative to cable television service.

Other Informsdoa

We were organized in 1995 as a corporation ander the laws of the State of Nevada Our common stock is publicly traded on the Nasdaq
Nationzl Market under the symbol “DISH.” Qur principal executive offices are locsted a1 9601 South Meridian Boulevard, Englewood,
Colorado 80112 and our telephone number is (303) 723-1000.

Recent Develepmests
EchoStar X. EchoStar X, 1 DBS setellite which can operate up to 49 spot beams using up 1o 42 active 140 watt TWTAs, was kaunched on
February 15, 2006. Assuming succeseful completion of in-orbit testing, the satcllite Is expecied 1o | operationt during the

semndqn:nuole)o&lﬂnIIOdegrecorbitdWﬁmmmbunuwﬁﬁoswx“duipudmimuum:mbeofmnbuwhe
we can offex local chammels by satelfite, including high definition local channels.
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" 51.5 Biltion Semisr Notzs Offering. On February 2, 2006, we sold 31.5 billion aggregate principal amount of our ten-ycar, 7 1/8% Seaior

Y

‘es due Febeuary 1, 2016 in a private placement. The proceeds from the sale of the notes were used 1o redeem our cutsmnding 9 1/8% Senior
.es due 2009 and are also intended to be used for other general corporate purposes:

9 1/8% Senior Netex Redemprion. Effcctive February 17, 2006, we redeemed the balance of our outstanding 9 1/8% Sczior Notes due 2009. In
accordance with the tenms of the indenture governing the notes, the remaining principal amount of the notes of approximazely $442.0 miltion
was redecmed at 104.563% of the principal amount, for a total of approximately $462.] million. The premium paid of spproximatety

$20.1 million, along with unamortized debt issuance costs of approximatcly $2.8 million, were recorded as charges to earnings in

February 2006.

DISH NETWORK

Programmiag

Basic Programming Packages We usc a “vahxc-bascd™ strategy in stracturing the content and pricing of programming packages available
from the DISH Network. Far example, we currently sefl our “America’s Top 60 package for $29.99 per month. This packnge includes 60 of
our most popular video channels in digital format. We estimate that cable operators would typically charge over $40.00 per moxth, on averuge,
for comparable cxpanded basic service,

Our “America's Top 120” plchgccunmtly sells far $39.99 per month and is similar o an expanded basic ublcpr.kageplumlhmjo
commercial-free, CD-quslity music charmels. We estimate that cable operators would typically charge over $50.00 per month, on average, for a
sirmilar package.

Our “America’s Top 180" currently sells for $49.99 per month, and our Amznu:ﬁvaytml’lk.'w\ncbcumbmuo\n“AmmsTup
lm”pwhgemdmmlhmswummul-ﬂummmvkchnmllmdudmgﬂm CmeowmmndShrz.mﬁyscmh
$84.99 per month.

We slso offer satellite-delivered local broadcast channels for an additions! $5.99 per mouth in 164 markets in the United States, represcuting
over 95% of all of U.S. television households. Cable operators typically fchude local chamels in (heir programming packages at no additional
cost. In addition, generally, subscribers ko sy of our basic psckages may add a digital video recorder to tharsysmfmmldmnomlmstol
only $5.98 per month.

High Definition Programming Packages. We offer high definition (*HD”) programming in our DishHD Bronze ($49.99), DishHD Silver
745.99), DihHD Gold (569.99) and DishHD Pletinum (§99.99) packages which inchude from 60 to 180 of our most popular vidco chamels i
/il format #nd 23 channels in HD. The 23 HD chamne] package may be purchased for $29.99. In sdditiow, HBO and Showtime are offered

- mHDfm'lhozumomm who mhm"bcmdmedumrh“lul-mﬂyoﬂ'a:mlhud:hvuedHDloalchnnclsanntmmd

expect to reach more than 50 percent of U.S. huu:holchw:ﬂ:lomlﬂbdnmchbylhccmlnﬂﬂﬂ&

Family-Friendly Programming Packege. We eecently added & pew programmmg tier, DishFAMILY, which offcrs 40 *family- fricadly”
channels including sports, news, children's programming, lifestyle, boblms. sbhopping and public interest, for $19.99 per month, or $24.99
including local channels where availshle. Ccnpmuvely the family tier prices emnounced by most pay TV provndm are more then SJO per
month, and ofica morc than §35 per month.

DISH Latino Programming Packages . We also offer a variety of Spanish-language programming peckeges. Our “DISH Latino™ package
includes more than 35 Spanich-language programming channels for $24.99 per month. We also offer “DISH Latio Do,” which inclades over
150 English and Spanish-language progremming channels for $34.99 per month. Our “DISH Latine Mex™ includes more than 175 Spanish and
English-language channels for $44.95 per month.

(oS‘{"z
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Prepaid Prograneming Card. During the fourth quaricer of 2005, we began test marketing s prepay program, “DISH Now.” This progremi

"ws consumers who might mot be attracted by our existing promotions to purchase a satellite receiver system and 8 prepaid card which can
. refreshed periodically drough sdditions! prepayments. We bave not yet determined whether this program will be offesed broedly. Certain of
our butiness metrics could be impacted to the catent we ultimately scquire & signiSicant munber of subscribers througk “DISH Now.” For
example, while “DISH Now” may amract subscribers more likely to churn than owr traditional custorers, our subscriber acquisition costs under
this program wall also be substantially lower. ’

Mevls Packages We offer five premium movic packages starting at $11.99 par month and inctoding as many as 10 channels We believe our
rmovie packages are & better vahuc than similer packages offered by most other mult-channe] video providers.

Insernatisnal Prograsusing . We offer over 115 foreign-language chimnels inchading Arabic, South Asian, Hindi, Russian, Chinese, Greek
and many others. DISH Network remains the pay-TV leader in delivering forcign-language programming to customers in the Usited States,
and our forcign-language programsming coatributes significantly to our subscriber growth. We bebeve foreign-language progremming is a
valuable piche product thet attracts new subscribers to DISH Network who are unable to get sieilar programming elsewbere, mmd we will
costumie 1o explare opportunitics to add forcign language programmming. )

Sales, Marketing snd Dbtribstion
Sales Channels. We curremtly distribate EchoStar receiver systems and solicit orders far DISH Network programming services through direct
roarketers, independent retailers, ¢ electromics stores, independent distributors and telecommurication providen. We also offor recetver

systcms wod programming through our own direct salrs channels. Independent retaifers are primarily local retsilers who specialize in TV and
home eatcrisinment systems. We 8lso acquire costomers through nationwide retailers suchas Cosico, Sears and certain regional consumer
electronic chaina. In addition, RadioShack Corporation offers EchoStar receiver systems and markets DISH Network programming services
through approximately 5,200 corporatr starcs, in approximately 1,000 dcaler franchise stores nationwide and in over 500 kiasks located
throughout the United States primarily in Sam's Ctubs. .

We generally pay distibutors, direct marketers snd other retaiters 4 foc upon sctivation of cach new subacriber they scquire for us. We also
typiullymkumllmmmlypsymanfunhugu:hewsmmumnﬁnnuhmbsm‘beMnmprogrmh; ‘

Matahg.Wcmptim.ndinmdulevisim.ouloulndnuﬁnndbasix,m.dvuﬁunndmud\eDISHNMWeﬂsooﬁupoim-
of-sak literarure, product displays, demoastration Iosks snd signage for retail oudcts. We provide guides that describe DISH Network
products and services w our remilers and dustribators and conduct periodic educational seminars. Our mobilc sales and marketing team visits
Tetail outlets regulerly to reinforce training and easure that these outlets have proper point-of-sale matcrials for our cufrent promotions.
: *diﬁouaﬂy,wcdedi:maDlSHNetwmt!&ln‘ip‘MChmmlmdwdm'umwovidemilmndmmmwﬂhinﬁxmliwabuutspdd
7ices and promotioas that we offer from time to time. : ! ’
Promotional Subsidies . Owr firire success m the subscription television industry depends on, among other factars, our sbility to asquire and
remin DISH Network subscribers. We pravide varying levels of subsidies and incentives to attract customers, including Jeascd, free of
subsidized receiver systems, installations, prograrnming and other ftems. This marketing stralegy emphasizes our long-tem basincss strategy of
maximizing futwre rovenne by acltimg DISH Network programming to & large potential subscriber base and rapidly increasing our scbsaribar
base, Since we subsidize consurrer up-{ront casts, we incur sigaificant costs each time we acquire 8 new subscriber. Aithough there can be o
msurtace, we believe that, on average, we will be sbic to fully rocoup the up-font costs of subscriber ecquisition from future subscription
elevision services reveme, ' . :
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" During July 2000, we began offering our DISH Netwock subscribiers the option to lease receiver systesns. Our current oquipment lease

~gram, the DHA promotion, offers new customers the ability to lease receivers serving up to four roams, inchuding various premium models

.ch as advanced digiu! video ders and HD receivers, whes they subetxibe to one of several qualifying programming peckagea. Although
there can be no assurance, we expect this marketing strategy will reduce the cost of ecquiring fatare subscribers because we retain ownership of
the receiver systems. Upen terminatian of service, DHA subscribers arc roquired to returm the recciver and certain other equipment to us. While
we do not recover all of the equipment upan termmation of service, equipment that is recovered afier deactivation is reconditioned and re-
deployed at » Jower cost than new equipment. The effectiveness of our plan to reduce subscriber acquisition costs through redeploymeat of
Teased equipment is dependent oe our ability to retricve and cost-cffectively recondition lcascd equiptent from subscribers who termioate
service. Our ability to realize rednced equipment costs from redeploying reconditioned equipment will be negatively impacted by new
compression and other technologics that will mevitably reader some portion of our current and futere EchoStr receivers obsolete. We will
incur sdditional costs, which may be substastial, to upgrede or replece these sei-top boxex.

We base our marketing promotions, among other things, on current competitive conditions. In some cascs, if competition increascs, or we
determine for any other reason that it is necessary to increasc our subsenber acquisition costs to aftrect sew customers, oar profitability and
costs of operation would be adverscly affected.

Digital Video Rerordiag and Interactive Service

We continue to expand our offarmgs to mcude advanced products such as digial video recorders, or “DVRs” and interactive programming
services. DISH Network custorers can purchase or lease reccivers with built-in hard disk drives that permit viewers to pause and record live
programs, incleding prcpmming in HD, without the need for videotape. We now offer receivers capable of storing more than 210 hours of
standard definition programming and expect to increase storage capacity o3 fmm rwcm:' nmdd: Wc alsa currently offer receivers that
provide a wide variety of innovative interactive television scrvices and ep T ng and weather channels and interactive
games.

Bundling Alliances

We bave sgreements (o allow our partners, such as AT&T, Inc. (“AT&T™), farmerty known as SBC Communications, Inc., 1o offer & bundled
peckage of services combining DISH Network satellite tckevigicn with voice and data services.

Beginning ip the first quarter of 2004, AT&T commenced sales of s co-branded service featuring our DISH Network service bundled together
with AT&T s telephony, high-speed date and other communications services. AT&T markets the bundled service and is responsib for certain
intzgraied order-catry, customer service and billing. Initially, AT&T also purchased sct-top box cquipment from os to fease to bundled service

omers. ATET oat-sourced instetlation end certain customer service functions 1o us far a fec As part of the agreement, AT&T paid us
.t development and implementation fees during 2003 and 2004.

i During the first half of 2005, AT&T shifted its DISH Network marketing and sales effarts w focus on limited geographic areas and castomer

segmenti As a result of AT&T's de-emphasized sales of DISH Netwark services, & decreasing percentage of our new subscriber additions
were derived from our relationship with AT& T. During fourth quarter 2005, we modified and extended our distribution snd sales sgency
greement with AT&T. We bebieve our overall cconomic return will be similar inder both arrangements.

While we expect to cantinue to pursuc opportunities to bundle oar DISH Network satellite elevision service with the voice and data services of
AT&T and other tel unications providers, AT&T has begun deployment of fiber-optic netwarks that will allow 1t to offer video services
directly to millions of homes as carly as the second balf of 2006, Other telecommunications companies have ennounced similar plans. While it
1s possible that the fourth quarter 2005 revision to ot ATRT egreement may drive increased subscriber growth, our net new subscriber
eddinans and certic of gur other key opareting metrics could continne o be rdversely affected in the exient ATAT farther de-emphasizes, ar
discontinues ahogether, it efforts o acquire DISH Netwurk subscribers, and as » result of competition from video services offered by AT&T
o7 other telecommmications companies. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in developing significant new bundling
opportunitics with other telccommunications companics.
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° ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION .
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -

1. Organization and Business Activities

Princlpal Business
EchoSur Communications Corporation (“ECC™) is & bolding company. [u subsidiaries (vlhu:h together with ECC are referved 1o a5
“EchoStar,” the “Company,” “we,” “us™ znd/or “our™) operate two interrelated business umits:

*  The DISH Networ k ~ which provides u direct broadcagt satellite (“DBS”) subscription televisian s@vice in the United States; and

*  EchoStar Technologies Corporation ("ETC') — which designs and develops DBS set-top bones, antennac and ather digital equipment
for the DISH Network. We refer to this equipment collectively 2 'Echoswmmsysm ETC also designs, devdnps ad
distritrutes similar equipment for international satellite service providers.

We have deployed subszandsl resources 1o develop the “EchoStar DBS System.® The EcboStar DBS System consists of our Federal .
Communications Commission (“FCC") alloceted DBS spectrum, our owned and leased satellites, EchoStar receiver systems, digital broadcast
operations centers, custoner service facilitics, end certain other assets utilized i our operations. Our principa! business strategy is to continue
developing our subscription television service in the United States to provide consumers with & fully competitive ahemmive to cable television
TIVIcC.

Organization and Legal Stractare
The following table summarizes our orgamizatioasl structure and our principal subsidiaries as of Dacember 31, 2005:

Refrrred

Legal Eoatry Heretn As Parent

EchaStar Commumications Corporation ECC Publicly owned

EchoStar Orbital Corporation EOC BCC

EchoStar Orbital Corporation [T EOCHt EOC

EchoStar DBS Corporation ’ . EDBS BoC

EchoStar Setsllite L.L.C ESLLC - EDBS : ‘

Echosphere LL.C Echosphere EDBS .
hoStar Technologics Corporation ETC EDBS R
SH Nerwork Service LLC DNSLLC EDBS "

As of December 31, 2005, all of our DBS FCC licenses end 10 of our in-orbit eatellites were owned by a direct subsidiary of EDBS, Coatrects
for the construction and launch of EchoStar X, EchoStar X1 and our Ka-band satcllites are hoid in EOC I, # sister compeny to EDBS. Our
satellite lease cortracts are also held by  direct subsidiary of EDBS. Substantially all of owr operations are eonducted by rubsidierics of EDBS.
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ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TQ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Centinued

Significant Risks end Uncertainsies
Substantial Leverage . We ere highly leveraged, which makes us vulnerable to changes in geaeral economic conditions. As of December 31,

2005, we had outstanding long-term debt (inchuding both the current and long-temm portions) totaling approximatcly $5.935 billion. We have
- quarterly and semi-armual cash interest requiremeats for all of our cutstanding loog-term debt securities, as follows:

Aogusl
Quarterty/Semi-Ansval Dedt Sarvies

et v e e s R _____ﬂmu'.-;e_____hm
5 3/4% Corrvertiblé Sibordineted Notes due 2008 72 =~ - 7710 . E e My TS andRovember 15T s "§57,500,000
3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 . Junc 30 and December 31 515,000,000
Floatidg Rate Senior Notes due 2005 i @@fizﬂﬁﬂmm_@wﬁ:l :ss:m.m
5 3/4% Seniny Notes duc 2008 - i o Aprll Igdouoba 1 $57,500,00!
6 3/8% Séarigr Notes due 265173 % UL LA BL el gl . Apritd B O HEF Y Ty :,.‘mmibbu
3% Coovextible Subordinated Nou.- éue 20” . ) Imz lomd Dwmﬁu—!l § 750,000

6,3/8%, Senlor Notes due 30100 8 FE T804

*The table above docs not include intcrest of $5.2 million on the 9 8% SmNoudneZMwhchwmndcmedoahbnnryn 2006 or
the $106.9 million of imterest on the 7 1/8% Senior Notes due 2016 {s2¢ Note 15).

Interest sccrucs on our Flosring Rate Seniar Notes due 2008 based on the three moath London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™) plus 3.25%.
The imerest rate at December 31, 2005 was 7.78%. Scmi-annual cash interest requirements related to our 6 $/8% Senior Notes duc 2014
commenced on April |, 2005. Tbmu:no scheduled principal payment or sinking fund requiresments prior to maturity on any of these notes.
Our ability to meet our debt service requirements wilk depend on, araong other faciors, the successful execution of our business strategy, which
is subject to uncertamties and contingencics beyond our control,

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Barsis of Presentation

Testive Jmunry 1, 2004, we combined “Subscription television service” revenue and “Other subseriber-telated revenuc” ingo “Subscriber-

aated revenue.” Additionally, “Equipment sales™ and “Cost of sales ~ equipment” now include non-DISH Netwoark receivers and other
accessorics sold by our EchoStar Internationat Corporation subsidiary international customers which were previowsly incloded in “Other”
revenne and “Cost of sales — ather,” respectively. Al prior period amounts were reclassified to conform to the current period presentation,
Cersin other prior year amouats havebeenmluafedmconﬁormmtbuxmmlywptmﬂon.

Prindiples of Consolidation

We consolidate all majority owned subsidiaries and investments in entities in which we have controlling influence. Non-msjority owned
investments arc sccounted for using the equity method when we have the sbitity 1o sigunificantly infisence the operating decisions of the issuer.
When we do not have the ability to n;mﬁaudymmmemeopcmn; decisions of en issuer, the cost method is used. For emtities that are
cousidered varieble intercst entitics we spply the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Boand (“FASB”) Interpretation No. (FIN) 46-R,

“Consolidation of Varizhle Imezest Entities - An Interpretation of ARB No. S1™ (“FIN 46-R™). Al significant imercompany accounts aad
trangactions have been eliminated in consolidation,

Use of Estimates

mmofﬁnmnlmmmtuncmfmmtymmmxmngp' ily aceep ‘intheUnMSmn:(“GMl;‘")mqnimm
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of-uus and lhbqu and
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.. ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION : Y
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Coatisued : '

disclosure of contingent asscts and liabilities st the date of the financial smiements and the reported amounts of revenucs and cxpenses for each
reporting period. Estimates urc used in accounting far, among other things, allowances for uncollectibic accounts, inventary allowances, self
insurance obligations, deferred taxes and related valuation allowances, Joss contingencics, fair values of finzncial instruments, fair valuc of
options granted under our stock based compensation plans, fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in businesa combinations, capital leases,
amct impairmenis, useful lives of property, equipment and intrngible assets, retailer commissions, programming expenscs, subscriber lives
including those related 1o our co-branding and other distribution relationships, royalty obligations and smart card replaccment obligetions.. .
Actual results may differ from previously estimated emotnts, snd such differences may be material to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Esumates apd assumptions arc reviewed petiodically, sad the effects of revisions are reflected prospectively beginning in the period they occur.

Foreign Carreacy Transiation . : .

The functional currency of the majority of our foreign subsidiaries is the 1).S. doflar beceuse their sales and purchascs are prodominantly

. denominated ip that currency. However, for our subsidiaries where the fmctions! carrency is the local currency, we translaie assets and
linbilities ints U.S. dollzrs at the period end exchange rate and yocord the translation adjustments as @ component o other comprehensive
income (loss). We translate reveiues and expenses based on the exchange rates at the time such transactions arise, if knowa, or 2t the sverage
Tute far the period. Traasactions denominated in curreacies ofber then the fimetional curvency are recorded st the exchanpe rate at the time of
the transaction and are inchuded in other miscellancous income and expense. Net transaction gains (losses) during 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
pot significam. ' :

Statements of Cash Flows Data
The following presents our supplementsal cash flow statement disclosare:

War the Years Rndcd December31,
s 04 o003

i By
R s

Cash paid forfasegent. .75 oo
Cepitalized foterest }
Cash reccived for iéres” 0 - P R
Cushpaid foripcomewases .. ., .
rieitures, of défoited a0R il itodt hised consperisation TN

..ssumption of net opumgghbﬂmq in asset nisjggn (Nguz
Assizzption nfhﬁnﬁuw,lmmﬁé.ﬁaﬂ?mﬁmmh
Employec benefits paid in Class A common stock
SeteTHiles Finencod buiBex apitaf (e ol gationy (Nold's) ¥ 7~
Redoction in ssicllite vendor fnamcing =~

. ) e+ nen ok T !3,711\
RN e AN K R S T SRR

SatcHite and cther vendor finenciig Vrh T s 0l

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We connider sl liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 50 days or less to be cash equivalcats. Cash equivalents as of
Decerber 31, 2005 and 2004 contist of money market funds, corporate notes and vial paper. The cost of these investments
appraximates their fair value.

Marieiable and Non-Marketadle Investoment Securities and Restricied Cath

We currently classify alf marketable investment securitics as availsble-far-sale. We adjust the canrying vehie of our available-for-sale securities
10 fair valuz and report the relatod temporary unrealized gains and Josses as & separate companent of “Accumulated other camprehensive
income (loss)” within “Total stackholders’ equity (dcficit),” nct of releted deforred income tax. Declines in the fair value of a marketable
invcﬁmealtecuitywhinhm:edmcdmbe‘mmnnmpm'mmpizadinﬂowWSmsofOpcﬁmund
Compreheusive Income (Loes),
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o ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Contiaued

thus cstablishing a aew cost besis for such investment. We evaluate our marketsble mvestment sacurities portfolio on a quarterly basis to
determine whether declines in the fair vatue of these securitics are other than temporary. This quarterly evaluation consists of reviewing, among
other things, the fuir value of our marketable investrnent securities compared to (he carrying amount, the historica! volatility of the price of each
security and any raarket and company specific factors related to each security. Generally, abseat specific factors to the contrary, declines in the
fair vatue of imvestments below cost basis for a period of fess than six months s conviderad to be tamporary. Declines in the fair vatue of -
investments for 8 period of six to nine months are evaluated on & case by case basis © determine whether any company or market-specific
factors exict which would indicate that suck declmes are ather than temporery. Declines in the fair value of investments below cost besis for
greater than nine months are considered other then tanporary and axc recorded as cherges 1o earmings, shsemt specific factors to the contrary.

Some of our investments in markrtable investment securities bave declined bedow our cost. The following table reflects the leagth of time that
the individual sccuritics have becn in an uarcalized loss position, aggrepnied by investment category, where those declines are considered
\zmporary in accordance with our policy.

A1 of December 31, 2005
Len tham Stx Menths 5ix tv Nine Months Niue Montha or Mera Tetn)

Fale Unreslized Falr Unreafized Fair Uzreskized Fatr Unresliand
Nake  _Llow = Vame e Vel Lan _Vaee _low
. . Ce e . . (o toousmds) G . e s -
Governmentbondz - " . § W= UT$: o8 T L e 509280 LR S99 86Y)
Corporste equity securities 32444 (379) - - — =~ — 32,444 7
Towl . ¢l oS3 8 7RI SR 3T —. i SHOIOATISAAER) L ISIE SN
- As of December 31, 280¢ .
Government bonds S _— $__— Slaamm sQ3Th)  S50759  $_(69D) 314687 S (2.069)

Govermnent Bonds . The wnrealized losses on our investments in U.S. Treasury obligations and direct obligations of U.S. goversrnent ageacies
were cansed by interest rate increascs. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, matorities on these government bands ranged from oac 1o seven
months. We bave he sbility and intent 10 hold these imvestments uatil maturity when the Government is required to rodeom them at their full
face value. Accordingly, we do not consider these investments to be other-than-tempocarily impeired as of December 31, 2005,

. ﬁaﬁuhwharmmmh:mowhmnnmin corporate equity securities represents an investment in the marketable

umon stock of 2 company in the satellite communications service industry. We belicve the unrealized loss is generally sttribusable to
temporary market fluctustions. We arc a0t aware of any specific factors which indicate: the mmrcalized loss is other than temporary.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we bad nerealized guins net of related tax cffect of approximaicly $3.3 million and $51.8 milkion,
respectively, as s part of “Accumulated other comprebensive income (loss)™ within “Total stockholders® equity (deficit).” During the years
ended Deczmber 31, 2005 and 2003, we recorded sggregase charges to eamnings for other than ternporery declines in the fair value of certain of
owr makewble investment securities of spproximately $25.4 million and $2.0 milliot, respectively, nd eatablished a new cost basis for these
securitics. During the year ended Decamber 31, 2004, we did not record any charge to eamnings for other than temporary declines in the fair
vahoe of our marketable investment securities. In addition, during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we realized net gains
(losses) on sales of marketable mnd non-marketahlc investment socuritics and conversion of bond instruments into common stock of

$343 miﬂiqn, {$9.0) million and $21.9 million, respectively. Realized grins and losses are accountzd for on the specific identification method.

Owr approximately §1.248 billion of restrictsd and unrestricted cash, cash cquivalents and marketable investment securities inclodes debt and
equity sccurities which we own for strategic sad financial purpases. The fair valne of these strategic marketable investmens securities
ageregeted approximately $148.5 million and $174.3 million a5 of December
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Continued

31, 2005 aad 2004, respoctively. During the twelve months ended Decembrer 31, 2005, our portfolio generally, and our strategic mvestments
patticularly, have experienced and contirmes to experience volatility. If the fair vatue of our strategic marketable investment securitics portfolio
docs not remain above cost basis or if we become ware of soy market or company specific factors thet indicate that the carrying vatue of
certain of our securitics 18 impajred, we may be required 1o record charges to earmings in future periods equal to the amount of the decline in
fair vatue.

We also have strategic equity imvestments in certain non-marketable mvestment securities which are included in “Other noncurrent assets, net”
m our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We account for our unconsolidated equity investments under either the equity method of cost method of
sccounting. These equity securitics are not publicly traded and accardingly, it is not practical o regularly estimate the faft vatec of the
investments; bowever, these investments are subject to an cvaluation for other than temporary impairment on a quartecly basis. This quanerdy
evaluation consists of reviewing, among other things, conrpanry business plans and current financial statemeats, if sveilable, for factocs that
may indicatc an impairment of our investment. Sach fectors may include, but gre not limited to, cash flow concemns, material litigation,
violations of debt covenants and changes in business strategy. The fair vatue of these equity investments is not estimated mnless there are
identified changey in circumstances that may indicste sn inpaitment exists and are Likely (0 bave & significant adverse effect on the fair value
of the investment As of December 31, 2005 aad 2004, we had $942 million and $90.4 million aggregate carying smount of non-marketable
and unconsolidated stratzgic equity imvestments, respectively, of which $52.7 million in cach of the years is accounted for under the cost
meihod During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we did not record anry impairment charges with respect to these investments.

We also have s stretegic investment in the non-public preferred stock and coovertible delt of 2 public company which is inctnded in “Other
poncurrent assets, net” oa our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The investment is convertible into the issuer’s common shares. We account for the
investrment ot fuir value with changes in fir value reported esch period as urealized gains or losses in “Other” income or expense in our
Cousaolidated Statements of Operations and Comprebensive Income (Loss). We estimate the fair value of the investment using certsin
sssumpticas and judgments in applying a discounted cash flow analysis and the Black-Scholes option pricing model. As of December 31, 2005,
the fair vahc of the investment was spproximately $42 3 million bascd on the trading price of the issuer’s chares om that date, and we

. recognized a pre-tax wnrealized gaim of approximately $38.8 million for the change in the fair value of the investment. Among other factors, as
the result of the relatively lerge mmmber of shares we would hold upos conversion compared 1o the issuer’s limited public trading volume, there
cam be no assurance that we will be able 1o obtain full value for our investment upon a sale of the common hares.
Our ability to realize valuz from our strategic imvestments in companies that are not publicly traded is dependent an the success of their
business and their ability to obuin sufficicnt capital to execute their business plans. Since private markety are pot as liquid ss public markets,

re is also increased risk that we will pot be sble to sell thesc investments, or that when we desire to scli them we will nat be able o cbtain

-t vatue for them, . '
Restricted cash and marketable investment securities, as reflected in the sccompanying Consolidated Balance Shects, includes, among ather
thinge, cash and marketable investment securities sef aside as cofiateral for our letters of credit.
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Our Satellites

¢ setellites operate in the “Ku® and “Ke" band portices of the microwave radio spectrum used for satellite communications. The FCC has
split the Ku-band spectrum into two segments. The 11.7 to 12.2 GHz downlink bend, which is the fow and medium power portioa of the Ku-
band, is known as the Fixed Satellite Service (FSS™) band. The high power portion of the Ku-band within the 12.2 to 12.7 GHz downlink band
is known as the Brosdeast Satelfite Service (“BSS”) band, which is also referred 1o a5 Direct Broadcast Sateflite or the “DBS™ band.

Unlike the DBS spectrum, the FSS spectrum has po predefined frequency plan such that the sumber and bandwidtb of each individuat channel
can vary and satzllite orbital locations are routinely a5 close together as two degresx. In addition, thare are more severe power limitations
placed on FSS speetrum. The resuk of these differences generally means that, while FSS spectrum can be satisfactorily used for dclivery of
direct-to-home (“DTH™) services, it can carry somewba less capacity end gencrally requires a slightly lerper nser antenns or consumer dish to
adoquately receive signals from s satellite. :

Ka-band is 1 higher frequency band than Ku-band and roughly ranges from 18 to 40 GHz. For commercial users, the downfink spectram is
genenally considered (0 consist of frequencies between 183 — 18.8 GHz and 19.7 — 20.2 GHz. This pant of the Ka-baud iz also considered to
be FSS spectrum, and therefore Ka-baod orbital locations can routinely be as close together s two degrees. The higher frequency and closer
spacing generally make Ka-band spectrusn transm hisions more susceptible to various types of signal interference, including interference caused
by rain and snow. While several compauies in the satellite communications industry have business plans for the use of Ka-band spectrum for
video, data md broadband services, the wse of Ka-band spectrum for commercial satellite communication services is still in the developmenta]
siage.

Most of our programming is currently transmitted to our customers on DBS frequencies within the Ku-band spectrom. However, we continae
10 explore other opportunitics including parmerships and investmants to cxpand cur capacity through the use of other availsbie spectrum, such
s FSS scrvices in the Ku and Ka-bands.

Overview of Our Sasellites and FCC Axtheorizations . Our satellitcs are located in orbital positions, or slots, that are designated by their

western loagitude. An orbital position describes both a phrysical location and an assigmmeat of spectrum in the epplicable frequency band. The
FCC has divided cach DBS orbital position into 32 frequency channels. Each transponder on aux satcllites typically exploits onc frequency
channe! Through digital compression technology, we can currently tranamit between nine and 13 digital video channels from each transponder.
Scveral of our satellites alsg include spot-beam technology which ensbles us 10 increasc the mamber of markets where we provide local - :
chamels, but reduces the nmber of video channels that could otherwise be offered across the entire United States. .

The FCC has liceased us 1o operate 104 direct broadcast sateflite frequencics st various orbital positions including:
o 71 frequencies at the 119 degres orbital location and 29 frequencies at the 110 dogree orbital location, both capable of providing -~
service o the extire continental United States (“CONUS"); : :
s 22 frequencies a1 the 61.5 degree orbital location, capsble of providing service to the Esstern and Ceutral United States;
+ 32 frequencics &t the 148 degree orbital location, capable of providing service to the Western United Statzs.

In addition, we currently have the right to use 32 frequencies a( s Canadian DBS slot at the 129 degree orbital location, capable of providing
servicz 10 most of CONUS. A new 32 transponder Canadian sateltite, Ciel 2, is being constructed for operation st that location. We will have
the right to at least S0% of the cxpacity of that satcllite, with the remaining 50% required by Canadian regulations to be offered for use by
Canadians until the time of launch of the saellite. Cansequently, until Ciel 2 is launched, we will not know the. exact amount of capacity
availablc to us on that sstellite. i

ﬂ
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The major componcrts of marketable investment securities aud restricted cash arc as follows:

Cask snd M
Marketable Javeytment Scowrities Javestmeent Scewsitios
At of December 31, —_AsdiDoceabardl,
2893 p{, ] 2008 2084
(10 thousamd)

AT 0 I3 OT468S 845804 T TTRME
3,969

Goverimeotbénds?. 075 0 L1 E

Corporeix notcs wnd bonds

Carporté equity securitics

Asset backed obligstions . . -

Restiotd il % 5 w0 w o VIS LV L R R g 3 S o

Tod 356521 $ 61,120 $ 57,552

As of December 31, 2005, marketable investment securities and restricted cash include debt securities of $184.0 million with contractual
mataritics of one year & kess and $283.8 million with contractual maturities greater than onc yrar, Actual maturitics may differ from
contractual maturities as s resuht of our ability t scll these securities prior o mamrity.

Inventories

" Invcntorics are sated ot the lower of cost or market value. Cost is determined asing the first-in, first-our method. Proprictary products are tmilt
. by contract mamufacturers o our specifications. We depend on a few mamifacturers, and in sowme cases a single megufacturer, for the
production of our receivers and many components of our EchoStar receiver sysiems. Manufactured inventories include materials, labar, freight-
* in, royaltics and manufacturing overhead. luventories consist of the follgwing:

As of Deceryber 1.

Fimistied goods -~ DBS 7%, <%
Raw matcrials

Property and Equipment

Pmputy and equipmenl are stated at cost Cost inclades capitalized interest of approximately $7.6 million, $3.1 million, and $8.4 million
during the yours cnded December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The costs of satellites under construction, including certain amounts
prepaid under our satellite service agreements (Note 10), are capitalized during the constroction phase, assuming the eveatual saccessful lsumch
and in-ochit operation of the satellite. If a satellite were to fail during taunch or while in-orbit, the resultant Joss would be charged to expense in
the period such foss was incurred. The emount of any such loss would be reducod to the extent of insurance proceeds estimated 10 be reccived,
ifuy.Depmchuani:meundghhhﬁowhumdnngcwmym<RWmdmaimnin:cmmmdmgedm :
expense when incurred. Rencwals and beticrments are capitalized.
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Leng-Lived Assets

We account for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Stetement of Financiel Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for
the tmpairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asscts” (“SFAS 144™). We revicw our long-lived assets and identifiable intangibile asscts for
impairment whenever events ar changes in circumstances indicate that the carryimg amount of an asset may not be recoverble. Based on the .

guidance under SFAS 144, we evaluate our satellite fleet for recoverability as en asset group. For assets which are beld and used in operations,

the assct would be impaired if the carying value of the asset (or asset growp) exceoded ity undiscoonted future not cash fiows. Onco aa
impairroent is determined, the actyal impairmeat is reparted as the difference between the carrying value and the fxir valoe a5 estimated vsing
discounted cash flows. Asscts which are to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount ox fair value less costs to sell. We

consider relevant cash dow, uummdhmmmuh,mmmuwuhblnnfomwmmvhﬂhuﬂxmm
of agsets sre recoverable.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We sccount for cur goodwill and imtangible asscts in accordance with the provisions ofSummomemlAwmmmg Stendards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intengible Assets”™ (“SFAS 1427), which requires goodwil! and miangible assets with indefinite useful lives not be
amortized, bt 1o be tested fof impainnent asmually ar whenever indicators of impaimenw arise. Intangible swsets that have finitc lives
continue 1 be amontized over (heir estimsted useful lives. Our intangible amets consist primarily of FCC liccases. Gmmlly, we have
determined :hnw?CClimbavendeﬁmmnufulhmdxwthcbﬂvmr

. FCCspmslnm-dq,hIngm )
*  Existing DBS Heenses are integral to our business and will contribute to cash flows indefimitely;

*  Replacement satellite applications are generally authotized by the FCC subject to certsin conditions, without substantial costundera
stable regulatory, legisistive end legal eavironment;

. M:hmunpadiﬁ!minmlamobnin fatare cash flows are not significant,
«  DBS licenses are not tzchnologically dependent; and
. Wehmdto use these assets indefinitely .

mwconhnumﬁ:ﬂugmdwecfﬂﬂ-‘lnu“o.m7 Tmofmm;hTmulmpummxofbdeﬁm{lveth :
Asset,” (“ETTF 02-T7) we combine all sur indefinite lifc FCC licenscs into a single unit of accounting. The analysis enconmpasscs foture cash
flows from satcllites ransmitting from such icensed orbital locations, including revenue attributable 1 programming offerings from such -
mdhm,d:dmupum;ndnbmibumqumnmmrdmdwsu:hpmgmnmms.mdmmcomfanplmmmmdhn
Projected reverue and cost smounts included current and projectad subscribers. In conducting our angual impainnent test in 2005, we
dctunmdlhauhcmnmnedfnvduoflh:mln:cnm.alculmdum;lhedtmadnshﬂwm}ym,nwedddxtmmg
amount.

Duwring March 2004 wemuudmmmmwhcmm-woummwm Inc. ("Gmmr")ﬁxmofcumndmm
intellectual property and technology, use of the TV Guide brand on our intersctive program guidcs, and for distribution ammgrments with
Gmtopmwdcfuthelmchudumg:ofhﬂﬁmdz&mduwﬂumnmmofnnmgdmihmmmmfa
carriage of the TVG Network, and soquired Gemstar's Superstar/Netlink Group LLC (“SNG”), UVTV distribution, and SpaceCom businesses
mdnlmdams.ﬁxunggtgmmhp-ymnfmnmmu.phummm We fusther agreed to resal ve all of our outstanding
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Continued
litigation with G These & ions wese entered into contemporsneousty and accounted for as a purchase buginess combivation i
sccordance with Statement of Finsncial Accounting Standard No. 141, “Business Combnations™ [“SFAS 1417).

Based oo an independent third-party vahuation, the purchese considerstion was ellocated to identifinble tangible and intamgible assets and
liabilities 8¢ follows (in thousands):”

Curresy azsess” ™.+ 7 ke T
Property and equipment oy
IntanpiblE essetd =" 5 RTE
Total assets acquired

T TR

Ourrewt ishilites 5 © . D T SR R T C U RS e
Long-term liabilities

Totaf lisbilities kstimed, - ... +* ¥
Net asscts scquired

The total. $26Q.5 milbion of acquired intangible assets resulting from the Gemstac transactions is comprised of ocontract-besed intangibles
totaling approximatzly $187.2 million with estimated weighted-average wseful lives of twelve yesrs, and customer relationships wialing
spproximazely §73.3 million with estimated weighted-average uscful lives of four years,

The business combination did not bave 8 miterial impact on oxr resubs of operations for the yeer ended Decomber 31, 2004 and would aot
,  bave materizlly impacted our results of operations for these periods had the business combipation occurred on Jamuary 1, 2004. Further, the
business combination would not bave had a matcrial impact on our resalts of operations for the comparable period in 2003 had the business
combination ocourred on Janmary 1, 2003. .

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our identifiable intangibles subject to amortizatios consisted of the following:

As i

December 31, 2005 - Docember 31, 2004
Intangible A Jntang A lated
Anets Amasrtsation Asen Amartiation

¢ Comragt Baled"™ e STy T AT Y st 81894

R L
SiRozier SRR AT ety

Custorer ralationships e . - 7329 ,.GL818) v 73,298 L(13.49:3)
Techmology besed. . ETR. TE A zs'“z,s;ﬁ“‘zmm r_SyigE - Jrzhgy

Towl S 3288224 5§ (6493): 5 316352 3 (77.526)

Amortization of these intangible assets, recorded on » straight line basis over an average fmite uscful life primarily ranging from spproximstely
four to twelve years, was $39.0 million and $33.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The aggregan
tmortization expense is estimatod (0 be approximately $36.7 millica for 2006, 536.1 million for 2007, $22. million for 2008, $17.7 million for
2009, $17.7 million for 2010 and $92.6 million thereafter, : ’

. I o L . :
The excess of a_\ninvmzduhcom&hhﬂ subsidiaries over net tangible and intangible asset value at acquisition is recorded as goodwill.
We bed approximatzly $3.4 million of goodwill as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 which arose from & 2002 acquisition. bn conducting our

mmu!imp!imem\m'mZws.mdmmeddmdnnnyhgmmtoprodwﬂlmmimp:hul
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Smart Card Replacement

OwﬁmﬂmmﬁmhubmwmmmxsﬂbymeﬂofmmmdcmuhcmnhucompxombedhmmmWemunmmmpondh
compromiscs of our cacryption system with security measures intended o make signal theft of our programming mare difficult. In order to
combex theft of our service and mairtain the functionality of active set-top boxes, we recently replaced the majority of our older gencration
smart cards with newer generation smart cards. This process was completed during the fourth quarier of 200S. Accaudingly, there is no
remaining accrual for smart card replacement a3 of December 31, 2005, The need to replace smart cards is evalusted at the end of each
Teporting period

Long-Term Deferred Revenue, Distribution and Carriage Paymends

Certain programmens providc us up-front payments. Such amounts arc deferred and in acoordance with EITF Lssue No. 02-16, “Accounting by
& Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from @ Vendor” (“EITF 02-167) mnd arc recognized #s reductions to
“Subscriber-related expenses” on a Graight-line basis over the relevant remaining contrect term (up 0 10 years). The carrent and loag-term
mnnsofthmddmedcrndmmmdednmmohdmdndme Sheets i *Deferred revenne end other” and “Loag-term deferred
revene, distribution sod carrisge payments and other Jong-term babilities,” respectively.

Wcmceweaqunymmmumm;xu\ndmmmxduanunfornrmmmmonmﬁhmonmuWewcoufunhmeqmy
mierests received in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-8, “Accounting by a Grantes for so Equity Instrument to be
RzeeivedinCunjnndnnwid:hovidingGoodsorSuvicex’C‘m'Fw-t").Dwingth:ymaﬂedDecmrbuSl,ZﬂOSndm.wmnd:
cash payments and enterod into agreements and in 2004 assumed certain Liabilities in exchange for equity interests in cerurin entities.
DmngZOOSmde we recorded tppmxunndyn:mmdSTTJ million related to the fair value of these equity interests in “Other noncurrem
assets,” respectively. These un ents are acc d for under either the equiry method or cost method of accounting. Of the
$773 millian recorded in 2004, spproximately $56.5 million in vatue of these equity interests was recorded as a deferred credic and is
recognized as a reduction to “Subscriber-related expenses” ratably as our actus! costs are incwrred tndex the related agreements in accordunce
with the guidance under EITF 02-6 These deferred aredns are inchuded 25 2 component of current “Deferred revenue and other” and **Long-
term deferred revesue, distribution and carriege pryments and other long-term lisbilities” in our Consolidzted Balance Sheets.

“scome Taxes

.¢ establich a provision for income taxes currently paynble or reccivable and for income tax amounts deferred to firture periods {n accordance
with Statement of Finsncial Accounting Standerds No. 109, “Accounting for Income Texes™ (“SFAS 109”). SFAS 109 requires that deferred
tax assets or liabilities be recarded for the estimated future tax effects of differences that exist between the book and tax bases of assets and
lisbilities. Deferred tax sssets are offset by vatuation allowances in accordance with SFAS 109, when we believe it is marc bikely than oot that
mdxmd:furcduxmwilmhcmlued.

Fair Value of mead Instruments

Fair vatues for ourpuh(mlytdeddebﬂe:mmhuequmudmkummfmm of our privatcly placed 3% Cmm'blc
Subordinated Notes due: 2010 and 201 [, and morigages and other notes payable are estimated using third-party valuations or diccounted cach
flow analyses when it is practicable to do so. The & mex d in such discountzd cash fiow malyses refiect interest reics carvently
being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. ’
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The fallowing table summarizes the book and fair values of our debt facilitics at Decanber 31, 2005 and 2004:

o AtofDecomber 31,2065 __AsofDecesber 31,2004

BaskVate  JeirVae  BockVilie  FabVawe
5 3/4% Copvertibis Subdriinaled Nows due 2008”55 5 1. s Lagdi viv 108000057 TS0
S 1/8% Semior Notes due 2009° MG1s3 490768
3% Convertible Sitbordimiied Notz ¥oc 20167 " S00.000

Floating Rat Seniar Notes due 2008
53/a% Srhice Notes due 2008
63/8% Semior Notes due 2011
3% Convertible Subordinated Notx e 2015
6 5/8% Senior Notes tue 2014

Morngages.and other notes peysble - .-
Subtotal , o 5491239
Capital lcase obligations™ e o, N | | T St NEA
Toul 5935301 - 5357055 5,791,561 5,626,946

*  Effective February 17, 2006, these notes were redeemed. Sec Notc 15 — Suhscquent Eveats for further discussion.

**  Pursuant to SFAS No. 107 “Disclasurcs sbout Fair Vahue of Fimancial Instnonents,” disclosures reganding fair vehue of capital Jeases is
nat requi .

Duz 1o their short-t=rm pature, book value approximates fair value for cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, net of allowence
and current lisbilities for the periods ending December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Deferred Debt Jssuance Costs .

Casts of issuimg debt arc gencrally deferred and smortized to Mmterest expense over the terms of the regpective notes (Note S).

evenne Recognition

' Wcmcognimrevcmwbmunmngcmm:xm:,pﬁmmdaﬂmhaﬂqcoﬁwmﬂhyismymwmd&goodswwvimhw

bem delivarod. Revenue from our subscription television services is recognized when programming is broadcast to subscribess. Subscriber fecs
for multiple sct-top receivers, digital video recorders, equipment rental and other services are recognized a3 revemue, monthly as carned.
Revetroe from advertising sales is recognized when the related services arc performed. Payments received fmm subscribers in advance of the
broadcast or scrvice period ase recorded as “Deferred reverme™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until eamed. Revemue from equipment sales
is recognized upon shipment to customers. . :

Contemparancous with the commencement of sales of co-breaded services pursuant to our price agrecment with ATAT, Inc. "AT&T™),
fmnulyhawuuSBCCommmicm’m.ht..duxinglheﬁxstqdm&nfzom,uvmsﬁunaqnipmunulesloAT&dedwcloprmmd
implemcntation fees received from ATAT were deferred and recognized over the estimated ge co-branded subsariber life. R from
instaflation and certain other services performed st the request of ATAT were recoghized upon completion of the scrviccs.

During the fourth quarter 2005, we modificd end cxicnded our diswibution and sales agency sgreemem with AT&T. Comencing in the fourth
quaricz 2005, aew subscribers acquired under the revised ATAT agreement will no longer g quip sales, installation or other
scrvices revame. Deferred equipment sales revenuc relating to subscribers scquired through our prior AT&T agreement will coatinut 10 be
recognized as revenue over the estimated average life of those subscribers. Further, development and implementation focs received from AT&T

will contivue to be recognized over the estimated avernge subscriber Lifc of all subscribers scquired emder both the previons ad revised
agreements with AT&T, .
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Accouating for our new tubscriber promotions which inchude programming discounts falls mder the scope of EITF Issue No. 01-9,
“Accountng for Consideration Given by a Vender to a Customer (Inclading a Reseller of the Vendor's Capital Products)” (“EITF 01-97). In
accurdance with EITF 01-9, programmiing revezmes under these promotions are recorded at the discounted monthly rate cherged to the
subscriber. See Subscriber Promotians below for discussion regarding the aocounting for costs under these promotions.

Subscriber-Related Expenses

Tm:oo:ol'tzlcvmpmgxmmmgdxﬂn’bn‘.\unghumxuranymmndonlpamhmkbusmdvmauswfmzamaecpymazhm
recoguized when the related programming is distributed to subscribers. The cost of television programming rights to distribute live sparting
cvents for & scason or tounament is charged to expense using the streight-linc method over the course of the scason or toumament.
Programuring cosls are included in “Subscriber-related expenses”™ i the Cousolidated Suements of Operations and Cormprehensive Income
(Loss). “Subscriber-related expenses™ also inchude costs incurred in connection valh our in-bome serviee and call center operations, overhead
cos1s s3sociated with our installation business, copyright royalties, residual commissions, bilting, lockbox, subscriber retention and other
vmnb\embmtnqmuhacm!sm‘tcogmmdumcmmpufomdalslncmai

Cunxmpomneamwnirl::mmmtnfuhofw—bnnddmesmmmummmvﬁAT&TdWingr.tzﬁmqmnu
of 2004, “Subscriber-related expenses™ also mclude the cost of sales and expenses from equipment sales, direct costs of installation sad other
services related to that relationship. Cost of sales from equipment sales to AT&T are deforrod and recognized over the estimated average co-
branded subscriber life. Expenses from installstion and certzin ather services perfurmed st the request of AT&T are recognized as the services
are performed. Under the revised ATAT agreemsent, we will include costx from equipment and installations in “Subs<riber ncquililion casts” o7
in capital expenditures, rather than in “Subecriber-related expenses.” We will contimue to inchude in “Subscriber-related cxpenscs” the costs
deferved from oquipment sales made to AT&T, Mmﬂlkmomndovmhhfznf&cmbsm'bqummdmmmm
AT&T agrecment.

Subscriber Proemaotions
Subscriber scquisition costs in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprebensive Income (Lass) consist of costs incurred o
scquire new subscribers throagh third partics and our diroct custmer soquisition distribution channel. Subscriber, acquisition costs inchude the
following lioe items from our Consolidsied Statements of Operations and Comprehensive lncome (Loss): .
¢ "Cost of sales - subscriber promorion subsidies” includes the cost of EchoStar receiver systems sold to retailers and other
disribators of owr equipment and receiver systems sold divectly by us to subseriben.
»  "Other subscriber promofion subsidies ™ inchudes net costs related 10 promotional incentives and costs refated (o installation.
s “Subscriber acquisttion advertising " includes advertising nndmntmngezpenna related to the acquisition of new DISH Network
subscribers. Advertising costs genemally ere expensed a5 incurred.
During the year ended Decomber 31, 2005, our significant subscriber scquisition p jous were as folt
Effective Febroary 2004, our Digital Horoe Advantage (“DHA™) promation provided new lesse subscribers up to four installed EchoStar
receivers, inchuding various premium models, with a qualifying programming subscription. The subscriber was required 1o pay a monthly rental
fee for cach leased receiver nd a one-tme set-up fee 0f $49.99, but wis not required to sgree 1 & minimurn lease period. The subscriber

received & $49.99 credit on their first month's bill. x-:ﬁecmomm the promotion was expended wherchy !heeomamyayu:w
cither o oneortwoynr
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commitment i exchange for receiving the benefits of our Digital Home Protection Plan, an aptional extended warmanty program, without
cherge for anc or two years, respectively. In February 2009, the promotion was modified to allow new residential customers wboafhsn’bcd to
“America't Top 180" to obtain that programming a1 the saroe price as “America’s Top 1207 for the first three months. This promotios expired
during April 2005. :

During May 2005, we introduced & promotion which offers new DHA Jease program subscribers our “America’s Top 180" packege for $19.99
for each of the first three months of service. Effective June 2005, the promotion was modified to provide a $12.00 discownt per month o3
qualifying programming packages, together with free HBO and Showtime programming, for each of the first three months of servica. The
promotion, which centinued throngh August 15, 2005, required a one year minimum programming commitment. .

During August 2005, we introduced & promotion which offers new DHA lease program subscribers a froe month of qualifying programming,
three free mouths of HBO, Showtime and Cincmax programming, and a fice DVR upgrade. Further, in exchange for an 18 manth mininmm
programming cammitment, new lease program subscribers receive & credit of the one-time sci-up fee of $49.99, Effective November 3, 2005,
instcad of one month free, new lease program subscribers can elect 10 receive & $12.00 discount for the first three months of service on
quslifying peogramming. These promotions expired Jamuary 31, 2006. ’

During the fourth quarter of 2005, we began test marketing a prepay program, “DISH Now.” This program sllows conmmers who might not be
attracted by our existing promotions to purchase: & satellite receiver system and a prepaid card which can be refreshed periodically through )
additional prepaymcats. We have oot yet determined whether this program will be offered broadly.

Accounting for dealer sales under our promotions fall within the scope of EITF 01-9. In accordance with that guidance, we characterize
mounts paid to our independent dealars as consideration for equipment installation services end for equipment buydowns {commissions and
rebates) a5 @ reduction of revenue. We expenae payments for equipment fostallaion services as “Qther subscriber promotion subsidics. Our
poyments for equipmeat buydawns represent a partial or complete return of the dealer’s purchase price and are, therefore, netied sguinst the
proceeds received from the dealer. We report the net cost from our varions sales promoticns through our independent dealer network 2z ¢
compancat of “Other subscriber promotion subsidies.™ No net proceeds from the sale of subscriber related equipmeut pursuant to our
subscriber acquisition promotions are recognized a8 revenue. Accordingly, subscriber scquisition costs ar gencrally expensed as incurred
except for under our equipmeal lease promotion whertia we retain title to the receiver and certain other equipment resulting in the
capitalization snd depreciation of such equipment cost over its estimated useful life. .

search and Development Costs

. nesearch and development costs are expensed ax incrirred. Research and dwibpmmt costs ttaled $46.) million, $40.0 million and
$312.4 million fnr the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. )

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We apply the mtrinsic valoe method of accounting under Acoounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Iesucd to
Employees,” (*APB 25%) and related interpretations in accounting for our stock-based compensation plans, which are desoribed more fully in
Notc 8. Under AFB 25, we geaerally do not recognize compensation expense on the grant of options under our Stock Incentive Plan because
typically the aption terms are fixed and the exercise price equals or exceeds the market price of the undertying sinck an the date of grant. We
epply the discloswre onty provisions of Statcraent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting and Disclosure of Stock-Based
Compeusation,” (“SFAS 123"). .

Pro forma indormation regarding nct income mnd earniogs per shire ks required by SFAS 123 and hus been detocmined as if we bad socounted
for our stock-based compensatian plans using the fair vahee method prescribed by that statement.
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For purposces of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the options* vesting period on 8
straigh-line basis. We account for forfeimres as they occur. Compensatian previously secognized is reversed in the event of forfeitares of
unvested eptions. The following table illustrates the offect on net ncome (loss) per share if we bad accounted for our stock-besed compensation
plens using the fair value method:

C o _For e Yewrs Ended Decomber M, ____
T O {13 toumie, Except pex chere cmpumn)
Net income; (boas), as fparted .. ™ L P AASPETITT N ETES i s t‘i“ﬁm

Add: Stock-based erployee compensasion expense included huqmu:d nat income (lo8s),

net of roiated tax effect

Daﬁet{l'th's(qc&“ '“: - ! ";\é S -~'— .-jq- n.M * 2

" baied method for el awards, et of relsted ok c fct: 822

Pro forma net income (loss) SI|49$908

Bakic fncome {loéd) Per iliare, ag veperted T PR R O AR 0

Dilnted income (loss) per share, as reported s 322 S 046 $ 046
Pro forma basic incoime.(loss) per share Y T N R AR 36 TENIE KT TR S T oS YA ey
Pro forms diluted income (loss) per share S 3.18 $ 042 - 3§ 04

Optians to purchase 6.4 million shares purmuant to a long-term incentive plan under our 1995 Stwek Incentive Plan (the 1999 LTIP™), and
4.8 million sharcs pursuant 10 the 2005 LTIP were outstanding as of December 31, 2005, These options were granted with exercise priocs ut
feast equal to the market vahue of the underlying shares on the dates they were issued, The weighted-svenge exercix price of theae options is
$8.85 under qur 1999 LTIP and $29.40 under our 2005 LTI, Further, pursnant to the 2005 LTIP, there were also spproximately 545,000
cutstandmg Restricicd Performance Units as of Deceraber 31, 2005, Vesting of theac options and Restricted Performance Units is contingent
upon mecting certain bonges-term goals whick bave not yet been achieved. Consequently, no compentation was recorded during the year ended
Decamber 31, 2005 related 1o thesc long-temm options snd Restricted Perfomance Units ar is includod in the table above. We will recond the
velated compensation upon the achievement of the performance goals, if cver. Such compensation, if recorded, would likely result in totl non-
b, stock-based compensation expense of spproximatcty $129.0 miltion, which woald be recognized miably over the vesting period or
—~pensed immedintely, if fully vested, in our Consolidated Ststements of Operations snd Comprehensive Income (Loss).
For purposes of this pro forma presentation, the fair valne of each option grant was ctimated at the date of the grant using & Black-Scholes
opticn pricing modet with the following weightod-average assumptions:

For the Yeurs Eaded Deceanber 31,
0

NS TR
e TR S T3

Risk-frée inrestpate | o | Lot

Volatilty factor T T Mg N2A% | E%
Expectad term of options in years .o T A T Sga 54 -0 e
Weighted-gverage fair value of options granted s 1022 $ 1166 $ 2038 -

DwingDecunbaIW,vepﬁdnonc-dmdwidmdofﬂpaumndinglhmofuwClmAdeIusBcoumonnmk(chnhh
first time in our company’s history. We do ot intend 10 pay sdditional dividends on owr common stock and accardingly, the dividend yield
percentage is zero for all periods. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed far use In estimating the fair valuc of traded -
wﬁmwbidah-wnomﬁnxrmicﬁummdnfnllymnxfanblamduowuﬂmﬂufﬁhnhummmm«vmﬁmw‘
Further, the Black-Scholes model requires the input of highly subjective essumptions end b hanges in the subjective put asxumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate, the existing models do not necessarily provide s relisble single measure of the fair valuc of stock-,
based compensation swards,
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During 2005 and 2004, in dance with the guidance under SFAS 123 for selecting assumptions to use jn a0 aption pricing model, we
reduced our estimate of expected volatility based upan & re-cvaluation of the variability in the market price of our pablicly waded stock.
Historically, we bave relied on the variability in gur daily stock price since inception o derive our estimate of expectzd valatifity. Upon review
of this variability in our stock pricc over more recent periods, we believe unadjusted historicat expezience is 8 relstively poor predictor of our
future expecution of velatility. Accordingly, we specifically jdentified extraordimary events in our history which resulted in irregalar
moVemens in our stock price, and have disregarded the related periods in caleulating our historical sverage somual volatility. This adjustment,
together with changes in the intervals of our regular historical price observations from daily to monthly, contributed 1o the reductian in our
estimated volatlity factor. :

We will continue to evaluatz onr scsumptions used to derive the estimated fair value of options foc EchoStar’s stock as ncw events ar changes
in circumstances become known.

Basic and Dlluted Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Statemant of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Esmings Per Share” (“SFAS 128”) requires entitics to preseat both basic camings per
share (“EPS”) and diluted EPS. Basic EPS excludes dilution and is conyputed by dividing net income (Joss) by the weighted-average number of
comman shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reficets the potzatial difution that cauld occur if stock options were exercised and
convertible securities were converted (o common stock.

The potcatial dilution from our subordinated notes convertible into common stock was computad using the if converted method. Since we
reporied net income auributable W ¢common stockholders for the years ending December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the potential dilation from
siock options exercisable into common stock for these poriods was computed using the treasury stock method based en the average market
value of our Class A common stock for the peniod. The following table reflects the basic and diluted weighted-aversge sharer cutstanding used

1o caleulate basic and dikuted eamings per sharc. Barnings per share amounts for all periods are presented below in accordance with the
requirements of SFAS 128.
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For the Yeary Ended Docember 31,
__wmos__ 204 200

}Imcmmfarbmndnm.uc(lw)pathﬂNamc’ome(loss) .
hmwwqhﬁnmdm&muﬂmmmnuﬁ&mofnhbdu:ﬁml

Nuracrator for dituted net income (loss) per commen share

DétomiRator: “ 5 4 d A :
Demmmwx fnrbasw net income (km) pc: common shnm waghled-nmgc common

Dﬂnﬁwihﬁﬁ'ﬁ[oﬂﬁ'&ﬁf&mﬁng-d, SERGIRT L g T
Dilutive impact of subordinated notes mvemble iato common ilmu
Dmnmmmfur«hlm&dnctiﬂcmﬂos)pqrshm wmghwdqvuagcdﬂmdmmol'

“sharés outstipding ¢4, 3¢ -

Netincome (loss) per share:
Busic net imfome (foss) 1904 T
Diluted net income (loss)
Shares:0f Clias A" cominon stock bssuable upan conversion ot - ~
5 3/4% Convertble Subordinated Notes due 2008 i 3
" 1% Conivertible Subardinated Note dug 2018552+ .5 53284 o e FEEES B NN Lotes Sl |
3% Coagvertible Subordinated Note due 2011 .38 399 -
As of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 there were approximately 10.4 million, 10.9 million, snd 10.1 million options for shares of Class A
commoa stock outstendimg, respectivety, not included in the sbove denominator as their effect is antiditutive. Further, as of Decamber 31,
2005, there were options to purchase approximately 11.2 million shares of our Class A commen stock, sad rights to acquire epproximaely
$45,000 shares of our Class A common stock ("Restricicd Performance Units™), otstanding under our long term inceative plans not inchuded e
the above denominator. Vesting of these options end Restricted Performance Units is contingem upon meeting certain longer-torm goals : "
.aich have pot yet been achieved, and as & cousequencs, sre not included in the diluted EPS calculation L

New A ting Pr

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Sumdards Board issued Stat of Financial A ting Standards No. 123 (R) (As Amended),
“Sharc-Bused Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)™) which {i) revises SFAS 123 w efiminate both the disclosure only provisians of that statement and
tbnhmmwfulbwmemmmvdmmabdofnmmgmdnAowmmghmdpluMOpmen7.5 “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” and retaed interpretations, and (i) requires the cost resulting from all share-based payment transactions with employees
be recognized tn the results of operations over the period during which ar employce provides the requisite service i exchange for the award
a0d establishes fair valuc a3 the measurcment basis of the cost of such transactious. Effective Jamuary 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R) under
the modificd prospestive method. W expect the adoption of SFAS 123(R) to impact our resalts of operation and eamings per share similar to
our pro forma disciosure above. R

3. Settiement of EchoStar IV Artitration

During March 2005, we settled an insurance claim and related claims for accrued intarest md bad faith with the insurers of owr EchoStar IV
satcllitc for (he nct amount of $240.0 million. We also retained title 10 snd use of the EchoStar IV satcllite. The $134.0 million received in .
excess of our previously recorded $106.0 million reccivable related to this insurance claim was rocognized a5 & “Gain on insurence scitlement™
in gur Consotidated Staterents of Operations and Comprehensive 1 (Loss) during first quarter 2005. We have received all smomnts due
under the sorfement.
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" We also hold heenses or have entered into agreements to lesse capacity on satellites at three FSS orbital locations including:

* 500 MHz of Ku speotrum divided 110 32 froquencies at the 121 degres orbital locetion, capable of providing CONUS service,
phis 500 MHz of K2 spectrurn at the 121 degree orbital location capable of providing scrvicz into select spot beams;

* 500 MHz of Ku spectrum divided imo 24 frequencies at the 105 degrec orbital ocation, carrently capable of providimg service fo
CONUS, Alacka and Hawaii, plus approximately 720 MHz of Ka spectrum capable of providing service tirough spot beams 1
CONUS, Alasks snd Hawaii; and

« 500 MHz of Ku spectrum divided into 24 frequencies at the 85 degree arbital location, currently capabie of providing service 10
CONUS, phus spproximately 720 MHz of Ka spectrum capable of providing service drtough spot beams o CONUS.

1z addition, we were the winning bidder for the remaining 29 DBS frequencies st the 157 degree orbital location at an FCC anction condocted
in July 2004, Bowevex, the Washington, D.C. Court of Appeals overtamed the auction and the FCC has not yet decided how it will aliocate
those arbital slots and froquencics. We bave also applicd for the two remaining frequencics at the 61.5 slor. We cannot be certain that the FCC
will ultimatcly grant us the licenses for the additional frequencies st the 61.5 or 157 degree orbital locations.

We currently broadcast the majority of our programming from the 110 and 119 degree orbital locations. Abmeast all of our customers bave
satellite roceiver systems that are equipped to receive signals from both of these locations.

Satellite Fleet

We presently have 14 owned or leased satellites in geostationary orbit approximately 22,300 miles shove the equator. Each of the satellites we
own had an original minimam derign life of a1 least 12 years, Our satellite ﬂe:nsumjor compasent of our EchoStar DBS System. While we
believe that overall our satcllits ficet is genemnlly in good condition, during 2005 and prios periods, certain satellites within our fizet have
expericneed various enamalies, some of which have had a sigmficant adverse impact op their commercia} operation.

Owned Sasellites
We cwrzatly own 11 in-ocbit satellites.

EchoSvar [ and 11, EchoStar | end 1l currently opernic at the 148 degres arbital lacation. Bach of these Sexies 7000 class satellites, designed
and manufactured by Lockheed Martm Corporation (“Lockherd™), has 16 transpondere that operste st spproximately 130 watts of power.
While both satellites are currently fimctioning properly in orbit, similar Lockheed Series 7000 class sateflites owned by third parties have
~xpericaced total in-orbit faihere. While no telemetry or other dam indicates EchoStar I or EchoSaar I would be expected to experience a

rilar faiture, Lockheed has bezs mumable to conclude these and other Series 7000 saellites will not experience similar faltares. EchoStar | and

. = hre tach equipped with 24 Traveling Weve Tube Amplifiers ("TWTA”), of which 16 sre required so support full operstion on each setellite.

Prior to 2005, snomalics Jeft each satellite with 23 usable TWTAs. Whik we do not expect 2 large mmber of additional TWTAs to fail in any
year, it is likely that additions! TWTA failures will occur from time to time in the future, and that those faitures may impact commercial
operation of the satellites. The TWTA faitures have not reducad the r ining estimated neeful life of the sateliite.

EchoStar 1. Our EchoStar Il sateliite operaton at the 61.5 degree orbital Jocation. While originally designed to operate a maximem of 32
trensponders at approximstely 120 watts per chamnel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at over 230 watts per chammel, the astellite was
equipped with a total of 44 TWTAS to provide redandency. Axofhnu.uyi 2006, this satellite has experienced 11 transponder pair (22
TWTA) failures. As a sesult, BchoStar [l can now op a of22 ponders, but due to redundency switching linmitations and
specific channel suthorizations, it currently can only operale 17 of the 19 FCC muthorired frequencies we ntilize 8t the 61.5 degree west orbital
location for this spacecrnft. While we don’t expect e large aumber of additionat TWTAs o fail in any year, it is likely that additional TWTA
faitures wil] occur from time to time in the future, and that those fxilures will further impact commercial operation of the satelfite. The TWTA
failures have vot reduced the imaced useful life of the sateflite.
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4. Property and Equipment

Property and cquipment consist of the following:

EchoStarl -, T n ST DL e sl
s X

EchoSfa . S wa,.-zq‘_qg T el TN
EchoSle ﬁlllyd:preuagad

EchoStan¥ " v 3 g e
EchaStar V]
EchoSiEVE - ;
EchoSur VI o
EchoStae X ™. - ool
EchoStar XII
Saldlquumdmduemnlhsuméﬁﬁ

v .
I LRI, e,
TR

bf-'(—.e 3'%«,’“2’,‘ .n(,e
- S ke ‘

Fumiture, fixtures and

Buildings end {mpeovementi®. 1&“’1 54,687
Equipment leased to custamers 1045 949
Tooling nd othes” DTG R . '_":""rl‘,lyf
Land

Veheles o % ; e Wt g e o T R AR

Construction in progress - 49! 748 ) 273 153

Total property ki equipmesi ™~ L T 0t e, HER T TS SRmnaT 4201070
Accumulated dcpmmnon i ) . (2,124,298) 11,560 902)
Property and equipment, nel’ LT L T e $ 35534539 . ﬁélﬂ

ion in progress consisys of the following:

R:gwml dlgml bmdcmopmons centers

Software related projedts <S8 T s

Other
Constriction in progress 3 = * %,
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Depreciation and amortization expense consists of the following:

' Fer the Years Boded December 31
2005
Eiment leased 1o Gasomen v s L 3 gk, L $425,90%
Sateilites NEE 197,495

Purtiture, fixrares and equipient™s:, 6L i et
Uentifiable intangibles amets lublect to emaortization 39 035 -
Buildings and intproverest SRR I SINTED g LIRS 4.615 \‘7:‘79?’58'
Touling and other - 7,037

Tota! dépreciation #0d amortizatios™72% [ * &7 I L sm@’“”ifr ,3,@;&; Lﬂ

Cost of sales and operating expense categornies mcluded in gur panying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprebensive
Income (Loss) do not include depreciation expense related 1o satellites or DHA equipment.

Our Satellites

We prescatly have 14 owned or Jeased smellites in geostationary orbit approximately 22,300 miles above the equstor. Each of the satellites we
own had an original minimum useful life of st least 12 years. Our satellite ficet is a major component of our EchoStar DBS System. While we
believe that overall our satellite fleet is generally in good condition, during 2005 and prior periods, certain satellites withia our fleet have .
experienced various anomaslics, some of which have had a significant sdverse impact on their commercial opexation. We carrently do ot camry
insurance for any of our owned in-arbit carellites. We believe we have in-asbit setellite capacity sufficient 1o expeditiously recover transmission
of most programming in the eveat one of our in-arbit sstellites fails. Howevers, programming contimity cammot be asmured m the cvent of
multiple satcllite losses.

BchoStar I and IL EchoStar [ and [I curvently operate at the 148 degree orbital location. Esch of these Series 7000 class satellites, designed
and factured by Lockheed Martin Corporation (“Lockhood™), has 16 trensponders that operate st epproximately 130 watts of power.
While both suicllites are currently functioning properly m orbit, similas Lockheed Scries 7000 cless satellites owned by third partics hsve
experienced total in-orbit failure. Whilke no telemetry or othar date indicates EchoStar 1 or EchoStar IT would be expected to experience &
2ilar fadure, Lockbeed has been unable 1o concude these and otber Series 7000 satellites will not experience simitar failures. EchoStar I and
are each equipped with 24 Traveliog Wave Tube Amplifiers (“TWTA™), of which 16 are required to support full operation on each satellite.
Prior to 2005, momalics left each satellite with 23 usable TWTAs. While we do not expect & larpe mumber of additional TWTAS to fil in mmy
year, i is likely that sdditiona! TWTA faitures will oecur from time 10 time in the futore, and that those faitures mey impact commercial
cperation of the satellites. The TWTA failures have not reduced the remaining estismated useful life of the sateflite.

EchoStar II, Our EchoStar Tl satellite operates at the 615 degree orbital Jocation. While originally degigned to operate 8 maximum of 32
transponders at approximstely 120 watts per channel, switchebie to 16 transponders openating 82 over 230 wanis per channel, the satellite was
equipped with a total of 44 TWTAs o provide redundancy. As of Jaruary §, 2006, this ssteliite bas experienced 11 transponder pair (22
TWTA) faihures. As a result, EchoStar Il can now operaic s maximum of 22 treasponders, but duc to redundancy switching limitations and -
specific chanael authorizations, it aurently can only operste 17 of the 19 FCC authorized frequencies we utilize at the 61.5 degree west orbital
Iocation for this spacecraft. While we don't expoct a Large number of sdditional TWTAs to fail in any year, it is likely that additional TWTA
failures will cocur from time to time in the fature, and that those failures will farther impact commercial operation of the satellite. The TWTA
faitures have not reduced the remaining eshmated useful life of the satellite.
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EckoStar IV, Our EchoStar IV satellite was ariginally designed to operate 8 maximum of 32 qunspondery at approximately 120 wans per
chamnel, switchable W 16 transponders operating at over 230 watts per channel, During July 2005, we relocated our EchoSter IV sateflite from
our 157 degree orbital location to a third party Mcxican DBS orbital slot located at 77 degrees. During the relocation, EchoStar IV experienced
# thruster snomaly which hes not impecied commestial operation of the satellite. Prior to 2004, tns sstellite experienced faihures with the
deployment of its salar arrays and with 38 of its 44 transponders (including speres), sad further expericaced anomalics affecting its thermal
systews and propulsion systems. Several years ago, we filed an insurance claim for a total loss under the launch insurance policies covering
this satelliee. During March 2005, we scttled this insurance chim and related claims for acorued interest and bad faith with the insarers for s net
amount of 3240.0 miltion {see Note 3). During Septersber 2004, the south solar amay on EchoStar IV dzployed fully and appears bo be
producing nominal current. There can be no essurance that further material degradation, of total loss of use, of EchoStar IV will nat oczur in
the immediate futre. As discussed above, EchoStar TV is only capable of operating six of its 44 transponders and is fully depreciated.

EchoStar V. EchoStar V, which is currently located at the 129 degree orbital location, was designed to operate 2 maximum of 32 trensponders
at approximatcly 110 watts per channcl, switchabie to 16 transponders operaring & oves 220 wams per charmel. Momentum wheel fitures on
this sateflite in prior years resulted in increased fuel consumption and caused » minor reduction of spacecraft life. Durmg 2005, we determined
those anomalies will reduce the life of EchoStar V more than previously estimated, and as a resul, we reduced the estimated remaining uscful
Jife of the saxcllite from approximately scven years to approximately six years effective Jamuary 2005. EchaStar V has been utilized as an in-
orbit spare since February 2003. Ou hune 30, 2005, the FCC approved cur request to use thiz satellite to provide service to the United States
from e third party Canadien DBS orbital slot located at the 129 degree orbital Tocation. Duc to the increase in fuel consumption resulting from
the relocation of EchoStar V from the 119 degree erbital location to the 129 degree orbital location, effecuve)ulyl 2005, weﬁm‘hamdawd
the satellite’s estimated reaining useful fife from approximatety six years to approximaiely 40 he. These reds in

remaining useful life during 2005 increased our deprecistion expense related w0 the szl | by approximately $9.2 millioa in 2005 and will
increase it by approximatzly $15.3 million smually thereaftes. Prior to 2005, EchoStar ¥ experienced anomalies resulting in the loss of five
solar array strings owt of a ol of 96 svailzble, reducing solar aray power to approximately 95% of its anginal capacity. DunaxAugm 200s,
EchoStar V lost an additicmal solar amay strinp. The loss is not expected to impact commarcial operation of the satellite or its remaining uscful
life. There can be no assurance that future anomalies will not further impace the uscful life or commercial operatian of the satcllite.

EchoStar ¥1. EchoSur V1, which currently operates a1 the 110 degree orbital locarion, war degigned o operate 32 wansponders at

spproximately 125 watts per channel, switchabie to 16 trensponders operaiing st approximately 225 watts per channel. This satellite bas 8 total

of 108 solar array strings. Approximately 102 are required to assure full power availability for the estimated 12-year estimated wseful life of the
*cllitc. Prior 10 2005, EchoStar V1 Jost a toxal of five solar arrsy strings. During 2003, EchoStar VI experienced anomalics resulting in the loss
11 additional solar amray strings bringing the total number of swing losees 1o 16, and rednsing the number of functional soler vy srings

. avaunhl:xonmwnmymﬁuwmmtmcmdwmdmmmwdmfmmfulllZ—ywuﬁmmdmﬁulli{eof!be4

satellite. Sec discussion of evalustion of impairmeat in Notc 4 in the Notes to the Consolidated Finomcial Sintements im Iem 15 of this Asmrusi

Report an Farm 10-K. However, the solar armay snomalies have not impacted commercial operation of the satellite or reduced its estimated

uscful life below 12 yeare. There can be 0o assurance futare anomalies will not cause further Josses which could i impact commerciz! operation
of the satellite.

EckoStar VI EchoStar VII, which currenty operetes at the 119 degree orbital location, was designed to pperate 32 transponders that operute
&t approximetely 120 watts per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximately 240 walts pes chinnel Each umspoud:rm
transmit muttiple digital video, sudio and data channels. EchaStar V1I also includes spot beam technalogy. During 2004, our EchoStar VII
satellite fost & solar armay mEchoSanBwudmgnodwlmumhrunycmnandnmﬂ t‘urthzspacacmﬂtnbcfullyopawmal
8! cad
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of life. While this anomaly is not expected to reduce the estimated useful life of the satellite to less than 12 years and has not impacied
commercial operation of the satellite to date, an investigation of the anomaly is continuing, Unrtil the root causes are finally determined, there
can be no assurance future anomalies will not cause further losses which could impact commercial operation of the satellite.

EchoStar VIIL EchoStar VIIL, which rurremly operates at tae 110 degree orbital Jocation, was designed (o operate 32 transponders af
spproximately 120 watts per chennel, switchable to 16 tansponders aperating af appraxirately 240 watts per channel. EchoStar VITI also
includes spot-beam technology. During Jarmary 2005, onc of the computer components is jis contro! electronics experienced an anomaly. The
processors were successfully reset during April 2005, rewtoring full redundancy in the spacecraft control electronics, During July 2005, a
thruster expezienced & “bubble™ event in a propellent line which caused improper pointing of the sateflite resulting i a loss of service. Sarvice
was restored within several bours and the thruster is currently opensting normally. During February 2005, EchoStar VI losta solar ey
string, reducing solar array power to approximately 99% of its original capacity. Unt! the root canse of these anomalies are determined, there
can be no assuranoe that a repeat of the July 2005 enomaly, or other anomalies, will not canse further losses which could materially impect its
commezcial operation, or resth i & total Jass of the satellite. These and other ki iously disclosed bave not reduced the 12-year
estimated useful life of the snellite. We depend oo EchoStar VIII to provide local chamnels W ovwwwtea at feast until such time a5 our
EchoStar X satellite has commenced commercial operation, which is currently expeciod during second quarter 2006. In the event that EchoSter
VI experienced a total or Substantial failure, we could trensmit many, but not all, of those charmels from other m-orbit satellites.

EchaStar [X. EchoSur IX, which currently operaics at the 121 degree orbital huuon,wudmped to opersic 32 Ku-band transponders at
appraximately 110 watts per chemncl, along with transponders that can provide sarvices in Ka-Band (2 “Ka-band payload™). EchaStar IX
provides expanded video and audio chanoels to DISH Network subscribers who install specially-designed dish. The Xa-band spectrum is ©
bemg used to test and verify poteatial future broedband initiatives and to implement those services. The satellite 2kso inctudes a C-band payloed
which is owned by a third party.

EchoStar X EchoStar X, & DBS satclite which can operste up to 49 spot beams using up io 42 active 140 watt TWTAs, waa lannched oo
February 15, 2006. Assuming saccessful completion of in-ocbit testing, the satellite is expected to commenee commercial operations during ‘the -
second quarier of 2006 a1 the 110 degree orbita) location. The tpot beams an EchoStar X are designed to increasc the mumber of merkets where
we can offer local channcls by satellite, inchuding high definition local chamncls.

EchoStar XI1. EchaSter XI1, previously known 2s Ramnbow 1, currently operates ar the 61.5 degree orbita!l location. This direct broedcast
satelffte, which was porchased in November 2005 from Rainbow DBS Co., a sobsidiary, of Czblevision Sysiems Carporation, was designed to
_Avide all CONUS, all Spot Beam, er a mixture of CONUS and Spot Beam coverage. bn the sil CONUS configuration, the spacecraft can
_erate I3 uwponda's(zs TWTAs) et 270 wans per chanmel. In the all Spot Beam mods, the spacecraft cam operate up to 22 spot beams -
using a combination of 135 and 65 watt TWTAs. We are currently using the payload in the all CONUS configuration.

EchoStar XII expericnced one nosth solar array circui faiture during May 2005 end one south solar srray crreuit failure doring

September 2004. The south solar array circuit bes since partially recovered. The reason for the failures is unkmown, but believed to be camsed
bya.nmtanddcctnm!:.boﬂcm:nLWhﬂ:dmmmalyunm:xpmdbmdwtbnmmguxfnlhﬁuﬂbcsmcﬂmbknd\nlOym
and has ol impacted commacreial operation of the satellite to date, an investigation of the enomaly is contimuing. Until the root causes are
finally dex:rmmz:d.thm can be no essunmce future anomslies will not canse forther logses, which eould impact commercisd operation of the
satedlite.

SFAS 144 requires & long-lived asset or assct group to be tested for recoversbility whencver cvents or cb o inds th:m
carrying amount reay not be recoverable. Based on the guidance under SFAS 144, wcvahmmw:nklhwﬂcaﬁxmlﬂyunusﬁ
group. Whilk certain of the anamalics discussed sbove, and
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previcusty disclosed, may be idered to represent e significant adverse change i the physical condition of an individual satellitz, based on
the redundancy designed within cach satcllitc and considering the assct grouping, these anomalics (none of which cased a Joss of scrvice for
an extended period) are not considered to be significant events thet would require svaluation for impairment recognition purswant o the
gwdance under SFAS 144, Should any oue satellite be abandoned or determined o bave no servioe potenrial, the net carying amount wonld be
written off. )

S. Loag-Term Debt
5 3/4% Convertible Sebordinated Noses due 2008

The 5 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes mature May 15, 2008, Interest accrass at an annual rate of 5 3/4% and is payable semi-anrally in
cash, i arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each ycar.

The 534% Coavertible Subordinated Notes are general onsecured obligations and junior in right of payment to:
= ali existing and famure senior obligations;
» all of our secured debts to the cxicnt of the value of the assets securing those debts; and
e all existing and furure debts and other lisbilitios of our sebsidiaries.

Except under cenain circumstances raquiring prepayment premiums, end in other fimited circumstances, the 5 3/4% Couvartible Subordinated
Notes were pot redeemable at our option prior to May 15, 2004. Beginning May 15, 2004, the 5 3/4% Canvenible Subordinated Notes became

subject to redamption, at our option, in whole or in part, at redemption prices decreasing annuaily from 103.286% to 100% on May 15, 2008,
together with accrued and unpaid mterest thereon to the redemption date.

The 5 3/4% Canvertible Notes, unless previously redeamed, are convertible at the option of the bolder any time after 90 days following the date
of their original issuance and prior to maturity into shares of our Class A comman stock at 8 conversion price of $43.29 per sharc.

The indeature related %o the 5 3/4% Couvertible Subordineted Notes (the S 3/4% Conventible Subardinated Noles Indentcre”) contains certain
" restrictive covenants that do ot impose matenal limitations on us. .

n the event of & change of control, as defined in the § 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Indenture, we will be roquired to make az offer to
surchase alf or mry part of the bolder's § 3/4% Convertible Subordinsted Noses at 8 purch price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal
~mount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid interest therean, & the date of repurchase. )
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9 1/8% Senior Notes dae 2009

During 2003, we redeemed $245.0 million of the ariginal $700.0 million principal amount of our 9 1/8% Scriar Notes due 2609. In addirion,
doring 2004 and 2005, we reporchased in open murket transactions spproximately $8.8 million and $4.2 million principal smounts of these
noles, respectively. As of Decernber 31, 2005, the outstanding principal smount was approximately $442.0 million.

Effective Febraary 17, 2006, in accordance with the terms of the indenture goveming the notes, the remaining principel amount of the notes of
sppraximately $442.0 million was redecmed o 104.563% of the principal amount, for a total of approximately $462.1 million (Notc 15). The
premium paid of approximaicty $20.1 million, along with unamorized debt issuance costs of approximately $2.8 miltion, were recorded as
charges o carmings in February 2006. As & portion of the 9 1/8% Senior Notes remained outstanding as of Decezsber 31, 2005, we were subject
to the terms of the related indeatures unti the time the 9 1/8% Semior Notes were fully redeemed.

3% Converiible Subordinated Note due 2018

During the third quarter of 2003, we sald $500 0 milkion principal amownt of the 3% Convertible Subordinsted Note due 2016 which matwe
July 21,2030 10 AT&T in & privately negotiated ction. huterest at an snnual rate of 3% and is payable semi-anoually in cash, m
arrears oo June 30 and December 31 of cach year.

The 3% Coavertible Subordinated Note due 2010 is convertible into approximately 6.87 million shares of our Class A common stock at the
option of AT&T st $72.82 per share, subject ta edjastment in ceriain circumstances.

The 3% Coavertibie Subordinated Note due 2010 is:
+  general unsecured obligetions;
*+  rnked jomior in right of paymamt with all of our cxisting and future senior debt;
»  rasked equal in righs of payment 10 our existing convertible subordinated debt; and
+  renked equal in right of payment w all other existing and fatare indebiedness whenever the instrument expressty provides that such
indebtodness ranks equal with the 3% Convenible Subordinated Note due 2010.

¢ indenture related to the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 contzins cermain restrictive covenanis that do not impose material
aitabons on us.

In the event of 4 charge of coutrol, 2s defined in the related indenture, we would be required to make en offex 10 repurchase all os sny part of
the holder's 3% Convertible Subardinated Notz due 2010 at a purchase price equal to 100% of the aggregate principat amount thereof, ogether
with accrued acd unpaid interet thereon, 1o the date of repurchase. Commencing July 21, 2008, we mey redeem, and ATET may require us to
purchase, all or a portion of the note without premium.

Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008

During the fourth quarter of 2003, we sold $500.0 million principal amoum of cur Floating Rate Scajor Notes which mature October 1, 2008.
Interest accrues at a ficeting rate based on the three month LIBOR plua 3.25%, and is payable quarterly in cash in arrears on Jemuary 1, Apeil 1,
July I and October 1 of each year, commencing lanusry 1, 2004. The interest rate at December 31, 2005 wes 7.78%. The proceeds, along with
proceeds from the § 3/4% and 6 3/8% Senlor Notes, were used primarily to repurchase or redeem all ar a portion of certain then outstandmg

higher interest rute notas and for general corporate purposes.
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The Floating Rate Senlor Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in pert, st any time begimming October 1, 2005 at redemption prices decreasing
from 102% daring the year commencing October 1, 2005 to 10044 on or after October 1, 2007. Priar to October 1, 2005, we also could bave
mdmedupwls%ofucbnf(h:ﬂomngkalcSmNmnpmmmrpeaﬁadmmemdenmwhthenotcnbpmowdsfrmmm
equity offerings o1 capital contributions.

The Floating Rate Senior Notes are:

«  general unsecured semior obligations of EDBS;

¢ raoked cqually in right of payment with &ll of EDBS’ and the guarsators’ existing snd futare unseoured scwior debt;

«  ranked effoctively junior t our and the guanantors’ current and future secured senior indebiedness up to the valve of the collateral

socuring such indehtedness.

The indenture retated to our Floating Rate Senior Notes (ihe “Floating Rate Scnior Notes Indenture™) contams restrictive covenants that, amoag
other things, imapos¢ limitetions on the ability of EDBS and its restncted subsichanes to:

s incur additional indebtedness or eater into sale and keascback transactions;

«  pay dividends or make diswribution on EDBS” capital stock or repurchasc EDBS' capital stock;

*  make certain investments;

*  create liens;

¢ entor mio traosactions with affiliates;

»  merge or consolidate with another compeny; and

«  transfer and seli ascets.

In the event of a change of corirol, as defined in the relared indenture, we would be required to make an offer to repurchase all or any part of 8
halder's Floating Rate Semior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregae principal amount thereof, togrther with accrued and
uapaid interest thereon, to the date of repurchase.

/4% Sewior Notes due 2008

" During the fourth quarter of 2003, we sold $1.0 billioa principal emount of our § 3/4% Seaior Notes which mature October I, 2008, Interest
scorucs &t sn annuel rce of § 3/4% and is payablc sconi-anaually i cash in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing Apnl 1,
2004. The proceeds, slong with proceeds from the Floatng Rate Senior Notes and the 6 3/8% Senior Notes, were used primarily (o repurchase
" orredeem ell or & portion of certain then oustanding higher interest mtc notes and for general corparate parposes.

Th:53/4%SmNuﬁzwﬂlbemdmbl;mwhsknrmpan,nmynmcaumdmpmnpnceequlmlOO%ufﬂ»enpmcxpalamum
phus 8 “make-wholc™ premium, as defined in the related mdenture, together with scarued and anpaid interest. Prior to October 1, 2006, we may
ahomdcunuploBS%ofeachufd:eS3}4%SemcrNotesnspwﬁedpmnmmwnbdundmﬁ;memdsﬁmumeqﬂtyoﬂ'mgsor

capital contributione.
The 5 3/4% Seaior Notes are
»  gencal unsecured senior obligations of EDBS;
¢ ranked equally in right of payment with alf of EDBS' and the guarantors® existing and future insecured eenior debt;

*  manked effectively junior to our and the guarantors’ current and future secured senior mdebtedness up to the value of the collateral
securing such indehedness.

The indenture related to the § 3/4% Senior Notes (the “S 3/4% Scnior Notes Indenture™) contsins restricuve covensats that, among other things,
impose Limitations oa the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to.

*  incur additions! indebtedness or enter into sale snd leascback transactions;
*  pay dividends or meke distribution on EDBS ' cupital stk of repurchase EDBS' capital stock;
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'  make certain imvestoents;

*  create Kens;

< enter into transactions with affiliates;

¢« mergeor com&li}htc wth-another company; and

«  transfer aod scll essets. ]
In the event of & change of control, as defined in the relsted mdenture, we would be required to mske an offer to reparchase all or any part of 8
holds’s § 3/4% Senior Notes at & parchase peice cqual to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid -
interest thereon, to the date of repnrchase. ’
6 3/8% Semiar Notey due 2011

During the fourth quarter of 2003, we sold $1.0 billics principal smount of our 6 3/8% Senior Notes which mature October 1, 2011, Interest
wccrues at an annual 1ate of 6 3/8% and is paysble semi-anmually in cash in arrears on April | and October 1 of esch year, commencing Aprit 1,
2004, The p ds, along with p ds from the Floating Rate Senior Notes and the § 3/4% Senior Notes, were used primarily to repurchase
or redeem el or 8 portion of certain then outstanding higher micrest rate notes and for peneral corponate purposes. ’

The 6 3/8% Senior Notes will be redeemeble, in whole or in part, at any time ot & redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amoant
plus & “make-whole™ premium, as defined in the related indenmure, together with accrued and unpaid interest, Prior to Octaber 1, 2006, we may
also redeam up 10 35% of cach of the 6 3/8% Senior Notes at specified premiums with the net cash proceeds from cortain equity offerings or
capital contributions. -
The € 3/8% Senior Notes arec

¢ penera! unsectred scmor obligations of EDBS;

e rked equally in right of payment with all of EDBS' and the goarentors' exsting and future unsecured senior debt;

+ renked effectively junior to our end the puarentors’ surrent snd firtre secured sealor indebtzdness up to the velue of the collatenal
securing such ndebtedness,

The indesture related w the 6 3/8% Senior Notes (the *6 3/8% Senior Notes Indenturc™) ovntains restrictive covenants that, smeng other tings,
impose limitations on the sbility of EDBS md its restricted subsidiaries to: .

*  incur sdditional indebiedness or enter into salc and lcascback transactians,

+  pay dividends or make distribution on EDBS’ capital stock or repurchase EDBS" capital stock;
< make certain iovestments;

v create liens; .

*  enterinto transactions with affiliates;

*  merge of consolidate with another company; and
»  tramsfer and sell assets.

ln!hccvcntofnd:mgeofml,ndr.ﬁnedinthertlaudanue_wewﬂdbnrquimdhmbmoﬂuwttpmchmuﬂumyym_nh
holder's 6 3/8% ScnimNmulpmthmeiccequdmlOl%ofﬁtnwtgmepmdpa!mmmmimgcmawithmwdmd\nwd
interest thereon, to the dete of repurchase.

3% Convertibie Sabordinated Note dur 2011

During the third quarter of 2004, we sold $25.0 rillion prmcipal smount of the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 which matire
Augost 25, 2041 to CenturyTel Service Groap, LLC (“CTL™) in a privately negotizted transaction, Interest accrucs &1 an ensual rate of 3% and
is paysbie seni-annually in cash, in arrears on June 30 xnd December 31 of each year, commencing Decamber 31, 2004,
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The 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2011 is convertible into epproximatcly 398,724 shares of our Class A common stock st the option
of CTL at $62.70 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances,

The 3% Convertible Subordinated Note duc 2011 is:
«  general unsecured obligations;
»  ranked junior in right of payment with al of our existing and future senior debt;
*  rankcd equal in night of payment to our existing convernbie snbordinated debt; and

»  raoked equal ia right of payment w 2l ather existing and future indebizdncss whenever the instrument expressly provides that such
indcbtedness ranks cqual with the 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 201 1.

The indenture related to the 3% Convertible Subordiuated Notc due 2011 contains cenain restrictive covenants that do not impose material
limitations on us.

In the cvent of a change of control, as defined in the relsied indenture, we would be required to meke an offer to repurchase all or any part of
the holder's 3% Convertible Subordinawed Note due 2011 at 2 purchase price equal to 100% of the aggrepate principal amount thereof, wogetber
with accrued and unpaid fnterest thereon, 10 the date of repurchase. Commencing August 25, 2009, we may redeem, and CTL may requite us to
purchase, all or a portion of the note without premmum.

6 5/3K Semior Notes due 2014

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we sold $1.0 bilkion principal amount of our 6 $/8% Semiar Notes which mature October 1, 2014, Interest
accrues at an ennual rete of 6 $/8% and is payablc sci-anmuslly in cash in arrears on Agril | 2od October 1 of each year, commencing April 1,
2005. The proceeds, sogether with available cash, were used to redeem certain of our then outstanding higher interest rate notes.

The 6 5/8% Sentor Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time ot a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount
plus 8 “make-wholz” premium, as defmed in the related indenture, fogether with scarued and unpaid interest. Prior to October 1, 2007, we may
also redeern up 10 35% of cach of the 6 5/8% Senior Nodes at specified premiums with the net cash proceeds from cevtain equity offerings or
capital contributions
Tt 6 5/8% Scnior Notes are:

«  genena) vnsecured senior obligations of EDBS;

+  ranked equally in right of payment with all of FDBS' and the guarantors” existing and future mseawed seior debt

*  maked cffectively junior 0 our and the guarantors® currcut and future secured seaior indebedness up to the value of (he coliateral
securing such indebtedness.

The indenture retated to the 6 $/8% Senior Notes (the “6 5/8% Scaior Noles Indeature™) comaing reswrictive covenants that, among othes things,
impose timitations on the ability of EDBS and its restricted subsidiaries to:

+  incur additional indehedness or enter into sale and leaseback tunsactions;

*  pey dividends ar make distriburion ou EDBS' capital stock or repurchase EDBS’ capttal stock;
«  make certzin mvestments; -

s creake licus;

*  cuter mio transactions with affilistes;

. merge or cansolidate with another company; sud

¢ tansfer snd scll assets.

In the event of a change of cantral, as defioed i the relziod mdenture, we would be required to make an offer © repurchase all ar eay part of a

holder’s 6 5/8% Senior Notes st a parchase pricc cqual o 101% of the sgaregate principal amount thereof, together with accrucd and unpaid
interest theroon, to the date of repurchase.
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Capitd Lease Obligations, Mertgages and Other Notes Papable
Cepital lease obligations, mortgages and other notes paysble consists of the following:

Sazilifes Hsanced mﬁ?ﬁm JESE ORtigatibiE T

8% notc p:ylblc for BehoStar VI satellite veador ﬁmncmg, o

8% mote payable for FehoStar DIt veddr Biamm) £

Mortgages end ather unsecured notes pmkmhmmmm 2017 with mxnenmasmpng
from lppmml!dy 2% to l]%

Toud - T A BRE R A Sre F SR
Less current pnmun )
Capital lsdse obligaticis, morgages and othér noks-payable, net of current portion
Capital Lease Obligations
During 2003, we entered into 2 satellite service agreement with SES Americom for all of the capacity on s F'n:cd Satellite Service ("FSS™)
satellite, AMC-)$, which successfully launched during the fourth quarter of 2004 and comu d ion m Jamary 2005. The

tcnymm:lh::mng:mfmumutclmcnrmcwnblcbyusmlywmywbwafoﬂowmgmmmallnm,mdpmv:&sumxh
certsin rights 1o replacement setellites. We are required 1o make rmonthly pryments to SES Americom for this satcllite over the ten year satellite
service agreement begmning in 2005, In accordance with Smtement of Financisl Accoanting Standards No. 13 ("SFAS 137), we have
accounted for the satelfite camponent of this agreement a3 2 capital lease.

During 2004, we entered into & sesclliie service agreemen for capacity on another FSS sateflite, AMC-16, which launched during the fourth
quarter of 2004 and commenced commercial operation during the first quarter of 2005. The ten-yeas satellite service sgreement for this sacellite
is repewable by us on ¢ year © yesr basis following the izitial term, and provides us with certain rights to replacement sutellites. We are :
required to make monly payments to SES Americom for this sateliite over the ten year satellite service agreeraent beginning in 2005, in
‘ordance with SFAS 13, we have accounted for the satellite component of this sgreement as » capiial fease,
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had approximately $551.6 million and $330.3 million capitalized for the estimated fair vatue of
satelfites soquired under capitel lesses included in “Property end equipment, net,” respectively, with related accumulated depreciation of
approximeicly $53.3 million 2ad zcto, respectively. In onr Consclidated Statrments of Opetations and Camprebensive Income (Loss), we
recogmzed $53.3 million in depreciation expense on siellites acquired under capital lease agreements during the year ended Decenaber 31,
2005. During 2004, we did not recogmze any deprecistion on the satellites acquired under these capital leases.

F-31

bSH-12¥

-,-h\

TN,




.

Table of Contents

EchoStar 1V, Our EchoStag [V satelbite was originally designed to operate 2 maximum of 32 transponders at spproximarely 120 watts per
nnel, switchable 1 16 trmspoaders operating a1 over 230 watts pex channel. During July 2005, we relocated our EchoStar IV satellite from
4157 degree orbital location to & third party Mexican DBS arbinl slot locatcd a1 77 degroes. During the relocation, EchoStar IV expenenced

# thruster anomaly which has not impacted commercial operation of the satellite. Prior 1o 2004, this suteltie cxperienced faifures with the

deployment of i1s soler arrays and with 38 of its 44 transponders (inctuding spares), and further expericoced anomalies affecting its thermal

systems and propulsion systems. Several years ago, we filed an insurance chim for a total loss under the launch insurance policies covering
this satellite. During March 2005, we scitled this insurance claim end releted claims for accrued interest and bad faith with the insurers for & net

amout of $240.0 million (see Note 3 in the Notes to the Consolidated Fmancial Statcments in Item 15 of this Annusl Report on Form 10-K).

During September 2004, the south solar arvay on EchoStar IV deployed fully and appears to be producing nominal corent. There can be no

assurance that further material degradation, oc tota! loss of use, of EchoStar [V will not occur in the immediate future. As discuased ebove,

EchoStar IV is only capable of operating six of its 44 transponders and is fully depreciated.

EchoStar V. EchoSar V, which is currcotly Jocated at the 129 degree orbitel location, was designed to operate 8 maximum of 32 transponders
at epproximately 110 walts per channel, switchable to 16 ransponders aperaning at aver 220 watts per channel. Momentum wheel faitures an
this satellite in prior years resulied in increased fuel consumption and caused a minor reduction of spaccereft life. During 2005, we determined
those anomalies will reduce the life of EchoStar V mare than previously cstimated, and as 2 result, we reduced the estimated remaining useful
life of the satellite from approximately scven years to approximaiely six years effective January 2005. EchoStar V bas been utilized as m in-
arbit spare since Febroary 2003, On June 30, 2005, the FCC approved our request to use this satellite ta provide service to the United States
from a third party Canadian DBS orbital slet Jucsted at the 129 degree orbital bocation. Due to the increase in fued consumption resuhing from
the relocation of BchaStar V from the 119 degree orbital location 10 the 129 degree orbital location, effective July 1, 2005, we further reduced
the satellite’s estimated remsaining uscfu! life from appraximately six years to approximately 40 monthe. These reductions i estimated
remaining uschul life during 2005 increased our depreciation expense relatad to the satellite by spproximately $§9.2 million in 2005 and will
increase it by approximately $15.3 millian annually thereafter. Prior w 2005, EchoSur V expericnced anomalics resalting in the loss of five
solar array suings out of a total of 96 available, reducing solar ammsy power to epproximately 95% of its ariginal capacity. During August 2005,
EchoStar V lost m additional solar amay sring. The loss is not expected to impact commercial operation of the saellite or its ramaining useful
life. There can be no assurance that fature encmalies will not further impact the useful Life or commercial operation of the satellite.

EchaStar ¥1. EchoStar V1, which currently operates at the 110 degree orbital location, was designed to operate 32 transpanders at
spproximately 125 watts per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximatcly 225 watts per channel. This satellite has a wtat
of 108 solar mray strings. Approximately 102 are required to assure full power availability for the estimated 12-year estimated uscful lifo of the
satellite. Prior to 2005, EchoStar VI lost a total of five solar smray strings. During 2005, EchoStar VI experienced anomalies resulting in the loss
of 11 additional solar amay strings bringing the wial number of string Josscs to 16, and reducing the pumber of functional solar arvay strings
1tlable 10 92. The salar array snomatics will prevent the use of some of those tzmsponders for the full 12-yoar estimated useful life of the
£iite. See discnssion of evaluation of impairment i Note 4 in the Notzs to the Cogsolidated Financial Sttements i Mem 1S of this Araual
Report on Form 10-K. However, the solar mrray anamalies have not impacted commercial operation of the satellite of reduced its estimated
wseful life below 12 years. Thare can be 0o assurunce future anomalies will not cause forther losses which could impact commercial aperation
of the satellite. '

EchoStar ¥IL EchoStar V1, which currently operates at the 119 degres arbital location, was designed to opernte 32 ransponders that operate
at approximately 120 was per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximatety 240 watty per channcl. Each transponder can
transmit multiple digital video, audio and dena channcls. EchoStar VI slso includes spot beam technology. During 2004, o EchaStar V1T
satcllitc last a solar array circuit. EchoStar VI was designed witk 24 salar srray circuits and needs 23 for the spacecrafi to be fully operational
at end of life. While this anomaly is not cxpected o reduce the estimatad useful life of the satellite tn less than 12 years and bas ot impacted
commercial operstion of the satellite to date, an investigation of the anamaly is continuing. Until the root causes erc finally dotcrmined, thore
can be 0o essurance future momalics will not cause farther losses whick could impact commercial operation of the satellite.

1

. pSH-IZ

—

e




Table of Contznts

ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Continued

Futore minimum lease psyments under these capital lease obligations, togetber with the present value of the net minimum lesse payments a5 of
December 31, 2005 are as follows:

For the Year Efiding Dedfmbes 37; 777
2006

007 - i .. NG "; "7;2...__.":-.”1‘;—’3" ‘Y Td,g
2008 . e

2010 i . ) ) e
Thireafer 0 T N AR Y
Totl mimimum lease payments

Len! Awsonint yepreseating lease of the orbital ocation and éstimatod execiet
includihg’ proﬁxmmmmchﬂ&ﬁh Vijtel mininfuriease prymens
Net minimum lzase paym
Leu:Am&ﬁ:hepmmﬁig"‘ oS L 7 e B B T i
Prtsunnm:nfnummmlmeepuymm
Less: Current portiog © %5 i 15038, ¥

Loag-tcom portion of capim! lease obhm
Future manrities of our outstanding lang-term debx, including the cumrent portion, arc summarized as follows:

W'_m@%ﬁiui}

ekah ey L (140§99)

eyt | A

__Payments due by pevied

Toud 7% 2nn7 2008 7905 30M Thereafer
Lotg-termi dept.obligations © - S $5.406964. - < $AALO6F TR ” 504,01 40,000 781,025,000

Capital lease obligations, mortgages and othn' nou:s

poable - I L %1 36,470 78907 042 259,534
Towd s BT T U meesnn STecit o RERese s STSTRO0Y S D006 FIRSM

- Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2005, we had net opersting Joss carryforwards {“NOL’ s") for feders] income tax purposs of spproximately $2.632 billion
and tax beaefits related to caprial loss and credit carryforwards of approximatety $36.6 million. The NOL's begin to cxpm in the year 2011
and capital lose and credit curyforwards will begin to expire in the yesr 2006,

Our income tax policy is 1o record the estimated future tax effects of temporary ifferences between the tax bases of ascts xnd liabilitics snd
amountx reported in owr Coneolidated Balanoc Shects, a3 well as probable operating loss, tx credit and other caryforwards. We follow the
gudelines set forth in SFAS 109 regarding the recoverability of amy tax assets recorded om the balance sheet and provide any neocssary

- valuation aliowances as required. In accordance with SFAS 109, we periodically evatuate our noed for & vatustion aliowance. Determining
. peccasary valuation sllowances requires ug to make sssessments about historica) fraancial information as well as the timing of future events,

including the probability of expected future taxable imcome and available tax planning oppormnities. We had income before taxes for the years

" ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003. During the sccond quaries of 2008, we concluded the recaverability of certin of our deferred tax

agsets was more likely than not and accordingly seversed the partion of the valuation allowanoe which wes no longer required. As of
December 31, 2005, there remalns spproximately $11.4 million of valuation allowance which relstes 10 deferved tax ssets for credit
carryforwards which begin 1o expire in the year 2006.

During 2005, we deareased our deforred tax vatuation allowancs by spproxmately $§990.6 millian with $914.8 million of the roversal charged
to the income suternent and $75.8 million recordnd to equity. Reversa) of our recorded valuation all x far those deferred wx Rssex that
we believe are mare likely thun not to de realizable
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tesulted in an approximate $592.8 million credit to our provision for income taxes, We slso recorded valuation allowance activity of
$322.0 million throughout 2005 primarily related w the gencration of texable income. A¢ 8 result, net income increased by comrespoading
emounts. The smount reversed to equity during the year related o stock compensation and unrealized gains and losses. We recorded this
reversal o “Additional paid-in capitel”™ amd “Other comprebensive income (loss).”

The Federal NOL includes amouats related to tax deductions totaling approximately $274.7 miltion for ised stock options. The tax benefit

of these deductions has been allocated directly 1o contributed capital - . .

Stock option campensation expenses related to the 1999 Incentive Plan, for which an estimated deferred tax benefit waz previously recorded

excoeded the sctual tax deductions sllowed during 2005 and 2004. Tax charges essociated wath the reversal of the priot tax benefit bave been

allocated to “Additional paid-in capital” in sccordance with APB 25. During 2005 md 2004, charges of $10.4 million and $22 millios,
respectively, were made to sdditional paid-in capital

The compon=ats of the (provision for) benefit from income taxes are as follows:

Forthe Years hﬂd Dezember §1

Current (prumlon)benﬁ. ' R
Federa! S (523) $ (41
Srme G, 824) <. A3 sos)
Fareign .

Deferred (provisien) benefit: _

W T <, PR N

State o o

Decreasc (increase) in valuation allowsses .~ - o0~ - 5 RN

"Tatal benefit (provision) e “ L et i - ‘w“ﬁﬁjﬁq-a'[g

" i actual tax provisions for 2005, 2004 and 2003 reconeile to the amounts computed by applying the stanutory Federal tax rae to income
before taxes as follows:

Fet the Years Ended December 31,
2088 2004 1083

v, .- e .t -~ L tnaesrw - - “dM BTN
Steory e EE 2 o e R Gsm i s GSI0FrS '----*"tss‘ﬁ)f
State income uxs,mofm bmeﬁx B (1.7 s L6
Fortign taxes and intome'not U¥, kbl - P . (‘ﬂ ! ; ‘(0 < (1'2)
Swck opticn compensation .
Deférred tax asseraditment for filed tebimns - x-l "23 SN v
Intangible amortization and other - . ) . =) N (1:5)' n s ~(‘ S)
Decreast (inorcdse) in vakuation allowance <« . o e raw, 0 008 - Tl 3400
Total benefit (provisian) for imcome taxes 504 (s.1) (6.0)
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1he temporary differences, which give risc 10 deferred tax assers end iabilities as of December JI,_ZGOS end 2004, ae as follows:

‘ As of Decrmber 31,
2008 2004

- M tomaol) e
Deférved tux sasgtaivi |~ - Ll ot ala o T T e e TRETRCE
NOL, credit and other camyforwards R ‘§.l~.*2_2_l.1}§~
Unrealized losses on ipvesunénts. - - IR U Rl X
Acarucd expenses . R
Stock compensation R
Defared sevenuz :
Other T, T . :“5;17'
Towldefored avases L
Vahiitignalligeence™ s« Gt s i e U TTRSIE LTSN S e sl
Deferred tax asset after valnation sllowance 1,099,332 395,193
g;fmamm i PR R T T T RS g TR 37":&1““‘“{;‘2}
Depitiztion endiamentizatints - - L. SRS N o H 1 G B ) ET B%f&t_
State taxes net of federal c@’:qj ) L .(ﬂgg,xo%
Other " * 7 "0 AFR IR PR N T hedE D (2
Total deferred tux liahilities ) __(456.110) __fus3)
Net deferred tax asse; (lisbility) WO S ANE . 3.603.22 3 ‘1;'{: g?y
Current portion of net deferred tax asset (lmbility) i . L $ 3916 8§ 21318
Nonaurreat portion. of pet deferred tax asset (Hebilifyy .~ » =% « .~ b&r e - .74 T e A B (A A5 S)
Total net defored tax asset (liability) $ 603222 5§ (20,137)

Storkholders’ Equity (Deflcit)
" Comman Stock

The Class A, Class B and Class C common stock arc equivalent except for voting rights. Holders of Class A sud Class C common stock ere
entitled to one vote per share and holders of Class B comman stock are cutitled to 10 votes per shave. Each shere of Class B end Clage C
common stock is convertible, a1 the optian of the holder, into one share of Cluss A common stock. Upon 2 change in covtrol of ECC, cach
hn\duofapmmdmglhaxuofaanCmmonuockiunﬁtbdtnlOvo\csimmh!hneo(Chqunnnmqtodheld. Our principal
stockbolder owns the majority of all cutstanding Class B common stock and, together with all other stockholders, owas outstmding Class A
common stock. There are no shares of Class C common stock qutstanding.

Common Swck Repurchase Programs

During the fourth quarter of 2003, our Boerd of Directors suthorized the repurchase of en aggregatc of up 10 $1.0 bilkion of our Class A
cormmbon stock. As of July 15, 2004, we had corplsted this sharc repurchese plan, having purchased s total of 31.8 million shares of gur
Class A common stock for & total of $1.0 billion.

During August 2004, our Board of Directors sutharized the repurchase of sn aggregate of up to an additional $1.0 billion of our Class A
common stock pursuant to & new repurchase plan. During 2005, we purchased spproximately 13.2 miltion shares of our Class A common etock

for approximately $362.5 milison. Owr shire repurchase progran does not require us 1o ecquire myy speeific mumber or smount of sccurities and
may be terminated at any time.
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Cash Dividend

During 2004, we paid 2 one-time cash dividend of $1.00 per share, ar approximately $455.7 million, on owtstanding sharcs of our Class A ead
Class B coramen stock.

8. Stock Compensxtion Plaaz )
Stack Incentive Plans

We bave adopted stock incentive plans to attract and rctain officers, directors and key employecs. We carrently have §0.0 million shares of our
Class A comrion stock reserved for granting awards under our 1995 Stock Incentive Plan and an additions! 80.0 millios sheres of oar Class A
common stock for granting awards under cur 1999 Stock Incentive Plan. In general, stock options granted throagh December 31, 2005 have
included exercise prices not less than the fhir value of our Class A commion stock at the date of grant, a maximum tem of 120 years and vest, a5
Jetermoed by our Board of Directors, generally at (he rate of 20% per year. .

During 1995, we adopted an incontive plan under our 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, which provided certain key employees s contingent incentive
fachuding stock options and cash. The payment of these incentives was contingent upan our achicvement of crtain financiel and other gosls.
We met certain of these gosls during 1999, Accordingly, in 1995, we recorded approximately §178.8 million of deferred componsation related
“to post-grant appreciation of options so purchase epproximstely 4.2 million shercs. The related deferred compensation, net of forfeitures, was
recognized over the five-year option vesting period. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recognized expense of

$1.2 million and $3.5 million, respectively, under the 1999 incentive plan. Subsequent to December 31, 2004, there was no remaining deferred
compensation 1o be recognized under this plan,

Effective January 26, 2005, we adopted a long-term, performance-based stock incentive plan (the “2003 LTIP") withia the terms of our 1999
Stock Incentive Plan to provide incentive to our excoutive officers and certain other key employees upon achi of specified long-term
basiness objectives. Employees participating in the 2005 LTIP may clect to reccive a anz-time award of (f) an option to soquire » specified
number of shares priced &t merket vahie o the date of the awards, (i) rights to ecquire for no sdditional consideration 8 specified smeller
murnber of shares of our Class A comman stock; o (iif) & corresponding combination of & lesser number of option shares and soch rights 1o
scquire our Class A common rock. The options and rights will vest at & varying rale over & soven year pesiod; provided, bowever, tha! roze of
the options or rights will vest if we fail to achieve the specified loag-term performanes goal We will record the related compensation if
hicvement of this performance goal becomes probable.

JUptions to purchase 6.4 million chares pursuast to a long-term incentive plan under our 1995 Stock [nceative Pan (the “1999 LTIP™), aad

¢ B milfion shares pursamnt to the 2005 LTIP were oustanding as of December 31, 2005, These options were gramted with exercise prices at
Ieast equal to the market vatue of the underlying shares on the dates they were issued, The weighted-average exercie price of these options is
$8.85 undex our 1999 LTIP and $29.40 under our 2005 LTIP. The wreighted-average fair valuc of the options granted during 2005 pursuant to
these plens was $14.06. Further, pursusnt to the 2005 LTIP, there were also approximately 545,000 outtanding Restricted Performance Units
a5 of December 31, 2005 with a weighted average grent date fair valuc of $29.33. Vasting of these optioas and Restricted Performance Unit is
contingent upon meeting certain longer-term goale which have not yet bocn achieved. Conscquently, no compensation was recorded during the
year ended Decernber 31, 2005 related to these long-term options and Restricted Performance Units. We will record the related campensation
upon the achieverment of the performamce goals, if ever. In 2ccordance with SFAS 123(R), such compensation, 1f recorded, would result m total
non-cash, stock-based compensation expense of approximatety $129.0 million, which would be recognized retably over the vesting period or
expenscd immediately, if fully vested, in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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A summasy of our stock optiam activity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
005 1006 g

Welghted-
Averuge

. !m; Price Onptioas o
_. 11,134,216 $ 21.06 17818818 = 5.

10,361 2.7 4,238,000 .
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Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2005 arc as follows:
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eighted-
Outstanding  Averspe Weighted- Numbar Welgited-
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_; $2.12500 — $79.00000 25 036&_83 643 2443 619M|IJJ

] ’ .
“ri’ *  These amounts include approximately 6.4 million shares and 4.8 raillion shares outstanding pursvant to the 1999 LTIP and 2005 LTIP,
respectively.

9. Employee Benefit Plans
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During 1997, the Board of Directors and stockholders approved an cmployee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP™), effective beginning Octobex 1,
, 1997. Under the ESPP, we are authorized to issuc 2 total of 800,000 shares of Class A common stock. Substantially all full-time employees
+ . Wha have been employed by us for at least one calendar quarier are eligible to participate in the ESPP. Employee stock purchases are mede
trough payroll deductions. Under the termus of the ESPP, employecs may not deduct m amount which wonid permit sach employee to
. purchase our capital stock under all of our stock purchase plans ar a raie which would exceed $25,000 in fair vatue of capital stock in any onc
. Year. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the closing price of te Class A common stock on the laat business dey of cach calendar quarter
. 1nwhich suck shares of Class A comman stock are deemed sold to an employec under the ESPP. The ESPP shall taminate upoa the first to
( ‘pcmruf(i)()ctobal,MTW(ﬁ)mdammwhichd\eESPPiawrmhlmdbyﬂicﬂutdofbirmbwingzms,MandﬂXﬂmpbym
 purchascd approximately 97,000, 78,000, and 66,000 shares of Class A common stock through the ESPP, respectively.
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401(k) Employee Savings Plan

We gponsar a 401(k) Emplayee Savings Pian (ibe “401(k) Plan™) for eligible employees. Valuntary emplayee contributions to the 401(k) Plan
may be matched 50% by us, subject to & maximum aanual contribution by us of $1,000 per employee. Forfeitares of unvested participent
balances which are retained by the 401(k) Plen may be used to fund matehing and discretionary contributions. Expense recognized related to
matching 401(k) contritutions, net of focfeitures, intaled epproximately $200 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2005, We did not
recogaize eny expense relaled 1o matching 401 (k) contributions during the year ended December 31, 2004, as 401(k) Plan forfeitures were
sufficient to fund all of the Company matching contributione. Expense recognized related 1o matching 401(k) contributions, net of forfeitures,
totaled approximately $632 thousand drmg the year ended December 31, 2003,

We also may make an annug! discretionary coatribution to the plan with approval by our Board of Directars, subject to the maximum
doductible limit provided by the Interual Revenue Code of 1986, es smended. These contributions may be made in cash or in our stock.
Discretionary coutributions, net of forfeitares, were spproximately $15.4 million, $12. tmdlun, and $15.4 million relating to the 401(k) Plan
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

10. Commitmeots and Contingeacles
Comminmenss
Future maturities of our contractual obliganons sre tzed as fall
Payeaents due by paried

Tond 08 zm M8 2002018 Therssfter
Sszelfite-related ok 5 SN2 msz ;s' 4@55.3» *"msm;z.s;&
Operating lease ohh - ., 85513 4 88
Purchase obli v : SR RIS - i m,ﬁﬁss,é;-gp T AROeE ~ 1 75;@ frd S 3
Toul S'J 677,335 $1,068 829 $1,029.402 $443 980 515135‘124
Sateliite-Related Obligations

stellites wnder Constructisn. We have entered into contracts 16 coostruct six new satellies.

During 2004, we eniered into & contract for the constraction of EchoStar X1, a Space Systems Loral FS1300 cless DES satellite. In comection
with this agreement, we obtained an option for the construction of other additional sasellites. Construction is expected to be completed during -
2007. Future commitments related to this satellite are inchoded in the table above.

During 2005 snd 2004, we entered into contrects for the construction of five additional SSL Xa and/or Ku expanded band satellites which are
expected to be completed during 2008.

Sutelltes under Leaze. In addition to our jcase of the AMC-15 and AMC-16 satcllites (Notx 5), we have also entered into sarellite scrvice

agr to lease y on four other satellites. .

In comcction with the SES Americom egreement for the lease of the AMC-15 satellite discussed under Capétal Leare Obligations (Note 5), we

are currently leasing all of the capacity on an existing in-orbit FSS sateflite, AMC-2, at the 85 degree arbital Jocatlon. Our lease of thus satcllitc
is scheduled to coatinue through 2006, We have accommied for the AMC-2 satellite agreement a5 &n operating lease,

s
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During August 2003, we excrcised our option under the SES Americom agreement for AMC-15 to also leasc for an initial ten-year tem all of
the capacity on a new DBS sateliite at an orbital Jocation to be determined st a futare date. [n connectivn with this agrecment, we prepaid $20.9
million to SES Americom during 2004. We anticipate that this satellitc will be lmenched during the second half of 2006.

During Februsry 2004, we emered into a satellite service egseement for capacity on an FSS satellite which is planned for launch during the
second half of 2006. In coonection with this agreement, we prepeid $55.0 million during 2004 and are required to make monthly payments for
thus satellite for the §5-year period following ¢ .cment of tial operation “Future itments related 1o this satellite o
inctuded in the table above. '

Duwring August 2003, we catered imto a satellite seevice agreament for capacity on a Canadiar DBS satellite at the 129 degree orbital location
for an initial ten-year term. We anticipate that this satellite will be lsunched dunng 2008,

In certam cirmstances the dates on which we are obligated to make these payments could be delayed. These smounts will increase when we
commence psyments for the launches of EchoStar X! and the Ka-band satellites, and would further increase to the extent we procure msurance
for our satellites or contract for the construction, lsunch or lease of additional sateilites.

Purchase Obligations

Ow 2006 purchase obligations primerily connst of binding purchase orders for EchoStar recefver systems and related equipment, and for
products and seyvices relatzd to the operation of our DISH Network. Our purchase obligations also include certain gusranieed fixed contractual
commitments to purchase programming content.

Programming Contracts

In the normal course of business, we bave also cutered ino numerous contracts to purchise programming content whereby our payruan
obligations arc fully contingent on the number of subscribens to which we provide the respective content. These programrming commstments sre
not inchded in the table above. The terms of our contracts typically range from onc to ten years. Oor pregramming expenses will contimur 1o
increase to the catent we are successful growing our subscriber base. Programming expenses sre inctuded in “Suhscnha—rdusd expenses” in
the sccompenying Coasolidated Stateroents of Operations and Cmq:rrhmm Income (Loss).

“ent Expense
Jtal reat expense for operating leases spproximated $67.6 million, $59.1 million and $32.2 mifhon in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Patents and Iniclisctval Property
Many emtities, including some of our competitors, now have and may in the future obtain petents and othey mlcﬂml property fights tha:
cover or affect products or services duectly or wdirectly rclatod to those that we offcr. We may not be sware of all p snd other &l

property rights that our products may potcatially mfringe. Damages in patem infringement cases can mclude a tripling of actual damages in
certain cages. Farther, we cannot estumate the extent o which we may be required in the future to obtain licenses with respect to patexts beld by
others and the availability and cost of mny snch Kcenses. Various parties have asserted patent and other inteliectual property rights with respect
15 components within ovr direct broadcast satellite system. We cannot be certain that these persons do not own the rights they claim, that our
products do oot infringe on these rights, that we would be able to obtein licenses fram these p on ially ble terms or, if
we were unable to obtain soch licenees, that we would be abkwmdmgnmnpmdnuxwmxd ifringement.
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Coatingencies
Distant Network Litigation

Unxil July 1998, we obined feeds of distant broadeast network chmnaels (ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX) for distribution to our customers
through PrimeTime 24. In December 1998, tbe United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida in Miami cutered & naticowide
penmanent injunation requiring PrimeTirme 24 to shut off distant network chanoels to mmy of its cusiomers, and bencefarth to self thase
channels to consumers in accordance with the mjunction.

In October 1998, we filed & declaratory judgment action againet ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX in the United States Distriet Coun for the District
of Colorado. We asked the Court 1o find that our method of providing distant network programming did not vialate the Satellite Home Viewer
Improvement Act (“SHVIA®™) and hence did not infringe the netwocks' copyrights. In November 1998, the petworks and their affiliate
essociation groups filed a complaint sgainst us in Miami Federal Court afleging, among other trings, copyriit infringement. The Court
combined the case thes we filed in Colorado with the case in Miami and transferred it to the Mismi Federal Court.

[n February 1999, the nctworks filed 2 Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction and Contempt Finding against
DuecTV, lac. in Mismi related to the delivery of distant nerwork channels 1o DirecTV customers by sstellite. DirecTV settled that lawsuit with
the netwarks. Under the terms of the sentlement between Direc TV and the netwrorks, some DirecTV customers were scheduled to lose access to
their sateltite-provided distamt network channels by July 31, 1999, while other DirecTV castomers were to be disconnected by Docember 31,
1999. Subsequently, substantially sll providers of satellite-delivered network programming other than us agreed to this cut-off schodule,
although we do not know if they adbered to this schedule.

In April 2002, we reached & privaie setiiement with ABC, Inc., onc of the plaintiffe in the litigation, and jointly €led a stipulation of dismissal
In November 2002, we reached  privete settiement with NBC, enother of the plaintiffs in the Ltigation and jointly filed a stiplation of
dismissal During March 2004, we reached # private scitlement with CBS, another of the plaintiffs in the litigation and jointly filed a stipulation
of dismissal. We bave also reached private sentlements with many independeut stations and station groups. We were unable toreach &
setilament with five of the original eight plamntifis ~ FOX and the independent affiliate groups associated with exch of the four petworks,

A trial took place during Apeil 2003 and the Distnct Court issucd a final judgment i June 2003. The District Court found that with ooe
exception our current distant network qualification procedures comply with the law. We have revised our procedures to comply with the
Thistrict Court’s Order. Afthongh the plamtiffs asked the District Court to coter an injunction prechading us from sefling any local or distant

swork programming, the Dhstrict Court refused. Whlc the plaintifi did not claim monetary damages and none were awarded, the plaintifty
were awarded gpproximatcly $4.8 million in antomeys® fecs. This amount is substantielly fess than the smount the pluintiffs sought We ssked
the Court to reconsider the award and the Court has vacated the fee award. When the sward wes vecated, the District Court alto allowed us an’
opportunity to conduct discovery concerning the smount of plaintiffs’ requested fees. The parties have agreed to postpane discovery and zn
evdmﬂuyhemgrchdmgmmcyl fees until after the Court of Appeals rules on the pending appeal of the Court’s June 2003 fmal
judgment. It i8 not possible 10 make en assessment of lhcpmbabl: outcon of plaintiffs® ouutmﬁn; request for fecs.

Tthns!nchouxt:m;umtwnmquuunswmamwmmodeiw:v—quﬂdy,uoﬂmzom allofoursubsmbmwhomm
NBC, CBS or FOX pmgnmmmgbym:u:t:ﬁ'w;mmmhalhmlbemymwmchthesnhscnbcrlxvu.mCouﬂahamvahdamduﬂ
wumbmuuypcwxdedbynmwkmmm:mmwhchhmbccnprowdcdbymmfonhcp&mmnlymmmn
thurd party cutomaated system, allow subscribers who belicve the compuer mode! improperly disqualificd thera for distant metwork channcls to
nanetheless receve those channels by satellite. Pusther, the District Court mrminated the nght of our gnndfathacd subscribers to continue to
receive distant network channels.
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We believe the District Court made & pumber of errors ard appeaked the decision. Plaintiffs cross-appealed. The Court of Appeals grmted gur
request to ey the injunction until our appeal &t decaded. Oral argumen's ocowrred during February 2004. It is pot possible to predict how or
when the Court of Appeals will rule on the ments of our appeal. Ov April 13, 2005, Plaintiffs filed 2 motion ssking the Court of Appeals w0
vacate (he stay of the mpunction that was issued in Augast 2004. We responded on April 25, 2005. It is not possible to predict how or when the
Court of Appeals will rule on Plaintiffs’ motion to vacate the stny.

In the cvent the-Court of Appeals upholds the injunction or hifts the stay as plaintiffs sow request, and if we do not reach private scttlement
agreerents with additional stations, we will antempt 1o 85sist subscribers in anrenging altcrative means w receive petwork chammels, inchuding
raigration to local channels by satellite where available, and free off air antenma offers in other markets. However, we cannot predict with any
degree of certainty how many sabscribers would cance] their primary DISH Network programming as a result of termination of their distant
network channels. We could be roquired to terminate distant network programming to a1l subscribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail on their
cross-appeal and we sre permanently enjoined from drlivering all distant network channels. Tenmination of distent network programming to
subscribers would result, among other things, in 2 reduction in average monthly revenue per subscriber and a temxporary increase in subscriber
chura

Superguide

During 2000, Superguide Corp. (*‘Suparguide™) Sled suit against us, DireeTV and others in the United States District Court for the Western
District of North Carolina, Acheville Division, alleging infringement of Unnted States Patrnt Nax 5,038,211 {the “2] 1 patent}, 5,293,357 (e
‘357 patent) and 4,751,578 (the *ST8 petent) which relate to certain electronic program guide functicus, inchuding the se of electronic program
guides to control VCRx. Superguide sought injunctive and declamstory relicf and damages in an unspecified amount.

On summary judgment, the Dismrict Court ruled that nooe of the asserted pateats were infringed by us. These nulings were sppealod to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. During February 2004, the Federal Circuit affirmed in part and reversed in part the
District Count's findings and rerusnded the case back 1o the District Court for further proceedings. In July 2005, SuperGuide indicated that it
would no lorger pursue infringement allegations with respect to the ‘211 and *357 patents and those patents have now been dismissed from the
suit. We examined the *578 patent and believe that it is not infringed by any of our products or services. We will contime tn vigorously defend
this case. h&cwmtmmu&mmnmlydw:mmdmwcmﬁxmunmyofﬂmpmmts,wcmybcsub_;ec:mmbﬂmmdmlgn,
which may inctude ueble damages snd/or an injunction that could require us to matenially modify cenam user-friendly electronic programming
euide and related features thar we currently offer 1o cansumans. The casc is staytd pending the District Court's ruling. A trial date hag pot been -
- It 15 not poszible to make ap assessment of the probable cutcome of the suit or o determine the extent of any potential Lisbility or damages.

Yroadcast Innovation, L LC

In November of 2001, Broadcast Inpovation, L.L.C. filkd a lawsuit against us, Direc TV, Thomson Consumer Electronics and others in Federal
District Court m Drenrver, Colorada. The suit alleges mfringeruent of Urited States Patent Nos. 6,076,094 (fhc *094 paicat) and 4,952,066 (the

‘066 patent). The *094 pateat relutes to certain methods and devices for transmitting and receiving data along with specific formatting
informatioa for the dsta. The “066 petant relates 1o cormain methods end devices for providing the scrambling circuitry for a pry television
system on removable cands. We examined these paeats and believe that they are not infringed by any of our products o services.
Subsequently, Direc TV and Thomson sestled with Broadcast Innevation leaving us as the only defendant.

Daring January 2004, the judge issued an order finding the ‘066 patent invalid. In August of 2004, the Court raled the *094 iovalid in 2 paralle]
casc filed by Broadcant bunovation sgainst Charter and Comeast. b August of 2005, the United States Court of Appeats for the Federal Circut
(“CAFC") overrurned this finding of invalidity and remanded the case back to the District Court. Charter bas filed & petition for rebearing end
the CAFC bas asked Broadcom to respond to the petition. Qur case remains siayed pending resolution of the Chartar case. We intend to
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eontioue to vigorously defend this case. In the event that a Count ultimately determines that we infringe on xnry of the patents, we may be
subject to substantial damages, which may include treble dsmages and/or au injanction that could require o8 1o materiglly modify certain user-

friendly features that we currently offer to c It is not possible to make an assexsment of the probeble outcome of the suit ot to
detcrmine the extent of any potential Hability or damages.
TiVo Inc.

During Jamuary 2004, TiVo Inc. (“TiVo™) filed a lawsuit agsinst us in the United Sttes District Court for the Eesiern District of Texas. The
suit alleges mfrmgement of United States Patem No. 6,233,389 (the '389 patent). The “389 patent relates 1o certain methods and devices for
providing what the patent calls “time-warping.” We heve examioed this patent and do not belicve that it ts infringed by sny of owr products or
services. During March 2005, the Court denied our motion 1o transfer thiz case e the United States District Court for the Northem District of
California. The trial is scheduled to commence on March 27, 2006 in Marshall, Texas. We intend to vigorously defend this cuse. In the event
that a Cot ultmately detenmines that we infringe this patent, we may be subject to substantial damages, which may include treble damages
and/or an injunction that could require s 10 matcrially modify camin user-friendly features that we curreatly offer to consumers. If is not
passible to make s ent of the probable outcome of the suit of 1o determine the exient of any potential lisbility or damages.

Ou April 29, 2005, we filed » lawsait in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against TiVo and Humax USA, Inc.
slleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,774,186 (the *186 patent), 6,529,685 (the ‘685 patent), 6,208,804 (the ‘804 patent) and 6,173,112
{the *112 patent). These paseats relate 1o digital video recorder (“DVR™) technology. Trial is curremtly scheduled for Febeuary 2007,

Acacic

In Junc 2004, Acacie Media Technobogics filed a lawsuit agmust us i the Unitod States District Court for the Northern District of California.
The suit also named DirecTV, Comcast, Cherer, Cax and a number of smaller cable companics as defeadants. Acacia is an intzllecmal

botding company which seeks to license the patent portfolio that it has scquired. The suit allegrs infringement of United Sttes Patent
Nos. 5,132,992 (the *932 patent), 5,253,275 (the “275 patent), 5,550,863 (the ‘863 patent), 6,002,720 (the ‘720 patent) and 6,144,702 (the *702
patent). The ‘992, *863, “720 and '702 patents have boa asserted against s, -

The sgserted patents relate to various sysiems and mothods related 1o the transmission of digital data. The *992 and ‘702 pateats bave also been
asserted agsinst scveral intemet adoht content providers n the United States District Court for the Central District of California. On July 12,
004, that Conrt issurd a Markman ruling which found that the *992 and *702 patents were not as broad as Acacia bad contemied.

Zcia's various petcnt infringement cases have pow been consolidated for pre-trial purposes in the Unied States District court for the
Northern District of California. We intend to vigorously defend this case. In the event that » Court ultimately detenmines that we infringe on -
my of the patents, we may be subject 1o substantisl dsmages, which may include treble dsmages and/for an injunctios that could reguire us to
matcrially modify certain user-friendly features that we correntty offer to consumers. It is not possible to make en assessment of the probable,
outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any potential liabiliry or damages. :
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* EchoStar VIIL EchoStar VIII, which currently operates at the 110 degree orbital focation, was designed 10 operate 32 transponders at
oroximately 120 watts per channel, switchable to 16 transponders operating at approximatcly 240 watts per channel EchoStar VIH also
:ludes spot-beam technology. During January 2005, one of the computer components in its control eloctromics experienced an anomaly. The

processors were successfully reset during April 2005, restormg full redmdancy in the spacecraft control clectronics. During July 2005, &

thruster experienced a “bubble™ cvent in a propellant line which caused improper pomnting of the satellitz resulting in a loss of service. Service
was restored within scveral hours and the thruster is currently openating nommally. During February 2005, EchoStar VT Jost & solar amay
string, reducing solar amay power to approximatcly 99% of its original capacity. Ustil the root causc of these anomalies arc determiined, there
cam be no assurence that a repest of the July 2005 anomaly, or other anomalics, will not cause further Josses which could materialty impact itg
commercial eperation, or result in a total loss of the satellite. These and other anomalies previously disclosed have not reduced the 12-year
estimated uscfid life of the satellite. We depend oo EchoStar VIIT to provide local chanmels to over 40 markets at least until such time 2s our

EchoStar X satcllite bas commenced commercial operation, which 18 currently expectzd duning secand quarter 2006, In the event that EchoStr

VI experienced a total or substantisi faiture, we could transmit many, but not all, of those channcls from other in-arbit sarcllites,

EchoStar IX. EchoStar [X, which currently operates at the 121 degres orbital location, was designed to operate 32 Ku-band transponders at
approxunaicly 110 watts per chamme!, along with transponders that can provide services in Ks-Band (a “Ka-band pryload™). EchoStar [X
provides cxpanded video and sudio channels to DISH Network subscribers who install 8 specislly-designed dish. The Ka-band spectrum is
being used to 1est and venfy potestial futare broadband imitiatives and to implement those services. The satellite also includes s C-band payload
whch is owned by a third party.

EchaStar X BechoStar X, a DBS satelhte which can operatz up 10 49 spot beams using wp to 42 active 140 watt TWTAS, was launched oo
February 185, 2006. A tag ful completion of in-arbit testing, the satellite is expected 10 commence commervial operations during the
sccond quartzr of 2006 at the 110 degree orbital location. The spot beams om EchoStar X are designed to increass the number of markets where
we can offer Jocal channels by satellite, including high definition local channels.

EchoStar XIL EchoStar X1, previously known as Rainbow 1, currently operates t the 61.5 degree orbital Jocation. This direct broadcast
satellite, which was purchased in November 2005 from Reinbow DBS Co., s subsidiary of Cablevision Systams Corporation, wes desigeed to
provide all CONUS, all Spot Beam, o a mixture of CONUS and Spot Beam coversge. In the all CONUS coufiguration, the spacecraf can
operate 13 transponders (26 TWTAs) at 270 watts per chanzel. In the all Spot Beam mode, the spacecrafl can operate up to 22 spot beams
using 2 combination of 135 and 65 watt TWTAs. We erc currently using the payload in the all CONUS configuration.

&boSm)ﬂchpcdmcdm:nmhmhrmycimﬁxﬁihndmingMayZNSmdonemummh:umycbcui:ﬁﬂmadng

September 2004. The south solar army circuit has since partially recovered. The reason for the failures is mkaown, but believed 10 be caused
by &z micrnal electrica! short circuil. While this anomaly is not expected to reduce the remaining uscful life of the satellite to less than 10 years
ia ’lhnsmtimplnrdmmuudopultimoﬁhcsdcﬂifzwdn:.minv:ligzﬁonoflhnmmﬂyiswnliming,Unul(hcmunmm
aumydclammnd,ummhmmnmﬁmmmmicswiunmmﬁmmmnwnuimpnmlwmofm
. satellite.
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Forgent

In July of 2005, Forgent Networks, Inc. filed & lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastom District of Texes, The suit
also named DirecTV, Charter, Comeast, Tiroe Werner Cable, Cable Oue and Cox s defendants, The suit afleges infringement of United States
Patent No. 6,285,746 (the '746 patent).

The "746 patent discloses & video teleconferencing system which wiilizes digiial tckephone lines. We have examined this patent zad do not CEREEIT
believe that it is infringed by any of owr products or services. Trial is currently scheduied for February 2007 in Marshell, Texas. We intend to

vigorousty defend ¢his casc. In the cvont that a Count oltimetely determines that we tnfringe this patent, we may be subject to substantial

damages, which may include trebie damages and/or an injunction that could require us to materially modify certain user-friendly features that

we currently offer to consumers 1t is not pasxible to make an asseseament of the probable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any

potential liability or damages.

California Action

A purported class action relating to the use of termus such a8 “crysial clesr digital video,” “CD-quaiity eudio,” and “on-&creen program guide,”
and with respect to the sumber of chasnels gvaileble in vanous programming packages was filed against us in the California State Superior
Comn for Los Angeles County i 1999 by David Pritikin and by Consumer Advocates, & nonprofit unincorporated essociation. The claim was

denied claxs cetification. In December 2005, we reached a settlement for an mmmatcrial emovn with the fwdividoal plaintiffe.

- Retaler Class Actions

During October 2000, two scparate lewsuits were filed by retailers in the Arapshor County Diswict Court in the State of Colorado aod the
United States District Court for the District of Colorade, respectively, by Air Communication & Satelifte, Inc, and John DeJong, et al. an
behalf of thamsclves and a class of persons sumitarly citnated. The plaintiffs are atieopting to certify nationwide classes on behalf of certan of
our eatellite herdware retailers. The plaintiffs are requesting the Courts to declarc certain provisions of, and changes to, allcged agreements
between us and the retalers invalid and sneaforcesble, and to eward dameges for lost incentives and pryments, charge backs, and other
compensstion. We are vigorously defending against the suits and have agsexted a variety of counterclaimg. The United States District Court for
the District of Colorade staycd the Federal Court action to allow the parties to pursuc & comprehensive adjudication of their dispute in the

- ‘mpahoc Connty State Court. John DeJong, d/b/a Nexweve, and Joscph Kelley, d//a K eltromics, subscquently intervened in the Arapaboc

unty Court action as plaintiffs and propesed class eeprescntatives. We have filed 2 motion for summary judgmen: on all counts and againgt
a plambiBs. The plaintiffs filed a motion for additional time to conduct discovery w enzble them t respond to our motion. The Count granted
a himited discovery period which ended Novermber 15, 2004. The Court is hearing discovery relsted motions and has set 8 beiefing schodule far
the motion for summary judgment to begin 30 days efter the ruling on those motions. A trial date has pat been sez. It is not possible to make w
assessment of the probable putcome of the litigation or to determine the extznt of any potential hability or dameges.

Enron Commercial Paper Investmemt Compiaint

During October 2001, EchoStar received pproximatety $40.0 million from the sale of Enron commercial paper o  third party broker. That
commercial paper was ultimately purchesed by Enron. During November 2003, an action wes commenced in the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the Southern District of New York, agaimt approximately (00 défendants, inchoding us, who invested in Emron"s commercial paper.
The complaiot alleges that Earun's Octaber 2001 purchace of its commercial paper was a frasdulent conveyance end voidsble preference under
bankrupicy laws. We dispaie these allegations. We typically invest in commercial paper and potes which are rated in one of the four highest
rating categories by at Joas! two nationally reoogmized statistical rating organizations. At the time of our investment in Enron commercial paper,
it wag considered to be high quality and considered tobe a
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very low risk. The defendants moved the Court to digmiss the casc ov grounds that Enron’s comaplaint does not edequately state 2 legal claim,
which motion was denied but is subject to an appesl It is too early 1o make an assessment of the probable outcome of the litigation af to
determine the exteat of any potential ability ar damsges.

Bank One

“Durmg Marc 2004, Bank One, NA. (“Benk One™) filed suit against s and one of our subsidiaries, EchoStar Acceptance Corporation
("EAC™), in the Court of Common Pleas of Franklin County, Ohio allegimg breach of a duty to indemnify, Bank One alleges that EAC is

" contractually required to indemnify Bank Onc for a settlement it paid to consumers who eatered private label credit card agreemcnts with Bank
Oue w purchase satellite equipment in the late 19905, Bank One alleges that we entered into 1 guarantee wherein we agreed 1o pay my
indemnity obligation incurred by Bank One. During April 2004, we removed the-case 1o federal court in Colambus, Ohio, We deny the
allegsuons and intend to vigorously defend agaimst the claims. We Blcd 1 motion to dismiss the Compleint which wes graated in part and
deicd in part The Court granted our motian, agreemg we did not owe Baok Onc 2 duty 1o defend the undexlying lawsuit However, the Court
denicd the motion in (hat Bank Onc will be allowed to atteapt to prove that we owed Bank One a duty o indemmify. The case is corrently in
discovery. A trial date hag not been set. [t it 100 early in the litigation to make an mmauoﬁbepmbabl: outcome of the litigation or ta
determme the extcnt of any potentral liability or damages.

Church Communications Network, Inc.

Druring August 2004, Charch Compmunications Netwark, Inc. ("CON™) filed suit against us m the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Alsbama, asserting causes of action for breach of contrac, negligent misrcpresentation, intentional and reckics: misrcpresentation,
and non-disclosure based on 2 2003 contrect with us. The action was transferred o the United Stutes Disuict Cownt for the District of Coloradn.
The Coun permittad CCN to amend f1s complaint to assert the garoe claims based on 8 2000 contract with us. We have filed motions for
summary judgment e all cleims in the case. OCN has filed 2 motian for srmmary judgment on the issue of Bability an its mizntienal snd
reckless misrepresentation claim. CCN claims approximately $20.0 million in damages plus punirive damages, attorncy focs and costs.
stwveryhasbe:ncmdndedbutmﬁaldatehnsbemmItlsnotpossﬂ:lclomlkcmassmnemofmcmbnbleom;omzufﬂz titigation
_ or to determine the extent of eny potential lisbility or damages.

Vivend:

Sunuary 2003, Viveadi Universal, S A. (“Vivendi), filed suit against us in the United States Dismict Count for the Southem District of New

ok alleging that we have anticipatority repudiated or are fo beeach of an alleged agreement between us and Vivendi pursaant to which we are
allegedly roquired  brosdeast a music-video channel provided by Vivendi. Vivendi’s oompleint sceks injunctive and declaratory relief, and
darmages in an onspecified amouat. On April 12, 2005, the Court granted Vivendi's motion for & prchiminary injunction and directed us to
broadcast the music-video channel during the pendency of the litigation. In connection with thar order, we have also agreed to provide
marketing support to Vivendi during the pendency of the Litigation, In the event that the Court ultimately determines that we have a contractual
obligation to broadcest the Vivendi music-vidzo channd and that we are in breach of that cbhigation, we may be required to contiue
broadeasting the Vivendi music-video channe! and may also be subject to substantial damages. We intend to vigorousty defend this casc.

Shareholder Derivative Lawsiit

Durmg March 2005, a sharcholder derivative lawsuit was filed againat EchoStar, ita chairmen and chicf cxecutive officer Charies W. Brgen and
the members of its board of dircctors in the District Court of Douglas County, Colorado. Ou November 7, 2005, Plaintiffs filed a Natice of
Dismissal ecking that the it be dicmissed without prejudice.
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Other

In addition 10 ihe sbove actions, we are subject (o various other legal procesdings end claims which arise in the ordinary course of buiness. In
our opinion, the amount of witimate liability with respect to any of these actions is unbikely to matenally affect our financis position, resuhs of
operations or Liquidity.

Reauthortzation of Satellite Home Viewer Improvement Act

SHVERA requires, among other things, that all Iocal broadcast chammcls delivered by satelfite to awy pasticular market be evailable from a
single dish by Juae 8, 2006. We curreatly offer local broadcast chamnels in 164 markets ecross the United Sutes. ln 38 of those markets a
sccond dish was previously required to receive some Jocal chaanels in the market. While we have subsequently reduced the sumber of markets
where a second dish is necessary, we can not entirely eliminste the second dish necessity in all markets absent full operability of EchoStar X.

In the cvent BehoStar X expericnces any apomalics, satellite capacity limitations could foree us to move the local channels in some two dish
markets to different sawellites, requiring subscribers in those markets o fustell » second or different dish to continue receiving thear local
brosdcast channels. We could be forced, im that event, 10 stop offering local chiannels in some of those markets altogether. The transition of all
Ioulbrmdmuchxmdnumntumamgkdxshcmﬂdmuhmd:smpnnnsofmccfwnmbmnduumbcrofwrcumgm Further,
uurublhtytaumdycmuplymlhdnsreqmmnmtmlhnutmcmg dditional costs is dependent om, among other things, the
coutinued operation of our EchoStar V satellite ot the 129 degree orbital location until commencemeat of commercial operation of EchoStar X.
EchoStar V or EcboStar X enomalies could foree us @ cease offering local channels by satellite in meny markets absent regulatory redief from
the singie dish obligations If impedi to our preferred transition plan arise, it is possible that the costs of complixnce with e single dish
requirement could exceed 3100.0 milkion.

.
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1L Segment Reporting
Financiol Dala by Business Unit

Statcrocnt of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” ("SFAS 131™)
establishes standards for reporting informetion about operatmg segraents in anrual fmancial statements of public business enterprises md
roquires that those enterprises report selected information about aperating segments in interim financial reports issucd w stockboldes.
Operating scgments are components of an enterprise sbout which separate Sinanciel information is available and regularly eveluated by the
chief operating decision makes{s) of an enterprise. Under this definition we currently operate as two business units. The All Other catcgory
consiste of reveaue and expenses from other operating segments for which the disclosure requirements of SFAS 131 do not apply.

EcbeStar
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Revenues are atributed to geographic regions besed upon the Jocation from where the sale originated. United States revemuc incindes
tansachons with both Umted Stetes and interoationat customers. Evrope revenue includes transactioas with customers in Europe, Africa und
the Middle East Revennes from these customers are included within the All Other operating segment.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, United States revenue included export sales to ooc internstional custosser which
wtaled $178.4 million, $125.3 mittion and $127 6 million, respectively. These internations] sales accounted for epproximately 2 144, 1.8% and
2.2% of our tctal revemue during cach of the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2063, respestively. Revenues from these customers are
included within the EchoStar Technalogies Corporation opevating segment.

12. Valuation and Qualifying Accouats
Onx valuation and qualifying sccounts as of Decamber 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 are as follows.

Balance at

Begiamig of
YarendndDaambu‘It.m Faen T . QUSRI
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13. Quarterty Financisi Dats (Unandited)
Our quancrly results of operations are summarized as follows:
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Year ended Dectmber 31, 2008; - 7 s
Total revenue

Operating icome {loxs) +, & 5 70 ST e e
Net income (loss) )

Bagic income per share ¢ v, L C IR
Diluted tecome per share

e e el ORE
N £ wszm,m 3 $2,175,754
BT ST T ey m’m
‘ ;,_3|7,524, 208864 1326025
N 4 [, 14 $- ,\1.39""5 - 4.46—‘ 030
b 0.69 s 179 $ 646 S 028
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ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — Continved

14. Related Party Traasactions

We own 50% of NagraStar L.L.C. (“NagraStar™), & jeint venture that is our exclusive provider of sccurity access devices. Nagra USA, &
subsidiary of the Kudelshi Group, owns the other 50% of NagraStar. NagraSter purchases these security aocess devices from NagreCard SA, a
Svissmmpanywﬁdmahmmbﬁnﬁryofﬂm Ku.dclsh Group Becamse we are not requited to coneolidame NagraStar, but we do heve the
sbility to significantly influence its operating p , we sccounted for our investment in NagraSter under the equity method of accounting for
all periods presented. During the years ended Dccunbcr 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we purchased from NagraStar approximately $121. 4 million,
$123.8 millicn and $68 4 million, respectively, for security access dovices. As of Decamber 31, 2005 and 2004, amounts pryeble to NagraStar
totaled $3.9 million and $22.7 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, mmcommmed to purchase approximately £35.5 million of
securtty socess deviees from NapraStar,

15. Subsequest Eveats
$1.5 Billiso Senlor Notes Offerfug

On February 2, 2006, we sold §1.$ biTtion aggregate principal amount of our ten-year, 7 1/8% Senmior Notes due February 1, 2016 in a private
placement in sccordanoe with Secuarities and Exchange Commission Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Sccuritios Act of 1933. Interest on
the notes will be paid February | and August I of each year, commencing August 1, 2006, The proceeds from the sale of the notes were used w0
redeem our outstanding 9 1/8% Senioc Notes due 2003 znd arc also intended to be sed for other general corporate purposes.

9 1/8% Senfor Netes Redemption

Effective February 17, 2006, we redeemed the balence of our outstandmg § 1/8% Senior Notes duc 2009. In accordance with the terms of the
indenture governing the notes, the remaiming principal amount of the notes of approximately $442.0 million was redecmed at 104.563% of the
principal amount, for s 1otal of approximately $462.1 million. The premium paid of approximately $20.1 million, along with tmamortized dedx
issusnce costs of approximatcly $2.8 million, were recorded as charges to carmings in February 2006,
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Exhibit lodex

S Description
3.1(s)* Amended and Restated Articles of hacorporation of EchboStar (mcorporated by reference to Exbubit 3.1(a) on the Quartesly Report on
Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

3.)(b)* Amended and Restated Bytaws of EchoStar {incorporated by reference 1 Exhibit 3.1(b) on the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended Jume 30, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

32(a)* Articles of Incorporation of EDBS (incarparated by reference 1o Exhubit 3.4(s) 1o the Registration Statement on Form S4 of EDBS,
Registration No. 333-31929).

32(b)* Bylaws of EDBS (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4(b) 10 the Registration Stetemeat on Form S-4 of EDBS, Registration No.
133-31929),

4.1*  Registration Rights Agreement by and between EchoStar end Chardes W. Ergen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the
Registmtion Statcment on Form $-1 of EchoStar, Registration No. 33-91276).

42%  Indenture, relating to the 5 3/4% Couvertible Subordinated Notes Due 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001 between EchoStar and U.S.
Bank Trust Nationel Associanan, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended Junc 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176). .

43*  Registrenion Rights Agreement, relating (o the 5 3/4% Coavertible Subordinated Notes Due 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001, by and
between EchoStar snd UBS Warburg LL.C (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarierly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176).

44*  Indenture, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated a¢ of December 28, 2001 between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustee (incorporaied by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Ammus! Repart on Form 10-K of EchaStar for the
yesr ended December 31, 2001, Commission File No. 0-26176). .

4.5*  Registration Rights Agreemen, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Duc 2009, dated as of December 28, 2001, by and among EDBS
and Detsche Banc Alex. Brown, Inc., Credit Suisse First Bogton Corporation, Lehman Brothers Inc. and UBS Warburg LL.C.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 1 the Anmual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the yesr ended Deczmber 31, 2001,
Commssion File No. 0-26176). o

46*  Indeomure, refating o EDBS 5 3/4% Semor Notes due 2008, dared as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U S. Bank Trust
Nationa! Amsaciation, as Tructee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the
quarter eaded September 30, 2003, Cornmisnan File No.0-26176). .

4.7*  Indentore, relating to EDBS 6 3/8% Semior Notes due 2011, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U S. Bank Trust
National Association, & Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 10 the Quanerly Repart an Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the
quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commissitn File No 0-26176).

43*  Indenture, relating 1o EDBS Floating Scnior Notes duc 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Associstion, as Trustee (inforparated by reference to Exhibk 4.3 w the Quarterty Repor: on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the
quarter ended Sepiember 30, 2003, Comumission File No.0-26176).
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4.10°

a11s

4.12°

4.13*

4.14*

0.1

10.2¢

0.3

10.4*

10.5°

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

Descriptios '

Regiszation Rights Agreement dated as of October 2, 2003 smong EDBS and the other partics named herein (izcorparated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 o the Quarterly Reporr on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended Septeruber 30, 2003, Commission
File No.0-26176).

3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 {mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended Sepleraber 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

First Supplemental Indenmure, relatmg to the § 1/8% Semior Notes Due 2009, dsted #s of Decomber 31, 2003 berween EDBS wd U.S.
Bank Trust National Assaciation, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
EchoStar for the year eaded December 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

Firet Supplementa] Indenture, relatmg o the § 3/4% Senior Notes Dus 2008, dsted as of Decomber 31, 2003 between EDBS and US.
Benk Trust National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibic 4.13 to the Annusl Report on Form 10-X of
EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176)

Firet Supplerzental Indenture, relsting to the 6 3/8% Semior Notes Due 2011, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS and US
Bank Trust Natiooa! Association, as Trustee (incorpoeated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the Anual Report on Form 10-K of -
EchoStar for the year ended Decamber 31, 2003, Conumission File No.0-26176).

Firat Supplemental Indenture, relsting to the Floating Rate Senior Notes Due 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 bawacn EDBS
and U.S. Baok Trust National Association, as Trusice (inoorporated by reference to Exhibit 415 1o the Anmnlkcpon oa Form lD—K
of EchoStar for the yeas ended December 31, 2003, Commmission File No.0-26176). .

Farm of Satellite Launch Insurance Declasations (mmxpmtad by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Reglstrarion Statement on
Form S-1 of Dish Ltd., Registration No. 33-81234)..

Menufsctaring Agreement, dated 85 of March 22, 1995, between HTS and SCI Technology, Inc. (incorporaied by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 10 the Registration Sutement a Form §-| of Dish Ltd, Commission File No. 13-§1234).

EchoStar 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (incarparated by reference to Bxbibit 10.16 to the Rngmn‘bon Statemeat on Form S-1 of -
EcboStar, Registration No. 33-91276). *°

Amended and Restated EchoStar 1999 Stock Incentive Plen (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to EchoStar’s Deflitive
Proxy Statzment on Schedule 14A dated August 24, 2005). **

1995 Non-employce Duector Stock Option Plan (incorporased by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to b R:gmmmm Starcment ou Form S-8
of EchoStar, Registration Na, 333-05575). **

Amended and Restated 2001 Noa-employee Director Stock Option Plan (focarparated by referance to Appendix B to BeboStar's
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated August 24, 2005. **

2002 Class B CEO Stock Option Plan (incorporsted by referenoe 1o Appeadix A to EchoStar's Definitive mey?tmmem an
Schedule 14A dated April 9, 2002). ** .

Agreement betweee HTS, ESC and ExpressVu inc., dated Jumary 8, 1997, nsmmdd(‘mmpomndbyrnﬁ:mcewﬂxhibnlo 13
to the Angual Repart o Farm 10-K of EchoStar for the year coded Docember 31, 1996, as amended, Commission File No 0-26176).
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Y Description
0.9*  Agreoment to Form NagraStar L.L.C., dated a5 of June 23, 1998, by and berween Kudelski S A, EchoStar and ESC (incorporated by
reference lo Exhibit 10.28 to the Aznual Report oo Form 10-K of EcboStar for the year eaded December 31, 1998, Commission File
Na 0-26176).

10.10*  License end OEM Manufacturing Agroement, dated July 1, 2002, berween EchoStar Satellite Corporstian, EchoStar Technologics
Corporation and Thomson nmultimedia, Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the quarter ended Septembe 30, 2002, Commission File No. 0-26176).

10.11* Amcndment No. 19 to License and OEM Manufacturing Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, between EchoStar Satefiite Carponation,
EchoStar Technologies Corporation and Thomson multimedie, Inc. (incorporated by reference t Exhibit 10.57 o (be Annua! Report
on Form 10K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 2002, Commiswion File No.0-26176).

10.12®  Sawcibte Service Apreement, dated as of March 21, 2003, between SES Americom, lnc., EchaStar Satcilite Corporation and EchoStar
Commmnications Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.1 to the Quartarty Report on Form 10-Q of BchoSter for the
quartey ended March 31, 2003, Commission Filc No0-26176).

10.13*  Amendment No. | to Sxtelbte Service Agreement dated March 31, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by
reference to Exbibit 10 1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar far the quarter caded September 30, 2003, Commission

File No.0-26176).

10.14*  Sstellite Service Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by reference o
Exbibit 102 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter cnded September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-
26176).

10.15*  Sauclhite Service Agrecreat, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporaied by reference 10
Exhibit 10.1 1o the Quanerly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter coded March 31, 2004, Commisgion Fik No.0-
26176).

10.16* Amendment No. ] to Satelhite Servioe Agreement, dated March 10, 2004, betwosn SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated
by reference 10 Exhibit 10.2 to the Quanerly Repost on Farm 10-Q of EchoSter for the quarter endcd Merch 31, 2004, Commission
File No.0-26176).

10.17*  Amendment No. 3 to Satelhite Service Agreement, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar

{incorporated by refereace to Exhibit 103 to the Quarterly Report oa Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,
Commisaion File No 0-26176).

10.18*  Whole RF Channel Service Agreement, dated February 4, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar (imecrporsted by reference to

Exhitz)t 10.4 10 the Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Commission File No.0-
26176).

10.19*  Lener Amendment to Whole RF Channel Service Agreement, dated Merch 25, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar
{incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoSwr for the quarter coded March 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

1620* Amendment No. 2 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated April 30, 2004, between SES Amcricom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporated by

rtfeon:.;ec;o Exhibit 10.} 1o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, Commission File
Na.0-26176).

10.21*  Second Amendment to Whole RF Channe! Service Agreement, dated May S, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar

(wncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 w0 the Quarterly Report on Formlb-QofEchoSmfmth:qun:md:de:!O 2004,
Cammission File No.0-26176).
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Third Amendment 1o Whole RF Charmel Service Agreement, dated October 12, 2004, between Telesst Canada and EchoStar
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1022 o the Annual Repart on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 4 to Sstellite Service Agreement, dated October 21, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoSter (incorpocated
by reference to Exhibft 10.23 to the Anmual Report on Form 10-K of EcboStar for the yar:ndschcunbc}l 2004, Commm
File No.0-26176).

Amendment No 3 to Satellite Scrvice Agreement, dated November 19, 2004 berween SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Anmal Report on Form 10-X of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Amcadroent No. 5 to Suellite Service Agreement, dated November 19, 2004, between SES Americom, 1nc. and EchoStar
{incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Annual Report an Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31, 2004,
Commissian File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 6 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated December 20, 2004, betweea SES Americom, lnc. and BchaStar
(incorporeted by reference 1o Exhibit 10.26 1o the Annual Report on Form 10-X of EchoSur for the year ended December 31, 2004,
Carmissian File No.0-26176).

Description of the 2005 Long-Terr [ncentive Plan dated January 26, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterty
Report on Farm 30-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). **

Description of the 2005 Cash Incentive Plan dated January 22, 2005 (incorparated by reference to Exhibit 102 1o the Quarteriy
Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, Commission Fik No 0-26176). **

Settiement Agreement and Release effective February 25, 2005 between EchoStar Satcllite L.L.C., EchoStar DBS Corporation end
the insurance carviers far the BcboSar 1V sateltie (incorporazed by reference o Exhibit 10.3 t the Quanterly Report on Form 10-Q
of EchaStar for the quarter eaded March 31, 2005, Commissioa File N0.0-26176).

Amendment No. 4 o Salellite Service Agreement, dated April 6, 2005, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (incorporazed by '

reference to Exhbibit 10.1 10 the Quarterty Report on Fonm 10-Q of EchoStar far the quartcr ended June 30, 2005, Conmmission Filo N

No.0-26176).

Amendment No. § to Satellite Service Agreement, dated fane 20, 2005, betwees SES Americom, Inc. snd EchoStar (incorporated by
reference ta Exhibut 102 to the Quarterly Report oa Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended funs 30, 2005, Commission File
No.0-26176).

Incentive Stock Option A greement (Fonp A) (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Curremt Repon oa Formn 8-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2008, Commmssion File No.0-26176). *¢

Incentive Stock Option Agr t (Form B) (incorparated by reference w Exhibit 99 2 to the Current choﬂonFomB—Kof
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). **

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Form A) (incorporaed by reference tn Exhibit 99.3 to the Corrent Report on Form §-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Coramission File No.0-26176). **
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Leased Satellizes
: currently lease three in-orbit satclhites. . e

AMC-2. AMC-2 curently operetes at the BS degree orbital location. This SES Americom FSS sateliite is equipped with 24 medium power Ku
FSS transponders. Our lease of this satellite is scheduled to continue through 2006.

AMC-IS. AMC-1$ currently operates at the 105 degree orbital location. Thus SES Amencom FSS satellite is equipped with 24 Ku FSS
transponders that operate 85 approxirnately 120 watts per chaanel and 2 Ka FSS payload consisting of 12 spot beams. We cumtly use the
capacity oo AMC-15 o offer s combination of programming including local chamnels. This progranming is expected to be transferred to our
EchoStar X satellite following completion of m-orbit testing. We currently do not bave 2 plan to utilize the capacity of AMC-15 cnce this
programming is transferred s EchoStar X. We coald we this satelite to offer local network channels in additional markets, together with
satellite-delivered high-speed internet services. .

AMC-16 . AMC-16 is currently located at the 85 degree orbital Jocation. This SES Americom FSS satellite is virtually identical to AMC-15
and is equipped with 24 Ku FSS trrasponders that operate at spproximately 120 wans per chaand and a Ke FSS payload consisting of 12 spot
‘beams capsble of covering CONUS from the 85 degroe orbital location. We could use this satellitc to offer local network charmets in edditional
markets, ogether with satellite-delivered high-speed internet services. We have applied to the FCC for permission to use the AMC-16 satellite
at the 118.7 degree orbital location.

Satellites under Construcsion
We bave entered into contracts to construct §ix new satellites.

*  EchoStm XJ, 1 Space Systems/Laral, Inc. (“SSL™) DBS satellite, is cxpected to be completed during 2007. EchoStar XI will enable
better bandwidth utilization, provide back-up protection for our existing offcrings, and could allow DISH Network to offer other
vahuz-sdded services. : :

+  Five addicional SSL Ka and/or Xu expanded band satellites ere contractually scheduled to be completed during 2008 and 2003 md will
enable better bandwidih utilization and could allow DISH Network to offer other vahe-sdded services including 2-way broadband and

video. .
We have also d into satellite eervice agx 10 lease capacity on threc additionsl satellites carrently under constructioa.

*  An SES Ameticom DBS satellitc (AMC-14) expected to launch during late 2006 and commence commercial operation &t an orbital
location to be determined 8t a fature date. This smellite could be used as additional backup capacity snd to offer other vahuc-eddod P
scrvices, '

o The Telesar Anik F3 FSS satcllitc expected to launch during 2006 end commence cammercial operatioa at the 1187 degree orbital
locetion. This satellite could afllow DISH Network to offr other value-added services.

o A Canadian DBS satellite, Ciel 2, which is cormently scheduled to be Immehed during 2008 and is expected to be located at the 129
degree orbital locetion.

We are significantly mereasing our satellite capacity 8 a result of the agrocments discussed sbove and ather satelkite seIvice agrecments
currently under pegotistion. While we are currently evalusting vasious opportunitics to make profitsble use of thia capacity (inchuding, but not
limited to, launching satellite two-way ad wireless broadband, increaving pur miernstiora] programming and other services, snd expanding
our Jocal end HD programuming), we do not have firm plans to utilize all of the additional satellitr capacity we expect to sequire. [n addition,
there can be no that we can fully develop the butincss oppoctumities we currently plan to pursue with this additional capacity.
Puture costs associated with this sdditional capacity will negatively impact our margins if we do nat have sufficicat growth in subecribers or in
demand foc pew progmmming OF ScTvices to ganerats revemue 10 offset the cas of this ncreasod capecity.

9
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Duciptes
.35*  Regtneted Stock Unit Agreement (Form B) (incorparated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the Curvent Report on Form 3-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commizsion File No0-26176). **

10.36°  Inceptive Stock Option Agrecment (1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 9.5 w the Curvent
Report oa Form 8-K of EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Corumission File No.0-26176). **

10.37* Noncmployee Director Stock Option Agreement (incorparuied by refercace to Exhibit 99.6 10 the Current Repori an Form 3-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commmisgion Fille No.0-26176). **

10.38* Nonqualifying Stock Option Agrecment (2005 Loag-Tam loccotive Plen (incorporsted by reference to Exhibit 99.7 to the Carrent
Report ov Form 3-K of EchoStar filed huly 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). **

1039*  Restricted Stock Unit A greement (2005 Lang-Term Inceative Plan) (incorporated by refercace 1o Exhibit 99.8 to the Cunrat Repart
on Form 8-X of EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission Fike No.0-26176). **

21+ Subsidiaries of EchoStar Commmmications Corporation.
2.1+ Conpscat of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.} - Powars of Attomey authorizmg signature of Michacl T, Dugan, Centey Ergen, Stevea R. Goodbam, Gary Howard, Tom A. Ortolf, C.
Michae! Schroedey and Card B. Vogel.

311+ Section 302 Certification by Chainman and Chief Executive Officer.
31.2-  Section 302 Certification by Executive Vice President aad Chief Financial Officer.
321+ Secton 906 Certification by Chainnan and Chicf Executive Officer.

321+ Section 905 Centification by Exccutive Vice President and Chicf Financial Officer.

Filed herewith,
*  Incorporsted by reference.
**  Constitatcs 3 managemant conirect or compensatory plan or smangement.
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ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
As of December 31, 2005

Exhibit 21

Hme.bnh lnhen M

Eahnsummemnﬁm SR ”1@
EchoStar Orbital Colpnrmnnn o

(1) Ths is & subsidiary of EchaStar DBS Corporation




. EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT QF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors aud Stockholders
EchoStar Communications Corporation:

We consemn w the incorporution by reference in the following registretion statements of EchoStar Communications Cosp. and sabsidiaries of
our reports dated March 14, 2006, with respect to the consalidared batance sheets of EchoStar Communications Corporation as of

Decernber 31, 2005 and 2004, and the redated cousolidated statements of operstions and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockhalders’
equity (deficit), and cash flows for cach of the years in the three year period eodod December 31, 2005, and wanagrment's assessment of the
cfectiveness of intemal control over Snancial reporting as of December 31, 2005 mnd the effectivencss of intemeal control over financial

reporting s of December 31, 2005, which reports appear in the December 31, 200$tmmlrcpononl-‘om IO-KofEchosurCommumm
Corporation and subsidiaries.

L";-;_ _szmmsmum _
$E. 333106428 . . 4 meﬁwm«»é@’pﬁ; I S e i

S8 133-6649%0 . 2001 Nonemployee DmeM%m Plan
SRB.333KNE 7 .- 72000 Lagmch Bopus Pl [T T AL
5§ 33331890 401(x) Employces” Savings Pl ) o
S8 33303099, . {1995 Latmch Botus Play - TR P
S-8 333-74779 . 401(k) Employees' Savings Plan
S8 33351259 “ 1998 Lapach Booni Pl
S-8 133343895 401(x) Employres* Savings Plan
S8 333361 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Pl
S8 33336745 1997 Laonch Bos Plan
S8 33322978 .. * aff(k) Binployers” Savings Phag ™ .+ w3 T Ui, LU
S8 33311597 1996 Launch Bomas Plan L o
S8 -33308575 . . | (i -mjnohamvywmsmomﬂn BRI ey
S8 033-80527 1995 Stock Incentive Plan
KPMG LLP
“mver, Colarado
..1arch 14, 2006
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

EXHIBIT 24.1

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose sigmature appears below constitutes and eppoints David K.
Moskowitz, individually, as the true and lawful atomey-m-fact aod egent of the mdersigned, with full power of substitution and resubstitation,
fot and in the name, place and stead of the nndersigned, n any and all cspacities, & tign the Amnual Report oo Form 10-K of EchoStar
Commmications Cotporadion, a Nevada corporation formed i April 1993, for the year ended December 31, 2005, and any and all amendmen
therete and to file the same, with gl exbibits thereto amd otber documents in conncction therewith, with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission, and hereby grants 1o each such attorncy-in-fact and sgent full power and authority to do and perform each and every
act and thing requisitc and neccsary to be done i connection therewith, as fully 25 1o ell intents and purposes as the undersigned nright or
could do in person, hareby mifying and confirming all that such sttomey-io-fact and agent, or bis substitute, mey lewfully do or cause to be

done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Power of Attorney has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the date indicated.
Sgnatore Tite m‘

i/ Michse! T. Dugan Director March 15, 2006
Mithael T. Dugan
is/ Camoy Ergen Director March 15, 2006
Centey Ergen
J¢/ Steven R. Goodbam Director March 15, 2006
Steven R. Goodbern
/¢ Gary 8. Howard Director Maerch 15, 2006
Gary S. Howard

+* Tom A. Ortolf Director March 15, 2006

sm A. Ortolf
I/ C. Michae! Schrocder Directar March 15, 2006
C. Michael Schroeder
19/ Ced E. Vogel Directar March 15, 2006
Carl E. Vogel

('- A.,J‘)
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‘ EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Scction 302 Certification

1, Charles W. Ergen, certify thar:
1. 1 have revicwed this eanual report oo Form 10-K of EchaStar Communications Corporatiar

2. Based on my Inowledge, this repart doss not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 1o statr a material fact neccssary to
make the staternents made, in light of the circumstances under which such stasementx were made, pot misleading with respect m the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowicdge, the fmancial statements, and other financial information included in this repart, fairty present in ofl material
respecty the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant &5 of, and for, the periods presented in this repory,

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are respousible for establishing and maistaining disclosure controls and procodures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financis! reporting (s defined in Exchange Act Rules
138-15(£) and 154-15¢)} for the registrant and have:

8)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused much disclosure controls and procedures to be designed mder our
supervision, to ensure that material infarmation relating to the registrant, mcluding its consolidated subsidizrics, is made knows 1o us
by other within those entitics, particularly during the peviod in which this report is being prepared;

" b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial roporting 1o be designed under
our supervision, Lo provide reasanable assurance regarding the relisbility of financial ing and the preparation of financial

td

statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

<) :vah:nedlhceﬂmmmafthcmpnnm;dndosunmhnhndpwedwumdpmsmﬂdnhnmpoﬁwmchmmnbomh
cffectiveness of the discl dures, 83 of the cod of the period covered by this report bascd ou such evalveation; and

] dnclodmﬂmnpmmychngcm!hcmgxsmsmmndmwﬂmﬁnau:dmngdmmdsnmgﬁnmpsm s most
mcmﬁscalqwu(th:mgmmlfnunhﬁsalqumumth:wofmmmlmpon):hzhummﬂydkud,wnmombly
likely 10 materinlly affect, the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting, and

i The registrant's other catifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over fmancial
mpwdng,wﬁcmpxmsmmumdm:mdnwmluxofmpmmsboudofdmcm(orpa!ompafmnxthceqmvdm

functions):
8)  all significam deficiencies and materisl wuknminthcdcsignoropcmimofimnulcmlmﬁnmddmrﬁngwhidlm
mmbtyhhiyto.ndvmdynﬁcmhcnmm’ubﬂhymmrﬂ,pmm,smmuimandmﬁmdﬂigfamxim;md

b) ey frand, whether or not material, that imvolves management or other employees who have 2 significant role in the registrant's
interna! control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006

/s/ Charles W. Ergra
Chairman end Chicf Exccutive Offices
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Section 302 Certification

1, David J. Raynex, certify that
1. 1 bave reviewed this sunual report oe Form 10-X of EchoStar Communications Carporation;

EXBIBIT 312

2. Based ou my knowledge, this report docs not contain any untrue statement of s matesial fact of omit o state a material fact necessary to
make the statcments made, in light of the cirrumstances under which such statements were made, not misieading with respect 1 the period

covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, end other financial information included in this report, fairly presemt in 21 material
rcsp:cutb:ﬁnmcialmndiﬁon.rmlnofupmﬁmmdmhﬂmofﬂmmgimnofmdfur xhepaiodspmaﬂndinlhiucpm;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and [ are respansible far cstablishing and wai ng disch vongoly and procedures (s
defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(c)) sud imternat control over ﬁnmdahqaomng (a5 definad in Exchange Act Rules

132-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrent and have:

8)  designed such disclosure controls end procedures, or caused such disclosure cantrols and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure thet material mformstion relating to the registram, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmown to us

by others within those entities, particulerly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  designed such internal control over fmencia! reporting, or caused such isternal control over financial reponting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance reganding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finmmcial

statcments for external purpases in sccordance with generalty accopted accounting principles;

¢}  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls aad procedures and presented in this report our conclusions abom the
effectivencss of the disclosure controls and procodures, 23 of the cod of the period covered by this roport based on such evalustion; and-

d) disclosed in this report any change: in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occunred during the registrant’s most
recem fiscal quarter (the regivtrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of ant wnimual report) that has materiafly affected, or is reasomably

likely to materially effect, the registrant’s internal control over finencial reperting; and

The registract’s other certifying officers snd [ have disclosod, based ap our modt recent evaluation af interpal control over financil
reporting, to the registrant’s anditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent

fancrious):

s) ol significant deficiencics and material weaknesses in the design or operation af imermal control over fnancial reporting which are
reasonably likely © adverscly affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial nformstion; snd

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, thet invoives mamagement or ather employees who have @ significant role

mternal control over fineacial reporting,
Date: March 15, 2006

/s David ). Rayner
Chief Financial Officer

in the registrant’s




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Section 906 Certification
Pursusnt to 18 US.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of EchoStar Coramunications Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies that to the
best of his knowledge the Company’s Annual Report oo Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report™) fully comphiss with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15{d), as applicable, of fic Scourities Fxchange Act of 1934 end thar the information contained i the
Report faidly presents, m all mareriat r:spec::, the fiaarial condition and results of operations of the C.

Ty

Dated: Much 15, 2006

Name: 1t/ Charles W_Ergen

Title: Chainnan of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer

A gigned original of this written statement required by Sectian 906, or other document suthenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise edopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this writien statement roquired by Section 906, has bean provided to
the Company and will be retained by the Company and fumished to the Seawitics and Bxcinge Comnmission or jus staff upan request.
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EXHIBIT 322 2N

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Section 906 Cortification

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of EchoStar Commiunications Corporation (the “Company”™), bereby certifies that to the
best of his knowledge the Compary’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yesr ended December 31, 2005 (the “Report™) fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the
Report fairly preseats, in all material respocts, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated:  March 15, 2006 '.T-,
Name:  Js/ David J. Raymer

Title: Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this wrinen stetement required by Section 906, or other docament authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwrise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form wihin the electronic version of this wntten statcment required by Section 906, has beea provided to
the Compaury and will be retaimed by the Company and furnished to the Securitics and Bxchange Commission of ity stafl upon request
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Gemponents of 8 DBS System

ervine . In arder to provide progranmuing services to DISH Network subscribers, we bave entered into agreements with video, sudio and
aata programmers who generally make their programming content available to our digital brosdcast operations centers viz commercial
sateilites or fiber aptic networks. ‘We monitor thoae signals for quality, and can add promotionsl messages, public service programming,
advertising, and other information. Equipmeat #t our digital brosdcast operations centters then digitizes, compresies, eacrypts and combines the
signal with other nocessary date, such as conditional access informarian. We then “uplink” or transmit the signals to oue or morc of our
satellites and broadcast directly to DISH Network subscribers.

In order to receive DISH Network programmmg, a subscriber needs:
«  asatellit antenna, which peaple sometimes refer 10 as a “dish,” and related components;
v a"satellite receiver” or “set-top box™; and

¢ atclevision

EchoStar Receiver Systems . EchoStar receiver systoms include » small satellite dish, a digital satellite receiver that decrypts and decompresses
signals for trkevision viewing, 8 remotz controd and other related comp We offex a number of set-top box modcls. Our standard system
comes with an infrared universal remote cootrol, an co-screen interactive program guide and V-chip type technology for parental control. Qur
premium models include a hard disk drive enabling additional features such as digital video recording of oore than 210 hours of programming
sad s UHFfinfrared nuivernl remote. Certain of owr standard and premium fystems allow independcat satellite TV viewing ou two scparatz
televisions. We also offer a variety of specialized products mchuding HD receivers. Sef-top boxes comnmnicate with our authorization center
through telephoac lines to, among cther things, report the purchase of pey-per-view mavics md other events. DISH Network reception
equipment is incompatible with our compethtors’ systems.

Although we internally design and engincer our recaiver Sysicams, we out-source wanufacturing to high-vohune contract eloctronics
magufacturcrs. Sanmina-SCI Corparation is the primary mamufsctirer of our receiver sysiems. JVC and Celetranix USA, Tac. also manufacture
same of our receiver systems.

We depend on & few manufacturers, and in some cases & single manufacturer, for the production of our receivers and many compenents of our
EchoStar receiver systems that we provide to subscribers. Although there can be no assurance, we do not believe that the loss of eny single
mamfectarer would materially impact our business. ’ .

Conditional Access System . We use conditional access technology to encaypt our programming so only these who pay cam receive it We use

‘crochips embedded in credit cand-sized sccess cards, callod “smart cards,” ot in security chips in the sateBlite recciver, together referred to s
- urity eccess devices,” 1o controd access (0 authorized programmming cantent. We own 50% of NagraStar L L.C., 2 joint venture that provides
. uswith:ecuxitymudevicu.Nug:USA,lmbaidi-ryoﬂhcliudclsldGmup.ownstheoﬂ:a%omnyﬁm.mgnswmhumdm
security access devices from NagraCard SA, a Swisy compeny which is also a subsidiary of the Kudelski Group, These sccurity access devices,
ccriain aspests of which we can upgrade ovar the air of replace periedically, are & key element in preserving the security of aur conditional
eccess system. When a consumer orders a particular channel, we send a message by satellite that instructs the secority access devices Lo permit
dccryptiannfthh:‘zmmmingfwvizwingby&nmmn.ﬁeﬁmboxﬂ:ndmme@mcmmmhgndwﬂmlhe
congurer’s television.

lli:il)cg;nlmcrum,ndlamhmmcdism]ammachaninmordeviusmcﬁumvmmnmaypumwdmlunypmmbem
compromised by theft of service and could be farther compromised m the future. Theft of our programming reduces future potzntial revenue
and increascs our net subscriber acquisition costs. In addition, theft of our competitors’ programming can also increase our chum.
Compromises of our encryption technology could alsg adversely affect our ability to contran for video snd sudio services providad by
programmerz. We continuc (0 respond to compromises of our encTyption system with security measures imtended to make signal theft of our

10

CSH -IS




Table of Contents

progremmmg more difficult In order b combet thefl of our service and maintain the fonctionality of sctive set-top boxes, we recenly replaced

’cmqomy ofomnldugmmnonmmdxmﬂ:nmgmamm smart carde. These cxistmg smart cards beve been compromised, and

¢ &re mpl ing softwere patches and other ty measuses 10 help secare our service. However, there ean be no essurance th our

ufm-itymsmwiﬂbeeﬂ'ccdvcinmducingth:ﬁufmpmgnmnmgngmkl!w:mmqmmdmreplmmmgsmntwds,ﬂumuf
«card replacoments could have & matenal pdverse effect on our financial condition, profitability and cash fiows. Farthamare, other illegal
methods that compromise satellite programming signals may be developed in the future. If we cammot comtro] compromises of our encryption
technology, our revenue, net subscriber acquisition costs, churn and our ability to contract for video and sudio services provided by
programmers could be materially adversely affected.

Installation . While some consumers have the skills necessary 1o install our equipment in their hores, we believe that most nstallations are
best performed by professionals, and that o time, quality installations arc important to our sucosss. Consequently, we are coztinuing %o expand
owr installation business, which & conducted through owr DISH Network Servics LL.C. subsidiary. We usc both cmployees end independent
coatractars for professional insmallations. [ndqscndmmsullmmhaldloDXSHmetSuua:LLC.mmmdardsm:nunp(m
casure cach DISH Network customer receives the same quality installation and service. Our offices and independent installers are

located throughout the continental United States. Although there can be no assurance, we belicve thet our intornal installetion businest belps to
improve quality control, decrease wait time om service calls and new installations and belps us better accommodate anticipated subscriber
growth. '

Dighal Broadcast Operations Centers . Our principal digital broadcast operations centers are located in Cheyenne, Wyomisg end Gilbert,
Arizoma Almost all of the functions necessary to provide satellite-delivered services ocour a1 those focations. The digital broadcast operations
ceuters use fiber optic lines and downliak mtmuwm:zvcpmgrmmmg and other data from content providers. For most tocal chamnels, the
programming signals are encoded in the originating city and then backhauled via fiber to our digital broxdcast operation centers. These centers

mmwbnkmmmmcnmauhwdmhmdmnkum Equipmext al our digital broadcast operations centers performs substantially .

2] compression and encryption of DISH Network's programming signals. We have also built five new regional digital broadcast operations
centers that will allow ug 1o better utilize the spot beam capabilitics of ow satellites.

Customer Service Cemters . We currently operate 11 owned or out-sowrced customer service centers ficlding most of our custorner service
calls. Potentisl and existing subscribers can call a single telephone mumber to receive assistance for hardware, propramming, billing,
installation and technical support. We continue to work 10 automsie simple phone respontes and to increase Internet-based uutoms assistance
in orday to bener manage costomar scrvice costs snd improve the customer's self-sarvioe experiencs.

Subscriber Mansgement. We presently use, and sre dependent on, CSG Systems Internetionel, Inc."s software systam for the majority of
DISH Network subscriber billing and relaked functions.

1
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Gompetition for car Dish Network Bustaess

‘e compete in the subscription television service industry against other DBS television providers, cable television and other systam operatars
offering video, audio end data programming and entertainment servites, Many of these competitors have cubstantially greater fimancial,
marketing and other resources than we have. Our cammgs and other operating metrics could be materially advessely affected if we are unable
to compeie successfully with these and other new providers of multi-chanoe] video programming services.

Cable Television . Cable television operators have a large, established customer base, and many cablc opearators have significant investments
in, and access 1o, programming. Of the wta! U.S, howscbolds in which cable television sarvice was available as of Junc 30, 2005 approximately

. 60% subscribed 10 cable. Cable television aperators continue to leverage their advantages relative to satellite operators by, among other things,
bundling their analog video service with expeaded digital video scrvices, 2-wey high speed ititernct sccess, and telephone services. Cable
te{cvision operators with analog systems arc abso able Lo provide service to multiple televinion sets within the same housebold at a lesser
incremental cos! 10 the consumer, and they sre eble (o provide locel and other programming in @ larger number of geographic areas. As a result
of these and other factors, we may pot be able to continue 10 expand our subscriber base or compete effectively against cable television
operators.

Some digital cable platforms currently affer a VOD service that enables subscribers 1o choase from a library of programming selections for
viewing &t their convemence, We are continuing W develop our own VOD service slternative which was lounched on a limited scale during
2005. There can be no assurance that our VOD service will be successful in competing with other video providers.

DBS and Other Direct-to-Home Sysiem Operators . News Corporation owns & 34% controlling interest in the DirecTV Group, Inc.
("DirecTV™). News Carparstion’s diverse world-wide satellite, comtent and other related businesses may provide competitive advanuges to
DirecTV with respect to the acquisition of programming, content and aiber assets valusbie to our industry. In addition, DirecTV s satellite
receivers are sold in a significantly greater aumber of consamer clectronics stoses than ours. As 2 resakt of this and other factors, our services
are lest well known to consumers than those of DirecTV. Due to this relative lack of consumer awareness and other factors, we are at a
competitive marketing disadventage compared to DirecTV. We believe DirecTV continues to be in an sdvantageous position relative to our
Company with regard to, among other fivings, certnin programming packages, and possibly, volume discounts for programming offers.
DirecTV recently lmunched two new satellites and anoounced plans to lamch two additional new satcllites in 2007 in order to offer local and
national channel programming in HD 10 most of the U.S. population. Although we have recently lsunched our own HD initiatives, if Direc TV
fully implements these plans, we may be placed at » further competitive disadvantage compared to DirecTV.

Furthermore, other comparues in the United States have conditional permits or leased transponders for s comperstively small rumber of DBS

msignments that can be used to provide subscription satellite seyvices to portions of the United States. These mew entrants may have a

~ompetitive advantage over us i deploying some rew products end technologies because of the substantial costs we may be required to incur
make new products or tochnalogies availeble scross our installed base of over 12 million subscribers.

VHF/UHF Broadcasiers . Most aress of the United States can receive uaditional terrestrial VHF/UHF television broadeasts of between three
and 10 channels. These broadcasters provide local, network and syndicated programming, The local conte namre of the programeming may be
importent o the consumer, and VHF/UHF progremming is typically provided free of charge. In addition, the FCC has allocated additional
digital spectrum 10 licensed broadcastore. At least during this transition penod, each existing tclevision station will be able to retain its present
analog frequencies and also trangmit programming on » digital channe! that may permit multiple programming services per channel O
business could be adversely affected by continued free broadcast of local and other programming and increased program offerings by
tradhhonel broadcasters.
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Impact of High Definizion TV . Although we believe we currently offer mare HD content than our competitors, we may be placed ata
apetitive dissdvantage to the extent other arulti-channel video providers incresse their offering of HD programming We conld be furtber
~sdventaged to the extent 8 significant umber of local broadoasters begin offering local channels in HD, unless we make substantial
additional investments m mfrastructure to deliver HD programming. There ean be no assarance thar we will be sbie to effectively cornpete with
HD program offerings from other video provider. .

New Technologies and Compesitors. New technologies could also have a materie] adverse effect oo the demand for our DBS services. For
example, we face an increasingly sigmificant competitive theeat from the build-out of advanced fiber optic networks. Verizon Coramunications,
Inc. (“Verizon™) and ATET have begun deployrent of fiber-optic networks that will aflow them to offer video services bundied with
traditional phone and high speed imternet directly to millions of homes s early as the second half of 2006. In addition, wcicphone companies
nd other entities mre also iroplementing and supporting digital video compression over existing telephone lines and digital “wircless cable™
which may allow them to offer video services without having to build a new infrestructure. We also expect to face intreasing comnpetition from
content and other providers who distribute vidso services directly to consumers over the intcrnet

With the large increase in thz mumber of consumers with broadband service, a significant emoumt of video content has become availabk om the
Intemet for users to download and view on thoir personal computers and other devices. In addition, there arc stveral initiatives by companies to
raake it casier 1 view Intarnet-based video on television end personal computer sereens. We also expect to face inceasing competition from
content and other providers who distritute video services directly to conssmers via digital air waves,

Mergers, joint ventures, and allisnces among franchise, wircless or private cable television operators, telephone companies end others also may
result in providers capable of offering tedevision servioes in compenition with s In addition, cur campetitors are increasingly using existing
end new technologies to offer bundles of television and telecommumications services that may prove to be more competitive than our current
offerings. As a result, we may not be able to compete successfully with existing competitors o¢ bew cutrants in the market for television
BErvices. : :

ECHOSTAR TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

EchoStar Technelagies Corporaion (“ETC™), one of our wholly-owned subsidharics, designs and develops EchaStar receiver systems. Our
satellite receivers have won oumerous awards from the Consumer Elcctronics Mamufacturers Association, retailers and industry trade
publications. We out-sowrce the manufacture of EchoStar reoeiver systems to third parties who mamrufacture the receivers in accordance with
aur specifications. .

The primery purposc of our ETC division is lo suppon the DISH Network. However, in addition to supplying EchoStar receiver systems and
‘sted accessories for the DISH Network, ETC also sells similar digital satellite receivers imerpatiosally, cither directly to television service
tors of to our independent distributors wurkdwide. This bas created o souree of additional business for us and synergics that directly
benefit DISH Network. For cxarmple, our satellite rectivers are designed around the Digital Video Broadcasting standard, which is widely nsed
in Europe and Asis. The samc comployees who design EchoStar receiver systems for the DISH Network arc also involved in designing set-top
boxes sold 1o mternational TV customers. Conscquently, we benefit from the possibility that ETC's intemational projects may result in
improvements in design end econamies of scale in the production of EchoStar receiver systems for the DISH Netwark.

We belicve thar DTH satellitc scrvice 15 particularly well-suited for countries withom extensive cable infrastructire, and we are activaly
soliciting new business for ETC. However, there can be no assurance that ETC will be sble to develop additional intcmational sales or maintain
its existing busmess.

Through 2005, owr primary intcruational customer was Bell ExpressVu, a subsidiary of Bell Caneda, Canada’s pational telephone company.
We canently have certein binding purchase orders from Bell ExpressVu, and we ere actively trying to sccure new orders from other potcntial
internanonal customers. However, we cannot guarantee at this time that those negotiatins will be successful. Our future imomationa! reveame
depends largely om the success of these and other international operstors, which in trn, depends oa other factors, such ag the level of consumer
acceptance of DTH satcltitc TV products and the increasing intensity of competition for intemarional subscription television subscrbers.

13
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ETC's business alto includes our Attanta-based EchoStar Data Networks Corporation and our UK-based Eldon Techoology Limited (*Eldon
choology™) subsidisries. EchoStar Data Networks is 8 supphar of technology for distributing Intzrnet and other contcnt over satellite
cworks. Eldon Technology designs and tests various software and other technology used in digital televisions and set-top boxes,

strengthening our product design capabilitics for satellite receivers end infegratod televisions in both the international and United States

markew. .

Competition for Our ETC Busleess

Through ETC, we compete with a substaatial mumber of foreign and domestic companies, many of which have significantly greater resaurces,
financial or otherwise, than we bave. W2 expect new competitors to enter this market becsuse of rapidly changing technology. Our ability
anticipete these technological changes and inroduce enbanced products expeditiously will be a significant factor m our abslity 1o remain
competitive. We do ot know if we will be able 10 successfully intreduce pew products sad icchnologies on a timely basis in order to remain
corpetitive.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

We arc subject to comprehensive regulstion by the FCC. We are also reguleted by other federal agencies, state and local authoritics and the
Internatioual Telecommmmmication Unian (“TTU™). Depending upon the circumstances, noncompliance with legisiation or regulations
promutlgated by these entities could result I suspension or revocation of our licenses or autharizations, the termination or loss of contracts or
the 1mposition of contractus] damages, tivil finas ot criminal penalties. ’

The following summary of regulatory developments and legislation s not intended to describe afl present and proposed government regulation
and legislation affecting the video programming distribution industry. Govemment regulations that are curreatly the subject of judicial o
wmwmmwpmmdmp,bpﬂmhmmpmmmnmmmmbwﬂﬁdmg:uwmdummmdcm We cammot predict
cither the outcome of these p dmgs ot say p | imapact they might have on the industry or on our operstions.

FCC Reguhadaon neder the Commuonicstions Act

FCC Jurisdiction over our Operations. The Communications Act gives the FCC broad authority to regulate the operations of seiedlic
companies. Specifically, the Communications Act gives the FCC regulatory jurisdiction over the following arcas relating to commemicatiang
satellite operations:

+  the asugnment of satellite radio frequencies and orbital locations;
*  licensimg of satelkites, corth stations, the granting of related suthorizations, and evalustion of the fitmess of a company to be & licenses;
+  approvel for the relocation of satelhtes to different orbital Incatons or the replacement of an existing satcllite with a new satcllite;

*  ensuring complinnce with the terms and conditions of such assignments and authorizations, inchuding required timetables for
construction and operation of satellites and other due diligence requirements;

= avoiding jnterference with other radio frequency emitters; and

*  cosuring compliance with other applicable pmvisibm of the Communications Act and FCC rules and regulations gaverning the
operations of satellite communicabions providers and roulti-channel video distributors.
In order to obtain FCC satellite licenscs and authorizations, satcllitc oporators must satiafy strict legal, techmical and financial qualificstion
requirements. Once issued, these licenses and anthorizztions are subject to @ number of conditions including, emong other things, satisfaction
of ongoing due diligeace obligstions, construction milestones, and various reparting requitemets.
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Our Basic DBS Frequency Licexses and Aathoriutions. Most of our programmmg is transmitted 1o our cestomers on frequencies in the 12.2
*2.7 GHz range, which we refer to a5 the “DBS” frequencies. We are licensed or suthorized by the FCC to operate DBS frequencics at the
.uowing arbital locations:

* 12 frequencies a1 the 61.5 degree arbital location;

* 29 frequencies st the 110 degree arbital location;

« 21 frequencies at the {19 degree arbital location; and
« 32 froquencies at the 148 degree arbimal locasion. -

We also sublease six transponders (corresponding to six frequencies) a1t the 61.5 degree orbital location from ficensee Dominion Video
Sateltite, Inc. (“Domimion™). In addition, we were the winning bidder for the remsiing 29 DBS frequencies ot the 157 dogree orbital location st
an FCC auction conducted in July 2004. Howevez, the Washington, D.C. Cowrt of Appeals overturned the suction and the FCC has not yet
decided how it will allocxte those orbital slots and frequencies. We have alsn applied for the two remaining frequencies at the 61.5 slor We
cannot be certmin that the FCC wiall ultimately grant s the lictases for the additional frequencies a1 61.5 or 157.

Duration of our Satellite LI and Axthorizations. Geoerally spesking, ol of our satellite Jicenses arr subject to expiration wnless renewed
by the FCC. Whilc under a recent FCC rulemaking the term of certun satetlite licenses hae been extended from 10 10 15 yers, the term of DBS
licenses remains at 10 years; qur licenaes are currently sct to cxpire st various times starting as carty a8 November 2006, 1n addition, our special
temporry authorizations are granted for periods of only 180 days or less, subject again w possible rencwal by the FCC.

Opposition and other Risks to our Licenses and Axahorizations. Stveral third parties have opposed, and we expect them to continue to
oppose, some of our FCC sateliite suthorizations and pending requests to the FCC for cxlmswns,mndxﬁnmu, waivers and approvals of our
licenses. In addition, we mey not have fully complied with il of the FCC reporting and filing requircments in jan with our satellite
suthorizatioas. Becsuse of this opposition and our faiture to comply with certain requirements of cur suthorizations, it is possible the FCC
could revoke, terminate, condition or decline o extend or renew certaim of our suthorizations or hcenses.

Our FSS Licenses. In sddition to our DBS licenses and authorizations, we have received condutional licenses from the FCC 10 opersie FSS
satellites in the Ka-band and the Ku-band, meluding licenses to operate EchoStar IX (a hybrid Ka/Kn-band satclhic) at the 121 degree orbital
location. In addition, EchoStar holds Ka-bend liccnses st the 97, 113 ead 117 degrec arbital Jocations, snd extended Ko-band licenses at the
103 and 12) d:gmcm‘biu.llncuinnn.Uscofdzucl’immxnicundiﬁmdmﬂmrinﬁomismbjwwmhwchmulmddu:dﬂigau
requirceotd, including the requirement to constroct and launch satellites according to specific milestoncs and deadlipes. Our projects to
~pstruct and launch Ku-band, cxtended Ku-band and Ka-band satellites are in various stages of development.

k3 10 our Ko-Band and Ku-Band Authorivations, Our Ka-band license st the 121 degrec orbital locations allow us 1o vse caly 500 MHz of
Ka-band spectrum m cach dircction, while ceram other licensoes have been authorized w use 1000 MHz in each direction. Our Ka-band
licenses at the 97, 113 and 117 degree orbital locations are for the full 1000 MHz in each direction. With respect to these latter Ka-band
licenses, the FCC requires construction, lsunch and opcration of the satellites to be leted by D ber 2008, October 2009 and
Muzxch 2009, respectively. During 2004, wumhnindu!emmcmwmmmmthcFm&:hwnmmmmumw
and 117 degrec orbital locations. TbeFCCwbwqwnkymladmnmmmmmp}ymﬁﬂzfnmandmmmm
During the fourth quarter of 2005, we changed satellitc vendors and submitted the revised contracts for the Ka saicllites at the 97 and 117 °
orbital Tocations and & new contract for the Ka saiclbite o the 113 aabital location. In December 2005, we conducted the cridcal design roview
for the Ka smellite ot the 117 orbital location s required by the conditions of our liccase. In Merch 2006, the FCC ruled that we hiad
successfully met the requirements for mecting the critical design review milestoae for the 117 degrec orbital location contract. We cannot be
sure thst the PCC will rule that these
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* primary basis in the same frequency band as direct broadcast satellite and Ku-band-based fixed satellite services. In the same ralemaking, the

- Preposals 10 allow 4.5 Degree Spacing. During 2002, SES Americam, inc. requested s declaratory ruling that it is w the public ierest for

Teble of Contents

" new contracts we submitied comply with their first construction milestane or critical design review milestone requirements. Moreover, ITU

wllines required Ka-band satelhtes to be operating at the 97, 113 and 117 degree orbital locations by June of 2005, For our extrnded Ku-band

o .-sellites st the 109 and 12) degree orintal Iocations, the FCC rexquires construction, launch and operation of the satellites 1o be completed by

September 2009. We rcocntly submitted construction contracts 1o the FCC for these two satellites. There can be no assurance that we will
develop acceptahle plans to meet alf of these deadlines, or that we will be able 1o utilize any of thesc arbital slota.

Recent FCC Rulemaking Affecting our Licemses and Applications. The FCC changed its system for processing applications to a “first-come,
first-cerved” process. Since thar change beceme cffective, we have filed or refiled, and have pending before the FCC, new applications for as
many as five catelfites in several different frequency bands. Several of our direct or indirect competitors have filed petitions to deny or dismiss
certain of our pending spplications or have requested that conditions be placed on authorizations we requested. We received conditional Ka-
band licenses for the 97, 113 and 117 degree arbital locations, and extended Ku-band licenses for the 109 and 121 degree orbital bocations,
while & sumber of our other applications have boen denied or dismissed without prejudice by tho FCC. We cannot be sure that the FOC will
grant eny of our outstapding applications, or that the authorizations, if granted, will not be subject to oncrous conditions. Maroover, the cost of
building, launching and insuring a sateflite can be as mnch a2 $250.0 million or more, and we cannot be sure that we will be able o construct
and lsunch ail of the satellites for which we have requested authorizations. The FCC bas ako imposed a §3.0 willion (previously $5.0 million)
bond requirement for all futore smellite hicenses, which would be forfeited by a licensec that does not mect its diligence milestones for a
particular satellite. We have provided the FCC with letters of credit, collateralized by approximately $14.2 million of our restricted cash and
marketable investruent securitiss as of December 31, 200, to satisfy this requiremaent for sll of owr Kaband and extended Ku-band licenses.

Sateflite Licerse Axction Proceedings. The FCC has proposed to auction licenses for two DBS frequencies at the 61.5 degroe orbital location.
In 2004, the FCC ruled that DBS providers that hold DBS licenses at orbital locations capable of serving the entire continental United States
(inctading EchoStar) would not be cligible to bid for the Jicensc for the two frequencics a1 the §1.5 degree orbital location, and would not be
qualified to acqurre tha license for 3 period of four years following grast. We have roquested 1 reconsideration of this ruling whick Dominion
subsequently opposed. Ag & result, we cannot be certain of a positive outcome.

Expansion DBS Spectrum . The FCC has also aliocated additional expansion spectrura for DBS serviees commencing tn 2007. This could
crease significant additions! competition in the market for subscription television services. We filed applications for this additional spectnom
duning March 2002 but cammot predict whether the FCC wall grant these applications.

Other Services in the DBS Band. The FCC has aleo adopted rules that aliow non-geostationary orbit fixed satellite services to operate oo 8 co-

FCC suthorized use of the DBS spectrum that we use, by temrestrial communication scrvices and it auctioned licenses for these terestrial
services during January 2004 There can be no assurence that operations by noo-geostatianary orbit fixed sateRite services or tervestrial
mmunication services in the DBS band will not interfere with our DBS operations and adversely affect our business.

SES Americom to offer satellite capacity for third party DTH services 1o consumers in the United States and certain British Overseas
Teritories in lbe Caribbean. SES Americom proposes to employ a satellite liceased by the Government of Gibraltar to operate in the same
uplink and downlink frequency bands s us, from an orbital position located in between two orbital locations where EchoStar and DirecTV
have abready positicmed suicllites. DirecTV, which opposes SES's petition, has iself flled & petition fot rulemaking for standsrds to permit such
4.5 degree spacing. During Jamumry 2004, we filed cormments in respanse to DirecTVs petition for rulemaking. The possibility that the PCC
will allow service to the U.S. from closer-spaoed DBS slot may permit additional competition against us from other DBS providers,

Competition for Canadian Orkiwal SToms. DirecTV requested and obtained FCC suthonty to provide service to the United States from &
Canadian DBS crbital slot We heve akso requested and subsequently received authority to do the same from the Canadian DBS orbital alot at
129 degrees. A similar request to usc an FSS orbital slot at 118.7 degrees remains pending. The possibility that the FCC will allow service to
the US, from foreign slots may permit addrtional competition against us from other DBS providers.
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Rules Relating so Alaska and Hawail. The holders of DBS authorizations issued after Japiary 1996 must provide DBS service to Alasks and
wail if soch service is techmically feasible from the suthonzed orbital location. Our suthorizations at the 110 degree and 148 degree orbital
.ations were recaived after January 1996, Whnle we provide service to Alaska and Haweii from both the 110 and 119 degree orbital Jocations,
those states have exptessed the view that our service should more closely rescmble our service to the maimbuad United States and othorwisc
needs mpeovement. We received teraporary conditional waivers of the service requirement for the 148 degres orbital location. However, the
FCC could revoke these waivers et amy tiroe. .

The FOC hes also concluded & rulemnaking which seeks to swzamline and revise its rules goveraing DBS operators. [n connection with this
rulemaking, the FCC clarified ity geographic service requirements to introduce & requirement that we provide programming packages to

" residents of Hawnii and Alaska that are “reasensbly comparable™ to what we offer in the contiguous 43 states. We cannot be sure that thix

requiremen will not affect us adversely by requiring us to devote additional resources to serving these two states.

4 La Carte. Some Members of Congress have proposed the imposition of indecency restnctions on satellite and cable providers. Other,
together with the Chairman of the FCC, have muggested that satelhite and cable providers be required to offer some o all prograraming on an
individual, or “s la carte” basis. We cannot predict the cffect xuy such obligations would bave on our business.

Emergency Alert System. The Emergency Alest System (“EAS™) requires participants to interrupt programming during mationally-declared
emergencies and 10 pass through emergency-related information. The FCC recently relcased an arder requiring satellite carriers to participate in
the “pational” parhon of EAS. It is also considering whether 10 mandate that satllite carriers also iuterrupt programming for Jocal emergencies
nd weather cvents, We belicve any such requirement would be difficult to implement, would require costly changes to our sysicm end
depending oa how it is implemented, could incanvenience or confuse our viewers.

Other Comumunications Act Provisiens

Rales Reloting fo Broadcast Services, The FCC imposes different rales for “subscription™ and “broadcast™ services. We belicve that becauso
we offer a subscription programmng sarvice, we arc not subject to meny of the regulatory obligations imposed upan broadcast licensees.
However, we camot be certain whether the FCC will find in the future that we must camply with regulatory obligations s a broadcast licensee,
and cortain partics bave requesied that we be tregied as a broadcaster. If the FCC detcrmines that we are a broadcast licemsee, it could require us
to comply with all regulatory obligations imposed upon broadeast licensees, which sre generally subject to more burdensore rogulation than
subsceiption television service providers.
Public Interest Requirementa Under a requirement of the Cable Act, the FCC imposed public interest roquiremonts ca DBS licensces. These
rulcs require us to sel aside four perceat of our chianne! capacity exclusively for nomcommercial programming for which we suust charge
grammers below-cost rates and for which we may not impose sdditional charges on subscribers. This could displace programming for

" " sth we could eam commercial rates and could advarscly affect our financial results. The FCC has generally not reviewed all aspects of our

methodology for processing public interest carriage requests, compuring the channel capecity we must set aside or determining the rates Gt we
charge public interest programmzrs. We camnot be surc that if the FCC were I revicw these methodologics it would find them in complizpee
with the public itcrost requirements. .

Moreover, certain partics have challenged certam aspects of our rocthodology for processing public intzrest carriage requests in » pending
proceeding, and we received a letter from the FCC's Eaforcement Burean regarding these issucs. We cannot be surc that the Commission will
not take cnforcemant action against us, which may result in fines andfor changes to our methodology for compliance with thesc rales. The
FCC's Enforcement Bureaw is also investigating the public interest qualifications of a programmes that a1 one time occupied 8 chammel of
public interest capacity on our gystem.
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h Other Open Access Requiremens. The FCC bas also commenced an open access proceeding regarding distribution of lgh-speed [nternet
xss services and imteractive television services We camnot be sure that the FCC wnll not ultireately impose open access obligations on us,
.nich could be very oncrous, and could create & significant strain on our capacity and ability to provide other services.

Plug and Play. The FCC adopted the so-calied “plug and play™ standard for compatibility between digita! television sets and cable systems.

‘That standard was developed through ncgotiations involving the cable and consumer electranics industries, but not ws, gnd we are concemed
that it may impose certain onerous “encoding rules” on afl ruiti-chammel video programming distributors, including us, and that the standard
and its implementation process favor cable systems. We have filed a petition for review of the FCC’s “plug and play”™ order with the federal

Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit on verious grounds, but we cannot be sure thet the court will not uphoid the FCC's

. decision. °

Clesed Caprioning. The FCC reccally initiated a rulamaking proceoding sccking comments on whether its rules that require broadcasters, DBS
providers and cable operators 1o ransmit closed captioned comtent should be sevised. We curreatly do not have the capability of captioning
every channel that we carry and rely on the program originators to perform this task. No technology exists that can be applied autside the
program originasor's facility to determine if a program is comectly captioncd. If we are required to monitor every ooe of the thousands of
programs that we carry to ensure accurste captioning, we will bear substantial equipment, personne! and atber related costy.

The Satellits Home Viewer Ymprovement Act snd Sstellitr Home Viewer Exteasion and Reanthorization Act

Retransmission of Distant Networks. The Copyright Act, as amended by the Satellite Home Viewer Improvement Act, or “SHVIA,” permits
setcllite retransmission of distant broadcast channels only to “unserved households.® An cxxmple of & distant network station retransmission is
a Los Angeles broadcast network station rewansmitted by satellite 1o & subscriber ouside of the Los Angedes market. That subscriber qualifies
s aa “unscrved houschold™ if e or she canaot receive, over the air,  signal of sufficient imensity (“Grade B” intensiry) from » Los Angeles
station affiliated with the same broedcast network.

SHVIA has also established & process whereby consumers predicted to be served by & local station may request that this station waive the
unsarved bousehold limitation so that the requestmy consumer may receive distant signals by satellite. If the weiver request is denied, SHVIA
eatitles the consumer to request en actual test, with the cost o be bare by either the satellite carrier, such as us, or the broadeast station
depending on the resulta. The testing process required by the statute cen be very costly.

In addition, SHVIA has affected and contimucs 1o affcet us adverscly in scveral other respects. The legisiation prohibits ua from carrying more
(ban two distant signals for cach broadcasting network aod leaves the FOC's Grade B intensity standard mchanged without fature legialation.
The FCC recently rejected our petition for reconsideration of its methodology for predicting whether a particular household is served by &
signal of Grade B ntensity. While we have filed a petition for federal appellate review of the FCC"s action we cannot be sure that the court will
uphold the FCC's decision. The FOC rules mandated by SHVIA also require us to potentially delets substantial programring (including

. ./ons progamming) from thesc signals. Although we bave mnpt g oertain in order to comply with these rules, these
requiremants may significantty hamper our ability to retransmit distant acrwork and superstation signals. The burdens the rules impose upon us
may become 50 onerous that we may be required 1o substantially alter, or stop remansmitting, some prograuaning chamels. In additxn, the,
FCC's sports blackout requirements, which apply to sl distant network signals, may require costly npgrades 1o owr system.

During 2004, Congress passed the Satellite Home Viewar Extension end Reauthorization Act, or “SHVERA.” SHVERA extends our legal
suthonity to retransmit distant stetions under SHVIA to Deceber 31, 2009, but imposes new and complex restrictions on that sutharity. In
genczal, we can ne longer offer distant network stations to new subscribers in markets m which we offexr loca] broadcast stetions. In addition,
our sbility to reransmit distan) digital setwork stetions todsy depends on whether & household is unserved by the malog signal of the local
network station. While the statute gives us the ability to engage in signal rength testing to deicrming whether 8 houschold can receive the
digitel signal of the local metwork station, this ebility does not commence untl st least Apeil 3¢, 2006 oc July 15, 2007 (depending oa the
merket and whether extensions are granted), and i3 also subject to certain restrictions. It is toa carly to fally asscss all of the impheations of
SHVERA for our retransmissions of distant nerwork stations.
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SHVERA also amended the royahty provisions applicsble to our retransmission of distaat broadcast chumnels and sup While the

is! royalty rate specified in SHYERA for analog distant netwark and superstation signals is thar in effect on July 1, 2004, SHYERA bas
_7eased the fmitial rate for digital station retransmissions. In sddition, SHVERA provides that these rates may be modified by vohmtary
negotiation or through arbitration initiated by the Librarian of Congress if no voluntary sgreement is reached. While we have reached &
conditional agreement with certain (but not alf) copyright owners, we may be required o submit to arbitration to obtein agreements with others,
and there is # risk we may be required to pay significantly higher royelty rates for these distant stations as a result.

While SHVERA gives us the ebility that cable operators slready bave 1o &lso inmport into & local market cerain stations from ncighboring
markets that are decmed “significantly viewed™ ia the local market, that ability is subject to a sumber of restrictions, inchuding the requirement
of receiving retransmission consent and the probibition on importing a digital signal of better resolution then the loce! digital petwork station
that we carmry.

Opposition tw Oar Delivery of Distant Signals. See “Tem 3 — Legal Proceedings — Distant Nerwork Litigation™ for information regarding
oppos1ton 10 our delivery of distant signals.

Retrangmission af Local Networks. SHVIA genonlly gives saccliiic companices a statitory copyright license to retransmit local brosdcast
channels by satellite back into the market from which they originated, subject to obtaining the retransmission consent of the local netwaork
station. 1f we f2il to reach T agr with brosdcasiers we cannot carry their signals. This could bave an adverse effect
o our strategy to compele With cable and other satellit companies which provide local signals. While we heve been sblc to reach
retrannnission consen! agreements with most local network stations in markets where we currently offer loca! channels by satellite, rofl-out of
loca! channels in additional citics will require that we cbtain sdditional retransmission sgrecments. We cannot be sure that we will secure these
agreements or that we will secure new agreements upan the expiration of our currcnt retranstoission conscnt agrecments, some of which are
ghort term.

“Must Caryy® and Other Requirements. SHVIA aiso imposed “must carry™ requirements oa DBS providers and the FCC has adopted detailod
“rrmust carry” rules. These rules penerally require that satellite distribactors carry all the local broadcast stations requesting carviagz in a timely
and sppropriate manner in areas where they choosc to offer local programming, not just the four major networks. Since we have limited
capacrty, the number of markets in which we can offer local progremming is reduced by the “rust carry” requiraments. The must carry
legislasion elso includes provisions which could expose us to materisl monetary penaltics, and permanent prohibitions an the salc of all local
and distant broadcast chauncls, based on inadvertent violations of the legislation, prior law, or the FCC rules.

At any given time, fhere may be one or more “mmst carry” complaints by broadeasters against us peoding at the FCC. The FCC bas ruled

against us in ccrmin of these proceedings, end we cammot be sure that the FCC will rule in our favor ip other pending or futare proczedings.

‘Mmlbycwldmultindu:mscinmemm\xmﬁoalmwhnwcmo!fclnalmwmimmmhg.Mbmwnld
mchwnintboamnkc!nndpmdn&:us&omoﬂbthulwd'umdnﬂdnmel:innewmﬂkm,d\acbym&dngowmmpﬁﬁm

SHVERA requires, among other things, that all Jocal broadcast chanacls delivered by eatellite to any particalar market be svailable from &
singlcdishby]uneG.IM.WemmﬂyoﬂulomlbmadadchnmdxhIMmMmmcUniwdSmu.[nSSoﬁbmcmnm‘
scoond dish was previously mquired!arec:ivesom:lomld:md;mxhemrha.Whilzwehvcmhwqmtb'mduwdlh:nmnbuoftmukcu
wtnzamddishisncwuary,w:mnotcnﬁmlyelimhnﬁ:lhzmnddishnwuﬁryhallmnk:ulbmlfullopanbilitynfﬂahﬁmx.

Inth::vcntEahnSmXﬂpaimnaanymaﬁu.sudmccap:!tylimimdmnmxld&nausmm!h;loulchmdsinmnwodith
wmackes 1o different suicllites, requiring subscribers in those markets to install 8 second or different dish to continue roeeiving their local
broadcast channels We could be forced, in that event, to stop offering local channels in some of those markets altogether. The transition of all
local broadcast channols in & market to & single dich could result in disruptions of service for a substantiel wunber of our customers. Purther,
our
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ahility to timely comply with this requirement without incurring sigmificant additianal costs is dependeat oa, among other things, the continued
ration of our EchoStar V sakellite at the 129 degree orbital location until commentement of commercial operation of EchoStar X. EchoStar
or EchoStar X anomslies could force us 10 cesse offering local channels by satcllite im many markets absent regulatory relief from the single
dish obligations. [f impediments to om prefemed transitios plem arise, it is possible that the costs of campliance with the single dish
reqmrement could exceed $100.0 miltion. To the extent subscribers are unwilling for any reason to upgrade 10 & new dish, our subscriber chum
could be negatively impactzd.

1n addition, while the FCC has decided for naw not (o impose on satellite camriers “must earry” for HD television stations er dual digitsl/analog
or multicast carriage obligations — i.e., pdditional requirements in coonection with the carriage of digital television stations that go beyond
carriage of one video signal (whether anslog o standard definition digital) for cach statiog — the FOC still has pending rakemaking
proceedings on these matters. While the FOC receatly ruled against dual and mulhicast carriage for cable companies, we cannot be certain that
this decision will be upheld ou review, that there will not be legisistion overtuming it, or that it will be applied to satellite camers. In addition,
cenatn paries have continued to urge the FCC to require satcllite HD television must-carry. These proceedings may result in further, even
mare overous, digital carriage requirements. HD television must-carry woutd likely require us 1 reduce the munber of markets that we arc
otherwise able 10 scrve with local stations in crder 1o cary multiple signaks for local stations in the markets that we would continue t serve.

Dependence on Cable Act for Program Access

We purchase a substantial percentage of our programming from cable-sffiliated programmers. The Cable Act’s provisions probibiting
exclusive contracting practices with cable affiliated programmers have been extended from October 2002 o October 2007, bat this extension
could be roversed. Upon expiration of those provisions, may populsr programs may become unavailable to us, causing a loss of customers and
sdversely affecting our revenues and financial performence. Any change in the Cabie Act and the FCC's rules that permit the cable industry or
cable-fTiliated prograramers to discriminate sgainst campeting businesses, such 83 ours, in the sale of prograrmming could sdversety affec: our
abitity to acquire programmung at all or to acquire programming on s cost-cffoctive basis. We believe that the FCC generally bas ot shown a
willingness to enforce the program access rules aggressively. As a result, we may be limited in our ability ta obtain access (o
nondiscriminstory sccess) lo programming from programmers that are sffitiated with the cable system operstars.

Affiliates of certain cable providers have denied us access to sports progrumming they feed to their cable systems terrestrially, mther than by
satellite. Ta the extent that cable aperators deliver additional programming terrcatrially in the future, they may assert that this additional
programuning is also exermpt from the program access laws. These restrictions on our sccess lo programming could materislly adversely affect
ouw ability to compete in regions serviced by these cable providenn

“¢ Intermational Telecommunication Unlon

« ar DBS system also must cooform o the International Telecommumication Unton, or “ITU,” broadcasting satellite service plan. If any of our
Operntions are not congisteat with this plan, the ITU will only provide suthorization oa & non-interference basis pending successful
modification of the plan or the agreement of all affected administrations to the non-conforming operations, Accordingly, ualess and until the
ITU modifies its broadcasting satellite scrvice plan 1o inchude the technios] perameters of DBS applicants® opcrations, our satcllites, along with
those of other DBS operators, must oot canse harmful electrical interference with other assignmeats that are in conformance with the plam.
Further, DBS satellites arc not presently entitled to any protection from other satellites that arc in conformance with the plan. The United States
povernment bas filed or is in the process of filing modification requests with the ITU for EchoStar I through VITY, EchoStar X and EchoStar
XIL The ITU has requested certain technical information in order to procese the requested medifications. We have cooperated. and continac to
cooperate, with the FCC in the preparation of its responses to the ITU requests, We cannot predict when the ITU will act upon these requests
for modification or if they will be made.
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EXport Control Regulation

ere required o obtam import and genersl destmation expart licenses from the United States government to reccive and deliver components
of DTH satellite TV systems. In addition, the delivery of satellites and related technical information for the prrpose of launch by foreign launch
scmoes providers is subject to strict export control and prior spproval requirements.

PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

Many entities, including some of our competitors, have or may in the future obtain peterits and other micllectual property rights that cover or
affect products or services related to those that we offer. In geners), if 8 court determines that ane ot more of our products infringes on
iniellectual property held by others, we may be required to cease developing or marketing those products, to obtain licenses from the holders of
the itellectual property at a material cost, or to redesign those products m such 8 way a5 to avoid infringing the patent claima. If those
intellectual property rights are held by a competitor, we may be unable to obrain the intellectual property st any price, which could edverscly
affect our compoetitive position.

We may not be aware of all intellectual property rights that our products mey potentially infrioge. In addition, patent applications in the United
States are confidential unti] the Pateat end Trademark Office issues a patent and, sccordmgly, our products may jafringe claims contzined in
pending patent npplintim of which we are not sware. Further, the process of determining definitrvely whether 2 claim of infringement is valid
often involves expensive ind protracted litigation, cven if we are ultimately suceessful on the merits.

Weunnmemmdummwmdwcmaybemqmedmmcfumn:toobwnimellecmalpmpmyhcemcaoxmnmhhh:ymdmuf
any such licenses. Those costs, and their impect ow our net income, could be material. Damages in patent infringement cases may also include
treble damages in cortain ciramstances. To the exteot that we arc required to pey unenticipated royalties to third parties, these increased costs
of doing business could negarivety affcct cur liquidity and operating results. We are currently defending patent miringement actions, We
cannot be certain the courts will conclude these companies do not own the rights they claim, that our products do not infringe on these rights,
that we would be able 1o obtain licenses from these persons on comumercially reasonable terms o, if we were unsbie to obtain such licnsex,
that we would be able 10 redesign our products to aveid mfringement. Sec “Tiem 3 — Legal Proceedings.”

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

Wemmb)euwlh:mqunmuoffedaﬂ,xm:,hxlnndfmugnmmnnlmdocmpanannlumymdhnld:hmmdmguhhm

These inchude laws regulating air emissions, watey discharge snd waste manag We pt to mpliance with all such

mqmrunen!xWednnotctpu:tcqnﬂmo&umd:mmfwmwmmmﬂlcm!mmbemﬂulﬂ%uﬂ!ﬂ Eavironmental .
wirements arc complex, change frequently and bave b marc stringent over time. Accordingly, we cannot provide ssurance that these
mlanﬂnotdungeorbunmcmmmgmmlhcfummnmmw(hlwuldhncamﬂmaladwnccﬁ:donombumn

SEGMENT REFORTING DATA AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA

For operating scgment and principe] geographic area data for 2005, 2004 and 2003 sce Note 11 in the Notes 1 the Consolidatod Financial
Swutements in Item 15 of this Annual Repont an Form 10-K. )

EMPLOYEES

We had sppruximatcly 21,000 cmployees at December 31, 2005, most of whom ere Jocated in the United States. We generally consider
relanons with oar cmployees 1o be good.
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Although a total of approximately 60 employees in two of our field offices have voled to unionize, we are not comently a party to any collective
rgaining agreements, However, we are cwrendy negotiating colloctive bergrining agreements at these offices.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject Io the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and accordmgly file our annual report on Form 10-K, quanerly reports
on Form 10-Q, curren: reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and other information with the Securitics and Exchange Commission (“SEC™).
The Public mzy read end copy any materfals filed with the SEC at the SEC's Public Refereace Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington,
D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference Room. As an electronic fiter, our public
filings are also maintatned o the SEC's Intanct sit that contams reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding
issuers that file eloctronically with the SEC. The sddress of thar website is hitp-//www.sec.gov.

WEBSITE ACCESS

Qur ennual report on Form 10-K, quariery reports on Farm 10-Q, current reports on Farm 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuaat to Section 13(e) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act also may be accessed free of charge through ous website 25 soon a3
reasonably practicable after we have clectronically filed such material with, or farnished 1 to, the SEC. The address of that website i

¥/ . ’

We have adopted a written code of ethics thar applies to all of our directors, officers and employees, inctuding our principal executive officer
and senior fmancial officers, in accordmce with Section 406 of the Szrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules of éhe Securities and Exchange
Commission promulgeted therrunder. Our code of ethics is available an ow corporate website at www cchogtar,com . In the eveat that we
make changes in, or provide weivers of, the provisions of thig code of ethics that the SEC requires us to disclose, we intend to disclose these
cvents on our webskte,
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
(farmished Ia accordance with Item 481 (b) of Reguhidon 5-K, pursuast to General Instruction
G(3) of Form 18-K)

The [o!lowing table scts forth the name, age and offices with EchoStar of cach of our exccutive officers, the period during which cach
executive efficer has served as such, and cach executive officer’s businees expericnes during the past five years:

Mame Apr Podtion

Charles W. Brgen~ v ¢ 53, Chisirman, Chief Executive Officer end Biredton -+ %% iy
‘0. Nolan Deines - 46 Bxecutive Vice President, Business Development -

James DeFranco « =% . . <53, Exccutive. Vict President and Director <33 4ty (RENF
Michacl T. Dugen .. 57 Coief Technical Officer and Director
Mark W; Fickson I 487 A Presidedt PehoStar Tesmalogits Corportion? s

MichselKelly . 44 Executive Vice President, Fixed Sutellite Services Business Development _
Devid K: Moskowitz™” <47 ESive View Prosdent, Genoeial A Socisry d Difecor 7 2455
David J. Rayner . 48 Executve Vice President and Chief Financial Offiocer

Steved B. Seaverc-, i) 5525 Pieident, BchoSt (riternafional Gorpanstiont ™. L ax%i
Cad Voget 48 Vice Chainnan and Disector

Charles W. Ergen Mr. Ergen has boen Chairrom of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of EchoStar since its formation and,
during the past five yean, has beld verious exscutive officer and director positions with EchoStar's subsidiaries. Mr. Ergen, elong with his
spoust and James DeFrunco, was 8 co-foamder of EchoStar in 1980.

0. Nolan Datnes. Mr. Daines is currently the Executive Vice President of Business Development. He joined Echostar i Scptember 2002 and
served ag a Senior Vice President and Executive Vice President of lnf ioa Techmology and Broadband watil December 2005 and was
tesponsible for EchaStar's broadband initiatives inchuding stratcgic alliances with telecorumunication parters. Mr. Daines served on’
EchoStar's Board of Dircctors and its Audir Committee from March 1998 unti] September 2002. In addition, until May 2002, Mr. Daines
served as s member of EchoStar’s Executive Compensation Comomittee.

James DeFranco. Mr. DeFranco, sn Executive Viee President of BchoStar, has been 1 Vice President and a Director of EchoStar smec its
formation and, during the past five yeers, has beld various executive officer and director positions with EchoStar's subsidiarics. Mr. DeFranca,
along with Mr. Ergen and Mr. Ergen's spouse, was a co-founder of EchoStar im 1980,

“fichae! T. Dugan . Mr. Dugsn is the Chief Technical Officer of EchoSiar and is respeasible for all technical development snd operations.
r. Dugan, an EchoStr board mermber, has been with the Company smee 1990 and was most recentty 8 Sexiar Techmical Advisor to the
rxecutive Management Texm. He also was President and Chief Operating Officer of EchoStar from April 2000 & April 2004, and priar to

2000, he was President of EchoStar Technologies Corporation.

Mark # Jacksan Mr. Jackson is the President of EchoSter Technologies Corporation. My, Jackson served a5 Senior Vice President of
EchoStar Techmologics Corporation from Aprit 2000 wnti] Junz 2004 and as Scuier Yice President of Satellite Services frora Deceruber 1997
umil April 2000.

Michael Kelly. M. Kelly is currcatly the Executive Viee President of Fixed Sutellite Services Business Development. Mr. Kelly gerved as the
Execthve Vice President of DISH Network Service LLC and Cusmmer Service from February 2004 until Decomber 2009 and a3 Seaior Vice
President of DISH Network Sesvice L L.C. from March 2001 ontil February 2004. Mr. Kefly joined EchoStar in March 2000 as Sermar Viee
President of Imernational Programming following our acquisition of Kelly Brosdcasting Systems, lac.
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" David K. Moskowitz Mr Moskowisz i the Bxecutive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel of EchoStar Mr. Moskownz jouned
“oStar m Mesch 1990. He was elocted to EchoStar's Board of Directors during 1998. Mr. Moskowitz is responsible for all legal affaizs and
-uin business functions for EchoStar and iis subsidiarics.

David J. Rayner. M. Rayner 1s the Executive Vice President and Chief Fmanciel Officer of EchoStar Mr. Rayner is responsible for all
sccounting and finance functions of the Company. Prior to joining EchoStar, Mr. Rayner served as Senior Vi President and Chief Financial
Officer of Time Warner Telecom from Junc 1998 to Decamber 2004,

Steven B. Schaver. Mr. Schaver wag named President of EchoStar Internarional Corparstion in April 2000 Mr. Schaver served as EchoStar’s
Chief Financia! Officer fram February 1995 through August 2000 and served as EchoStur's Chief Oparating Officer from Novembey 1996 until
Apnl 2000,

Carl E. Vogel Mr. Vogel has scrved on the Board of Directors since Mey 2005 and became a full-time employec in June 2005 scrving a3 our
Viee Chamrman. From 2001 until 2005, Mr Vogel served as the President and CEO of Charter Commumeations Inc. (“Charter”), & publicly-
treded company providing cable television and broadband services to approximately six million customers. Prior to joining Charter, Mr. Vogel
worked as an executive officer in various capacitics for the companies affiliated with Liberty Media Corporation. Mr. Vogel was one of our
executrve officers from 1994 untl 1997, mcluding serving es our President from 1995 wntil 1997.

There are no arrangements o understandings betereen eny cxecutive officer and any other person pursuant to which any executive officar was
sclected as such. Pursuant t the Bylaws of EchoStr, exccutive officers serve at the disarction of the Board of Dircctors.

_ lem 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones fecing us. Additional risks and uncertaintics that we are snaware of or that
we currently believe to be immatenal also may hecome imporiant factors that affect wx.

{f any of the following events occur, our business, finanicial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

Risks Related to Our Business

Rle compese with other subscription kelevision service providers and trodifions! broadcasters, whick coudd affect our ability to grow and
increase our earnings and other operating metrics.

We compete in the subscriplion televigion service industry againat other DBS television providers, ceble television and other system operators
offermg vidro, audio and deta programming and entertaiament services. Many of these competitors have substantially greater financial,
. - “keting and other resources than we bave. Our camings and other operating metrics could be materially sdversely affected if we are unable
" . compete successfully with these and other new providers of multi-channe! video programming services. '

Cable television operators have ¢ large, esublished customer base, and many cabk operators have significant imvestments in, end access lo,
programmming. Of the total U.S, bouseholds tm which cable television sarvice was svailable as of June 30, 2005 approximatcly 60% subscribed
1o cable. Cable television oporators comtinue t leverage their advantages refative w ssicllite operators by, xmong other things, bundling their

" aaglog video service with expanded digital video services, 2-way high speed internet sccess, and telephone servioes. Cable television operatory
with analog systems are also able to provide service to mmltiple television sets wathun the ssme houschold af 4 kesser incremental cost to the
consummet, and they are able o provide bocal end other programming 1n a larger number of geographic areas. As a result of these and other
factors, we may not be able to continue 1o expand our subscriber base ot compete effectively sgainst cable television operstors.

Some digital cabie platforms currenty offer a VOD service that enables subseribers 1o choose from & library of programming selections for
viewing at their ience. We are inuing to develop our own VOD service altermative which was launched on a limited scate durmg
2005. There can be no essurance thet our VOD service will be successful in eompeting with other video providers.
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News Corporation owns & 34% controlling interest in the Direc TV Group, tec, (“Direc TV™). News Corporation's diverse world-wide satellite,
atent and other refated busincsses may provide competive advaniages to DirecTV with respect to the scquisition of programming, costent
-d other assets valuable to our industry ln addrtion, DirecTV's satellite receivers are sold in 2 sigaificendy grester number of consumer
clectronica stores than ours. As & result of this and other factors, our services are [ess well known to consumers than those of DirecTV. Duc to
this relative lack of corsumer awarencss and othar factors, we arc 8t 2 competitive marketing dissdvantage compared to DirecTV. We believe
DirecTV continues to be m s edvantageous position relative to our Company with regand to, among other things, certain programming
packages, and possibly, volume discounts for programmmg offers. DirecTV recemly lammched two new satellites and anpounced plans to
bunch two additions! new satellites in 2007 m arder o offer local and natione! channel programaming in HD to most of the U.S. population.
Although we have receatly laanched owr ewn HD initiatives, if DirecTV fully implements these plans, we may be placed at & farther
competitive disadvantage compared to DirecTV.
Furthermore, other companics in the United States have conditiona! permits or {eased transponders for a comperatively small mamber of DBS
assignments that cen be used 1o provide subscription satellite services to portions of the United States. These new entants may have s
comupetitive acvantape over us in deploying seme new products and technologies becanse of the substantial costs we may be required to incur
to make new products or technologics available across our insualled base of over 12 milkion subscribers.

Most areas of the United States can receive traditional tavestrial VHF/UHF iclevision broadcasts of between three mnd 10 channels. These
broadcasters provide local, network and syndicated programming. The local content nature of the programming may be important to the
consumer, and VHF/UHF programming is typically provided free of charge. In sddition, the FOC has allocated additanal digital spectram to
licensed broadcastems. At least during this transition pariod, cach cxisting television stabon will be sble to retain its present analog frequencies
and also transmit programming on & digital channe] that may permit multipke programming servicea per charmel. Our business could be
adverscly affected by contitrued free broadcast of local and other programming and increased program offerings by traditions! broadcasiers.

Although we belicve we currently offer raore HD content than our competitors, we may be placed a1 s compaitive disadvaniage to the exsent
other multi-channed video providers increase their offermg of HD programming, We could be further disadvanmaged 1o the extent a significant
mumber of local broadcasters begin offenng local chammels in HD, anlest we make substantial additiona] investments in infrastructure to defiver
HD programming. There can be so assurance that we will be able 10 effectively compete with BD program offerings from other video
providers
Ncw technologics could alsc have a matenal sdverse effect on the demand for our DBS services. For example, we face an increasingly
ognificant competitive threat from the build-out of advenced fiber opuic networks. Verizon Cammunicatioas, lnc. (“Verizon™) and ATAT bave
begm deployment of fiber-aptic actworks that will allow them to offer video services nmdled with traditional phooe and high speed internet
dircctly to millions of hames es carty as the second balf of 2006. In addition, telephone compmnies snd other entities are aiso implementing and
portng digital video compression over existing telophone hn:sanddnptd “wircless cablke” which mey allow them to offer video services
.thout having to build a new infrastructare. We also expect to face increasing competition from content and ather provaders who distribute
video services directty o consumers over the internct.

With the large increase in the pumber of consumers with broadband serviee, nnpxﬁcan!mumiorvxdnommwhuhwnmc available on the
Internet for users 1o download and view oo thewr porsonal camputcrs and other devices. In additon, there are sevenl initiatives by compenies 1o
make i easier to view Internel-based video on television and personal computer screens. We also expect to face inereasimg competition from
mnmtmduh:rpmvidm who distribute video services directly to consumers via digital air waves.

Mergers, joimt ventares, and alliances among franchise, wircless or privat cable telcvision operatars, telephone companics and others also may
reslt in providers capable of offering television services in compebition with us, In addition, our competfiors are increasingly using cxisting
and new technologies t offer bundics of tclevision and telecommunications scrvices that may prove to be more competitive than gur curret
offeringa. As & result, we may not be able to compete sneressfully with mmngmpﬂxmancwmmmmﬂxzmmtnforulmﬁm
Xrvices.
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" Satellite programming signals have been subject to thefi, which coald canse us (o lose sabscribery end revawe.

i illegal to create, scll or otherwise distribute mechanisms or devices to circumvent that encryption. Our signal encryption hes been
compromised by theft of service and could be further compromised in the future. Theft of our programming reduces future potential revenue
and tocreases our net subscriber acquisition costs. tn addition, theft of our competitors' programming can also increase our churn.
Compromises of our encrypticn technology could also adversely affect our ability to contract for videe and sudio services provided by
propremmers. We coataue to respond to compramises of our encryption system with security measures imtended to make sigual thefl of our
progremmming mere difficult. lo ordzr o combat theft of our service and mainiain the functionality of sctive sei-lop boxes, we recently replaced
the majority of our older generation sruart cards with ncwar gencration smart cards These existing smart cards have beea compromised, and
we are implementing soRwarc patches and other security measures o help secure our service. Howeves, thexe can be no assurance that our
eecurity measures wll be effective in reducing theft of our programming signals. If we ere required to repiace existing smart cards, the cost of
card replacements could bave a mnterial adverse cffect on our financial condition, profitability and cash flows, Furthermore, other 1llegal
methods that compromise satedlite programming signals may be developed n the future. (f we eaenot contral comproenises of our encryption
technology, our revenue, net subscriber acquusition costs, churn and our ability 1o cantract for vides and audio services provided by
programmers could be materially edversely affected.

Increased subscrider tarmover could harm owr financia! performance.

Our subscriber churn may be negatively impacted by a eumber of factors, including tart not limited ¢o, &n increase i cormpetition from othey
multichannel video providers and new technology cotrants, signal thefl, and increasingly complex products. There can be no atsurance that
these and other factors will oot contribute to relatively higher chum than we have expenenced hustarically. Additionally, certein of our
promonons sllow consumers with relatively lower oredit scores o become subscribers and these subscribers typically charm at & higher rate.
However, these subscribers are also acquired at & lower cost resulting in a smaller econoric Joss upon disconnect

SHVERA requires, among other things, that all iocal brosdcast channels delivered by atellite %o sy paricnlar market be available from a
single dish by June &, 2006. We currentty offer Jocal brosdcast channels in 164 markets scross the United States. In 38 of those markets &
second dish was previously required o receive some local channcls i the market. While we have subscquently reduced the number of markets
where a second dish is necessary, we can not cutirely eliminate the second dish necessity in all markets ahsent full operability of EchoStar X.

In the evem EchoStar X experiences any anomalics, satellite capacity Emitations could force us 1o move the local channels in some two dish
markets to different salellites, requiring subscribers in those markets to install 2 second or different dish to contime receiving their local
broadcast channels. We conld be forced, in that event, 10 stop offering locel channels in some of those markzss altogether. The trxasition of slf
local broadcast channels in & market to a xmgle dish could result in disruptions of service for 2 substantial number of our customers. Further,

- ability 10 timely comply with this requirement without mcoming significent sdditional costs is dependent on, amoog other things, the

-atinned operation of our EchoStar V satellite at the 129 degree orbial Iocation umtil commencement of commercial operation of EchoStar X. -
EchoStar V or EchoStar X anomalies cauld force us to ccase offering local channcls by satellite in many markets absent regulatory relief from
the sirgle dish obligations If impediments ® our preferred transitioa plan arise, it is posxible thet the costs of compliance with the single dish

requircment could cxceed $100.0 million. To the oxent subscribers are unwilling for any reason to upgrade to & new dish, our subscriber churn
ocould be negatively impacted.

In addition, we depend on our EchoSter VIU satellite wo provide local channels 1o over 40 markets at lcast until suck time 8s our BcboStar X
sateliite has commenced commercial operation. In the event that EchoStar VI expenenced a 1otal or substantial fajture, we could transmit
many, bt pot all, of those channels from other in-orbit satelittes. The potential relocation of some chanmels, and elimination of others, resulting
from failures relating 10 EchaStr X or EchoStr VIII, could cause a malerial adverse impact on our business, inchuding, smong other tungs, a
reduction in revenuce, an wcreas in operating expenses, & decrease i pew subscriber activations and an increase in subscriber chum.
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Irapects from our litigation with the networks in Flonda, FCC rules poverning the delivery of superstations and other factors could cause us to

ninate delivery of petwork channels and suparstations to 2 substential number of our subscribers, which could cause many of those

-mers 1o cance] their sabscription 1o our other services. In the event the Court of Appeals upholds the Mianu District Court’s nctwork
liigation injunctian, and if we do not reach private settlement agreements with additional sations, we will ettempt Lo assist subscribers in
arvenging etemative means 1o roceive network channcls, including migration to local channels by satcllite where available, and free off air
antenma offers in other markets. However, we cannot predict with any degree of cenaimty how many subscribers might ultimately cancel their
primary DISH Network programming as 2 resull of termination of their distant network chennels. We could be required 1o terminate distant
network progremming to all subscribers in the cvent the plainhffs prevail oa their cross-appeal xad we are permanendy egjoined from
delivering ull distant network channels. Termination of distant network programmmeg w subscribers would result in, among other things, a
reduction in monthly average revenue per DISH Network subscriber and a temporary incresse in subscriber churn.

Increaszs in theft of cur signal, or our competitors* siguals, also conld cause subscriber chum to increase in futore paneds. There cam be ao
nesurance that our existing security messures will not be compromised or that ny furmre security measures we may mupicment will be effective
in regucing theft of our programming signals.

Additionalty, as the size of our subscnber bese continues to increasc, cven if perceatage subscriber chum remains constant ar declines,
increasing numbers of gross new DISH Network subscribers are required to sustain net subscriber growth.

Increased subscriber acquisirion and retestion costs conid adversely sffeci oxr finandal perfermance.

In addition to leasing receivers, we generally subsidize mstallation snd all ar & portion of the cost of EchnStar receiver systems in order to
etract new DISH Network subscribers Our costs 1 acquire subscribers, and to a lesser extent our subscriber retention costs, can vary
sigmificantly from period to period end can cause material vanebibity to our net income (loss) and free cash flow. Our average subscriber
scquisition costs were approximarcly $439 per new subscriber activation during the year caded December 31, 2005, 45 compared to
epproximately $444 per new subscriber sctivation during 2004.

Subscriber acquisition costs exclude the value of receiver system equipment provided to subscribers undey our DHA lease program. Becsuse
we retain owncrship of such equipment, we cepitatize such costs and depreciate them over the equipment’s usefu! life. Our cquipnrent lease
penctiation increased daring the year ended Deceraber 31, 2005 as compared to 2004. This reduced our average subecriber acquisition cost per
new qubscriber activation, and resulted in an increase in capital expenditares foc the year ended December 31, 2005. [n the event we conhinoz ©
tncrease our equipment lease penetration, sur everage subscriber aoquisition costs per new subscriber ectivation will continne to be positively
iropacted and our caprtal expenditures will continuc to increase. If we included in our caleulation of avevage subscriber ecquisition costs par
2w subscribe activarion the equipment capitahred under our lease program less the value of equipment returned end payments recelved, oy
-~~rage subscriber cosis would have been approximatcly $668 per now subscriber activation during the year cnded December 31,2005
mpared 1o $593 per new subscriber activarion durtng 2004. This increasc was primarily stiributable to 2 greater number of SupesDISH 4

wistalletions, as well as &n increase in DISH Network subscribers activating higber priced advenced prodocts, such #s receivers with multiple
cuners, DVRs and HD receivers. Our subscriber acquisitian costs, both in the aggregate snd on & per new subscriber activation besis, may
materially increase in the furmre Lo the exwent that we imtroduce ather more aggressive p done if we determine that they sre necessary to
respond to competition, or for other reasous. .

In addhtion to now subscriber acquisition costs, we incur costs 10 retain existng subscribers, inctuding costs relsted t the progrems by which
we offer existing subscribers now and upgraded oquipment. We geacrelly subsidize installaton and all or & portion of the cost of our receiver
system equipment offered pursuant 1o our subsariber retcution programs. Our aapitsl expenditures related to subsniberxﬁfmuoq programs
could increase in the futore (o the extext We increase penetration of our equipment lease program for existing sobscribers, if we introduce othar
TIOTE 2ggresive promotions, 1f we offer existing subscribers HD receivers or EchoStar receivers with other enhanced technologies, or for other
Teasons.

Several years ago we began deploying satellite recarvers capable of exploiting 8PSK modulation mdmo\ug_y. Since th!tu.z:hm‘ogy isn‘uw
standard i all of our new satellite recervers, our cost to migrate programming channels to that techmology in the furare will be substantisly
Jower than if 1t ware necessary to replace all existing conmumer
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" equipment. As we continue 10 implement 8PSK technology, handwidth efficiency will improve, significantly increasing the pumber of
gramming channels we can transmit over our existing satelliies as an alternative or suppiement to the acquinition of sdditional specirum o

. comstruction of additional satzllites, New chamncls we add 10 our scrvice using only that technology may allow us to further reduce
conversian costs and create additional revenue oppormmitics. We bave implemecoted MPEG4 tecimology in all satellite receivers for new
customers who subscribe to aur HD programming packages. This technology when implemened wili reswlt m further bandwidth efficiencies
over time. We have not yet determined the extent to which we will convert the EchoStar DBS System to these new technologies, or the period
of trme over which the conversions will occw. Provided EchoStar X commences commercial operation durmg second quarter 2006 and other
planned satellites are successfully deployed, our 8PSK transition will afford us preater fiexibility in delaying end reducing the costs otherwise
required to convert oar subscriber base to MPEG4.

Any material increase in subscriber acquisition or retention costs fram current kvels could have a material adverse effect on our bustess,
financial condition sad results of operations.
We have sabstantial deb! outstanding and may incer additional dedt

As of December 31, 2005, our total debt, including the debt of our subsidiaries, was approxumatety $5.935 billion. During February 2006, our
tatal debt imcreased to approximatcly $7.005 billion when we sold $1.5 billioa aggregete principel amount of our ten-year, 7 1/8% Senior Notes
due February 1, 2016 end redeemed our outstanding § 1/8% Semor Nofes due 2009 of approxumatety $442.0 million,

Our debt lovels could bave significant consequences, including:
*  makmg it roore difficult to satisfy our obligatians;
*  mcreasing our vuloerability to gencral adverse cconomic conditions, mchuding changes in interest rates;
*  limiting our ability to obtam edditianal financmg;
*  requirng us 1o devote a substamtial portian of our available cash end cash flow to make iterest and principal payments oo osr debt,
thereby reducing the amount of available cash for other purposes;
¢ limiting our financial and aperating flexibility in responding 1o chenging ic and competitive conditions; and
»  placing us at » disadvantage compared to our competitors thst have less debt.

I addition, we may incur substantial additional debt i the fature. The terms of the indeatures relating to onr senior rotes permit us to incur
~Aditiopal debt. If new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks we now face could inteneify.

& may need additiona! capital, which may mot be available, in order to continue growing, wb:cnauumngsamim make poyments on
our deit.

Our ability to increase camings and 1o make interest and principal payments on our del will depend iﬁpanonnmabilnymwmhmgrwing
our business by mamtaming end increasing our subscriber base. This may require significant additional capital that mey not be available to us.
Funds necessary to meet subscriber acquisition and rewention costs are expected o be siisfied from existing cash and marketsble mvestment

sccurities balances and cash genorated from operations to the extent available. We may, however, decide to raisc additional capital in the future

10 mect these requircments. There can be no assurance that additions) fimancing will be available an acceptable termy, or ar all, if needed in the
future. -

28

bSH-32



Tabie of Contents

14 addition to our DBS business plan, we have contracts 1o construct, and conditional licenses and pending FCC applications for, a number of

3 Ku-bend, Ka-band and extended Ku-band sateliitcs. We may need to raise additional capital to construct, launch, and insure satellites and
—vmplete these systems and other satellites we may in the future zpply to operatc. We also penodically cvaluate various strategic inftiatives, the
pursuit of which al50 could require us to raise significant sddinons! capital. There can be no assurance thet additiooal fmancing will be
availgble on acceptable terms, or at all. .

We algo have substantial satellite-related pryment obligations under our various satellite sorvice agreements.
Our business depends sabeundally on FCC licenses that can expire or bz revoked or modified and applications that may not be grantzd.

1f the FCC were to cancel, revoke, suspend or fail to renew sny of our licenses or sutharizations, it conld kave a materal adverse effect on our
financial condition, profitabihty and cash flows. Specifically, boss of & frequency authorization would reduce the amount of spectrum aveilable
to us, potentially reducing the amount of programming and other services available to our subscribers. The materiality of such & koss of
anthorizations would vary based upon, amang ather things, the location of the frequensy wsed or the availabilrty of replacement spectrum. In
sddition, Congress ofien considers and enacts legislation that could affect us, and FCC proceedings to mplement the Commumications Act and
enforce its regulations are ongoing. We canmot prechet the outcomnes of these legislative or regulatory proceedings or their effect on oar
busincsa.

We are subject to significant regulatory oversight and changes in applicoble regulatory requirements could adversely affect our Susiness.

DBS gperators are subject to significant government regulation, primarily by the FCC and, to a certain extent, by Congress, other fedenl
apencies knd international, state and local autharities. Depending upoa the circumatences, noacompliance with legislation of regulstions
promuigated by fhese entities could result in the suspension or revocation of our Licenses or registrations, the termimation ar loss of comtracts or
the imposition of comtracnial damages, civil fiacs o criminal pesshies eny of which could have 8 maseria) advense effect on our business,
financial conditon and results of operations. You should revicw the regulntory disclosures under the caption “ iem [. Business — Government
- Regulation — FCC Regulation under the Communication Act, Other Commamications Act Provisions ™ of this Anmual Report on Form 10-K.

We may be unable to manage rapidly expanding oycmz.iau.

1f we are unable to manage o growth cffectively, it could bave & materia] adverse cffect on our business, financial condition and results of

operations. To manage our growth effectively, we must, among other things, continue to develop our interal and cxtemal sales forces,

installation capebility, customer service operations and infarmation cystems, snd mamtain our relationships with third party vendon. We also

need to continue to expand, traio and manage our employec base, and our management persoanel must assume even greater kevels of
~ponsibility. If we are unable to continue to manage growth cffectively, we may expericace a decreasc in subscriber growth and an incresse
hurn, which could bave 8 materis! adverse effect oo our fmancial condition, profitability and cash flows.

We cannot be certaim that we will swstain profindility.

Dxx to the substantial expenditures cocessary to complete construction, launch and deployment of our DBS system and to obwin and service
DISH Network custamers, we have in the part mustaimed rignificant losees. If we do not have sufficient incame or other sources of cash, cur
ability to service our debt and pay our other obligations could be affected. While we had net incame of $1.515 billion, $214.8 million and
$224.5 million for the years ended Deczmber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, we may 5ot be able to sustain this profitability.
Improvements in our recults of aperations will depend lasgely upon our ability to incroasc our customer base while meintaiming our price
strocture, effectively managing our coss and controlling chum. We camot assure you that we will be effective with regard to these mafters.
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Gur susellites are subfect to risks related 10 launch.

sellite Launches are subject to significant risks, inchuding launch failure, 1ncorrect orbital plecement or improper commercial operation
Certain launch vehicles thet may bs used by us have exther unproves track records or have experienced launch failores in the past. The risks of
launch delzy and faiture arc usually greater whea the launch vehicle does not have a track record of previous suceessfal flights. Launch failures
result in significant defays in the deployment of satellites becawse of the nocd both to construct roplacement sarcllites, which can take more than
two ycars, and 10 oblain other Jaunch opportunitics. Such significaut delsys could materially adversely affect our ability o generate revenues. If
we were uasble to obtam launch insurence, of obtain launch insurance at rates we deers commercially reasopable, and a significant launch
failure were w ocaur, it could have & material adverse cffect on our ability to geaerate revenues and fund futare satellite procurcment and
lsunch opportunities.

In addition, the occurrence of future launch failwres may materially sdversely affect our ability to insure the launch of our satellites at
commercially reasonsble premiums, if at all Please see further discussion under the caption = e aorently Aave no commercial Inswrance
coverage on our sateliites * below.

" We cannol be certain that EchoStar X will be successfully placed in commercial operation.

Ouw ability to timely comply with SHVERA requirements without incurring significant additional costs is dependent o, among other things,
the successful commencemant of commercial operetion of our EchoStar X satellite during second quarter 2006 and continaed operation of our
EchoSer V satellite at the 129 degree arbital jocation until that time. Delzys m the commencement of commercial operation of EchoStar X
would likely require us to cease offering local chaanels by satellite in mamy markets absent reguistory relief from the single dish obligation.
Furthe, if mpediments to our preferred transition plan anise, it is possible that the costs of compliance with this requirement could exceed
3100 0 rmllion. To the cxtent subscribers are mwilling for any reason 1o upgrade t « new dish, our subscriber chum could be negatively
mpacted.

Owr satelfites ave subject fo significant opevational risks.

Satellrtes are subject 1o significant cperationsl risks while in orbit. These rigks inchde malfinctions, commonly refared to ay anomalics, that
have occurred in our satellites and the sx1elhites of other operators as a result of vanous factars, such ar satellite manufacturers’ errors,
problans with the power systams or coatrol systcms of the satcllits and general faitures resulting from operating satellites in the harsh
cavironmeant of space.

Alhough we work closcly with the seielte manufacturers to determine end climinate the canse of enomalies in ew satelhites and provide for
“hundancics of many critical components in the satellitzs, we may experience snomalies in the fature, whether of the types described above or
smg from the faikure of other systems or compancnts.

Any single momaly or senes of inomalies could materially adversely affect our operations and and our relationship with curremt
customers, a5 well as our sbility to anract new customess for our direct broadcast satellites end other sstellite services. In particular, future
anomelies may result in the loss of mdrvidual trensponders on a sateilite, a group of transponders on that satelitz or the entire satellite,
depending on the nature of the anomaty. Anomalies may also reduce the expected useful life of a satellitz, thereby reducing the rovenue that
could be generated bry that satellite, or create sddiliona! expenses dut 1o the need to provide replacement or back-up satelliles Finally, the
occurrenee of anormalics may materially advarscly affect our ability to msure our satellites at vially r bie premiums, if at afl. You
should review the disclosures relating o satellic snomalics st focth under Note 4 o the Notes to the Consolidated Financial S ente in
lierm 15 of this Anmual Repart on Form 10-K.

Metcorid events pose 8 potential threat to all n-orbet geosynchronous satellites. The probability that meteoroids will damage those satellites
mcreasss significantly when the Earth passes through the particulate stream Ieft bebind by comets, Occasionally, increased soler activity also
Pposes a potential threzt to all in-orhit satellites.

Some d issioncd sp R arc m vllcd orbits which pass through the geostationary belt at various paintx, and present bazards 1o
opcrational spacecraft, including our satcllita. We may be required o parform 3 to evoid collisions and those meneuvers may prove
msuccesxmlorcouhimducclhcusdnllifenfmcmxdlmmuhnwamdhmorﬁzlmpufomlh:s:mancuvm.ﬂtcbss.damagcm

dcammonofmyo{mxmelhuu-m\umfmelamnmﬁcm,wﬂiﬂmwhh:pwdcbﬁgmalﬁmﬂimmom:mcoumm|

mnurhladvmzﬂu:unourbm,ﬁnmcidcondinonandmsu]uofopu;ms.
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Our satelliles have minimure design lives of 12 years, bat could fadl or suffer reduced capocity before then.

7 abilrty 1o earn revenue depends oo the usefuiness of our satellites. Each satellite has 2 Kmited useful hie. A number of factors affect the
useful hives of the satellites, inchuding, amang other things, the quality of their construction, the durabulity of their cormponeat parts, the ability
to cantinue 1o maintain proper orbit and cantrol over the satcllite's fanctions, the efficicucy of the launch vehicle uscd, and the romaining on-
board fuel following orbit msartion. Geuerally, the minimum design life of each of our satelfites 15 12 years. We can provide no sssurance,
however, &5 (o the actual ussfil bives of the satellites.

In the event of a faihure or toss of any of cur satcliites, we may relocate another satefiite and use it as a replacement for the failed or Jost
suiellite, which could have s matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of eperations. Such a relocation would
require FCC approval and, among other things, a showmg to the FCC that the replacement satellite would not cause additional interference
comparcd to the filed or lost satelite We carmot be certain that we could obtain such FCC approval. If we choose to use a satellite in this
mamer, this use could adversely affect our ability to mect the operation deadlines associated with onr suthorizations. Failure to meet those
dzadlimes could result in the Joss of such suthorizations, which would have an sdverse effect on oar ability to generate revernes.

e currenty have mo commercial insarance coverage on axr satelliter.

We do not use corunercisl insurance to mitigate the potcatial financial mmpact of m-ocbit faitares because we belicve that the promium costs
are uneconomical relative to the risk of satelhte f2ilure. We belicve that we hawe in-orbit satellie capacity sufficient to expeditiously recover
tranmssion of most programming in the event ane of our m-orbit satellites fails. Howeves, programming comtinuity cazmot be assred n the
event of mutuple satellite losses For example, we depend on our EchoStar VIIT satellite 1o provide local chamels to over 40 markets at least
unt such time as our EcboStar X satellite has commenced commercial operation. In the cvent that EchoStar YTII cxparicaced a total or
substantial failure, we could transmit mauy, bt pot al, of those channels from other in-orbit satellitex.

Complex technology used in our business could become ebsolete.

Our operating results are dependent to a significant extent upon our ability 1 cantmue to inroduce new products and services on a tiumely basis
and 0 reduoce costs of our existing products and services. We may not be able to successfully identify new product or service opportunitics or
develop and market these oppartunities M a timely or cost-cfTectrve manner. The success of new product development depeods on many
factors, including proper idemification of cusiamer need, ceost, timely campletion and mtroducnan, differentiation from offcrings of
competitors and market acceptance.

Technology m the subscription television and ssicllite serviocs industries changes rapidly as new technologics arc devedoped, which could

use our services and products to bocome obsolete. We snd our suppliers may not be able to keep pace with techuological deveopments. I

. new technologics on which we intend to focus our h and devel 1 i ents fail 1o schieve acceptance in the marketplare, we
couldsuffcrnmmaulndvusceﬁ'uc!ouourfunzcammuvepoum“dmcmddmxnedummmmmmmdmmWomy
also be at 2 competitive disadvantsge in developing and mtroducing complex new products and tochnologics because of the substastisl costs
we may incur in making thes¢ products or tzchnologies available across our installed basc of over 12 million subscribers. For cxmple, our
competitors could be the first to obtain proprictsry technologies that are perceived by the market s being swperiar Further, afier we have
incuxred':ubmntinlmmhmddmlopmancom,mmmof:hcmhmhgiumdaomdwelopnﬂgmmdudwdmmlbymu
more of our strategic partners, could become obsolete prior 1o its introduction. In addition, delays in the delivery of components or other
unforescen problems in our DBS system or ather satellite services may oocur that cauld materially adversely affect our abdlity to geacrate
revenne, offer new services and remain competiive.
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Technologtcal innovation is impostant to our success and depends, 1o a significant degree, ot the work of technically skfled employees.
mpetition for the services of these types of employess is vigorous. We may not be sble to attrect amd retain these employers. If we arc
.able 10 attract and maintam techmically skilied employees, our competitive position could be materially adversely affected.
We depend on few manafocturers, and in some caves a single mannfectarer, for mary componenns of consumer premisey equipment; we
may be adversely affected by product shortagex

We depend on relatively few sources, and in some cases a single source, for many comp of the premises equipment that we
provide to subscribers in order 1o deliver our digital television scrnices. Product shortages and resuidng installation delays could cause us ta
lo¢2 potennal future subscribers to our DISH Network service.

We rely on key personnel.

We bebeve that our future success wull depend to 2 sigrmficant extent epou the parformance of Charies W. Ergen, our Chainman and Chief
Excoutive Officer and certain other executives, The loss of M. Ergen or of certain other key execobves could have a material sdverse effect on
our bustness, financial conditicn and results of operztians. Although afl of our executives have executed agrecments limiting their ability o
work foc or consull with competitors i they leave us, we do not have employment agrecments with any of them.

Pe are controlied by one principal stockholder.

Charles W. Ergen, our Chuirman and Chrief Executive Officer, currently beneficially nwns spproximatcly 48% of our total equity socuribes and
possesses approxmately 73% of the total voting power. Thus, Mr. Ergen has the ability to elect a majority of our directors and to control all
other matters requiring the approval of our stockholders, As a result of Mr. Ergen's voting pawer, ECC is a “controlled company” s defined in
the Nasdaq listing rules and is, therefore, not subject to Nasdaq requiraments that would otherwise requice us W have (3) a majority of
independent directors; (ii) 4 compensation commitice composed solely of independent directors; (iii) 8 nominating committee composed solety
of independent directors; (iv) compensation of our executive officers determined by & majority of the independent directors or 2 compensation
committee composed solely of independent dmectors; snd (v) dircctor nominecs selected, or recommended for the Board's selection, either by a
mejority of the independent directors or & nomineting committee composed solely of independent directors.

We may not be aware of cortain foraigr governmerd regulations.

Because regulalory schemes vary by country, we may be subject to regulations in foreign countrics of which we are not preseatly aware. If that
were 10 be the case, we could be subject to sanctions by s foreign government that could materially adverscly affect our ability to operste in
At country. We cannot asgure you that arry current regulatory approvals held by us are, or will remsin, sufficient in the vicw of foreign
Julatory suthonties, or that aoy additional necessary approvals will be grantcd on & timely basis or at all, in all jurisdictions i which we wish
1o operate new satcllites, or thet applicable restrictions i these jurisdictions will not be induly burdensome. The failure to obtain the
suthorizations nerexsary to openate satellites intemationally could have & materia! adverse effect on our shility to generute reveniuc and our
cvenall competitive position. .

We, our customers and companies with which we do business may be required to have suthority from each coustry in which we or they
provide services or provide our customers use of our satellites. Because regulations m each country are different, we may not be aware if some
of our customers and/ar companies with which we do business do not hold the requisite ficenses and approvals

Our business relies on intellectual property, some of whlch i owned by chird partics, and we may inadvertenty infringe thelr patents ond
proprietary righes. ’

Mauy enlities, including same of our competitars, have or may in the future cbtain patents and other intellectual property rights that cover ar
affect products or services related 1o those that we offer. In gencral, if & connt determmes thet one or more of our products infringes on
intellectual property beld by others, we may be required to
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cezse developing or marketing those products, to obtain licenses from the bolders of the intellectual property st a matenal cost, of to redesign
. 'S¢ products in such a way as to avod mfringing the patent claims. 1€ those intellectual property rights are held by a competitor, we may be
-bk to obtain the intcllectual propety st any price, which could adversely affect oir competitive position. Pleasc scc further discussion
under /tem 1. Busmess — Patenis and Trademarks of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Owr local programuming strategy faces uncertainty,

SHVIA gencrally gives satellitc compan:es a statlory copynght license to retransmit local broadcast chammels by sateflite back into the market
fram which they origmated, subject to obtaining the retransmission consent of the local network smation. If we fail to reach rerapsmission
consznt agreaments with broadcasters we canpot canry their signals. This conld have an edverse effcct on our ability to compete with cable and
other satellite compamies which provide local charmels. While we have beea able to reach retr ission consent agrecments with most local
netwark stabions in markets where we correatly offer local channels by satallite, roll-out of local channels in additional citieg will require that
we obmin additiona! retransroission consent agreemeoty. We cannat be sure thet we wifl secure these agreements or that we will secure new
agreemens upon the expiration of aur current retransmrission consent agreements, some of which are sbord term.

Impediments (o retransesizsion of distans broadeast signals; our distant programming strategy foces uncertainty.

The Capyright Act, as amended by SHVIA, permits satellite retransmission of distant broadcast channcls only to “anserved houscholds.” An
cxampic of a distant network station retransmssion is & Los Angeles broadcast network station recransmitied by satellite to a subscriber outside
of the Los Angcles market. That subsariber qualifies s an “unserved household™ if be o she cannot receive, over the air, 8 signal of sufficiemt
intensity (“Grade B™ imtensity) from a Los Angeles station affiliated with the samc broadcast network.

SHYVIA bas slso established & process whereby consumers predicied to be served by a local station may request that this station waive the
unserved household limutation £ that the requesting connmer may receive distant sigmls by sateltite. 1f the waiver request is denied, SHVIA
catitlcs the consumer to request an actual test, with the cost to be borne by either the satellite camer, such as us, or the broadcast station
depending on the results. The testmg process required by the statute can be very costly.

SHVERA extends our legal authority to retransmit distant stations under SHVIA to December 31, 2009, bui imposes new and complex
resurictions an the authority. In geoerat, we will 0o longar be able to offer distant network stations to new subscribers in markets in Which we
offer local broadcast stations. In addition, cur ebility to recansmit distat digital network stations todery depends on whether ¢ houschold is
unserved by the analog signal of the local network steton. While the statule gives us the ability W engage in signal strength testing to determine
whether a bousehold can receive the digital cignal of the local network station, this ability does pot commence umil at Jeast April 30, 2006 or
July 15, 2007 (depending on the market and whether extensions are granted), and is also subject to certein restrictions. 1t-is 100 carly to fally

“sess all of the implications of SHVERA for our retrangmissions of distant network steticos. Plesse sec further discussion under * Jem 1.

siness — Governmen Regulation — The Satellite Home Viewer Improvoment Act and Satellite Hore Viewer Extension and Reaquthorization
Act — Retransmission of Distans Netwarks ™ of tins Amnual Report an Form 10-K.

“Must carry” will negatively affect owr ablllty to offer local nenwork stations.

SHVIA also mmposed “must earry” requirements on DBS providers and the FCC bas adopted detailed “roust carry” rules. These rales generally
require that satelhte distributors carry ail the local broadcast stations requesting carriage in & timely and appropriate manncr i arcas where they
choose to offer local programming, ot just the four major networks. Since we have Imited capacity, the pumber of markets in which we can
offer local programming is reduced by the “miust camry” requircments. The “must carry” legislation aleo includes provisions which could
expose us to material monetary penaltics, and permanent prohibitions o the sae of all local and distant brosdcast channels, based on
1nadvertent violatious of the legisiation, prioc law, of the FCC rulex. Imposition of these penaltics would heve » marcrial adverss dffect oo owr
busmess, financial condrtion and results of operations. Pleasc sce further discussion under = Jiem J. Business — Governmens Regulation — The
Satellite Home Viewer Improvement Act and Satellite Home Viewer Extension and Reauthorization Act — ~Maust Carry” and Other
thul.raneflu * of this Annusl Report on Fovm 10-K.
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TV networks opposc oar strategy of delivering distant neowork signalx.

ere party 1o 8 lawsuit in which the FOX Broadcasting Comparry (“FOX ') netwosk and the independent effiliate groups associated with each
of the four major broadcast actworka have, among other things, artempted o enjoin us frozm selling distan! petwork programmmg. If the
plaintiffs in this lawsnit are successhul in preventing us from selling distant network programming, and if we do not reach private settiement
agreements with additioma! starions, we will atterpt to assist our affected subscribers in amanging aliermnstive means 10 receive nctwark
channcls, including migration to Jocal chamels by satellite wheve svailable, and free off aur antenna offers in othar merkets,

However, we cammot predict with any degree of cermainty how many of our affected subscribers would cancel their primary DISH Network
programming as a result of termunetion of their distant network channels. We could be required to terminste distant network programming to all,
aof our subscribers in the cvent the plaintiffs prevail on therr claims and we are permanently enjoined from detivering all distant netwark
channels. Termination of distnt network programming to subsaribers would result, among other things, 11 2 reduction in average monthty
revenue pear subscriber end ¢ temporary increase in subscriber churm,

Please see cur more detailed discussion of this [swsuit under the caption Jiem 3. Legal Proceedings — Distant Network Litigation .

We depend on the Cable Act for access to others’ programming.

We purchasc & substantial porcentage of our programming from cable-affiliated programmers. The Cable Act's provisions probibiung
cxdusive contracting practiocs with cable affiliated programmers have been extended from October 2002 to October 2007, but this extensinn
could be reversed. Upon expination of those Erovisions, many popalar programs may beoome unavailable to us, causing & loss of customers and
adversely affecting onr revenues and finxncial performance. Any change m the Cable Act and the FCC's rules that permit the cabic mdustry o
cable-£ffiliated programmers to discriminate apainst competing businesses, such as ours, in the sale of programming could adversely affect our
ahlity to ecquire programming 6t all of 0 acgquire programming on a cost-cffective basis. We believe that the FCC gencrally bas not shown &
willingness to enforce the program access rules aggressively. As s result, we may be Linmited in our ability to obtain access (or
nondiscriminatory access) 1o programming from programmers that are affilisted with the cable system operators.

Affiliates of cenain cable providers have denied us access (o sports programming they feed o their cable systems terrestrially, rather than by
satelite. To the extrut that cable operators defiver additional programming 1emrestrially in the foturc, they may assert that this additional

progremming i3 also exempt from the program access laws. Thesc restrictions an our access to progremming could materially adverscly affect
our ability to compete in regions serviced by these cable providers.

We depend on others to predmce programming.

. > depend on third partics to provide us with programming services. Our programming egreements have remaiming terms ranging from lesy
wian ac 1o up to ten years and contain vanons renewal and cancellation provisioms. We may not be eble to reacw these agreements on
favorable terms or at all, and these agreements may be canceled prior to expiration of their ariginal term. If we arc unable © rencw any of these
egrecoents or the other parties cancel the sgrecments, we cannot assure you that we would be abic to obtain substitutz programming, or that
such substituie programming would be comparsbte in quality or cost to our existing programming. In addition, prograruming costs mey
continue to mcrease. We may be unable to pass progremming costs on to our cuswrers which could have 2 material adverse effect on our
finencial condition, profitabitity and cash flows. ‘

We face increasing competition from other distribulors of foreign Language programming.
We fac: 'mcr_using campctition from other distributons of foreign languego programming, inctuding the Sparush-language programming
previously discussod and foreign lmguage programming distributed over the Internet, There
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an be po essurance that we will contmue 10 expenience growth in subscribers to owr forcign-languege programming services In eddition, the
creasing availability of forcign language programming fram our competitors, which m certain cases Bas resulted from our insbility to renew
.Ogrammuug agrecments on an exchusive basis or x all, could contribute 10 an inarease m our subscriber chum, Our agreements with
distributors of foreign language progrummumg have varying expiration dates, and some agrecments are on 8 motth-to-month basis. There can
be no ascurimer that we will be able 10 renew these agreements on acceptable terms or at all

We depend on independeni resailers and others w solicit orders for DISH neteork services.

While we sell recaiver sysiems aud programming direcdy, independent distributors, direct marketers, retaflers and consumer electronics stores
are responsible for fwost of our sales. We also sell EchoStas receivet systems through nat:onwids retailers and certain regional consumer
tlectronic chans. If we are unable to continoe our arrangenents with these retailory, we cammot guarantee fhat we would be able to obtain other
seles agents, thus adversely affecting our busimess.

We cannet axsure pou that there will ot be deficiencies leading to material weaknesses in our internal control over financlal reporiing.

We periodically evaluate and test our interns! control over financial reporting in arder (o satisfy the requurements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This evaluation and testing of merna] control over financial reporting includes internal control over fnancial reporting
relating to our operations. Although our masagement has conchuded that oar indcrnsl coatrol over financal reporting was cflective as of
December 31, 2005, and while there has been no material change in our intonel control over financial repartieg during 2006, if io the future we
are unable 10 report that our internal controf over financial reponing is effectve (or if our suditors do not agree with our assessment of the
effectiveness of, or are unable 10 express an opinion on, our intermal control over financial reporting), investors, customars and business
perncrs could lose confidense in the accuracy of our fmancial reports, which could in turn bave a ruetcrial adverse effoct ou owr business.

Jtem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
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Item 2, PROPERTIES
: following table sets forth eerain mformation concerming owr principal properties:

Apprediman
Sepment(s) Squnre Owsed or
Deseription/Use/Laes fion Uu'mﬂnperlx Fnoﬂp Lesscd

L A T6,000 5 OWded.
144,000 Owned

“53*0011" Omwd
000 Leased

Corporate headquerisrs, Bnglewood, Coldrade : R A
EchoStar Technologics Corporation cogincaning offices and scrvice center, ankwood, Colon.dn . .. EIX
EcBoStar Fechmblogies c:npamhormpmg offices; Englewood, Colorada ™, {7 NN

Ecchw Data Networts mgmzmn fﬁcu Atlam; Gwrgu

R:g;oml (ﬁgnzl broad pmurms centet, Ncw annsfck, Tcug e
by »’ ‘1‘ N ‘n-g

gwml dxgxtxl bmadcst’opﬂm ccntﬁ‘“Quckd)ag Virgiia =5
Regonal digitel ¢ trmsdcast apcmuons omus Spokn}ne.‘iWe:tnngtun
AT N S :

Regionat digital broadcisT q;cnmovns contre Gintge, Tow

Customer call center md dau u:ma Lmiemu Col.ondo

Chxmmmllcdﬂa wdmus:mdsmacmlu.ﬁ‘hm Tcm B
Customer call center, McKessport, Pennsylvenus

" qiomer call center, Christiansburg, Virginia .

Customer call center and genenal ofﬁm, Tulsa, Oklahoma

Customer call center and generaf offices, Pine Brook, New Jersey
Customer call center Thom Colondo

Ommacnllocmn‘)hrhggm,]f " Sk

Cuslnma mﬂ ceater, Bhtﬁcld. Wcst Virginia .
=) Y‘:-n. e

Wuehauz dx:;n'bubbn mdamntwccnm‘ &lhma, qurx\x %

‘Werehouse and distribution eenter, D(zv‘u, Colorado

Qs ot
Warchouse and distribution center, Sérdmmento, California. | >

Warchouse and distribution cenier, Dnﬂu Texas
Warehouse and distribution ocenter, Chuxgo lllmon
Warchouss and distribution comiter, Deaver, Colorado

e,

Warchouse end distribution center, Baltimore, Murylnd oy

Engmocing offices and warehouse, Almelo, The Nebestsnds . ’ .
Engineeting offices, Bidan, Englerid -, . L v RN OheE -

In eddition 1o the principal propertics listed above, we operaiz several DISH Network service cemers strategically located in regions throughout
the United Statex.

“em 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Astarz Network Linigation
* Umil July 1998, we obtamed feeds of diswnt broadcast netwark channels (ABC, NBC, CBS and FOX) for distribation 1o our cusiomers
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twough PrimeTime 24. I December 1998, the United States Distriet Court for the Sowthera District of Florids in Miami entered a pationwide
permanent injunction requiring Prime Time 24 1o thut off distant network channels to many of its customers, and beaceforth to sell those
chammels to cansumers in accordance with the injunchion.

October 1998, we filed a declarstory judgment action against ABC, NBC, CBS sad FOX in the United States District Court fos the District
w1 Colorado. We asked the Coun w find that our method of providing distant network programming did oot violar the Satellits Home Viewer
Improvement Act (“SHVIA™) and bence did not infringe the netwarks’ copynghts [n Noverber 1998, the networks and their affiliate
associatioc groups filed a complmnt sgamst us in Msami Federsl Court alleging, emong other things, copyrigit infringement. The Count
combined the cese that we filed in Colorado with the case 1o Miaoyi and transferred it to the Miami Feders! Court.
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W February 1999, the networks filed & Metion for Temporary Restraining Order, Prelimmacy Injunction and Contempt Finding against

e TV, Inc. 10 Migmi related ta the delivery of distant netwock channels to Diree TV customers by satellite DirecTV settled thar brwsuit with
_« networks. Under the terms of the sctticment between DirecTV and the networks, some DirecTV customers were scheduled ta lose sccess to
their satellitc-provided distant nctwork chamnels by July 31, 1999, while other Direc TV customrers were w be disconnected by December 31,
1999. Subsequently, substaurially si} providers of sateRite-delivered network programming other than us agreed to this cut-off schedule,
although we do not know if they adhered (o this schedule.

In April 2002, we reached & private settl twith ABC, Inc,, ope of the plaintifls in the litigation, and jointly filed x supulation of dismissal.
In Novernber 2002, we reached a private settiement with NBC, another of the plaintiffs in the titigation and jointly filed a stipulstion of
dismissal. During March 2004, we reached a private serdement with CBS, another of the plamtiffs in the litigation and jointly Sled & stipulation
of dismissal. We bave slso reached private settiernents with many independent swtions and station groups. We were unzble to reach &
settlement with five of the onginal eight plaintiffs — FOX and the independent effilizte groups essociated with each aof the four networks.

A trial took place during April 2003 and the Distnct Count issucd ¢ final judgment in June 2003. The District Court found that with enc
exception oar current distant network qualification procedures comply with the law. We have rovised our procedures to comply with the
District Court’s Order. Akhough the plaintffs acked the District Court to enter an injunction prectodng us from selling sy local or distant
network programming, the District Court refused. While the plaintiffs did not claim monetary damages and noae were swarded, the plainniffs
were awarded spproximeately $4.8 millioo in attomeys’ fecs. This amount is substantially less than the amount the plaintiffs sought. We asked
the Court & reconsider the award and the Court has vacated the fee award. When the award wag vacated, the District Court also allowed us an
oppartunity to conduct discovery concerning the amount of plaintiffs’ requested fees. The partics have agreed to pastponc discovery and an
evidcutiary hearing regarding sttoreys’ fees until after the Court of Appeals rules on the pending sppeal of the Court’s Junc 2003 final
judgment. It 15 not possible to make an assessment of the probable outcome of pleintiffs’ outstanding request for fees.

The District Court's injunctiom requires us to usc 8 computer woddf to rc~qualify, as ef Jane 2003, all of our subscribers who receive ABC,
NBC, CBS or FOX programming bry satcllite from » market otber then the city in which the subscriber lives. The Court also invalidsted s8
warvers histonically provided by network sufions These waivers, which bave been provided by stations for the past several years thraugh a
third party sutomated systere, allow subscribers who beheve the computer mode! improperly disqualified them for distant metwork chaanels w
nonetheless recoive those channcls by satedlite. Purther, the District Court terminated the right of cur grandfathered subscribers to continue to
receive distam netwaork channeic

We believe the District Count made » mumber of erars and gppealed the decision. Plamtiffs cross-sppealed. The Cowrt of Appesls granted our
request (o sy the injunctioa wnn) ouwr appes! is decided. Oral arguments occurred during February 2004. [f is not passible to predict bow or
when the Court of Appeals will rule on the merit of our appeal. On April 13, 2003, Plaintffs filed 2 moton asking the Court of Appeals to

2ate the stay of the imjunction that was issusd m August 2004. We responded on April 25, 2005. 1t is not possible to predict how or whea the
. ourt of Appeals will rule on Plamtiffs' motion to vacate the stay.

In the event the Conrt of Appeals upholds the injunction or lifts the stay as plaintiffs now request, and if we do not reach privatz settiement
agreements with additional stations, we will anempt to asmst sabecribers in aranging altemative mesms to receive netwark channels, inchuding
migration to local channels by satellite where available, and frec off sir antenma offers in other markets. However, we canmot predict with any
degree of corainty how memy subscribers would cincel their primary DISH Network programming as a result of terminarion of their distant
petwork chanoels. We could be required to termmate distant network progmmming to all subseribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail oo their
and we are permanentty enjoined from delivermg all distant network chamnels. Terminetiop of distant netwark programming to
subscribers would result, among other things, in a reduction in average monthly rovenve per subscriber and a temporary increese in subscriber
chun.
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Superguide

ring 2000, Superguide Corp. (“Supcrguide”™) filed suit against us, Direc TV and others in the United States District Court for the Western
vistnct of Nosth Carolina, Ashevilie Division, alleging infrmgement of United States Patent Nos. 5,038,211 (the ‘211 patent), 5,293,357 (the
'357 patent) and 4,751,578 (the ‘578 patent) which relate 1o certain clectronic program guide functions, including the use of electronic program
guides to control VCRs. Superguide sought injunctive and declaratary rehef and damages in an unspecified amount.

On summary judgment, the District Court ruled thar nene of the asserted patents were infrmged by us. These rulings were appealed to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. During February 2004, the Federal Circult affirmed in part and reversed in part the
Distnct Court’s findings and remacded the case back w0 the District Court for farther proceedings. In July 2005, SuperGuide indicated that it
would oo longer parsue infringement allegations with rospeet to the *211 ond ‘357 patcats and those pawcnts have now been dismissed from the
suit. We examimed the ‘ST8 patent and belicve that it is not infringad by any of oor products of services. We will coatinue to vigorously defend
this case. o the event that o Court ultimately determines that we infringe 0n amy of the patents, we may be subject to substantial damages,
which may includz treble damages and/or an injunction thet could require us 1o materially modify certain user-friendly electronic programming
guide and related features that we currently offer to consumers. The case 15 stryed pending the District Court's ruling. A trial date has not been
st 11 13 oot possible o make an asscasment of the probable outcome af the surt or to determine the extent of wry potrntial lisbility or damsges.

Broadcast Innowation, LL.C.

s November of 2001, Broadcast Ionovation, L.L C. fikd e lawsuit against us, Direc TV, Thomson Consumer Electronics and othars in Foderal
Distnct Court in Denver, Colorado. The suit elteges infringement of United Seates Patent Nos. 6,076,094 (the ‘094 patent) and 4,992,066 (the
“066 patent). The ‘094 patent relates to certain raethods and devices for transmitting end receiving data along with specific formatting
infarmation for the data. The *066 patent relates to cortain methods and devices for providing the scrambling circuitry for 2 pay television
system oa removable carde. We examined these patents and believe that they are not infringed by sny of our products or services.
Subsequentty, DirecTV and Thomson settled with Broadoast Innovation lesving us as the onlty defendant.

During January 2004, the judge issued an ordes finding the '066 patent invalid. In Angust of 2004, the Court ruled the *094 invalid in & parallel
case filed by Broadcast Innovarion against Charter and Cameast. In Angust of 2005, the United States Court of Appesls for the Federal Cirenit
(“CAFC™) overturmed this finding of mvalidity and remanded the ease back to the District Court. Charter has filed a petition for rehearing and
the CAFC has asked Broadcom to respond to the petition. Our case remains stayed pending resolution of the Charter case. We inicod o
continue to vigorously defend this case. In the eveat that 8 Court ultimately determines that we infringe on anry of the patrots, we mxy be
subject to substantial damages, which may inctude treble dsmages and/or an injunction that could roquire us to materially modify conain user-
friendly featurcs that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to make an assessment of the probable outcome of the suit of
‘ermine the extent of any potential Liability or damages.

TiVe Inc.

During Jamuary 2004, TiVe Inc. (“TiVo™) filed a lawmiit against us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texes. The
sujt alleges mfringement of United States Patent No_ £,233,389 (the *389 patent). The “389 patent relates to cortain methods and devices for
providing what the patent calls “time-wrrping.” We have cxxmmed this patent and do not belicve that it is infringed by any of our products o
services. During March 2005, the Court denied our motion 1o transfer this case to the United Stazes District Court for the Northem District of
Calsforma. The trial is achoduled to commence on March 27, 2006 in Marshall, Texas. We intend to vigorously defond this case. In the event
thet 8 Court ultimately determines that we infringe this pateat, we may be sobject to substantisl dxmages, which may incinde treble demages
and/or an injunction that could require us 1o materially modify certsin nser-friendly feanires that we currently offer to consumers It is not
possible to make an assessment of the probable outcome of the suit or to determine the extent of any potential lisbility of damages.
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Gn April 29, 2005, we filed 8 Liwsut m the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas agamnst TiVo sad Humax USA, lrc.
‘leging infringement of U.S Patent Nox. 5,774,186 (the 186 patent), 6,529,685 (the *685 petent), 6,208 804 {the ‘804 patent) end £,173,112
e ‘112 patent) These patents relate to digital video yrecorder (“DVR™) technology. Trial is currently scheduled for February 2007.

Acacls

Ip June 2004, Acaciz Medis Technologies filed a lawsuit agaiost us in the United Stases District Court for the Northern Distnict of Califorma.
The suit also nemed DirecTV, Camncast, Charter, Cox and a mumber of smalber cable companies &5 defendants. Acacia is an intellectual
property holding company which seeks to hicense the patent portfolio that st has acquired. The suit alleges mfringement of United States Patent
Nos_ 5,132,992 (the ‘992 patent}, 5,253,275 (the ‘275 parent), 5,550,363 {the ‘863 patent), 6,002,720 (the ‘720 patent) and 6,144,702 (the *702
patent). The ‘992, ‘863, ‘720 and 702 patents have been assenied apsinst us.

The asserted patents relate to various systems and methods related to the transmisston of digital dara. The ‘992 and * 702 patents have also been
ussericd against several internet adult content providers m the United States District Court for the Centrel Distniet of California. On July 12,
2004, that Court issued a Markman ruling which found that the '992 and ‘702 patents were not as broad as Acacia bad contended.

Acacis's various patcot infringement cases have now been comsolidated for pre-trial purposes in the United States District court for the
Northern District of California. We intend to vigorously defond this case. In the ovent that 8 Cowrt uldmately determines that we imfringe an
uny of the patents, we may be subject to substantial damages, which may include eble damapes and/or an injunction that could require o5 o
maenally modify certaim user-friendly features that we currently offer to consumers. It is not possible to meke an agsessment of the probable
outcorne of the suit or to determme the extent of any poteatial liability or damages.

Forgemt

In July of 2003, Forgent Netwotks, Inc. filed a lawsuit againgt us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. The suit
uso named DirecTV, Chaner, Comcast, Time Werner Cable, Cable Onz and Cox as dcfendants. The suit elleges infringement of United States
Patent No. 6,285,746 (the ‘746 patent).

The “746 patent discloses & video teleconferencing system which utilizes digital telephone lines. We have cxamined this patent and do not
belicve that it is infringed by any of our products or services. Trial is currertly scheduled for February 2007 in Marshall, Texas, We intend 1o
wigorously defend this cese. In the event that a Court ultimately detamunes that we mfringe this patent, we may be subject to substantial
damages, which may include treble damages and/or an injumction that could require us to matevially modify certzin eser-friendly features that
we currently offer to [t is not possible o make an essessment of the probable outoome of the suit or to determine the extent of any
~otential lisbility or demages.

California Actlon

A purpartcd clats ection relating Lo the wse of tems such as “eryatal clear digital video,” “CD-quality audio,” and “an-screcn program guide,”
and with respect to the mumber of channels evailable in various programming packages was filed ageinst us in the California State Supsrior
Court for Los Angeles County in 1999 by David Pritikin end by Consumer Advocates, a nonprofit unmcorporatad association. The claim was
demied class cortification. In December 2005, we reached & settlement for an immaterial smount with the individual plaintfls.

Rewiler Class Acions

During October 2000, two stparaic lawsuits were filed by retatlers in the Arapahoe County District Court in the State of Colorado and the
United States District Court for the District of Colorado, respectively, by Air Communication & Sstellite, Inc. and John Delong, ct al. oo
behalf of themselves and » class of persons sunilerly situated. The plaintiffs are attempting to certify pationwide clesses on behalf of certain of
our satellite hardware retsilers. The plaintiffs are requesting the Courts w declare certain provisions of, and chenges 10, alleged egrecments
between us and the reilers invalid and unenforceable, and t award damages for lost incentives and peyments, charge backs, and other
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campensation. We are vigorously defending agrinst the suits and have asserted a variety of counterclsims. The United States District Court for

* District of Colorado stayed the Federal Court action to allow the partics to pursuc 2 comprehensive adjudication of their dispute in the

-spahoe County State Caurt. Jobm Dejong, d/Wa Nexwave, zmd Joscph: Kelley, d/t/a Keltronics, subsequently intervened in the Arapahoe
County Court action is plaintiffs and propasad class representatives. We have filed o motion for suemmary judgment on all counts and sgainst
al! plawntiffs. The plaintifhs filed a motion for sdditional time to conduct discovery to casble them to respond to our motion. The Court gramted
2 limited discovery period which ended November 15, 2004. The Court is hearing discovery related motions and has set a bricfing schodule for
the motion for summary judgment to begin 30 days after the ruling on those motions. A trial date has not been set. It is not possible to make an
assessment of the probablc outcome of the litigation or to determine the extent of any potential liahility or damages.

Enron Commeraal Paper Investment Complaint

Dhning October 2001, EchoStar received approximately $40.0 million from the sale of Braron commercial paper 10 a third party broker. Tha
commercial paper was ultimately purchased by Enron. During November 2003, ae ection was commenced in the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the Southern District of New York, against approximatrly 100 defendants, including us, who invested in Enron’s cocmercial peper.
The complaint alleges that Earon's October 2001 purchase of i commercial psper was a fraudulent conveyance and voiduble preference under
bankruptcy laws. We dispute these elicgations. We typically invest m commercial paper and notes which are rated in one of the four highest
rating catcgorics by at keast two nationally recognizod statistical rating organizations. At the time of our investment in Eoron commercia! paper,
1l was considered o be bigh quality and conndered to be a very low risk The defendants moved the Court to dismiss the case on grounds that
Enron's complaint does not adequately statz & legal ¢laim, which motian was denied but is subject %o an appeal 1t is too early to make an
assessreent of the probable outcome of the litigation or to determine (ke extent of any potential liability or damages.

Bank One

During March 2004, Bank One, N.A. ("Bank Onc™) filed suit against us and one of our subsidiaries, EchoStar Acceptance Cotporation
(“EAC™), in the Court of Common Pleas of Frankdin County, Obio alleging breach of o duty to indernnify. Bank One alleges that EAC i
comractually required to indemnify Bank One for & scttiement it paid to consumers who entered private label credit card agreements wit Bank
One 10 purchase satellitz equipment in the late 1990s. Bank One alleges that we entered into a guarantee wherein we agreed to pay eny
mdzrmrity obligation incurred by Bank One. During April 2004, we removed the case to feders! court in Cotumbns, Ohio. We denry the
allegations and intend to vigorously defend against the claims. We filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint which was gramed in pan and
demed in part. The Count granted our motion, agreang we did nat owe Bank One 2 duty to defend the undertying lrwsuit. However, the Court
dzaied the motion in that Bank One will be allowed Lo aiempt 1o prove thal we owed Beak One a duty to indemmfy. The case is cwrently in
discovery. A tria! datc has not boen sct. 1t is woo carly in the litigation to make an asscssment of the probeble outcome of the litigation or to
*ermine the extent of any potzotial hability ar demages.

Church Commanications Network, Inc.

Duarmg August 2004, Church Commurications Network, Inc. ("CCN™) filed suit against us 1o the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Abzbame, asserting causes of action for breach of contract, neglipent misreprescntation, intentiona! and reckless misrcprescntation,
and non-disclosure based on & 2003 contact with us. The action was ransfored o the United States District Court foy the District of Colorede.
The Court permitied CCN to amead its complaint to assert the stamx claims besed on a 2000 contract with us. We haw Gled motons for
summary judgmeat on 21l claims in the case. CCN has filed 8 motion for summary judgment on the issuc of liability on its imentional and
reckiess misreprescatation clamm. CON clams approximately $20 0 mullion in damages plus punilive damages, attorncy fees and costs.

Dt y has been tuded but no trial date has becn sct. It is not possible to make so assesement of the probable outcame of the litigaticn
or to datermine the extent of any poteatial lisbility or damages.
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January 2005, Vivendi Universal, S.A. (“Vivendi™), filed suit agmms! us in the Uniled States Distnet Court for the Southern Distriet of New
s ork alleging that we have enticipatonty repudisied or are in breach of an alleged agreement between us and Vivendi pursuant to which we are
allegedly required to broadcast & music-video chamme! provided by Vivendi. Vivendi’s complaint seeks injunctrve and declaraory relicf, sod
damages ip an unspecificd amount. On Apnil 12, 2005, the Court granted Vivendi’s motion far & preliminary injunction and directed us 1o
broadcast the music-video channc! during the pendency of the litigation. In congection with that order, we have alsa agreed to provide
marketmg Support to Vivendi during the pendency of the litigation In the event that the Court ultimetely determines that we bave & coutractual

obligation to brosdcast the Vivends music-video channel and that wa ere in hreach of that ohligation, we may be required to continue
broadcasting the Vivendi music-video channel and may also be subject 1o substantial damages. We imend to vigorously defend this case.

Skareholder Dertvative Lawsuit

During March 2005, & sharcholder dentvative lawsuit was filed against EchoStar, its chainnan and chief executive officer Charles W. Ergen and
the members of nis board of directors in the District Court of Dougles County, Colorado. On November 7, 2005, PlaintifFs filed 2 Nouce of
Dismissal asking that the suit be dismissed withour projudice.

Other

In addition to the above actions, we are subject to various otber legal proceedings and cleims which arise in the ordinary course of business. In
our opinion, the amount of wltimate liability with rezpect o any of these actions is unlikely to materially affect our financial position, results of
operanons or hqudity.
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Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SRCURITY HOLDERS
: following mattery were voled upon at the anmua! meeting of our sharcholders held on October 6, 2005:

e The clection of James DeFraneo, Michael T. Dugan, Cantey Ergen, Charles W. Ergen, Steven R Goodbarmn, David K. Moskowitz,
Tom A. Ortolf, C. Mschael Schroeder and Carl E. Vogel 15 directors to serve until the 2006 annual mecting of sharcholders, snd

b Ratificanion of ihe appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.
¢ Amenad and restate the 1999 Stock Incentive Plasm.

d.  Amend and restate the 2001 Non-employec Dircctor Stock Plan.

¢ Sharcholder proposal to amend EchoSur's Equal Opportunity Pokicy.

All maniers vosed op at the anmual meetmg were approved except the shareholder proposal to amend our Equal Opparmunity Policy. The voting
results were as follows:

Chiarkes W. Erged, ! * CEREWT LT L mra T

Steven R. Goodbam o ~

DavidK, Mogkowits & Nige. -osh T T “*“31.,}}/:3; By & 0
Tom A. Orlf L ] o gw)mu = 15670
C. Michgel Schroeder . .~ "% - 7 L T Ty R S T SR SN B A R o T AT
Car E. Vogel 2,520,090,589 — T 47393357

year end!ng December 31, 2005

#eend and Restate the 1999 Stock incenlive Plan 2,445,413 214 92,572,919 —

.ustend and Restate the 2001 Non-Lriployee Director Stock Plan " © 2436,589,364 | 7 101,387,4885% -

Skareholder Proposal to Amend EchoStar's Equal Opportumity Policy 9,063,576  2,486,852264 —
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PARTII

sem S, MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Merket Price of and Dividends on the Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market Information. Our Class A common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Natwonal Market under the symbol “DISH.” The sale prices shown
below refiect inter-dealer quotations and do not include retail markupe, markdowns, of commissions and may not necessarily represeat sctoal
transactions. The high and low closing sale prices of our Class A comman stock during 2005 and 2004 o the Nasdaq National Market (as
reporied by Nasdaq) are set forth below.

004

Fust Quart - - S O T Eea e mgrgj: p53 szaxr““
Second Quarter o - .- I X
Third Qusfter - R PR Rl RS R NCEAG | N 1o
Fourth Quarier M7 tKerd
WS- T T U R L T L SRR TRERES TOINEGG.T e
First Quarter ‘ ) B2 2831
Second Qrarter . . . e oo TUTTORENE Span e OO REs T e SRR Y19
ﬁnﬂQ\Bﬂu . R . . . o . }2.!] 2861
Fourth-Quafter: 7 T e RN S s S T i« EONE D TR 2

As of March §, 2006, there were appraxumarely 17,779 holders of record of our Class A common stock, not inchuding stockbolders who
beneficialty own Class A common stock beld in nomince or street pame. As of March 8, 2006, 188,435,208 of the 238,435,208 puistanding
shercs of our Class B common stock were held by Charles W, Ergen, our Chairman and Chic{ Executive Officer. During the fourth quarter of
2005, the remzinmmg 50,000,000 ontstanding shares of Clags B common sinck were gified to a trust for members of Mr. Ergen's family. There
is currently no treding market for our Class B common stock.

Dividend On Deceruber 14, 2004, we paid & onc-time cash dividend of $1.00 per share, of approximately $455.7 milbion, oz outstending
shares of our Claes A end Class B comman stock to sharchalders of record at fhe close of business on December 8, 2004.

"¢ currendy do not intend (o declare additional dividends on o common stock. Payment of any future dividends will depend upon owr
mgs and capital requirements, restrictions in our debi facilitics, and other factors the Board of Directors considers appropriate. We

- currently intend o retain our earnings, if any, to suppert future growth and expansion. Sec “liem 7. — Mmagement's Discussion ind Analyzis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.™

Securities Autharized for Issuance Under Eqanty Compensation Plans. See liem |2 — Security Ownexship of Certain Beneficial Owners and

Menagement.
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Parchases of Equity Securties by the Issner and Affiliated Parchasers
: following table provides information regarding purchases of our Class A common stock made by us for the period from Jammary 1, 2005

iarongh March 8, 2006,
Tolad Totel Namaber of Mazimem Apprexiensts
Number of Shares Porchased Dollar Value of Shares
Shares Average 81 Part of Poblicly that May Yot be
Pavchaged  Prics Pald Axnneunced Pans Parchasad Under the
W» (s} E&n or hm Mum o)
Jamgiiry | - Jamukey 38720051 ¢ 0T P Ve, ‘”3%@;&&,_,‘1’%’ 1 po0je0
February 1 - Fcbmnylﬂ 200} . 90,000 § . 896 9970394
March | ©MERE3E, 2005 3560000 0 e B ,,3?@33,3_ C st
Agpril | - Apell 30, 2008 . §9633 §  28.85 _ . 933,314
Ms [hMay 31, 20087 7%, i DTRG0 BRI -J&&W&ﬁmﬁ ) mi*v%ox{,.f‘ ERELIRIET
e 1 - June 30,2005 . ) . 7,0(!)5 290! B
Rl Jay 30, 200855 TR B TR ssir,zoo ST B

August | - Auguan)zoos

) .. 2886 .
Scptember | - Scpteraber 30, 2004 S

October | - October 31, 2005 ) . |moooshg_776

November 1. - Novembet 30.2005: - CUTLRL - 300hE 263@',—'?" ?

December | - Docember 31, 2005 3,842,403 § 637,488
Jangary 1 - Jamary 31,2006 - 0 T IO A8 VAR VRS RS e | 6mIET
February | - February 28, 2006 w17 BT 3 625,811
March | - March &, 2006 s . R sr o $F o I625BIL
Tol &3,61\,9)8 § 2749 13,611,918 § 625,811

() During the period from Jamaary I, 2005 through March 8, 2006 all purchases were made pursuant to the program discuzsed below in open
market transactions.

() Our Board of Dircctors authonzed the purchase of up o 1.0 billion of our Class A Commman Stock os August 9, 2004. All purchases
were made in accordance with Rule [0b-18 of the Securities Exchangz Act of 1934 pursuant to our Rule 10b5-1 plan entered into on
September 1, 2004. During the year, the Bowrd of Directors extended the plan to expire on the cartier of June 30, 2006 or when sn
sggregate emount of $1.0 billion of stock hes been purchased under the plan. We may elect not o purchage the maxinrem amount of
shares aliowable under this plan snd we msy also eater mto addibonal Rule 1065-) plans to facilitate the share repurchascs suthorized by
our Board of Directors. All purchases may be through open market purchases under the pla or privately negotisied transactions subject
to market conditions and other factors. To date, no plans or programs for the purchiasc of our stock bave bern torminated prior to thewr
expiration There were also no other plans o programs for the purchase of ow siock thet expured during the period from Janoary 1, 2005
throngh December 31, 2005, Purchased shares have and will be held as Treasury shares and msy be used for general corporate purposes.

Item €. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selectod consolidated financial dats as of and for each of the five yrars ended December 31, 2005 have boen derived from, and are
qualificd by reference to our Cousolidsted Financial Sutcments. Beginming January 1, 2004, we combined cestnin revenue and cost of sales
itcms into othar captions, Al prier period smounts have been conformed to the current period presentation. See further diacussion wmder
hem 7. — “Explanaion of Key Metrics and Other leme." This dama should be read in conjunction with our Consolidatrd Financial Statements
nd related Notes thereto for the three years ended December 31, 2005, and “Management's Discussion snd Asalysis of Financis! Condition
and Resalts of Operations” icluded elscwhere m this repert.
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Far the Yexrs Ended December 31,
2001 0 3 2004 2008
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Capim] Jeasz obligatians, mmgaguandcmu

Doles paysble - 21,602 47,053 59322 320,408 468,337
Tetal stocicioldens’ equity (dchai]. - RS GRS o (W60 D005, ZOIIEDE E (me6,624
¥or Ihe Yesrs Boded December 31,
2002 2003

Other Data
DISH Network subscribérs,’ as'bfycm-cnd [ R e

millions) - I s - N 9 1.{i 198387
DISH Network mhsm'ba nddnuan.s, p'ms (m

millions) . . 212 2764 2894 1441 3397
DISH Network sthscriber 2dditions, net (o miliong 554 ., 1570 - T 1350730 2T 10as oy 1480 S B TN
Monthly chorn percentage 1.60% 159% C s I62% 1.65%
Average roverme pergubscriber ("ABPUT) v B0 4956 <. §¢-.4937 ypl$ 3TN 8. S4BT, UVRITR 51
Average subsariba acquisition costs per subscriber

(“SACT) 395§
Equivelent svernge subecnbcmqmmnoqmstspu P I

-subscriber (“Equivalent SAG™) 1. 5190 §:-°§
«3ct cash flows from (in thousands) i

Operscing sctivities . -, . ta, 5 CARSERY . - § 667 TS m,ssl Y SROONAAL i ST 00

lovesting activities

$(1.279.119)  5(682387) S(l 761,87‘(!))‘ S[(ﬂ!,}!l . ¥(1,460,342)

LSy -S(




.

Fimancing actvitied . . - 31610707 $42083F S 994,070 R(Z666002) 1. § (402623

‘i) Net loss in 2002 includes $689.8 million related to merger termmation coste

) The et loss o commen stwekholders in 2002 of $414.6 mullion differs significantly from the net loss in 2002 of $852.0 million dac o &
gain cn repurchase of Seriey D Convertble Prefesred Stock of spproximately $437.4 million.
(3) Net income in 2005 inchades $592.8 million resuhting from the reversal of oor recorded veluation eflowance for those net deferred tax

assets that we believe are more likely then not to be realized in the future (scc Note 6 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements i Hem 15 of this Aznual Report on Form 10-K).

45

bSY-sT




Table of Contents

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
‘ECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our straiegy for 2006 will contmue Lo focus on imrproving eur operating results and free cash flow by attempting to increase our subscriber
bese, reduce chum, control rising subscriber acquisibon costs and mantan or improve operating margms. We will also contimuc to focus on
improving owr competitive position by leveraging our increased satcllite capacity to pursuc strategic initiatives and new technology. In
sdditicn, we may make investments iz or partner with others 10 expand omr business into mobile and portable video, dam end voice services.

Operational Rexolts and Goab

Incresse our subscriber base and reduce churn. We added approximately 1 135 million net new subseribers during 2005, ending the year with
approximately 12.040 milhon DISH Network subscribers. We mtend to continue growing our subscriber base by offaring compelling consumer
promations These promotions include offers of free of low cost rdvanced consumer electronics products, such as DVRs and HD receivers, as
well ag various promotional affers of our DISH Netwark programming packages, which we believe gencrally heve & better “price-to-vatuc™
relationship than packages corrently offered by most other subscription television provaders.

However, there are many reasons we may not be able to maintnin our custent rate of new subscriber growth. For example, our subscriber
growth would decrease if pur telecommumications partners snd other distributors de-cmphasize of discontinuc their cfforts to acquire DISH
netwark subscribers, ot if they begin offering noe-DISH Network video services Our subscriber growth would elso be pegatively impacicd to
the extent our competitors offer mare aliractive consumer promotons, including, smong other things, beter priced or mare attractive
programming packages or more compelling consumer electronic products and services, including advanced DVRs, VOD services, and HD
television services, inchuding HD locel channcls. Many of our competitors are also better equipped than we are 1o offer video services bundled
with other telecomamunicrtions servicss such es telephone and broadband data services, inchiding wireless services. We also expect o face
increasing competiticn from coatent and other providers who distribute video services cirectly to overthei

In ordex to increase our subscriber base we must control owr rate of customer turnover, o7 “churn.” Our perccatage monthly chm for the year
ended December 31, 2005 was spproximatety 1 65%, compared to our percentege chum for 2004 of approximately 1.62%. Our principal
strategy to controf chum i to mamtain disciplined credit requirements, such s8 requiring aew subscribers to pravide s valid major credit card,
their social security qumber and have m acceptable aredit scare, and tailor our promotions toward subscribers desiring multiple receivers and
edvenced products such as DVRs and HD receivers, We ako plan to continue to offer advanced products to existing customers drough our
lease promotions and to imtiale other programs to improve our overall subscriber reteation. Bowever, there can be no assurance that these snd
other actions we may take to control subscriber chum will be successful, and we will be unable to continve to grow our subscriber base at
“erent rates 1f we canmot cantrol our custormer chum

¢ alzo continuc 10 undertake initiatives with respect to our condibional aceeas system to improve the security of the DISH Network signal and
atcpt o make theft of our programming commercially impractical or unccemomical, However, theft of service and many ather factors may
have e matenial adverse brpact oo our subscriber churm.

Control rising subscriber ecquisition coses. In addition to leasmg recciver, we generally subsidize instaliation and all or a portion of the cost
of EchoStar recarver systems in order to sttract now DISH Network subscribers. Consequently, we cansot fully recover the acquisttion costs of
sabscribers who remein custamers for relatively short periods of time. Owr rincipal swaiegies 10 comrol rising subscriber acquisition casts
involve reducing the overall cost of subsidized equipment we provide to new customers and improving the cost effectiveness of aur sales
efforts. Our principal method for reducing the cost of subscriber equipment is to lease owr recciver systenss to new subscribers rather than
sclling systems to them st littis or no cost. Leasing cnabes ue 10, among other things, reduce owr future subscriber acquisition casts by
redeploying equipment retuned by discanmectod lease subscribers. We are further reducing the cost of subscriber equipment tirough owr
design and deploymen; of EchoStar recervers with multiple tuners that allow the subscriber (6 recerve our DISH Network services m multiple
rooms using 8 Eingle sct-top box, thereby reducing the mumber of EchoStar receivers we deploy 1o cach subscriber houschold. However, our
overell subscriber acquisition costs, including amounts expensed and capitalized, both in the aggregate and on & per
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new subscriber basis, may materally increase m the future to the extent that we mtroduce more sggressive promotians 6r newer, more
expensive consumet clectromics products in respensc to new promotions and products offered by our competitcrs or for other reasons. In
addition, expanded use of new compression technologics, such 2s MPEG-4 end 8PSK, will incvitably render some partion of our curtent and
future EchoStar recervers obsoletr, and we will incur additional costs, which mey be substantial, to upgrade or replace thess set-top baxes.

Maintain or improve operating marging, We will cantinue 1o work ta generate cast savings during 2006 by ettempting to wmprove our
operating cfficiency and 1o control rising programmmg costs. We are atterpting to control costs by improving the quality of the initial
installanon, providing better subscriber education in the use of our products and scrvices, and enbancing our training progrems for our m-home
service and call center representetives. Howerer, these mitiatives may not be sufficient to maimtain or increase our operational cfficiencics and
we may nat be able 1o continut to grow aur operations cost effectively.

Ow opezeting mergins have also been adversely impacted by rising programming costs. Pryments we make to progremmers for programming
content represent ane of the largest components of our operating costs. We expect programuming providers o continue to deroand higher rutes
for their programmming. We will contmue to acgotiste aggressively with programoming peoviders m an effort to contro! rising prograuumning
costs. However, there can be no assurance we wll be successful m controlling these costs, and we may be forced to drop one or more channels
if we cannot reach acceptable agreements with all of our content providers. In addition, there can be 1o assurance thet we will be able bo
mcrease the price of our progremming w offset programming rate increases without affecting the antractiveness of our programming packsges.
Leverage increased satellite capacity . We have recently entered into sgreements to parchase or kease 8 substantial amount of additional
satcllite capacity. We are currently evaluating various opportanities to utikize this cepacity, including, but not kmiicd to, launching satellite
two-way and wireless broadband dats services, increasing owr intcrnational programming end expanding our HD programming, includimg HD
local channels. Hawever, we face a varicty of risks and uncertaintics thst raay prevent us from utilizing this additional satellite capacity
profitably. These nsks include, emong other things, the risks that there may be insufficient market demand for these pew services and program
offerings, or that customers might find corapeting services and progrem offerings more artrective. 1o addition, many of these new services
depend on successfal develgpment of new techmologies which may not perform as we expect. Our results of aperation and financial condition
will be adversely affeciod 1f we cannot make profitable use of this additional sueliite capscity

Now techuology. We continue to explore new advanced products and services that we may offer in order to improve our overall subscriber
retention and grow our suhscribey besce. These new products and seevices inchude, amang other things, pur recently released hacd-held
products, such as our PocketDish, as well as new VOD service alternatives and HD programming. n addrtion, we may cxpand our busmess to
"~rlude mobile and portable video, data and voice services, smong other things.

vever, there cap be no assurince new products or services we may develop and offer W our sabcribers will be succeesful in competing with
similar products and sarvices offered by our competitors. For exeraple, some digital cable platforms curreatly offer a VOD service that enables
subseribers to choosc from a library of pro gramming selections for viewing a1 their convenience. Our own VQD service alternative, which was
launched on ¢ limited scale duriag 2005, is sull under development. Also, 2lthongh we belicve we currently offer more HD content than ow
competitors, we may be placed at 2 compeunive disedvantage Lo the extent other multi-chavmel video providers increase their offering of HD
programming, We conld be further disadvaataged to the cxtent a significant sumber of local broadcasters begim offering local channels in HD,
unless we make ubstantial sddinonal iovestmems in infrastructure o deliver HD progremming. There can be no asgurance thet we will be able
to ¢ffectively corpete with VOD service and HD program offenings from other video providers.

Explunation of Key Metrics and Other Itzms

Subscribervelated revenne . “Subscriber-related revenue”™ consists principally of revenee from basc, movie, local, international and pay-par-
view subscriptian television services, advertising sales, DVR fecs, cquipment rental fees tnd additional outict foes from mbgim‘bm with
multiple set-1op boxes and other subscriber revenue. Contamporancous with the commencement of sales of co-brunded scrvices pureusm to our

agreement with AT&T dunng the firm quarter
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0f 2004, “Subscriber-related revenue™ slso meludes revemue from equip sales, installation and other services relsted 1o that agrecment.
Revenue from equipment sales to AT&T is deferred and recognized over the estimated average co-branded subscriber hfe. Reveane from
installation and certam other services performed af the request of AT&T 16 recognized upon coropletion of the scrvices.

Development end implememation fees received from AT&T are being recognired 1n “Subscriber-related reveauz” over the next several years.
In order to estimate the smount recognized moothly, we first hvide the number of subscribers sctivated during the month under the AT&T
agrecment by total cstimated subscriber activations during the life of the contract We then multiply this percentage by the tatal development
und implementation fees received from AT&T The resulting estmated monthly amonnt 1s recognized &5 revemue over the estimaied average
subscriber bife.

During Ux fourth quarter 2005, we modificd and extended our distnbution ind sales agency agreement with AT&T. We believe our ovenall
ccapomic reture will be similar mnder both arrangements. However, the impact of subscriber scquisition on meay of our line itcm business
metncs was substantially different under the prior AT&T agreement, compered to most other sales channels (inctuding the revised AT&T
agreement).

" Among other thmgs, owr “Subscriber-related reverme™ will be impacted o & number of respects. Commenciug in the fourth quarter 2005, new
subscribers acquired under our AT&T agresment do not generate equipment sales, installation or ather scrvices revenue, However, our
programming services revenue will be grester for subscribers acquired mder the revised ATAT agreement.

Dreferred equipment sales revemuc rolsting o subscribers acquired through our prior AT&T agreement will continug to have 5 positive fmpect
o0 “Subscriber-related revarue™ over the estimated average life of those subscribers. Further, development and implemenmticn fees received
from AT&T will conlane W be recognized over the estimated aversge subscriber life of all subscribers asquired under both the previous and

revised agreements with ATRT.

Effective January 1, 2004, we combined “Subscnption televigion service” revesoe and “Other subscriber-related revenue" imo “Subscriber-
- related revenue.” All prior penod smounts were reclassified to conform to the curent period prescatation.

Equip sales . "Equip sales” connst of sales of non-DISH Network digital receivers and related components by our ETC subsidiary to
an intzrnauione! DBS scrvice provider and by our EchoStar Internationa! Corperation (“E1CT) subsidiary w international castomers.

“Equipment sales™ also include unsubsidized sales of DBS accrxsories to retailers and other distributary of our equipment domestically and to
DISH Network subscribers. “Equipment sales™ does not inchide reverue from sales of equipment to AT&T.

‘cuve January 1, 2004, “Equipment sales™ includes noa-DISH Network receivers and other accessories sold by our FIC subsidiary to
international customers which were previously included ip “Other™ revenue. All priot period amounts weve reclassified to conform 1o the
carrent period presentation.

“Other” sales “Othcr” sales consist principally of revarmes from subscription and eatelitte services from the C-band subzeription television
service business of Superstar/Netliok Group L.L.C. (“SNG™) that we acquired in April 2004 and satellite transmission revenue.

Subscriber-relased expenses . “Subscriber-related expenses™ principally mchude programming expeases, costs incurred in connsction with our
in-home service and call capter operations, overbead costs mocm.:d wnh oy msteliation business, copyright royaliics, residusl commissions
paid 10 retaslers or distributors, billing, lockbaz, subscriber retention and other variable subscriber expenses. Contemporancous with the
commencement of sales of co-branded services pursuant to our egreement with AT&T during the first quarter of 2004, “Subscriber-redated
expeases” also include the cost of sales from equipment sales, and expenses rehated to imstallation and other services from that relationship.
Cost of sales from equipment sles 0 AT&T ere deferred end recognized over the estimated average co-branded subscriber life. Expenses from
1nstallation and certain other services performed & the request of AT&T are recognized as the sexvices are performed.
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Under the revised AT&T agreement, we are includiag costs from cquipment end installations in “Subscriber acquisition costs” or 1n capital
expeaditures, rather thao m “Subscriber-related expenses.” To the extent all other factors remain constant, this will tend to improve operating
roargina compared o previous periods. We will continue to inchide in “Subceriber-related expesses™ the costs deferred from equipmant sales
made to AT&T. Theee costs are being amortized over the life of the subscribers acquired wnder the previous AT&T agreement.

Since equipment and stallation costs previously reflected in “Subscriber-related expenses™ are bemg included in “Subscriber ecquisibon
costs” or in capital expenditures under the revised agreement, to the extent all other factors remaim constant, the revised AT&T agreement will
also canse increases in “Subseriber acquisition costs,” SAC xmd Equivakent SAC. This will tead 1o negatively impact free cash fiow in the short
term if gubstantial additional subscribers are added through AT&T In the future, but we belicve that free cash flow will improve over time since
better operating marging are expected from those customers under the terms of the revised ATET sgrecment. We also expect that the historical
negative impact on subscriber turover from subsaribers roquired pursuant to oor agreoment with AT&T will decline.

Sateflite and transmisrion axpenses . *Satellite and transmission exp " include costs associated with the operation of our digital broadcast

centers, the transmission of local channels, satelirte telemetry, tracking and contral services, satellite end wransponder leases, and other relased
services.

Cost of sales - equipment, “Cost of sakcs - cquipment” principally mcludes costs assocised with non-DISH Network digital receivers and
related components sold by our ETC subsidiary 10 an internatonal DBS service provider and by our EIC sabsidiary to international customers.
“Cost of sales - equipment” aiso includes mmsubsidized sales of DBS accessories to retailers and other distrit of our equipment
domestically and to DISH Network subseribers. “Cost of sales - equipment” does not include the costs from sales of equipment to AT&T.

Effective Jamuary 1, 2004, “Cost of rales - cquipment” inclodes non-DISH Network receivers sad other accessaries sold by our EIC subsidiary
to international customers which were previously included in “Cost of sales — other.” ATl priar penod mmounts conform to the current period

prescutahon.

Cost of sales - other. “Cost of sales — other”™ principally inchudes costs related o satellite transmission scrvices and programming and othor
expenses associated with the C-band subscrption television service business of SNG we acquired i April 2004.

Subscriber acguisition costs . In addition to leasing receivers, we generally subsidize mtallation and all or a partion of the cost of EchoStar
recciver system in order to attract new DISH Network subscribers. Our “Subscriber acquisition cosws” include the cost of EchoStar reeciver
Systems sold to retailers and other distributors of ous equipment, the cost of recraves sysiems sold directly by us to subscribers, net costs related
our promotional incemtives, and costs retated to installation and acquisition adverusing. We exchude the vatue of equipment capitalized under
= lease program for pew subscribers from “Subscriber sequisition cos.™ We also exclude pryments we receive in connection with
cquipment that is not returned o us from discomnecting lease subscribers, and the value of equipment remmed to the extent we make that
equipment nvailable for sak rather than redeploymg it through the lease program from our calowlation of “Subscriber acquisition cos.”

Sines squpment and 1nstallation costs previgusly reflected in “Subscriber-related expenses™ are being inctuded in “Subscriber scquisition
costs” o n capital expenditures under the revised agreement, to the cxtent all other factors remain consant, the rovised AT&T agrecment will
also causc increases in “Subscriber acquisition costs,” SAC and Equivalent SAC. This will tend to negatively impect frec cash flow i (e short
tom if substantial additional subscribers ere added trongh AT&T m the funwre, but we believe that free cash flow will improve over time since
beter oparating margins are expected from those customers under the terms of the revieed AT&T agreement We also expect that the histarical
ncgative imapact on subsenber tumnover from snbscribers acquired pursuant o our agreement with AT&T will decime.

SAC and E quivalens SAC, We are not swere of aay unsform standerds for calculating “subscriber ecquisition costs per new subscriber
activanon,” or SAC, and we belicve presentations of SAC may not be calculated consistently by diffarent companies in the sarne or similar
‘basinesses. We include all new DISH Network subscribers in owr calculation, inchuding DISH Nerwork subsceibers added wath fiztle or no
subscriber acquisitioc cocw. Hisarically &nd i this Ammual Repont on Form 10K, we bave calculated SAC by dividing the amount of our
aqn:n:lin:im'Subscn'bcrqu‘nitionunm'fmapeiod,byomgmssmmSHNetwutmbambauddcddmin;Mpciod.
Scparately, we have disclosed our “Equivalent SAC™ by adding certain capital expeoditures and other amounts, as discassed below, to owr
“Sabecriber scquisition cost” expense ke item prior o dividing by our gross acw subscriber oumber.
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rffectve January |, 2006, we will disclosc only the combined “Equivalent SAC™ number, which we will sumply refer to as SAC. To calculste
SAC (previously “Equivalent SAC™) we add the value of equipment capitalized under our kase program for new subscribers to the expense
line 1tem “Subscnber acquisition costs,” subtract certam offsetting amoums, and divide the result by our gross new subscriber number. These
offsciting amounts include peyments we receive 1n conmection with equipment that is not remmed o us from disconnecting lcase subseribers,
and the value of equipment returned W the extent we make that equipment aveilable for sale rather than redeploying it drough the kease
program.

Generul and administrative cxpenses . “General and administrative expenses™ primarily mciude cmployeo-related costs associated with
admunistrative services such as legal, information systems, accourting and finance. Tt 2lso includes ourside professional fees (i.e. kegal and
accounting services) and building mamtenance expense and other jtems associnted with administration.

Interest expense. “Interest expense” primarily includes interest expense, prepyment premiumns and amortization of debt issuance costy
awsocisted with our semior debt and convertible subordinated debt securities (net of capitalized interest) and interest expensc associated with our
capital jease obligatinng.

“Other” income (expense). The mam components of “Other” income and expense arc unrealized gaims and losscs from changes 1 fair value of
non-marketsble strategic invesunents accounted for at fair value, equity in eamings and losses of our affiliates, gains and losses reatizod oa the
sale of investments, and impairment of marketable and non-marketable mvestment securities.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA®) . EBITDA is defined as “Nel income (loss)” plus “Interest
expense” net of "Interest income,” “Taxes™ and “Depreciation and amortization.”

DISH Netwerk subscribers. We include customers obtained through direct sales, and through our retaif networks, including our co-branding
relahonship with AT&T and other distribution refationships, in our DISH Network subscriber count. We believe our overall economic retum
for co-branded and traditional subscribers will be comparable We elso provide DISH Network service to hatels, motels and other commercial
accounts. For certain of these commercial acoounts, we divide our total revanue for these commerciel accounts by sa amount approximstely
equal to the retail pnce of owr most widely distribared programming package, AT60 (tad taking into account, periodically, price changes and
other factors), and include the resulting vomber, which is substantially tmalier than the actea! number of commercial units served, in our DISH
Network subscriber count.

During Apnil 2004, we acquired the C-band subscription televigion service business of SNG, the assets of which primarily consist of aoquired
“wtomcr relationshups A though we are converting some of these customer relationships from C-band subscription television services Lo owr

SH Network DBS subscription tedevision service, acquired C-band subseribers are not included i our DISH Network gubscriber count
unless they bave also subsaribed to our DISH Network DBS television service.

Monthly average revenue per subscriber (“ARPU"} . We are not aware of any uniform standerds for calculating ARPU and belicve
peescutations of ARPU may not be calculated consistentty by other oompanics in the same or similar businesses. We calculatr average monthly
Tevenue per suhscriber, or ARPU, by dividing average monthly “Subscriberrelated revenuss™ for the period {total “Subscriber-related revenue™
during the period divided by the sumber of months in the period) by our average DISH Network subacribers far the period. Average DISH
Network subscribers arv calculaied far the period by adding the average DISH Network subscribers for cach month and dividing by the number
of months in the period. Average DISH Nerwork subscribers for each month are calculated by adding the beginning and ending DISH Nerwork
subscribers for the month and dividing by tweo

The changes 10 our agreement with AT&T will also impact ARPU. The magmtude of that impact, and whether ARPU increases or decreases
dunng particular foture periods, will depend on the timing and oumber of subsaribers sequired pursuant 1o the modified agreement with AT&T.
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At discussed in “Subscriber-related reveaue” abave, effective Januery 1, 2004 we inchude amounts peeviously reparted as “Other subscriber-
retated revenue™ tn our ARPU caloulation. All prior period amounts conform to the current period presentation.

Subscriber churn/subscriber turnover . We are not sware of any umform standards for caleulating subseyiber churn and believe presentations
of subscriber chiurn mey pot be calculated consistently by different companies in the same or similar businessea. We calculate percentage
onthly subscriber chum by dividing the aumber of DISH Network sabscribers who termimate secvice during each month by wtal DISH
Nerwork suhscribers as of the beginmng of that month We calculate averege subscriber chamn for any period by dividing the mumber of DISH
Network subscribers who terminated service during that period by the everage number of DISH Network subscribers sabject to chum during
the period, and further @viding by the pumber of manths in the period. Average DISH Network subscribers subjeet to churn during the period
are calculared by adding the DISH Network subscribers as of the beginnmg of cach momh m the period and dividing by the total pumber of
months in the period.

Free cash flow . We define frec cash flow 83 “Net cash flows from operaimg aciivities™ less “Purchases of property snd equipment,” as thown
on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared o the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Statements of Operationg Data .., «”
Revenne:

Por the Years Ended Dy ber 31, Varisnce
3008 o Amowt %
(hlhmnda .

Subscriber—relaipd evemie - - | .0 smsﬁﬁd‘; S smsvaii':‘. fﬁ,’zﬁ.‘ﬁo’«‘: £ 19.9%
Equipment aalm . 71,548 373,283 4,695 13%
Other ", ~", . = %5f N L R ""'92"8!3‘7 Spba 008985 T 01'189) LLpa%
Total revenue 8 425l501 1,151,216 1,274 285 17.8%
o A IR o SRR T B S SRR
Subscnbor—related e 400617 A 3,567,409 4&3,203‘4. 13.0%
% of Subscriberrelatid Fevensaes - - - . - CTETTIOE A TR T e A R S 2 T R
Satellite and tansmission expenses o 134,545 .. 112239 ”2?,306 19.9%
% of Subscriber—related revektie - - RIS W o > AR e 7 AR e .
Cost of 3ales — oqui ) ' 3 323073 305.3!] e %
% of Equipmentaales . - LT o T e g88% o R
Cost of sales — other . 23339 33 5 . -(% _(29. 8%)
Subscriber atquision costs 1492581, .557;886 JRYEEE08) L Ran)
Geaersl and sdmnistratrve 456,206 | IE8 51,308 14.4%
% of Total revenue - U e :‘,fg’piif RS V1 AN S S S
Depeniativa md amortization ) 797,892 L 502,901 294}9I S8 ™
Total costs and expepies 1T 5 Tl 7R 380 TEGAAIINIT g, BI0342 1. 126%
Operating income (loss) 1,167,248 703,305 461,943 66.0%
- tber Incotme (Expende); 2 - N e : ;' I i T .-
Inh:v:ﬂ mcome _ _ 4],5]8 1.23] 1%%
exp “DdﬂF cutt = it U{SB,M ,b/‘. e (‘fﬁm "?’{Lz‘ 131 888» ol 26. ”‘G
Gnmuumsmccndmmt R o 134,000 . .
Oy - 74 Tk TR R e RSG5 mxm
Total other incoms (:xpmsc) gwo 157) (476,927) 36770 66.4%
Income (los) before dncome taxes ¥.i-, 400 -r AT T R LD L002.09) e RBTR : 780713 oML
Incowe tax benefit (provision), net 507,449 (11,609) 519,088 NM
+ incoroe (loss) T T e T ssiasat s g W67 0 $1,299 77 < FG RM-
Other Data: ‘ ) ) o » . .
DISH Netwark subscribery, as of period end (i Rilllions) 17040 45T 168 o T3S . A%
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DISH Network subscribers . As of Deconber 31, 2005, we had spproximately 12.040 million DISH Network subscribers compared to
approximately 10.905 milkion subscribers a1 December 31, 2004, an increase of approximately 10.4%. DISH Network added spproximately
3.397 million gross new subscribers for the year cnded Decerber 31, 2005, coropared to approximately 3.441 million gross mew subscribers
during 2004, & decrease of approximately 44,000 gross new subscribers. The decreasc in gross ncw subscribers resulted primarily from s
dectine in gross activations under our co-branding agreement with AT&T, partially offsct by an increase in sales theough our agency
relationships and an increase in our other distibution channels. A substantial majority of our gross new sobseriber additions are acquired
through our equipment kease program.

DISH Netwark added spproximatzly 1 135 million net new subscribers for the year ended Decomber 31, 2005, compared to approxmmatcly
1480 million net now subscribers during 2004, 2 decrease of spproximately 23.3%. This decrease was primarity a result of increased
subscriber chon on 8 larger subscriber bese, and the result of s dechine in gross and net sctivatioos under our co-branding agreement with
AT&T. In addition, even if percentage suhscriber churm bad remained constaat or hed declined, inarcasing rumbers of gross new subscribers
are required o sustain net subscniber growth.

During the first half of 2005, AT&T shifted its DISH Network marketing and sales efforts to focns on kimited geographic arcas and custemer
scgments. As a resuk of AT&T s de-emphasizad sales of DISH Network services, & docreasing percentage of our new subscriber additions
were derived from oor relationship with AT&T. During fourth quarter 2005, we modified and extendad our distribution and sales agency
agreement with AT&T and we now bear the cost of cquipmant and installation costs associated with subscriber acquisitions under the revised
sgreement. We belicve our overall per subacriber econoenic returm will be stmilar under both ermangements.

While we expect to contimc to pursue oppoctunitics for AT&T and other telecommunicanons providers to bundic our DISH Network satellite
television service with their voice end data services, AT&T has begun deployment of fiber-optic actworks that will allow it to offer video
services directly to millions of homes as earty as the second half of 2006. Other telecommunications companice have axmounced similer plans,
Whilc 1t is possible that the fourth quarter 2005 revision to ow AT&T agreement may drive increased subscriber growth, our nct now
subscriber additions sad certein of our other key operatmp metrics could cowinue 1o be adversely affected 1o the extent ATET further do-
emphasizes, or discontinues liogether, its cffons to acquire DISH Network subscribers, and as 8 result of competition from video services
offered by AT&T or othe telccommunications companies. Moreover, there can be oo assurance that we will be successfal in developing
significant new bundling opportunities with other telecommunications compenies.

Duning the fourth quarter of 2005, we began test marketing a prepay progrum, “DISH Now.”™ This program sllows consumers who might not be
~tracted by our existing promotions b parchase a satellite receiver system and a prepaid card which can be refreshed penodically throngh
litional prepayments. We have not yet detenmined whether this program will be offered broadly. Certain of our business metrics could be
unpacted to the extent we uhimstely acquire & significant number of subscribers through “DISH Now.” Far exarnple, while “DISH Now™ may
attract subscribers more likely to chum than our traditional costomers, our subscriber acquisition costs under this program will also be
substantially lower.
Ouw net now subscriber additons would also be negatively impacted to the extent exxsting or new campetitors offer more attractive consumer
promotons, inchiding, amang ather thrings, better priced or moTe atwrective programming packages or more compelling consumer clectronic
products and services, including sdvanced DVRs, VOD services, and HD television sarvices or eddiional Jocal channels. Many of our
competitars are also better equipped than we are to affer video services bumdied with ather tetecommurications services such &5 1cicphooe and
troadband data services, including wircless services. We also expect to face incressig competition from content and other providers who
distribute video services directly %0 consumers over the intemet.

Subscribevrelated revemye. DISH Network “Subscriber-related revenue” totaled $7.955 bilhon for the year ended December 31, 2005, an

wncrease of $1.277 billion ar 19.1% compared to 2004 This increase was directly attributable to continned DISE Network subscriber growth
and the increase in “ARPU™ discussed below. '
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ARPU . Monthly zverage revenue per subscriber was approxmmalely 357 81 during the year ended December 31, 2005 and approximasely
$54.87 durimg 2004. The $2.94 or 5 4% increase in monthly average reverae per DISH Network subscriber is primarily swributable 1o price
increases in February 2005 and 2004 on some of cur most popular packeges, higher cquipment rental fees resulting from mercased penctration
of our cquipment lcasing programs, availability of local chenncts by satellite und fecs for DVRs. This increase wes also atributable to our
relationship with AT&T, inchuding revenues from equipment sales, jnstallation and other scrvices related to that agreement. These
improvements in ARPU were partiaily ofset by an increase in our free and discounted programming promotions. We provided local channels
by satellitc in 164 merkets es of Docember 31, 2005 compared to 152 markets as of December 31, 2004. We regularly bave promotions to
acquire ncw DISH Network subscribers which provide free and/or discounted programmmmg that negetively impact ARPU.

Effective February 2004, our DHA pramotian provided new lease subsaribers up to four instafled EchoSter receivers, inchuding various
premivm modelt, wath & qualifying programming subscription. The subscriber was roquired to pay a monthly rental fee for each leased receiver
and g one-tme set-up fee of $49.99, but wag not required to agree to & minimum Jease period. The subscriber received o $49.99 eredit on ther
first mouth's bill. Effcctive October 2004, the promotion wes expanded whereby the consumer may agree (o cither 2 one or two year
commitment in exchenge for receiving the benefits of our Digital Home Protzction Plan, aa optional extended warranty program, without
charge for one or two years, respecuvely. In February 2005, the promotion was modified to allow new residential customers who subscribed to
“Amenca’s Top 180” Lo obtain that programming at the same price as “Amenca'’s Top 120 for the first three months This pramotion expired
durrag April 2005,

During May 2005, wc introduced & promotion which offers now DHA keasc program subscribers our “America’s Tap 180™ package for $19.99
for each of the first three months of service. Effective fune 2005, the promotion was modificd to provide a $12.00 discount par moxth ¢n
qualifying programming packages, logether with free HBO and Showtime programming, for cach of the first theee months of service. The
promotion, which continved through August 15, 2005, required a one year minimum programming commitment.

During Angust 2005, we introduced & promotion which offers new DR A lease program subscribers a free moath of qualifying programming,
three frec months of HBO, Showtime and Cincmax progremming, and a free DVR upgrade. Further, in exchage for an 18 month mininum
programiming commitment, new lease program subscribers receive @ credit of the one-time set-up fee of $49 9. Effective November 3, 2005,
instead of one month free, ncw lease program subscribers can elect to receive & $12.00 discount for the furst three maonths of serwnice an
qualifying programming. These pramonons expired January 31, 2006.

Effective February 1, 2006, we introduced & promotion which offers $100 back 1 new DHA Jease program subscribers thet activate with at

"-ast “America’s Top 120,” “DISH Latino Max.™ “DishHD Silver,” or higher quahfied programming package. After the first momh's bill, a
it of $10 per month will be provided for 10 comsecutive manths after a redemption form has been submitted by the new subscriber. At eny

. ume during that period, the remainmg credits will be forfeited if the service is (1) downgraded below the required level, (2) put on-hold or

" () cancelled for axy reason. ln sddition, these subscribers md other new customers tiat subscribe o at least the minimum quabified

programming such as “Amenca’s Top 60" “DISH Latino,” “DishHD Brouze,” or higher qualified programming package are eligibk to receive

Starz programming free for threr months. These promotions are expected o coatimee through at feast Junc 30, 2006.

Effective February 1, 2006, we inoroduced a new programmming tier, DishFAMILY, which offers 40 “family- friendly” chennels mehiding
sparts, news, children’s programming, hfcstyke, hobbies, shopping and public interest for $19.99 per month, or $24.9% inctuding local channels
where availabie.

Impects from our litigation with the networks 1n Flonds, FCC rules poverning the delivery of superstations and other factors could cause us ta
icrminate delivery of network channels and supersiations to & substantial pumber of qur subscribers, which could cause many of those
customers (o cancel their subsaription to our other services. In the event the Court of Appeals upholds the Miami District Court't nerwork
litigation injuncunn, and if we do oot reach privatr settiement agresments with sdditiona) statians, we will attempt 10 assist subscribers
arranging alternative means to receive network channels, meluding migration o locsl channels by satellite where available, and froc off air
satenna offers in other markets, However, wo camot predict with suy degroo of certamty how many subscribers might uitimmtely capcel ther
primary DISH Network prograomumg es a result of teomination of theis distamt network chaunels. We could be required 10 sermmate distant
actwark programming w all subscribers ia the eveat the plaimiffs prevail on therr cress-appeal and we permancently enjoined from delivering
all distant nerwork chamels. Termination of disant 1k programming to subscribers would result in, among other things, 2 roduction in
ARPU md & wemporary increase in subscriber churn.
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£quipment sales . Foc the year ended December 31, 2005, “Equipment sales”™ totaled $377.9 million, an imcrease of $4.7 miflion or 13%
comparcd to the same period during 2004. This increase principally resulicd from an increase in sales of pon-DISH Network digital receivers
md refated components 0 2 miemational DBS service provider, partaily offset by decreases in sales of DBS sccessories domestically.

"Other” sakez. “Other” sales wtaled $92.8 million for the year ended Decernber 31, 2005, e decrease of $7.8 million compared to the same
period during 2004 This decresse 15 primarily attnbutable to 2 decline in the subscription tekevision service revemues from C-band subscribers
of the SNG business that we acquired in April 2004, partially offset by en increase in our satellite trancmission revenue.

Subscriber-related expenses . “Subscriber-telated expenses™ totaled $4.031 billion during the year ended December 31, 2005, m increase of
$463.2 wullion or 13.0% compared o 2004. The mcrease in “Subscriber-related expenses™ was primarily attriratable to the increase in the
mumber of DISH Network subscribers, which resulied in increased expenscs to support the DISH Network, partially offset by & $35.1 million
nop-recurrmg vendor credit. “Scbacriber-related expenses” represented S0 7% and 53 4% of “Subscriber-related revemue” during the yesrs
eaded Decernber 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The decreass in this expense o revenhe ratio primarily resulied from the increase m
“Subscriber-refated revenua,” the vendor credit discussed above, and an increase in the mumber of DISH Netwuork subscribers participating in
our leasc program for existing subscribars, Since certain subscriber retention costs associated with this program are capitahized rather than
axpensed, our “Subscriber-related expenses™ decreased and our capitat expenditures increased. The decrease in the mtio also resalted from
improved efficiencies associated with our imswlletion and in-home service operetions. The decresse in this expense to revenne ratio was
partially offset by increases in cost associated with deferred oquipment sales, installation and other services related W our relaticuship wnder
our prior egreement with AT&T. The decrease in the ratio was alio partially offset by approximately $15.7 million more in charges during .
2005 corapared to 2004 for the replacement of smart cards.

[n the narmal course of business, we enter into various contracts with programiert o provide contert. Our programming contracts generaily
fequure as to make paymenis based on the number of subscribers Lo which the respective content is provided. Consequently, our programming
expenses will continue to increase to the extent we are successful ip growing our subscriber base. In addition, becanse programmoers coatinue 1o
raise the price of condent, there can be no assurance that our “Subscriber-related expenses” as 2 pererntage of “Subscriber-related reverme® will
not materially increase sbsent coresponding price increases in our DISH Network programming packages. .

Satellite and traxsmission expenses . “Satelhte snd rangmission expenses™ totaled $134.5 million during the year ended Decemaber 31, 2005,
an increase of $22 3 million or 19.9% compared 1o 2004. This increase primerily resuhed from commencement of service and operational costs
associated with the increanng sumber of markets in which we offer Jocal broadcast channels by satellite as previcusly discussed, mcreases in
—v satcllite lease payment obligations for AMC-2, and operational costs associated with cur capital leases of AMC-15 and AMC-16 which
umenced commercial operation in January and February 2003, respectively. “Saziliv and mmsmission expenses” sotaled 1.7% of

>ubscriber-related revenue™ during each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. These expensas will increase further in the futwre as
we increase the size of our satellne fleet, if we obtain in-orbit satellite msurmnce, 85 we mercase the oumber and operations of our digital
broadcast ecnters and as additional iocal markets and other programming services arc launchod.

Cost of sales ~ equipment. “Cost of sales — equipment” totaled $323.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, ez moreese of

$17.8 million or 5.8% compared to 2004. This increase related primarily to the inarease in salcs of ron-DISH Netwark digital receivers and
related components to an inteational DBS eervice provider. Charges for slow moving and chaolew inventory were lower during 2003
compered to 2004. This difference, together with the decrease m sales of DBS sccessories domestically discussed ebove, partiaily offect the
amount of the mcrease. “Cost of sales - equipment” represented 85.5% md 81.8% of “Bauipment sales,” during the years coded December 31,
2005 aad 2004, respecuvely. The increasc in the cxpeisc t revenne ratio principally related & decline in margins on sekes to the intemational
DBS service provider and on sales of DBS accessories domestically. This increase was partially offsct by the lower 2005 charges for alaw
moving and obsolete mventory. '
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Cost of sales - other. “Cost of sales — other” tutaled $23.3 million during the ycar ended Docember 31, 2005, & decrease of $9.9 million or
29.8% compared to 2004. This decrease ig pmarily aitributable tn expenses associated with the C-band subscription television service
business of SNG we acquired in Apeil 2004,

Subscriber acquisition costs. “Subscriber acquistion costs™ totaled approximately $1.493 billion for the year ended Decamber 31, 2005, 2
decrease of $35.3 million or 2.3% compared to 2004. The decrease in “Subscriber acquisition costs™ was afiributable to a ligher sumber of
DISH Network subscribears participating in our cquipment lease program for new subscribers, partially offset by an increase in the mumber of
non co-branded subscribers acquired and an increasc i acquisition advertising.

SAC and Egnivalent SAC. Subscriber acquisition costs per new DISH Netwark subscriber activabon were approximately $439 for the year
ended December 31, 2005 and approximately $444 during 2004, The $S, oc 1.1% decrease in SAC was primarily attributable to & greater
number of DISH Netwerk subscribers parneipating i our cquipment lease program. This improvement was partially offset by & decrease in the
percentage of co-branded subscribers acquired compared to total subscribers ecquired and a greater mumber of DISH Network subscribers
activating higher priced advanced products, such as receivers with mmultiple tmers, DVRs, HD recrivers and SnperDISH. Activation of these
more advanced and complex products also resubed in higher instellation costs durmg 2005 35 compared to 2004. The decrease i SAC was also
offset by the higher costs for scqusition advertising and promotional inceatives paid to our mdependent dealer network.

Equivalent SAC was approximately $668 during the yoar ended December 31, 2005 compared tn 3593 during 2004, an incresse of $75, or
12.6%. This increase was prirgarily attributsble to @ greater numba of DISH Network subscribers activaung higher priced advencod products,
such as receivers with multiple nmers, DVRS, HD receivers and SuperDISH. Activation of these more advanced and complex products elso
resubted 1n higher installation costs durizg 2005 a3 compared to 2004. The morease in Equivalent SAC was also attributable to higher costs for
scquisition advertising and promotional inceatives paid t our mdcpendent dealer network. P 10D of our equip lease program for new
subscribers increased during 2005 compared 1o 2004 The value of equipment capitalized under our lease progrem for new subscribers totaled-
sppeoximately $861 5 million and $574.8 million for the ycar ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the percentage of our new subscribers choosing to lease rather than purchase equipment continued
to increase compared to 2004. The increase 1o leased equipment and related reduction in subsidized equipment sales caused our capital
expenditores to increase, while our “Subscriber acquisiton costs™ and SAC declined.

The increase m capital expenditures resulting from our equipment leasc program for new subscribers has been, and we expect it will continne
1o be, partally mitigated by, among other things, the redeployment of equipment retarned by discomnrecting lease program subscribers.
SWever, 10 remam competitive we will have to upgrade of roplace subscriber squipment periodically as techoology changes, and the
s3ociatod costs may be substantial. To the extent technological changes reader existing cquipment obsolete, we would ceasz to benzfit from
the Equivalent SAC reduction assecisted with redeployment of that returned lease equipment.

Scvenal years ago, we began deploywng satellite recoivers capable of exploiting 8PSK modulation technology. Since thar tectmology is now
standard i all of oar new @tellite receavers, our cost to migrats programming shanncls to that techaelogy in the fiture will be subetntially
lower than if it were necessary to repiace all existing consumer equipment A we continac to ixph 8PSK technology, bandwidth
efficiency will improve, significantly increasing the number of programming channels we can wensmit over cur existing satellites as am
altzrnative or supplement to the acquisition of additional spectrum or the construction of additiona! satellites. New channels we add 10 our
sarvice using only that techmology may allow s to farther reduce conversion costs and create sdditional revegue opportunities. We have
implementzd MPEG4 technology i all satellite receivers for new customers who subscribe to our HD programming peckages. This
technalogy when implementod will result in further bandwidth efficiencies over hme. We have not yet determined the extent to which we will
convent the EchoStar DBS System to these new techmologues, or the period of time over which the coaversions will occur. Provided BchoStar X
commences cammercial operation during second quarter 2006 and other plarmed satelbites arc successfully deployed, our 8PSK transition will
eiford us greater fiexibility in delaying and reducing the cous ntherwise required (o convert our subscriber base to MPEG-4.
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while we may be able to generate increased revenue from such canversions, the deployment of equipment including new technologies will
increase the cost of our consumer equipment, at least in the short term., To the exten: we subsidize thosc costs for pew and existing subscribers,
SAC, Equivalent SAC and capital expenditures will increase as well However, the increases in these costs would be mitigated by, among other
things, our cxpected migration away from relatively expensive and complex SuperDISH installations (assuming sucoessful commencement of
commercial operation of ous EchoStar X satellite and the contimued availsbility of our other in-cebit satellites). These increases may alag be
mitigated 1o the exteat we successfully redeploy cxisting set-top boxcs and implement other SAC reduction strategics.

Ow "Suhs.aﬂmacqm&iﬁanoom," both in eggregate and o & per new subscriber activation basis, may farther materially increase in the funn'c
to the extent that we introduce more aggressive pramotions if wr detarmine that they are nccessary to respond to competition, or for other
reasons. Sce further discussion under * Liqudiry and Capual Resources - Subscriber Retention and Acquisition Cosss. *

General ond administretive expenses . “General and administrative expenses” totaled $456.2 milbian during the year ended December 31,
2005, an marease of $57.3 million or 14.4% compared % 2004, The increase in "General and admimistrative expenses”™ was primarily
attributable to increased personnel and infrastructure expenses to support the growth of the DISH Network. “General and administrative

. Sxpenses” represented § 4% md 5.6% of “Total revamuc” during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The decrease in
this cxpense to revenuc mtio resulted primarity from “Total revenue” increasing at & highes mte than our “General and adminisirative
expenses.”
Depreciation and smortization. “Depreciation and amortization”™ expense totaled $797.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, an
increase of $295.0 mllion or $8.7% compared to 2004. The increase m “Depreciation and amortization”™ expense was primarily altributable to
eddrtional depreciation on equipment teased to subscribers resulting from increased penctretion of our equipraent lease programs snd other
deprecisble assets placed in service Lo suppott the DISH Network. Purther, depreciation of our AMC-15 and AMC-16 satellites, which
commenced commescial operation during Jasuary and February 2005, respectively, contrituted to this increase.

{nterest expense, net of amsunss capitatired . “Interest expenss” tomaled $373.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, & decresse

o0f$131.9 mullion or 26 1% comparsd to 2004. This decrease primarily resulted from a decrease in prepayment premiurms and write-off of debt
issuance costs totaling spproximatcty $134.4 milkion, and « net reduction in intevest expense of approxmatcly $40.2 million related to the
redemphion, repurchases and refinancmg of our proviously outstanding seaiar debt which occumred doring 2004. This decrease was partully
offsct by $38.0 milioe of additonal interest expense during 2005 essociated with our capital kease obligations for the AMC-15 and AMC-16
sateflnes.

“tn on insarance settlement. During March 2005, we scttled #a msuramce claim end related cluims for accrued intorest and bad itk with the
surers of our EchoStar [V satellite for the net amouat of $240.0 million. The $134.0 millien reccived in excess of owr proviowsly recorded

$106.0 milhop receivable related 10 thig insurance cleim was recognized as a “Gain an insurance setilemeat” during the year ended

December 31, 2005.

Other. “Other™ mcome totated $36.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to “Other™ expenss of $13.5 million during
2004. The merease of $49.7 million primarily resulted from an approximete $38 8 million unrealized gain for the change in fair vatoe of a non-
marketable strategic investroent accounted for at far value and approxmetely $28 .4 million in gains related 1 the conversiom of bond
instruments into cormmon stock during the year eaded December 31, 2005. These gaing were partially offsct by su approximate $25.4 million
cherge to earnings far othex than temporery declines in the fair valve of an imvestment in the marketable common stock of & compeny in the
home extertamment industry during the foarth quarter of 2005.

Earnings before intrrest, taxes, depreciation and smortization . EBITDA was $2.135 billion during the year ended Decemba 31, 2005, an
merease of $942.6 million or 79.0% compared to $1.193 billion durmg 2004. The incresse m EBITDA was primarily anributsble to the
changes in operating revenues and cxpenses discussed above. EBITDA docs pot inclode the nopact of capital expenditures under our new and
existing subscriber equipment Jeast programs of approximacly $982.8 millica and $654.9 million during the years endsd December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively,
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(e following table reconciles EBITDA to the accompanying financial statements:

For tho Years Eaded
December 31,
s W04
EBITDA *0 7 o i YT Sk
Less PSR e e
Interest expense,ner "L Sl ¥330,3367 I B3 a5
Income tax provision (beachit), nel (507,449) 11,609

D sécistion and 5 tion _;;.ﬁ..{!.lh .

Net income (loss) o ’ oo SISIAS540  § 214,769

EBITDA is not a measure determined in accordance with accommting principles generally accepled in the United States, or GAAP, end should
nol be considered a substitute for operating income, et income or any other measure determined in accordance with GAAP. EBITDA is used
as & measurement of operating cfficiency and overall finsacial performance and we believe it to be 3 helpful measure for those evahumiing
companics in the multi-charmdd video programming distribution industry, Conceptoally, EBITDA measures the amount of income generatzd
each paiod that could be wsed w sexvice debt, pay taxes and fund capiral expenditures. EBITDA should not be considercd i isolation ar as »
substitute for measures of perfarmance prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Income txx bencfil (provision), net. Our income tax benefit was $507.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to &n
inceme tax provision of $11.6 million during 2004. This decrcase was primarily related to en approximate $592.8 million credit w our
provision for income taxes in 2005 resulting from the reversal of our recorded vahmfion allowsnce for those deferred tax assets that we beticve
are more likely than not to be realizable (see Note 6 1n the Notes w the Comsolidsted Financial Staterents in Item 15 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K). During 2006, we expect our income tax provision to approximate statutory Federal and state tax rates.

Netincome (loss). “Nel income” was §1.515 billion during the year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of $1.300 billion compared to
$214.8 million for 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to the reversal of our recorded valustion atlowsnce for deferred tax assets,
higher “Opeating income,” the “Gaix on insurance scttlement” and Jower “Interest cxpense, net of amounts capitalized *

SHVERA requires, among other things, that all local broadcast channels delivered by sateflite to any panticular market be available from a
gle dish by June 8, 2006. We currently offer local broadeast channels in 164 markets across the United Stetes. In 38 of thosz markets

wccond dish was previousty required to reccive some local channels in the market. While we have subsequently reduced the oumber of markets

where 8 second dish is necessary, we cen ot entircly climinsic the sccond dish necessity in all markets ahsent full operabillity of EchoStar X.

In the cveat EchoSter X expericnces any anomalics, satcllitc capacity limitations could foree s to move the local channols in some two dish
markets 1o different matrililes, requiring subscribers i those markets to instal) & sccond or diffaremt dish to contintie receiving their Jooal
broadeast channels. We could be foroed, in that event, to stop 0ffering loca! channels in some of thoss markets ahtogether, The transition of all
local broadcast chanaels in s roarket 1o 8 single dish could result fn disrapdons of service for & substantial mumber of our customers. Further,
our ehibity to timely coraply with this requiremen without incurring significant additional costs is dependent on, among other things, the
contimued operation of our EchoStar V satellite st the 129 degree orbital location until commencement of vial operation ef EchoStar X.
EchoStar V or EchoStar X anomalies could force us 1o cease offering local channiels by satellite in many markets absent regulatary rehef from
the single dish obligations. If impediments to cur preferred tramsition plan arise, it is possible that the costs of compliance with the single dish
requirement could exceed $100.0 million. To the extent subscribers are unwilling for any reason to upgrade & & new dith, owr subscriber churn
could be negatively impacted.
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10 addition, we depend on our EchoStar VITI satellite to provide local chammels to over 40 markets at feast until such time a5 our EchoStar

tellite bas d cc ial opcration. In the event that EcboStar VIHI exparicaced & total of substantial failire, we could transmmit
many, but not all, of those channels from other in-orbit satcllites. The potential relocation of some channels, and climination of others, resulting
from faitures retating to EchoStar X or EchoStar VIHI, could canse a materal adverse impact oa our buginess, inchuding, emong other things, a
reduction 1n revenucs, an incressc in operating cxpanses, 8 decrease in new subscriber activations and an iorease in subscriber churm.
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Jear Ended December 11, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended Decomber 31, 2003.

For the Years Xaded Decamber 31, Variance
2004 Amous! %
Seatems ents of O)H‘Iﬂﬂl Dnh i -»-.«_.
Revefoe: ... .= 27 - |77 a0 pn g deip A IS IE TR LT
Subrnbe!-—r:h:rd z-veuuc _ 56677,370 3540",8’75 51267 495 o 3a%
Equipment saledrs - . L . e VERSEE s e e i SATIIENEM 0 0 L 295409 - TV T BT 264%
Other . . _ o 100593‘“ 34,012 L 56581 NM
o Totadsevenme * - . LT UL oniS & BISEETHY . " 739,296 HHATALERG | - H46%
Costs and Expenses: . . ) o e
Subscriber—retated expénses < S R I - 3567409. . o RT0GR9G T BSOSIEE LI
%ofSuhsaiber——rdnmduvenm . . S34% Sﬂl% .
Satellite and trensmisaich-expenses- .- - :f._-t-_~,‘1'.“‘-"i R B l]Z,Z},T’,; &, t,79,122 R A
% of Suhcﬂber—rdamd revesae ) %
Costof sales —equipinaat ¢~ w4t e,
% uf!qu!pmedtﬂa
Cost of sales offie 2. ¥ Fi %
Subscriber acquisition tosts

Genzral mdodmin(sﬁik"‘ S
% of Tatal revense
Degreciation sid amortiatidal « 2,

l“)i;

104608 263%

Total costs and expenses 1,416,163 28.1%
Operating income (loxs) - i (8260 (06%)
Other income (expense): A . L o )
“~terest meome . ot e T gy L R S R3Tn (350%)

crest expense, ncl of.mm!i cnpmhmrl o (505.732) 952.490 46,758 85%
uther - N handioaticie } 13.482) 2kl in v PRIV INM

Total o(hcr income (expanse) {476,917 (46! ,§§§) (3.2861) (1.8%)

4 Rine o)

Income (joss) beforefucome s << L - 7o N TSR any s TR T 00,800 T EIY QST S %
Income tax bencfit (provision), net 5111609) o gHé?é) . 767 192%
Net income (loss) CLomAn L T s 1460 S aE SR --%3

Otber Data:

DISH Network subscribers, as of period cad (it millions) © - 10905 o . T8A2ST L TARD . - 157%
DISH Nerwu{lf subscriber u?didom. gxouﬂ(in m\mians) ) . 3.44) i 7.894 ' 05.47 _1__9%
DISH Network subscribér'sdditions, ot (it milliens}™ 0. n R b pASOTT L IS REEY T 189%
Monthly chom percertage 1.62% 1.57% - (X 05% 32%

Averepe reveniie per Rbseaber SARFUT) . o S50 17770550 0 gr. SART 0 Kol iS5 T gl 366T
Averzge subscriber wqummn costs per subscriber (“SAC™) s 444 453 s }2}
Equivalent sverape subscriber 'Acqms:non mgambscn"bu o *éa’g“;,' R

cwsﬁcw»"“ - ) D el T 7 s ekl T
EBITDA $1,152.724 $1,124,520 S 6824 _61%
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DiSH Network subscribers . As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately 10.905 milhon DISH Nerwork subseribers compared to
approximately 9.425 milbou at December 31, 2003, an mcrease of approximately 15.7%. DISH Network edded approximately 3.441 million
gross pew subscriben for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared (o approximaicly 2.894 million gross new subscrihers during 2003, am
increase of approximately 547,000 gross new subscribers. The increase in gross new subscribers resulted from 8 number of Euwn, including
thr commmencement of sales under our co-branding agreement with AT&T and other distribution relationships and an increase in our
distribution channcls. Temporary product shortages and installation delays during the sccond haif of 2003 were submnmlly climinated during
the first quarter of 2004 which also contributed to the current year increase.

DISH Network sdded imately 1.480 million net pew subseribers for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to approximatcly

1245 mﬂbonndncwsubsmﬁmdnmgm a0 increzse of approximately 18.9%. Thcmcrwcmna newmbsmbmmsnhedfmmm
factors discussed gbove,

Sabscrider-related revenue . DISH Network “Subsariber-related revenuc™ totsled $6.677 billion for the year ended December 31, 2004, an
imcrease of $1.267 billion or 23.4% compared to 2003. This increasc was directly attritutable to continued DISH Network subscriber growth
and the ncrease m “ARPU” discussed below.

ARPU . Monthty sverage revenuc par subscriber was approximately $54.87 during the year ended December 31, 2004 and epproximately -
$51.21 during 2003. The §3.66 or 7.1% increase in thonthly average revenue per DISH Network subseriber is primarily anributable to price
mcmsesofuymﬂoﬂm February 2004 and 2003 unsomeuiowmonpopnl-rpacngu end from equipment sales, mstallation and other
serviees related to our relationship with AT&T. This incresse was akso attributble to a reduction m the number of DISH Network subscribers
recaving subsidized prograruming through our free nd discounted programming promotions, the increased availability of local charmels by
satellite, incroases in our advertising sales and incresses in the number of DISH Network subscribers with multiple sct-top boxes xnd DVRs.
We provided local chamnels by satellite tn 152 merkets as of December 31, 2004 compared to 101 markets as of December 31, 2003.

Equipsient sales . For the year ended December 31, 2004, “Equipment sales™ totaled $373.3 million, an increasc of $77.8 million or 26.4%%
compared to the same pariod during 2003. nxsmcrtmpmc:ydlymxdmdfmmmmuscmnl:sofDBSwanummlcnmdothn
distibutors of our equip 4 ally and directly to DISH Newwork subscribers.

“Other” salex. “Other™ salcs (otaled §100.6 million for the year ended Deoamber 31, 2004, sn increase of $66.6 million compered to the same
period during 2003. This increase is primarily atufbutable w the subscription television service revennes from C-band subscribers of the SNG
busmess that we acquired in Apeil 2004.

Ascriberyelated expenses . “Subscriber-relnted expenscs” totaied $3.567 billion during the year caded December 31, 2004, an increase of
»859.5 million or 31.7% compared to 2003. The increase in “Subscriber-relaed expenses” was primarily attributable to the socrease in the
rurmbes of DISH Network subscribers, which resulied in inc 4 axp 1o support the DISH Network. “Subscriber-related expenses™
representod $3.4% and S0.1% of “Subecriber-related revenus™ during the years ended December 31, 2004 snd 2003, respectively. The increase
in this cxpensc to revenue ratio primarily resslted from increascs in our programming and subscriber retention costs, and costs associsted with
the cxpansion of our msflation, in-home service and call center operations. These increascd operational costs, some of which arc temperary,
related to, amang other things, morc camplicsted inswlatioas required by receivers with muhtiple amers and a larger dish, or “SuperDISH™
which is used o receive programming from our FSS saselliies. The jocrease also resulted from cost of sales and expenses from equipment
sales, msmiletion and other sarvices related to our relationship with AT&T.

Satellite and transwiizsion expenses . ~Sewllite and yansmission expeases™ tomaled $112.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2004,
an increase of $32.9 million or 41.5% compared to 2003. This increase primarily resulted from commencement of service and operational costs
mocan:dwﬂhlhcmummgmmhcrofmdﬂsmdndawof{ubalbmadnﬂchmekbymdlﬁcupmm}ywmdmmu
in pur FSS sateiliw lcasc payment obligations. “Sstellitc and transmission cxpenses™ totaled 1.7% and 1.5% of “Subscriber-related revenue®
during each of the years ended Docember 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in the expense o reveoue ratio peincipally resulied
hmnddxbon-lop«:hmmlcosktowppontbemnmwnwtufmmdm—gomgopanﬂmsofmlomlnwtmdxmnmdm
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o of sales — equipment “Cost of sales — equipment” 1otaied $305.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, e incyenae of
$110.8 million or §7.0% compared to 2003 This jucrease primarily resulted from the incresse in sales of DBS accessorics 1o retailers and other
distributors of our equipment domestically and to DISH Network subscribars discussed above, aod approximatcly $18.4 million i charges
related to slow moving and cbsoletz nventory. “Cost of sales ~ equipment” represeated 81.8% and 65.8% of “Equipment sales,” during the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in the expense to revenos ratio principally retated to the charges for slow
moving end obsolete mventory discussed sbove, and an approximate $6.8 million reduction in the cox of sct-{op box equipment during 2003
resulfing from & change in estimated royalty obligations. This increase in the expense tb revestue retio also related to & decline in margims on the
mluofDBSlwcuonamdunnlubymErC bridiary to an intcmaticnal DBS service provider due to reductions in prices and incrensed
sales of lower margin accessories.

Cost of saler — other . “Cost of sales — other” totaled $33.3 million during the year cnded December 31, 2004, an incrcase of $29.8 million
compared to 2003, This mcrease is primarily sttributabie 10 cxpenses essociated with the C-band subscription tefevision service business of
SNG we acquired io April 2004,

Subscrider acquisition costs. “Subscriber ecquixition coets™ totaled woxmmﬂy $1.528 billion for the year ended Decanber 31, 2004, an
increase of $215.8 million or 16.4% compared t 2003. “Subscriber acquisition costs™ during the year ended December 31, 2003 included a
benefit of approximately $77.2 million comprised of approximately $42.8 million relatod 1o a reduction in the cost of get-top box eqmpm:m
resulting from & change in estimated royalty obligations and $34.4 million from a hitigation settiernent The ncrease in “Subscriber leqmsmon
costs” was sttributable to a larger number of gross DISH Network subscriber additions during the year ended December 2004 comparcd to
2003, partially offset by & bigher number of DISH Network subscribers participating in our equipment lease program and the acquisition of co-
branded subscribers durmg 2004 as discussed under “SAC end Equivalent SAC™ below.

SAC and Equivalens SAC . Subscriber acquisition costs per new DISH Network subscriber activation were spproximately $444 for the year
ended December 31, 2004 and approximately $453 during 2003. SAC during the year ended December 33, 2003 included the benefit of
approximatcly $77.2 million discussed above Absent thus benefit, our SAC for 2003 would have been approximarety $27 higher, o $480. The
decrease in SAC during the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared 10 2003 {excluding this benefit) was divectly aributable to the
acquisition of co-branded subscribers during 2004. Bxcluding the effect of co-branded subscribers, SAC would have increesed during the
cusrent year as compared to 2003. The increase in SAC (exchuding the effect of co-branded subscribers) was peimarily refated to more
expensive promotions offered during 2004 incloding up 10 tree free receivers for new subscribers and free advanced products, such 2s DVRs
and HD receivers Further, during 2004, since & greater rumber of DISH Network subscribers activated araltiple receivers, receivers with
“1itiple tuncrs o ather advanced products, including SuperDISH, instalimion costs increascd as compercd W 2003, These factars were

stially offsct by an increase in DISH Network subscribers participating in oor equipment lease program and reduced subscriber scqmisition
advertising.

Equipment capitalized nnder our lease program for new customers totaled approximately $574.8 mullion and $108.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 snd 2003, respectively. Returned equipment related to discoanccted lease program subscribers, which became available for
salc rather than being redeployed through the lease program, together with pryments received in connection with equipment pot returned 1o us,
totaled epproximatety $60.8 million and $302 million during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. If we included in our
calculation of SAC fhe cquipmen capitalized less the value of equipment returned and payments received, our Equivalent SAC would have
been spproximately $593 during 2004 compared to $480 during 2003. As discussed above, “Subscriber acquisition costs™ during 2003 included
a benzfit of approximately $77.2 million w527pambn:rnn Abscnt thas benefit, our Equivalent SAC would bave been $507 for the year
cuded December 31, 2003. This increase is primarily sttributable to a preater mumber of DISH Network subscribers ectivating mulnple
receivers, and sdvenced products, such as SupaDISH, DVRs and HD receivers.

General and administrative expenses . “General and administrative expenses” totaled $398.9 million during the year ended December 31,
2004, =n increase of $62.6 million or 18.6% compared to 2003. The increase in “General and sdministrative expenses™ was primarily -
uuibumblcwwdp«somclmdmﬁnmmaexpmlomppmthe
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growth of the DISH Network. “General and administrative expenses” represented 5.6% and 5.9% of “Total reverme” during the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease in thxsapmeto revenue ratio resulted primarily from “Towl reveous™ increasing at
& higher rate than our “Geoeral and adminisuative expenses.™

Depreclation and amartizetion. “Demeciation snd amonization™ expense totaled $502.9 million dmngmeynrmdedbmbeﬂl 2004, an
increass of $104.7 milfion or 26.3% compared to 2003. The increase in “Depreciztion and emortization”™ expense primarily resulted from
additional depreciation related to the commencement of commercial operation of ows EchoStar IX satellite in October 2003, and increases in
depcwnnonrdmdmequrpmtlcamdhcmmndcﬁndepmablemmdudmgﬁnnchvcdmm@ﬂeums.phcdmmce
during 2003 end 2004. As of December 31, 2003, EchoStar I'V wez fully d ialed and ngly, we recorded no expenae for this satellite
dm'nglbeymnddnmball,zw.ﬁispuﬁll)yc&dth:mhdcpmdaﬁmapumdmwdlbovr..

Interest income  “Interest incomae” totaled $42.3 miltion during the year ended December 31, 2004, 3 decrense of $22.8 million or 35.0%
compared to 2003. This decrease principally resulted from lower cash and marketable investment securities belances in 2004 as compared 10
2003, panially offser by higher total returns exrned on our cash and marketable investment securities during 2004,

Interess expense, nef of &5 capitalized . “Interest expense” totaled $505.7 million during the year ended Decernber 31, 2004, a decrease
of $46.8 million or 8.5% comparcd to 2003. This decrease primarily resulied from ¢ net reduction in interest expense of approximately

$98.3 million fos the year ended December 31, 2004 related io'the debt redemptions and reporchases of our previously outstanding sewmiar debt
during 2003 and 2004. Mdcmcwmallyoﬁmbynmenumpmpxymmtpmmmnundm:wmc-oﬂ'ofdcb{mmcem
touling approxivaatety $134.7 miltion i 2004 compared to approximately $97.1 million in 2003. See Note 5 in the Notes to the Cousohdawd
Financisl Swtcments in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Other. “Other” expense totaled 513.5 million dunng the year eaded Docernber 31, 2004 commpared to “Other” income of $18.8 million during

2003, 8 decrease of $32.2 millicn. The decrease is primarily atiributable to net losses on the sake of securitics from our marketabl investments .

pordolio for the year eaded December 31, 2004 as compared to net gaing during 2003.

Earmings before inserest, taxes, depreciation ond amortization . EBITDA wus $1.193 billion during the year ended December 31, 2004, an

increase of $68.2 million or 6.)% compared 10 §1.125 bilhon during 2003. EBITDA during the year coded December 31, 2003 included a

benefit of epproximately $77.2 million relascd to the change in estimatzd royaity obligations and litigation scttlement discussed above. Absent

this 2003 beacfit, our increase in EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2004 would have been $145.4 million. The increase in EBITDA

(excluding this benefit) was primarity anributsble w the changes in operating revennes and expenses discussed sbove. EBITDA docs not
ctuduhcmmofmdcxpmmmmmnmmdmxnhm'bcmmtlmpmgmo(npmmmmty%ﬂDmma
A4 $118.6 milhion durmng the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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ihe followmg table reconciles EBITDA to the accompanying financia! st s

For the Years Ended
December 31,

—————— -——-—-zm

BIDA - © T e : T I S SRR RS 1817275 M+ P C
Less:

Incerest expense, et - AT T WU ARy - Tase

lncomcuxpmgmon(bmeﬁl),w i . o - . Y l"w’“‘ 14‘,376‘

Depreciation gnd amoriizarion’. . % 7L~ Il Che LAUERRES T ER_o502500- 395206

Net income (loss) ' S 214760  § 14506

EBITDA is not  measure determined in accordance with accounting panciples gencrally accepled in the United States, or GAAP, and should
tot be considered & substitute for operating income, net income oc any other measire determined in accordance with GAAP. EBITDA is used
15 a measurement of operating efficiency and overall financis! performance and we believe it to be a helpful measure for those cvaloating
companies in the nmuiti-channe! video programming distribution mdustry. Conceptually, EBITDA mearres the emount of income grocreted
cach period that could be used 1o service debt, pay taxcs sud fund capital expenditurcs. EBITDA should not be considered in isolstion or asa
substitute for measures of performance prepared m accordance with GAAP.

Net income (Ios3). “Net income” was $214.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of $9 7 million, or 4.3%, conrparcd
to $224.5 million for 2003. The decrease was primanly attributable to lower “Operating income,” “Interest income™ and “Other income”
partialty offsct by the decrease in “Interest expense” resulting from the factors discussed above.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Ow princapal sources of cash during 2005 were operatmg acdwities, sales of certain marketable investment securities and an ingumance clxim
scttlement. Our principal uses of cash durng 2005 were 1o purchase property and cquipmest, repurchase our Class A common stock and
purchases of markeable fovesunent securites.

On February 2, 2006, we sold $1.5 billion aggregate principal amount of our ten-year, 7 1/8% Senior Nates due February 1, 2016 in & private
cement. The proceeds of the sale of the notes were used 10 redeem our outstanding 9 1/8% Semior Notes dur 2009 and are also intended
.« used for other general corporate purpoaes. ,

We expeet that pur funwre working capital, capita) expenditure and debt service requirements will be sarisfied primarily from existing cash and
investment balances and cash genereted Som operations. Our ability to gepcrate positive future operating and net cash flows is dependent upon,
«mong other things, our ability 10 retaim existing DISH Network subscribers. There can be no assurance we will be successful in executing our
business plan. The amount of capital required to fund owr 2006 working capital end capita! expenditure peeds will vary, depending, emoay
other things, on the rate at which we scquire new subscribers and the cost of subscriber acquisition snd retentan, includng capitalized costs
associated with cor new and existing subscriber equipment lease programs. The amount of capital required m 2006 will also depend on our
levels of mvestment i infrastructure pecessary to suppoet HD local markets and other possible strategic initiatives. We curreatly anticipete that
2006 capital expenditures will be higher than 2005 capital expenditures of $1.506 billion due to, amang other things, increased spending on
equipment leased to subscribers and expenditures on satellites. Our capital expenditures will vary depending on the number of satzllites lessed
or under construction al any pomt in time. Our working capital and capital expendrmure requirements could increasc materially in the cvent of
increased competition for subscription television custamers, significant sateflite failures, in the event we make strategic investments or
acquisitions, or 10 the event of general economic downturs, mang other fectors. These faciors could require that we raise additional capital in
the futare. There can be no asmaance that we could reise all required capita! or that required capital would be availabic on acceptable tams.
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Cash, cash eguivalents and marketable investment securities. We consider all liquid imvestments purchased within 50 days of their maturity to
be cash equivalents. Sec “ltem 7A. ~ Quanhtative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Rlsk“ for further discussion regarding our
marketable mvestment securities. As of December 31, 2005, our restricted and umrestricied cash, cash equivalents and marketable investment
securities 1otwled §1.248 billion, inchuding approximatety $67.1 million of restricted cash and marketsbie investment securitics, compared to
$1.213 billion, including $57.6 miltion of restricted cagh and marketable mvestment secunitics, 85 of December 31, 2004.

The following discussion highlights our frec cash flow and cash flow sctivities dudng the years ended December 31, 2605, 2004 and 2003.

Free cask flow. We define free cash flow as “Nef cash flows from operating activities™ less “Purchases of property asd equipcnent,” as shown
on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, We belicve frec cash flow is an important liquidity metric because it measures, during & given
period, the amount of cash generated that is available 10 vepay debt obligations, make investments, fund acquisitions end for ceztain other
activitice. Free cash fiow is not & measure determined i sccordance with GAAF and should not be cousidered & substitute for “Operating
woome,” “Net income,” “Net cash flows from operating activities™ or eny other meagure dotermined in accordance with GAAP. Since free cash
flow includes investments in operating essets, we belicve this mo-GAAP liquidity measure is nseful in addition to the most directly
comparable GAAP measure — “Net cash flows from operating aetivities.”

Free cash flow was $267.7 million, $20.9 milhon, and $253.8 million for the years endcd December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The increase from 2004 to 2005 of appraximately $246.8 million resulied fram an increase in “Net cash flows fram opersting activisies™ of
pproximately $772.6 million, or 77.2%, offket by a 53.6% increase bn “Purchases of property and equiptent,” o7 approximately

$525.8 million The increase in “Net cask flows from operating activiues™ was pnmanly attributable to higher nct mcome during the yeas
ended Decomber 31, 2005 compared 1o 2004, partially offsot by less cash gencraied from changes in operating assets and Labilities in 2005 as
compared 10 2004. Cash flow fram changes in operating assews and linbilides was $169.0 million daring the year ended December 31, 2005
compared 10 $241.7 million for 2004, a decrease of $72.7 million, or 30.1%. This decresse resulted from decreases in cash flowx from net
changes i (i) deferred revenue primarily attributsble to equipracnt sales to AT&T which commenced during the first quarter of 2004,

(if) sccounts peyable and (1) accrucd expenses The decrease in cash flows from changes in operating asscts and liabilities wras partially offset
by an increase in cash flows from net changes m (i) inventory, (3) accounts receivable and (iii) noncurrent assets primarily stiributzbie to
equipment sales 16 ATAT. The increase in “Purchases of property and equipment” was primarily attributable to increased spending for

(1) equipment under our lease progrems, (ii) sntellite construction and (i) general expansion to support the growth of the DISH Network

The decreasc fiom 2003 to 2004 of approximately $232.9 willion resulted from an increase @ “Purchases of property end equiprment™ of
~~proximstely $658.8 million, offsct by ap increase in “Net cash flows from aperating activities™ of spproximately $425.9 milkion. The

rease in “Purchases of property and equipment” was primarily artributable to increased spending for equipment under our lease programs,
mdhwunn:ﬁmpaymmumdmymmmndnrowmdmcwvimmndﬁx;umﬂmnsicnwmmdumwthnfmz
DISH Network. The meresse in “Net cash flows from operating ectivrties” was pnimarily attributable to s1gnificently more cash flow genersted
by changes in operating assers and hisbilines in 2004 a5 commpared to 2003. Cashﬂuwﬁamdxmgzsmopm;mmdhb\hmm
$241.7 miltion during 2004 compared to negative $75.7 million in 2003. The improvement in cash flow from changes mopenmgm:nd
lisbilities resuhied from (i) increases in accounts payable, (ii) scoroed programming expenses, and (jif) an increase in aet deferred reveme
primanily attributabie to cquyment sales to AT&T, partialty offset by (i) rising inventory leveks, (ii) increased subscriber accouats receivable
and (iif) receivables related 10 AT&T

(1]
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1 be following table reconciles free cash flow to “Net cash flows from operatmg activities.”

For the Years Ended Deceasber 31,
088 2004 2083
: - PR . x e I
FreeCaFlow .- ¢ 0 TR AR AT B 1< e i1 COMCRE P Lx 87 5

" PrarchiRsck of ffopcry aad oquiEDent i e L L ST

P i aly St

. , R S iE TRt 7 ¥ Y WG 1y IS 11N )
Net cash flows from operating activities $I,774074 51001442 3575581

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, free cash flow was significently iropactad by changes in operating assets and
liabititics a5 shown i the “Net cash flows from operating activities™ section of our Consolidated Statements of Cesh Flows included herein.
Operating asset and lisbility balances can fluctuate significantly from period 1o period and there cam be 0o assurence that free cash flow will not
be negatively impactod by materiel changes in operating assets and hisbilities in future periods, since these changes depend upon, amoug other
things, management’s timing of paymeats and control of mventory levels, and cash reccipts. In addition 1o fluctustions resulting from changes -
In operating assets and tiabilities, free cash flow can very significantly from period to period depending upon, among other thingy, subscriber
growth, subscriber revenue, subscribes churn, subscriber scquisition cosw mcluding s capitalized under our equipment lease programg,
operating efficiencies, in ord s in purchascs of property and cquipment and other factors.

SHVERA requires, among ofber things, thar alf local brosdcast channels delivered by satellite to any particutar market be availabie from a -
single dizh by Junc 8, 2006. We currcntly offer Jocal broadcast chaanels in 164 markets across the United States. In 38 of those markets 2
sccond dish was proviously required to receive some focal channels in the marka. While we have subsequentdy reduced the number of markeis
where a second dish is necessary, we cam not entirely climinate the second dish necessity in el markets absent full operability of EchoStar X.

In the cvent EchoStar X experiences sny anomalics, satcllitc capacity limitations could force us to move the local chanaels w some twvo dish
markets to different satellites, requiring subscribers in those markets to Install a second of different dish w continue receiving their locat
broadeast channels. We could be forced, in that event, to stop offermg local charmels in some of those markets aliogether. The transition of all
Jocal broadcast channels in 1 market to a single dish could result in disraptions of service for 8 suhstantial number of our customers. Further,
wabi}i'ytnﬁmdyoumplywilhlhhnquimnmlwhhominmnhg:igniﬁcmladdiﬁmlcostsisdcpmdmtan,mmxo&crdning;.!he
continued opermtion of our EchoStar V satellite at the 129 degree orbital location uari] commencement of commercial operation of EchoStar X.
hoStar V or EchoStar X anomalies could force us to cease offering local channels by matellite in many markets absent regulstory relief from
- single dish obligatiops. If tmpediments to our preferred transition plan arisc, it is possible that the costs of compliance with the single dish
- requirement could cxceed $100.0 million. To the extent subscribers are unwilting for any reason to upgrade to 2 now dish, our subscriber chura
could be negatively impacted.

In addition, we depend on cur EchoStar VI sateltite to provide local channcls 1o over 40 markets at lcast until such time 28 our EchoStar X

satellitc has commenced commercial operetion. In the cvent that EchoStar V1T expericoced a totl or substantial fuilure, we could ransmit

many, but not all, of those channels from other in-orbit satell The potential relocation of some ch s, and climination of others, resulkting
ﬁ’mnfnilmsmlndnqchhoSwaEchoSmVlll,mnldmunmﬂaidadvmhnpenmmbminm.indnding.mongoﬂm&hg.a
reduction in revenucs, an increase in operating expenses, 8 decrease in new subscriber ectivations and an increase in subscriber churn.

[mpacts from owr lingation with the networks in Florida, FCC rules governing the delivery of superstations and other factors could cause us to
terminate delfvery of network channels and superstations to a substantial number of our subscribers, which could cause many of thosc
cunnmmmgnu:]Msubsuiptiwloourodtrsaviccs,lnlnccvullheCumoprpuknphuldl the Miami District Court’s network
Hﬁpﬁminjum:dun.mditw:dnnulmxhpfwt:mmmlmgswimdﬁﬁmm.wwiummmmmmh
arranging alernative
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uwicans 10 receive network chanmels, including migration (0 Jocal channels by satellite where svailsble, and free off air antenns affers in other
markets. However, we cannot predict with any degree of cenninty how meny subscribers might uhtimately cancel their primary DISH Network
progremming as  result of termination of their distant network channels. We could be required to termimatr distant network programming to alt
subscribers in the event the plaintiffs prevail on their cross-sppeal and we are permancatly enjoined from delivering all distant network
channels. Terminatioa of distant oetwork programming to subscribers would result in, among other things, & reduction in AKPU and &
temporary increase in subscriber churn.

Our future capital expenditures could mercas or dearcase depending om the strength ormcmmy,smﬁcoppmiﬁmmahcﬁcm

Cash flows from operating activitier. We typically reinvest the cach flow from opereting activities in our business primarily to grow oar
subscriber base and to expand our infrastructure. For the years ended Decomber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we reported net cash flows from
perating ectivines of $1.774 tnlhon, $1.001 billion, end $575.6 million, respectively. See discussion of changes in nex cagh flaws from
 pperating activities inchaded in “Free cash flow™ above.

Cash flows from investing acrivitles. Our mvesting activities generally include purchascs and sales of markctable investment seorities and
cash used i grow our subscriber base and expand our infrastructure, For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we reportzd net
cash flows from investing activites of negative $1.460 billion, $1.078 billion, and negarive $1.762 bilkicn, respectively.

The decrease from 2004 to 2005 of approximately $2.538 dillion primarily resulted fram & decrease in not sales of marketable investment
sccuritics and an increast in cash used for capital expenditures duning 2005. The decreasc in net cash flows from investing activities was
partially offset by &n increase in cash due to the incarance settlement of $240.0 million previcusly discussed and the decrease m asset
acquisitions durmg 2005,

The increase from 2003 to 2004 of approximatety $2.840 billion primarily remulted from an incresse in net sales of marketable investment
sccunitics, and from a reclassification of cash previcusly restricted for satellite insarance. The increasc in net cash flows fram investing
activities wes partially offset by increascs in cash used for capital expenditures and our assct acquisition from Gemstar (see Note 2 in the Notes
to the Coasolidated Financial Statemeats in lwm 15 of this Anmual Report on Form 10-K).

Cash flows from financing activities. Ow financiog activities inchude net proceeds related 1o the isssnce of long-term debt, and cash used for
the repurchase or redempton of long-texm debt and capital lease obligations, mortgages or other notes payabks, repurchases of our Cless A
common stock &nd our 2004 dividend payment. For the years ended Decembe 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we reperted net cash flows from

, “~mcing achivities of negative $402 6 mullion, negative $2.666 Willion, and $994.1 million, respectively.

_ positive variance from 2004 to 2005 of approximately $2.263 billion principally resulted from a decrease in cash used for redemptions and
reparchases of long-term debe and in cash used for dividends during 2005 compared to 2004. Additionally, less cash was used during 2005 for
the repurchases of owr Clasy A common stock discessed below.

< During 2005, we repurchssed spproximately 132 million shares of our Class A commos stock in open market transactions for a total
cost of epproumately $362.5 million.

The decrease from 2003 to 2004 of approximetely §3.66C billion principally resulizd from the following 2004 financing activitics:

o Effective February 2, 2004, we redocmed the remaining $1.423 billion outsanding principal amount of our 9 3/8% Senior Notes dus
2009. .

*  Effective Oclober 1, 2004, we redeemed sl of our $1.0 billion ding principal amount of the 10 3/8% Senior Notes duc 2007.

»  During 2004, we repurchased spproximately 25.9 million shares of owr Class A common stock in open market tnnsactions for & toal
cost of spproximately $809.6 milkun
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*  On December 14, 2004, we paid 8 cash dividend of $455.7 million to holders of our Class A and Clast B common stock.
This decrease from 2003 to 2004 was partially offset by the following financtng sources of cash:
. On October 1, 2004, we sold $1.0 billion principal emount of our 6 5/8% Senior Notes due 2014.
¢ On August 25, 2004, we sold a §25.0 million 3% Convertiblc Subordinated Note due 2011 to CenturyTel Service Group LL.C.

In addition to the 2004 financing activities described above, the decrease in nct cash flows From financing activities from 2003 to 2004 was
also partially due to §1.178 bilkion in nct cash flows reccived during 2003 from the issuance of long-term debt and the share repurchases during
2003 as described below. . '

*  OnJuly 21, 2003, we soid a $500.0 million 3% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2010 to AT&T Comuronications, inc.

* On October 2, 2003, we sold (i) $1.0 billion principal amount of cur § 3/4% Scnior Notes due 2008; (if) $1.0 billion principal amount
of our 6 3/8% Senior Notes due 2011; and (jii) $500.0 milkion principal amount of our Floatieg Rate Senior Notzs due 2008.

*  Effective February 1, 2003, we redecmed al] of the $375.0 million oulstanding principsl emounts of our 9 1/4% Scniex Notes duc

2006.

*  Effective Scptember 3, 2003, we redcemed $245.0 mllion of the $700.0 million outstanding principel amount of our 9 1/8 % Scotor
Notes due 2009. -

*  Effective October 26, 2003, we redecrned all of the $1.0 hillion outstanding principal amowunt of our 4 7/8% Convertible Subordinarzd
Notes due 2007.

*  During the fourth quartsr of 2003, we repurchased pproximatety $£201.6 million of the $1.625 hillion principal amount outstanding on
owr 9 3/8% Senior Notes due 2009 in open market transactions. .

*  Daring the fourth quarter of 2003, we sepurchescd shercs of our Class A common stock i open market transactions for & womal coss of
spproximately $190.4 millson. o

~. ‘“ther Liguidity Jiems

i oubscriber tarnover. Our paroentage monthly subscriber chum for the year coded December 31, 2005 was spproximately 1.65%, compared 1o
our percentage subscriber churn for 2004 of approximately 1.62%. Our subscriber chum may be negatively impacted by & sumber of factors,
including but not limited 1o, en increase in competition from other multi-chare] vides providers sd new technology entrantz, signal theft and
increasingly complex products. There can be no assurance that these and other factors will not contribate o reletively higher chuyu than we
have expericnced historically. Additionally, cortain of cur promotions allow consumers with relatively lowar crodit scores to become
subscribers and these subscribers typically cham at a higher rate. However, these subscribers arc also acquired st 2 lower cost resulling in a
smaller economic less upon discommect.

SHVERA requires, among other things, that all Yocal brosdeast channels delivered by satellite to any particular market be available from s
singfe dish by Junc 8, 2006. We currently offer local broadcast channcls in 164 markets across the United Staes: In 38 of those markets 2
second dish was previously required to receive some local channels in the market. Whik we have subsaquently reduced the mumber of markets
where a second dish is necessary, we can not entirely eliminate the second dish necesity in all markets absent full operability of EchoStar X.

In the event EchoStar X experiences ey anomalies, satellite capacity fimittions conld force as to move the local channels in some two dish
merkets to different satcllites, requiring subscribors in those markets to inrtall a second or different dish to continuc receiving their local
brosdcast channcls. We could be forved, in that eveat, W stop offering local chewnels in some of those markets altogether. The transition of all
lcalbmadmnchmlsinlmmtzzwuingkdishmﬂdmhindimpﬁomofmfon bstantial ber of cur 3. Further,
our ahility to timely comaply with this requirement without mcurring significant additional costs s dopendent ou, among other things, the
continued operation of our EchoStar V satellite

K3
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at the 129 degree orbital Jocation unti] commencement of eommercisl operatian of EchoStar X. EchoStar V or EchoStar X anornalies could
force us Lo cease offering local channels by satellite in many markets absent segulatory relief from the single dish obligations. If impedt

to our preferred wangition plan arise, it is possible that the costs of complisnce with the single dish requircment could exceed $100.0 million.
To the extent subscribers arc unwilling for any reason to upgrade to & new dish, our subscribar churn could be negatively supacted.

In addition, we depend on our EchoStar VIIT satellite to provide local chamnels to over 40 markets at least until such time as our EchoStar X
satellitz has commenced commercial operution. In the event that EchoStar VIII experienced a total o substantial faibwre, we coald transmit
many, but not sll, of those channels from other in-orbit satellites. The poteatial relocation of some channels, and elmmination of otbers, resulting |
from faihsres relating to EchoSter X or EchoStar VI, could cxuse » material sdverse impact on our business, including, among other things, 8
reduction i reverues, an increase i operating expenscs, & decrease in new subscriber activations and an increase in subsoriber chura.

Tmpacts from ow Litigation with the nctworks in Florida, FCC rules goverming the delivery of superstations and other factars could cause vs to
termingte delivery of network channels and superstations to a substantial number of our subscribers, which could canse many of those
customers to cancel their subscription o our other services. In the event the Court of Appeals upbolds the Miami Distriet Court's network
hitigation injunction, and if we do not reach privete scttlement agrocments with additiona) stations, we will aicmpt to nasist subscribers in
arrenging ahcrnative means © roecive network channels, joctuding migration to Jocal chammels by satcllitc where availsble, and free off 2ir
eniennz offers in vthes markets. However, we cannot predict with any degree of centainty how many subscribers might ultimately eance] their
primary DISH Network programming as & result of termination of their distamt petwork channels, We could be required to terminate distant
network programming to all subscribers in the event the plrintiffs prevail on their cross-appeal and we are permanently eajoincd from
delivering all distant network channols Termination of distant network programming to subscribers would result in, smeng other things, a

mducuanmARFUmdnmpourymmbwbnMchm

Increases in theft of our signal, or our campetitors’ mgmlgnlsocould:membsmkdmmbmmﬁnmmdx%ngnd
encryption has been compramised by theft of service and could be forther comprumised in the fature, We continuc to respond to compramises
of our encryption system with security measures inicoded to make signzl theft of our programming more difficult. In order to combat theft of
our service and maintain the functonality of active set-top boxes, we recently replaced the majority of ouz plder generation mart cards with
newer generation smart cards. This process was completed durmg the fourth quarter of 2005, These existing smart cards have been
compromised, and we sre implementing software patches and other scourity measures to help secure our service, However, theve can be no
essurance that our sectrity measures will be effective in reduring theft of our programming signals. If we sre reguired to replaoe cxisting smant
cards, the cost of card replacements could have a meterial adverse effect on our fmancial condition, profitability and cesh flows.

iitionally, s the size of our subscrider base mmmmmuu,mﬂpemnmgemhsm’badmummmnmmmdadma
sreasing numbers of gross new DISH Network subscribers are required to sustein net sobseriber growth.

Subscriber gcgxisition and retention costs. Cur subscriber acquisition and retention costs cap vary significamdy from period to pesiod wh'
mmmumngnxﬁnmvnnbﬂnymomnumcom:(\nss)nndﬁucu:hﬁowbempenod&mv“smﬁufwmislmcam,"
and “Subscriber-related expenses” ray materrally incresse to the extemt that we muoduumagymnpromohmnmﬁmmva
determint they are necessary o respond to competition, or for other ressons.

During the year ended Decerober 31, 2005, the percemage of our new subscribers choosing 10 iease rather than purchase equipment
to increase compared to 2004. Tncmamemlumdaqu:pmmlmdmhiodm&mionmmbmdm:d@upmmczlacmmimw
expenditures o increase, while our “Subsaribar acquisition eosts” and SAC declined -
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Ihe increase in capital expendiaures resulting from our equipmcnt Jease program for new subscribers hus been, and we expect it will contimue

to be, pantially mitigated by, among other things, the redeployment of equipment returned by discounccting kase program subscribers.

However, to romam competitive we will have 1o upgrade or replace subscriber equipment periodically as technology changcs, and the

associated costs may be substantial. To the extent iechnological changes render enisting equipment obsolete, we would cease to benefit from

the Equivalent SAC reduction associzied with redeployment of that returned lease equipment. !

Scveral years ago we began deploying satellite receivers capable of exploiting 8PSK modulation technology. Since that technology is now
standard in afl of our ncw satellite receivers, ows cost to migmte progamming channels to that technology I the foture will be substantialty
lower than if it were necessary to seplace all existing consumer equipment. As we continue to implement 8PSK techmology, bandwidth
cfficiency will improve, significantly increasing the munber of programming channcls we can transmil over our existing sateikites as an
ahemnative of supplement lo the acquisition of additioal spectrum or the construction of additional sateflitcs. New channels we add to our
service using only that technology rosy allow us to further reduce conversion costs end create additional revame opportunities. We have N
mplemented MPEG-4 technology in all saicllite receivers for sew customers who subseribe to owr HD programming packages. This
technology whea implemented will result in further bandwidth efficiencies over tme. We have 0ot yet determined the extent to which we will
convert the EchoStar DBS Sysiem (o these new technalogics, or the period of time over which the conversions will occur. Provided EchoStar X
commerces cormercial operation during second quarnter 2006 and other planncd satellites are successfully deployed, our 8PSK transition will
afford us greater fexibility i delaying md reducing the costs otherwise required to convert our subscriber base 10 MPEG4.

While we razy be able to goncrale increased revenue from such conversions, the deployment of equipment inctoding new wechnologics will
increate the cost of our conspmer equipment, at least in the short term. To the extent we subsidize thosc costs for new and existing subscribers,
SAC, Equivalent SAC and capital expenditares will (nerease sz well. However, the increases in these costs would be mitigated by, among other
things, our capeeted migration awey from relatively expeasive and complex SuperDISH installations (asseming successful commencement of
commercial aperation of our EchoStr X satellitc and the contmued aveilability of our other m-orbit satcllites). These increases may akso be
mutigated to the extent we successfully redeploy existing set-top boxes and implement other SAC reduction strategics.

In an effort to reduce subscriber mmover, we offer existing subscribers & variety of options for upgraded snd add on cquipment. We generalty
lease receivers and subsidize installation of EchoStar recciver systems under these subscriber retention programs. As discussed above, we will
beve to upgrade or replace subscriber equip periadically as technology changes. As & conscquence, our retention costs for subscribers that
currently own cquipment, which are mcluded in “Subseriber-related expenscs,” snd our capital expenditures related to our equipmen lewe
program for existing smbscnbers, will increase, of keast in the short term, to the extent we subsidize the costs of those upgrades and ’
Hacaments. Our capital expendiiures relased to subscriber reteition programs could also increase in the futore to the cxtent we increase
. -Betretion of owr equipment lesse program for existing subscribers, if we infroduee other more aggressive promotions, if we offer existing
subscribers more aggressive promotions for HD recesvers or EchoStar receivers with other enhanced technologies, or for other reasons.

Cash necessary to fund retention programs and total subscriber acquisition costs are expected 1o be satisfied from existing cash and marketable
iuvemnenﬂwnmi:sbnhocumdmhgummdﬁmopasﬁmmmecmnnnilahl:.Wcmly.lnwcvu,&mdcwmcudditiondnpital
in the future %o meet thess roquirements. If we decided 1o raise capital todsy, a variety of debt and equity fundimg sources would likely be
available to ws. However, there can be no assurance that additional financing will be tvailable on scceptable terms, oc st all, if needed in the
future.
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Obligations and Puture Capital Requirements

Contructanl obhgations and off-bulance sheet arrang We have never engaged in off-balance sheet financing activitics. Funue
msmrinies of our outstanding debt and contractusl obligations are summaizod es follows:

_Paymenty tfulqpaid

Total 2006 1003-2008 0es-110 Thereafier
Long-term debt obligisions . ;. $5466968 '8 241964 :;-?*széocsow ~ § 7000+ ::%zm;m
Satellite-rotated obligations o 2,771,224 300452 392,824 355392
Cipiml leaie obligativns:  ~ - . .- .. . o 4062 ILINES MIT4R .. 89304 -
Operating lcase obbgations o 85,533 28,469 41,688 12 aqs'
Purchiase obligatinasify e, o, il BITELT R0 eTRE -f-ug,éofi. PG 94,§§m., 238,780 5. -
Mongages mdodmnmpsynble 30375 5376 6,445 4122
Toubrs . o FERRERC i s Ak BT STERI0 | T S SENRR N $3.608:308 3 SLSTAO6 4 - SIAT9 &8
Interest on Long-Term Debt

We have quarierty snd semi-onnal cash interest requirements for our cutstanding long-term debt securities (3ee Note S in the Notcs to the
Consolidated Finmncial Statements in Ttem 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details), as follows:

Annsal
Detit Sevvice
T o . . l . - uirewents
53/4% Convertible Subordifinted Nofes dde 2008 - 'S~ -+ 1., ,,,:myr ﬁﬂm&zﬂ.’n‘: LR T §57560,000
%CnnmkauburdmmdNomdmzow i . ., June 30 wnd Decesber 31 1315000000
numsms“mxwmndm LT e T Y April-CoRi. ) and Octobe 13% ¥V $3,900:000° .-
5 3/4% Sexior Notes due 2008 ‘ A ril 1 end October 1 557,500,000

6 3/8% Seniof Notewrdae 2L S o7 7 TNESRE
3% Convertible &:ummmmmzou )
/8% Scior Notes dic 20345 + =35y R

2V N A el Ocibe 1 STty 363950,000 -, ¢
JuneSOmdDecunball s 750000 -

T gl e Oclber: * P, v 77 S6EB000-

A

*  The table above docs not inchude interest of $5.2 million on the 9 1/8% Senior Notes due 2009 which were redeemed on February 17,
2006 or the $106.9 million of mterest on the 7 1/8% Senior Notes due 2016,

The interest rate & Decembar 31, 2005 was 7.78%. There are 00 scheduled peincipal pryment or sinking fund requirements prior to maturity on
any of these notes

We also have periodic cash interest requirements for our outstanding capital lease obligations, mortpages and other notes payable. Future
maturities of the cash interest requircments for all of owr outstanding long-iem debt are summarized as follows:

_ Payments due by period
I3 AT TR Themter

nchogands)
““f“m.mf‘ REvi"des RS VLS
| sean  Bse S

v

L AR Y e AT

212,269
:21-"‘ deo ko T

‘.)4

$1,701 682 $343.72 724 $638.977 $338.724 5380 7

*  The table sbove docs not include interest on the 7 1/8% Senior Notes dne 2016 of £53.1 million in 2006, $213.8 million in 2007 and
2008, $213 8 million m 2009 and 2010, and §587.8 million thereafter

7

laterest accrucs on our Floating Rate Scnior Notes due 2008 based on the three month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LYBOR®) plos 3.25%.
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Satelite-Related Obhgations
Sateliites under Constraction. We have eatered into contracts 1o construct six new satellites, see “lter 1 - Bustness ~ Owr Saicllites.™

«  During 2004, we entered inio a contract for the construction of EchoStar X1 Coastruction is expected to be compleed during 2007.
Futere commitments related to this satellite are included in the able above. ~

¢ During 2004 md 2005, wc catered mio contracts for the construction of five additional SSL Ka and/or Ko expanded band satellites
which are expected to be completed during 2008 and 2009, Puture commitments releted to this satellite are inchuded in the table above.

Satellites under Lease. In addhtion to cur Icase of the AMC-15 and AMC-16 satellites discussed below under Capital Lease Obligations , we
have also entered into watellite service agreements 1o lease capacity oo four other satedlites, see “Itern 1~ Business — Our Sateflites.”

+ * In cobrection with the SES Americom agreement for the lease of the AMC-15 satellite discussed below, we are currendy Ieasing el of
the capacity ou an existing 1n-orbit FSS satellite, AMC-2, at the 85 degree orbital location. Our lease of this satellne is schoduled 10
continue through 2006. We have accounted for the AMC-2 satellite agreement a5 an operating leasc. Foture commitments related to
this satellite are incloded tn the tabie above.

»  During August 2003, we cxarcised our option under the SES Amaicam agreement for AMC-15 1o also loase for ac initial wea-year
term ell of the capacity on & new DBS satellite a1 ap orbita] location (o be determined a1 a future date. In connection with this
agreement, we prepaid $20.9 million to SES Americom during 2004. We anticipste that this satellite will be launched durmg the
second half of 2006 and could be used es additional backup capacity and to offer other value-added services. We arc still evaluating
the accounting treatment for this satellite lease

*  During Februsry 2004, we sntered into & satellite service agreement for capacity on an FSS satellite which ia planned for lmunch during
the secand half of 2006, This additional satellite could aflow DISH Network to offer other velue-added services. In connection with
this agreement, we prepeid $55.0 million during 2004 and are required to make monthly paymeaw for this sateilite for the §5-year -
period following ¢ of tial operution. Future commitments related to tins satellite are included i the table above.
We are still evahuating the ing treatment for this satellite lease.

«  During August 2003, we entered into a satellite service agreement for capacity on & Canadum DBS satellite at the 129 degree orbrtal
location for an initial ten-year terra. We anticipate that tiis satellite will be launched during 2008, Wemw'llcvnlumg!he
ing treatrment for this satellite lease.

10 cerwzin circumstances the dates oo which we erc obligated 1o make these peyments could be delayed. These emounts will inarease when we
commence payments formc)zmtbesafEchoSwXImdmxa-bmdnmllm,mdwauldﬁmhammmmncmmnmmmmm
for our satellites or coniract for the construction, launch or lease of sdditional satelhtes.

Capita! Lease Obligations
During 2003, we entered intp a satelute service agreernent with SES Americom for afl of the capacity on AMC-15. The wo-yesr satellite
scrvice agrecment for this satellite is rencwable by us on 8 year to yeer basis following the initial tenm, and provides us with certain rights to

replacemen satellites. We sre required to make monthly payments to SES Amaricom for this satellite over the next ten yean beginming in
2008

During 2004, we entered into 8 satellite service sgreement with SES Americom for all of the capacity os AMC-16. The ten-year sateflite
service agrocment for this satelhte is rencwable by us on a8 year to yesr basis following the initial term, and provides us with certain rights to
replacement satedlites. We are required 1o make monthly payments to SES Americom for this satellite over the next ten years begining in
2008.

n
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In accordance with Sutcment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13 ("SFAS 137), we have accounted for the satellitc component of these
agrecments 8 & capital lease (See Note S in the Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statemecnts i Item )5 of this Annual Report on Fom 10-
K). The commutment related to the present value of the net future minimum leasc payments for the aateflite cormponent of the agrecment is
included under Copltal Lease Obligations in the uble above. The commitment related to futnre minimum paymeats designated for the lease of
the orbital slots and other executory casts is included under Sarellife-Related Oblipations in the table ebove. The commitment relatzd to the
amount representing interest is included under Interest ox Long-Term Debt in the table above.

Purchase Obligations

Our 2006 purchesc obligations primarity consist of binding purchase orders fox EchoStar receiver systems and related equipment, and for
products and services relsted to the opertion of our DISH Network. Our purchase obligatioas alse include certain guarsntced fixed contractual
commitments to purchase programming conteat. Qur purchase obligations cea fluctuste significantly from period W period due to, among other
thungs, mamgement's control of mventory lovels, end can metcrielly fmpact owr future operating asset and Hability balances, and our farure
working capital requivemcnts.

Programming Contracts

In the nomal course of business, we have also cutered into numerous costracts ko purchssc programming content whereby our payment
obligations are fully contingent on the number of subscribers 1o which we provide the respective content. These programming commitments are
not included in the table above. The terms of our coatracts typically range from one to ten years. Ouwr programming expenses will continue to
increase 1o the exteat we are succeasful growing our subscriber base. Progremming expenses are included in “Subscriber-related expenses” in
tbe accompanying consolidated statements of operations sod comprehensive income (oss).

Satelthe insurance. We currently have no commercial insurance coverage on our satzllites. We do not use commercial insurance {0 mitigate
dwpotamnlﬁmnmlmpauoﬂn—m‘bﬂfmwsbemusewebchmmmepmummstmmemnommlrdmvcmmemkofmmm

MmWebchmthnwchavcmorhthuupunymﬁmuou diti tr ission of most progremming in the cvent
one of owr In-ocbit satellites fails. Howeves, progs i ,mnnmbcummdmt}-c:vaﬁofmnlupkmlhmlml’orcxmlplg
wcdcpmdonomﬁcho&nrvmnm‘htempmndclncalchnn:kmmwmnkmulmmﬂmchmnowﬁchdmxwmhu
commenced commercial operation. In the cvent that EchoStar Y1 expericnced a 1otal or substantial faflure, we could tsnamit many, but nar
all, of those channels from other in-orbit satefiites.

“tture capitat reguirenents. In 84dition to our DBS bugincss plan, we are exploring buginess plans for FSS Ku-{extcaded) band and FSS Ka-
ad satellite systems, including licenses to operate at the 97, 109, 113, 117 sod 121 degree orbital locations.

As & result of expeeted penctration of our new aad existing subscriber equipment lease programs, wcmucrpmmmumemupﬂahmd
subscriber equipment during 2006. As previousty discussed, we expect our capitsl expenditures for 2006 to be higher than 2005 capital
expenditures of $1.506 billion.

me tume to ume we evatuste opportunities for strategic investments or acquisitions that would complement our current scrvices and products,

qur } capabilitics or otherwise offcr growth opportunities. We may make jnvestments in or partoer with others 1o expand our
hs-nmmtumobﬂ:undpomblevndm,dmudvommcm Future matcrial investments ot sequisitions mey require that we obtain
additione! capinal. Also, &s discussed previously, our Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to en additioual $1.0 billion of cur
Class A conmmon stock, which conld raquire that we risz sdditional capital. There can be no assurance that we could raise all required expital
or tha required capital would be evailable on acceptable texms.
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Tiem 7. MANAGEMIENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS —
Coatingrd

Stcurity Ratings

Our current credit ratings arc Ba3 and BB- an our long-term senior notes, and B2 and B with respect to aur publicly traded convertible
subordimated notes, at mted by Moody's Investor Service and Standerd and Poor's Rating Service, respectively. Debt ratings by the various
rating agencics reflect each agency’s opmioa of the ability of issuers to repay debt abligatious as they come duc,

With respect 1o Moody's, the Ba3 rating for our senior debt indicates that the obligations are judged to have speculative elements and are
subject 1o substantial credit risk. For S&P, the BB- rating indicates the issuer is less valncrable to nonpayment of intezest zod principal
obligations than other speculative issues. However, the issuer faces major ongoimg uncermintics or exposure to adverse busincss, financial, or
economic conditions, which could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet i financizl commitment oo the obfigation.

With respect ta Moody’s, the B2 reting for our publicly waded convertible subordimated debt indicates that the seconty is considered
speculative and is subject to high credin risk. For S&P, the B rating indicates the issuer is more vulerable to nonpayment of interest and
principal obligations, but the isswer currently has the cspacity to meet its financial conmmitment on the obligation. In generl, lower ratings
result in higher borrowing costs. A security rating is not a recommendation o buy, scll, oc hold secunics and mey be subfect 1o revision o
withdrawn! at any time by the asngning rating organizstion. Each rating should be cvaluated independeutly of any other mting.

Critical Accounting Estimutes

The proparation of the consolidated financial statements in canformity with GAAP requires management to make cstimates, ]ndgmsm and
usumpums tht affect amounts reported therein. Mansgement bases its estimales, judgments and assumptions on historical experience and en
various oduf:monthambclxvcdmbcmmabhmdwhcmmmmhcmthmhemtmwmuymmhndmmtmgmu
ectua] results reporied in future periods may be affected by changes in thase cstimates. The following répresent what we believe are the critical
eccounting policies that may mvoive a high degree of estimation, judgment and camplexity. For a summary of owr significant accounting
policies, including tkmc discussed below, see Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 15 of this Aanoal Report on
Form 10—K.

*  Caplralized saiellite receivers . Since we retain ownership of certain equipmcat provided pursusnt to our new and existing subscriber
equiptoest lease programs, we copilalize and deprecinte equipment costs that would otherwise be expensed at the time of sale. Such
capitelized costs arc depreciated over the estimated useful life of the equipsnent, which is bazed on, among other things, management’s
judgment of the risk of technological obso! B of the inherent difficulty of meking this estimate, the estimated nseful life
of capitalized equipmem may change bascd on, among other things, historical experience and changes i technology s well s oot
response to competitive conditions.

.« A g for investments in private and pablicly-traded securities . Wclwlddcbtmdmxtymwmmmuma.m:ufwm
npnhlxdymd.udundhavchxghlyvohukpdm We record an irvestment impairment charge whea we believe an investment has
exparicoced a decline in vatue that is judged to be other than temporery. We monttor our investments for impeirment by considering
current factors including economic enviranment, market conditions and the operational performance and other specific factors relating
to the business underlying the investment. Pumre adverse changes in these factors could result in losses or an mebility 1o recover e
carryng vahue of the investments that may not be reflected in an igvestment's current carrying vehue, thereby possibly requiring aa
impairment charge ju the futare.

¢ Valuation of i in arkesable Ixvestment securities. We calculste the fair value of ot interest in non-markeiable
imvestment securitics cither at connideranan given, or for non-cash acquisitions, besed on the results of valustion analyses performed
by a third pany valtuation spesialist or wtilizing 8 discounted cash flow or DCF model. The DCF methodology involves the use of
various csfimtes relatmg 1o future cash flow projections and digcount mies for which xignificant judgments are requirod.

"

Se-11




Tabie of Cootents

:m 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS —
Continued

v Valuatlon of lomg-lived assets . We evaluste the camying value of long-lived assets to be beld and used, other thin goodwill and
1ntangible assets with indefimite lives, when cveats and circumstances warant such a review. The camrying value of s Long-lived ssset
is coasidered impaired when the anticipated undiscounted cash flow fram such esset is less than its carrying vahue. [n that event, a boss
is rocognized based on the smount by which the carrying valuc excoeds the fair value of the long-lived asct. Fair valuc is determined
primarily using the estimeted cash flows associnted with the asset tader review, discounied at a rate commensurnte with the risk
invoived. Losses on long-tived assets to be disposed of by sale ave determined in 8 similar manner, except that fair vaboes are reduced
fos cstimated sciling costs. Changes in estimates of fumure cash fows could result in & write-down of the asset in s future period.

«  Valuatlon of goodwill and Imtangidle assets with indefinite fives . We cveluate the carrying value of goodwill and intengible assets
with indcfimite kves ammually in the fourth quarter, and also when cvents end circumstances warraat. We use estimates of fair value to
determine the amount of irapaiment, if sy, of recorded goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Fves. Fair value is detcrmined
primarily uging the estimated futare cash flows, discounted at & tte commensurate with the nsk mvolved. Changes in our estimates of
future cash flows could result in & write-down of goodwill and intangible asscts with indefimite hives in a futare period, which conld be
material to our consolidated resnlts of operations and fimanciaf position.

*  Smart card replacement. We use conditional sccess technology, inchuding embedding microchips in credit card-sized access cards, or
“sart cards,” 0 encrypt our programming 5o only those who pay can receive it. Our signal encryption bas been compronised by theft
of service and could be further compromused in the future. Thefl of our programming reduces future potential revenue and increases
our net subscriber acquisition costs. In addition, theft of our competitors* programming caa 8lso increase our churn. Compromises of
our eperyption technology oould also adverscly affect our ability o contract for video end sudio services provided by programmers, 1o
arder to combat theft of our scrvice axd maintain the functionality of active sct-top boxes, we recently replaced the majority of our
older generation st cards with newer grneration smant cards. These existing smart cards have been compromised, anf we are
implementing scftware patches and other sccurity messures to help secure our service. However, there can be no asmmrance that our
scawity measurcs will be effective in reducing theft of our programming signals. If we are required to replace existing mad cards, the
cost of card replacements could have & mmerial adverse effect on our financial condition, profitability and cash flown.

s Alowance for doubtful accoants . Mansgement estimates the of required alh for the potential non-collectibility of
accuunts reoctvable based upon past collection experience and considerstion of other rel fecors. B , PASt eXpeTiente may
&ot be indicative of future callections mnd there{ore additionat charges could be incurred ia the future to refloct differences between
estumated and actual collections. i

*  Income taxes. Our mcome tax policy is to record the estimated future tax effects of temperary differences between the tix bases of
nasets and lisbilities and amourms reported i the sccompanying cousolidated balance sheets, as well as oparsting Loss mad tax credit
carryforwards. We follow the guidelines set forth in Statement of Pinancial Accouating Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes™ regarding the recoverebility of any tax assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide ey necessary valuation allowances as

i DnmmmguwmnwvﬂandbmmmquumbmkemmwuubomMummgdﬁmmmmch:dinglhc
probability of expectad future taxable i and svailable tax planning opparnmities. In accordunce with SFAS 109, we periodically
mmuowmdhnvﬂmmdbwmbwonbomhmulevm inctuding trends, and futare expectations in each
reporting peciod. Funnvpcfurmmuwuldhznaumﬁucﬁmonmcmmnunofmmﬁu or roversals of vehmtion
ellowances, 83 reported in our results of operations.

o Contingent liabiliies . A significant emount of gement udgr —‘is qui md:taminhgwhm.w:f mmalahmldbc
recorded for a contingency and the amount of such accrual. Eati developed in consaltation with outside counsd] and arc based
mmmllysucfpcwunzlwlwmu.l)wwﬂtwammtyofdaummgm:hkdmoodnhfunmmneum‘nﬂmcpomml
financtal satement impact of such n event, it is possible that upen further development or resohution of & contingency marer, a charge
could be recorded in a futare period that would be material to our consolidated results of operations and financial position.
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wm 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS —
Contimued e e B

New Accounting Pronoancements

In December 2004, the Financisl Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (R) (As Amonded),
“Share-Based Payment” ("SFAS 123(R)") which (i) revises SFAS 123 to ¢liminate both the disclosure caly provisions of that starement and
the ahermative w follow the mtrinsic vakie method of sccounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued 10 Employees™ and related inwerpreaations, and (i) requires (be cost resulting from all share-based payment ransactions with employres
be recognized in the results of operations over the period during which an eroployee provides the requisite service i exchange for the award
and establishes fair value as the measurement basis of the cost of such transactions, Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R) under
the modified prospective method. We expect the adoption of SFAS 123(R) to impact our results of operation and earnings per share similar o
our pro farma disclonure in Note 2 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m Jtam 15 of this Anmual Repart on Form 16-X.

Seasonslity

Our revenuces vary throughout the year As is typical in the subscription television sarvice industry, the first half of the year genenlly produces
fower now subscribers than the second half of the year. Our operating resub in any period may be affected by the incurrence of advertising and
promotion expenscs that do not ily produce ¢ unti] the impact of such adveriising and promotion i reatized in
future periods. )

Inflation |

Inflation has not materially affected our operations during the past three years. We belicve that our ability t incresse the prices charged for our
products and services i future periods will depend primarily on competitive pressures. We do pot have any material backlog of our products.
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tem TA.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
arket Risks Asaocizied With Financial Instraments

As of Deceruber 31, 2003, onr reswicted and unrestricted cash, cash equivaleats and marketeble investment securities had & fair value of
approximarely $1.243 billion. Of that amount, & total of approximatcly $1.095 billion was invested in: (3) cash; (b) debt instruments of the U.S.
Government and its sgencies; (c) commercial paper end notcs with an overell avaage maturity of less than one year and rated in anc of the four
highest ratmg catrgorics by at least two nationally recognized suaistical rating organizations; and (d) instruments with similar risk

characteristics to the commercial paper described above. The primary purpose of these investing activities has been to preserve principal until

- the cash 15 requoed to, among other things, fund operations, make strategic irvestments and expand the business. Consequently, the size of this .
portfalio fluctuates significantly as cash is reccived and used in our busincss.

Our restricted snd uarestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable investment securities had a0 sverage amual return for the year eoded
December 31, 2005 of appraximately 3.4% A hypothetical 10.0% decrease in interest rates would result in s decresse of approximately

$4.4 million m snmoal Mterest income. The valne of certain of the investments in this portfolio can be impacted by, amang other things, the risk
of adverse chunges in securitics and economic markets gencrally, as well s the risks related w the performance of the companics whose
commercial paper and other insruments we hold. However, the high quality of these invesunents (as ssseesed by independent rating egencies),
reduces these risky. The vatue of these investments can also be impacted by interest rete fiucuations.

At December 31, 2005, all of the §1 095 Villian was invested in fixed or variable mtz insmruments or money market type accounts. While en
increase in Tmerest retes would ordinarity adversely impaet the fair value of fixed and variabie rate iavestments, we normally hold these
investments to maturity. Consequently, neither interest rate fluctnations nor other market risks typically result in significant realized gains or
losses to this portfolio, A decrease in interest rates bas the effect of reducing onr foture snnual interest income from dhis portfolio, since funds
would be re-mvested at lower ruics a5 the instruments matare, Over time, any net percentage decyease in interest rates could be reflscied ina
corresponding net paventage decrease in our interest income.

Inctuded ip our marketable investment securities portfolio balence is debt end equity of public end private companies we bold for strategic md
financial purposcs. As of December 31, 2005, we beld strategic and fmancial detx and equity investments of public companics with & fair value
of approximately $148.5 million. We may make addiuonal sttcgic md financisl investmens in debt and other equity securitics in the future.
The foir valuc of oer suategic and finencial detx and equiry investments can be significantly impacted by the risk of adverse changes in
secunties markets generally, as well a risks related to the performanee of the companies Whose securitics we have invested in, risks associated
with specific industries, and other factors. These investments are subjoct to significant fluctuntions in fair value due to the volatility of the
secunitics markets and of the undertymg businesses. A bypotbetical 10.0% adverse change in the price of our public strategic debt and equity
wcsupents would resalt in approximately a 314 9 million decrease in the fair value of that porcfolic. The fair value of our strategic debt
sesunents are cusmrently not materially mmpected by interest rate fluctnations duc to the nature of these investments.

We currently clasgify all marketeble mvestment socurities as availablc-for-sak. We adjust the carrying value of our aveilabiz-for-sale scouritics
to fair valoe and report the related temporary unreslized gains and losses £3 & separaic component of “Accumulbated other comprebeasive
income (loss)” within “Total stockholders' equity (defick),” vet of related deferved incorme tax. Declines in the fair value of a marketable
investment security which are estimatzd o be “other than tempaeary” are recognized in the Censolidated Statements of Opeations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss), thus establishing 3 new cost bacis for such investment. We evaluste our marketable investment securities
portiolio on 2 quarterly basis to determine whether declines in the fair valuc of these socutitics are other than tcmporary, This quarterly
¢eveluabon consists of revicwing, among other things, the fair value of our marketable investment securitics corapared w the carying amourt,
the bistorical volatility of the price of each searity and any market and compeny specific fctors related © each cecurity. Generally, absent
specific factors o the conrary, declines i the fair value of imvestments below cost basis for 8 period of less than six moaths are considered o
be temporary. Declines in the fair vahe of investrents for 8 period of six to nine manths are cvalustod on 8 case by case basis to determine
whether amy compeny or market-specific factors exist which would indicate that such declnes are other than temporary. Declines in the fair
vahue of imvestments below cost basis for greater than nine months are considered other than tcmpovary snd arc recorded as charges to carmings,
absent specific factors to the coatrary.
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T Item TAQUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURLS ABOUT MARKET RISK .

. of December 31, 2005, we had unrealized gains pet of rlated tax cffoct of approxonstely $3.3 miilion as & part of “Accumulated other
comprehensive income (1035)” within “Total stockholders” equity (deficit).” During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded
$25 4 miltion i charges to carnings for other then tanporary declines i the fair velse of our marketable investment securitics. Io addition,
during 2005, we realized net gains of approxznately $34.3 million on sakes of marketable end non-marketable investment tecuritics and
conversion of bond instruments into common stock. Realized gains and losses are accounted for on the specific identificstion method. During
the twetve roonths ended December 31, 2005, our portfolio generally, and our strategic investments particularly, bas experienced and contimes
to expericnee volatility. [f the fair value of our strategic marketable mvestment securities perdfolic does not remain above cost basis or f we
become sware of any market or company specific factors that indicate thet the carrying value of certain of our securities is impaired, we may be
required to record charges to eamings i future periods equal (o the wmotmt of the decline in fair value,

We also have strategic equity invesunents in certain noo-marketsblc wvestment securities which are included in ~Other noncurrent assets, net”
i our Consolidated Balance Shesta. We aocount for our unconsolidated equity investments under cither the equity method or cost method of
accounting These equaty securitics arc eot publicly traded and eccordingly, it is not practical to regularly estimate the fair value of the
investments; however, these investments are subject Lo an cvatuation for other than iemporary imparrment os & quarterly basis. This querterty
cvaluation consists of reviewing, among other things, company business plans and corrent financial satements, if svailable, for factors that
oy indicate an impairment of our investment. Such factors may includs, but are not timited to, cash flow concems, material litigation,
violations of debt covenants and changes in business straegy. The feir vatue of these equity investments is not estimatad unless there are
identified changes in curcumstances that muay tndicate an impairment exists and are likcly to bave a significant adverse effect 0p the farr vaine
of the mmvestment, For the year ended December 31, 2005, we had $94.2 million aggregate carrying amount of non-marketable and
unconsolidated stratcgic cquity investments, of which $52.7 million is accounted for wnder the cost method. During the year caded
Decembe 31, 2005, we did not record any impairment charges with respect to these investments.

We also have & strategic nvestment in the noa-public preferred stock and convertible debt of a public company which is included in “Other
noncurrent asscts, net” on our Cousolidated Balance Sheeta. The investment is converbic imto the itsoer’s commeon shares. We account for this
svailable for sale investment st fair value with changes in fair value reported cach period as unrcalized gains o Iosses in “Other” income or
expeuse in owr Consolidated Statcments of Operations sud Comprebensive Income (Loss). We estimate the fuir vahue of the investmend using
certain assumptions and judgments in epplying a discounted cash flow mnalysis and the Black-Scholes option pricing model As of
December 31,2005, the fair vatue of the investment was epproximately $42.3 million based an the trading price of the issuer’s shares on that
date, and we recognized 8 pro-ax unreniized gain of approximately §38.3 miltion for the change in the fair value of the investroent. Among
other factors, as the result of the relatively large mumber of shares we would hoid upoa conversion compared (o the issuer’s imited public
ﬁdingvnlumc.lh(ztcsnbcuolmnn::ﬁmlw:Irinbclhl:mnbuinfu\lvth:formxiummluponlldeoﬁhecmmoumrhe
ner's publicly traded shaves have experienced, and will cantime to experience volntility, The fair vahoe of this frvestment can be
aignificantly impacted by tha risk of adverse changes ir the issuer's share price, currency exchange retes, and to a lesser extont, interest rates. A
bypothetical 10% adverse change i the price of the issuer's common shares, or iz the Evro to US. dollar currency exchange rak, would resal
in an approximaie $4.2 miltion decrease in the foir value of this ivestroent.

O-n‘nbilitymrnliuvnu&umom stralegic imvestments in companies thet are not publicly traded is dependent on the saccess of their
busincss and their ability to obtain suBicient capital to execute their business plass. Since privete markess are not as liquid as public markets,
there is also increased risk that we will not be able to scll these mvestments, o that when we desire to sell them we will not be sbie 1o obeain
full vafue for them.

. AsefDeecmbuJ],ZOOS,w:::ﬁmdad\hcfnirva}mo(mvniabkndﬁxod-mudabl.momgesmdmhumpaynblewbe
approximately §5 357 bilbon using quoted market prices where available, end third party valustions ar disconnted cash flow analyses when it
was practicable w0 do so. The interest rates d in these di d cush flow analyses reflect intcrest mtes currently being offared for
lomswith;imih.rmtobonmimnf:inihraediwunlity.ﬂeﬁixvnhzofwrﬁnd—mdzh!mdmnnpg:sislffmedbyﬂu:tulﬁmnin
interest rates. A hypothetical 10.0% decrease in essumed interest rates would increase the fair vakoe of our debr by epproximately

$140.6 million. To the extent interest rates inorease, our costs of finanang would incrosse st such time s we sro required 10 refinance our debt.

As of Decamber 31, 2005, 8 bypothetical 10.0% increase in assnmed nterest rates would mcrcase our noual interest expease by spproximately
$34.2 million.
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Item TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK - Continued
+ have pot used derivative fmancial instruments for bedging or speculative purposes.

Item & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Ow Consolidated Financial Statcmrents are included i this report beginning on page F-1,

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISACREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Usder the supervision and with the participation of our managemeat, including gur Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
evatuzied the effectiveness of the design and oparation of our “disciosure comtrols and procedures™ (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Bxchange Act of 1934) as of the cod of the period covered by this repert. Based op that evabuation, our Chief Exeautive Officer end
Chief Fmencial Officer conchuded that oar disclosure comtrols and procedures were effective ax of the end of the period coverad by this

In addition, no change in o interoal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)

occurred during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 that has materially affected, o is reasonsbly likely 10 materially
affect, our rternal control over financie! reporting.

Management’s Report oo luternal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intcmal cantra! over financial reporting. Our intemal control over
financial reporting is designed te provide reasonable assurance regarding the redinbiliry of financial reparting and the preparation of fmancial
siatereents for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted sccounting principles.
Our intermal control over fmancial reporting mctudes those policies and procedhures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records thar, in reasonsble detail, mulymdfdﬂyreﬂactaumnm and dispositions of our
asselE;

(i) provide reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preperation of our fmancial statcments in
accordanoe with generally accopted secounting principhes, and that our reccipts and cxpenditures are being made only in eceordance
with authorizations of our management and our directors; and

(i) provide ressonable sssurince regarding prevention of timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our agsets that
could have a material effoct on our financisl statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not provent ar detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
eveluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorste.

Our management canducted an evakation of the effectiveness of our intemal control over finmocial urmgbucdmlhcfmmcwmkm
Internal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsaring Organizations of the Treadway Commissics. Basod on this
cvaluation, our menagement wncluded nm our internal contro! over financiel reporting was cffeotive as of December 31, 2003

Our management's assanmm o[thccﬂecuvm of owr internal eontrol over fmancial reporting 8s of December 31, 2005 bas been mudited by
KPMGLU’ an independent regigtered public sccounting finm, gs stated in their attestation report which is included herem.

Item 9B. O’I'HER INFORMATION
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Report of Independent Registered Public Acconating Firm

s Board of Durectors and Stockbolders
EchoStar Communjcations Corporation.

We have audited managemeat's assessment, mehuded m the panying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, that EchoStar Communications Corporation maintrined effective intzmal control over fonancial reporting s of December 31, 2008,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) EchoStar Communications Corporation's mamagement is responsible for maintzining effective internal
contral over finantisl reponting and for its assessment of the effectivencss of ntemas! coutol over financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to
express 68 opinion on management's assossment and an opinion on the effecuveness of the Company's interal control over financial reporting
based on our mudit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Oversight Boxrd (United States). Thoac standards
require that we plan and perfanm the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reparting was
msintaimed in s} material respects. Ouz audit inchuded obtaining an undersianding of internal contro! over financial reporting, evaluating
management's assessment, testing and cvalating the design and operating effectivaness of intemal control, and porforming such other
procedures 83 we considered necessary in the circamstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A compary's witemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
finanrial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposcs i acoordance with gencrally aocepted accounting
principles. A company's inernal control over financial reporting incindes those policies and procedures that (1) pertam to the mamtenance of
records that, m reasonable detail, sccnmtely and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasanable assuranoe that transactions are recorded as necessary 1o permit preperation of financial statemants in sccordance with
sccepled accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditares of the company are being made only in accordance with euthorizations of
management end direotors of the compeny; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unmrthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s asscts that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Becanse of its mherent limitations, internal control over financial reperting may not prevent ar detect misstatements. Also, projections of amy
evahution of effectiveness to future periods arc subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degroe of compliance with the policics or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, manageman's assessment that EchoStar Communications Corporation maintained effective interal control over financial
reparting &s of December 31, 2003, is fairly stated, in all matenal respects, based on critcris established in Internal Control—Integrated

mework issucd by the Coramilice of Sponsoriag Organizabions of the Treadwey Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, EchoStar
-ommuniczons Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
bazed on eriteris cstablished in Internal Cantrol—ntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ).

We aloo have andited, in sccordance with the standards of the Public Company Accoumting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of EchaStar Commnmucations Corporetion and subsidiarics as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the refated consolidated
ststeroents of opcrations and comprchensive mcome (foss), changes m stockholders* aquity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period coded December 31, 2005, and our repart dated March 14, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion ot those consoliduted
finanoal staicments.

KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 14, 2006

80




Table of Contents

PART I

-«em 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT )

The information required by this [tem with respect to the identity and business experience of our directors will be set forth in our Proxy
Statcment for the 2006 Anarual Meeting of Shareholders under the caption “Efection of Disectors,” which information 1s heicby incorpormed
berein by reference.

The information requured by this licm with respect to the identity and bmncsuxpemncz nfourcxaamvc officers is set forth on page 23 of

this report unda the captive“Executive Officers.” — = -

Ttew 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The informaticn required by this ltem will be sex forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annus) Mecting of Sharcholders under the caption

“Bxecutive Compengation and Other Information,” which imformation is hereby mcorparated berein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be sct forth in our Prexy Statement for the 2006 Anual Meeting of Sharcholders under the captions

“Election of Directors,” “Equity Security Ownership” nd “Equity Compensation Plan Information,” which information is hereby incorporated

berein by reference

ltem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Jiem will be set forth in oir Praxy Statemant for the 2006 Anrmual Meeting of Shercbolders uader the caption

“Cerin Relationships and Related Transactions,” which informstion is bereby incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The infocmation nqmred by this Item will be set forth in our mey Staceent for the 2006 Anmal Meeting oFShnrcholdm under the caption
“Principal Accountant Fees md Services,” which iaformetion is hercby incorporated hereim by teferenoe.

PARTIV
Jten: 1S, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents mrc filed as part of this report:
(1) Financial Stotements

Page
Report of KPMG LLP, Independem Regigiered Public Accomnting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 end 2004 F-3
‘Couschiated Statements of Operations and Comprchensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003 F4
Consclidated Smtements of Changes in Stockbolders' Equity (Deficit) for the years ended Decunbcr 31, 2003, 2004 and
2005 F-§
Cansolidared Smwements of Cash Flows for the years nded December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 6
Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements E-1

(2) Plnancial Statement Scheduies
Nonc. All schedules have been included in the Cansolidated Finencial Stateroents or Notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits

8l
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* 1e)* Amended and R d Anicles of Incorporstion of EchoStar (incarporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(a) an the Quarterly
. Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended Junc 36, 2003, Comenission Fikc No. 0-26176).

3ib)* Amended end Restated Bylews of EchoStar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) on the Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 38, 2003, Commission File No. 0-26176).

32(u)* Articles of Incorporation of EDBS (incorporiced by reference to Exhibit 3. 4(a) ta the Registration Swutement on Form S4 of
'EDBS, Regsstnation No. 333-31529).

32(b)* Bylaws of EDBS (imcorparased by reference to Exhibit 3.4(b) to the Registretion Statement on Form S-4 nf EDBS.
Registration No. 333-31929).

41¢ Registration Rights Agrecment by and between EchoStar and Charles W. Ergen (meorporatzd by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to
the Registration Statemen on Farm $-1 of EchoStar, Registration No. 33-91276)

42 [ndﬂmnt. relating to the § 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2008, dated as of May 31, 2001 between EchoStar and
us. B&nk"'nmNnmdAssaclmun,uTnm(mmomwdbymfmmﬁxhibM 1 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q of Echo3tar for the quarter ended June 30, 200, Commission File Na.0-26176).

43 Registration Rights Agreement, relsting to the § 3/4% Convertible Subordinsted Notes Due 2008, dated as of May. 31, 2001,
by and berween EchoStar and UBS Warburg LLC. (incorporutzd by refercace to Exhibit 4.2 1o tthumrzfquwnou Form
10-Q of EchoStar for the qusrter ended June 30, 2001, Commission File No.0-26176).

q.4* Indenture, rolating to the 9 3/8% Sewor Notes Due 2009, dated a3 of Decemnber 28, 200] between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustes (mcorporated by refercnce to Exhibit 4 17 to the Anmual Report oo Form 10-K of BchoStar
for the year ended December 31, 2001, Cornmission File No. 0-26176).

4.5° Registration Rights Agreement, relating to the 9 1/8% Semior Notes Due 2009, dated ns of December 28, 2001 , by and among
EDBS and Deutscbe Banc Alex. Brown, Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Lebmen Brothers Ine. and UBS
Warburg LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 18 10 the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended
December 31, 2001, Commission File No. 0-26176).

T Indenture, relating 1o EDBS 5 3/4% Sentor Notes duc 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS end U.5. Bank Trust
National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 1o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar
for the quarier ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

474 Indenture, relating to EDBS 6 3/8% Scaior Notes duc 2011, dated 23 of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, 1 Trustee (meorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Quarterty Repart on Form 10-Q of EcboStar
for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File Na.0-26176).

48° Indeature, relsting to EDBS Floating Senior Notes duc 2008, dated as of October 2, 2003, between EDBS and U.S. Bank

Trust leAmuhm,nTmnc:(inmrpomdbymfmwExhx'buljmtchuam}anpoﬂonme 10-Q of
EchoStar far the quarter ended September 3¢, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).
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10.1*
10.2¢
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0.4
10.5*
lo.6*
1o 7¢

10.8*

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 2, 2003 among EDBS and the other partics named herein (incorpareted by
reference 1o Exhibit 4.4 to the Quarterly Repart on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003,
Commission File No.0-26176).

3% Coavertible Subordinated Note dut 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Commission File No.6-26176).

First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the 9 1/8% Senior Notes Due 2009, dated a3 of December 31, 2003 betwees EDBS
and US. Bank Trum National Association, 88 Trustee (incorporated by reference Exbibit 4.12 1o the Anoual Report on
Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year endad December 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

First Supplemental [ndenture, relating to the 5 3/4% Senior Notes Due 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 between EDBS
and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Trustse (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to the Anmreal Report oo
Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended Decernber 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176). :

First Supplements] indenture, relating to the 6 3/8% Senior Notes Due 2011, dated as of December 31, 2003 betweer. EDBS
and US. Bank Trust Nationa! Associstion, as Trustee {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the Anmual Repont oo
Form 10-K of Echo5Star for the year ended December 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

First Supplemental Indenture, relating to the Floating Rate Senior Notes Duc 2008, dated as of December 31, 2003 between
EDBS and U.S. Bk Trugt National Associstion, as Truates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the Angual Repont
on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended Deceraber 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

Form of Satellite Launch [nsurance Declarations (incorporated by reference to Exkbibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement oo
Form S-} of Dish Ltd., Regastration No. 33-§1234).

Manufactering Agreement, dated as of March 22, 1995, betwoen HTS and SCT Technology, k. (incorporsted by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Strement on Form $-1 of Dish Ltd, Commission File No. 33-81234).

EchoStar 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporeied by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form S-) of
EchoStar, Registration No. 33-91276). **

Amended and Restated EchoStar 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to EchoStar’s
Definttive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated August 24, 2005). *

1995 Non-amployee Directar Stock Option Pl (mcorporstzd by reference to Exhibit 4 4 to the Registration Statement on
Form $-8 of EchoStr, Regisration No. 333-05575). **

Anended and Restated 2001 Non-employee Director Stock Option Plan {incorporated by reference Appendix B o EchoSwr’s
Definftive Proxy Statrment on Schedule 14A dated August 24, 2005. **

2002 Class B CEO Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to EchoStar's Definitive Praxy Statement on
Schedule 14A dated April 8, 2002). **

Agreament between HTS, ESC and ExpressVu Inc., dated January 8, 1997, as emended (incorporeted by reference o

Exhibit 10.18 to the Annusl Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year endad December 31, 1996, as amcoded,
Commission File No. 0-26176).

L£]
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10.16*

W17

10.18*
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10.20*

10.21

Agreement 1o Forro NagraStar L1..C., dated 23 of Junc 23, 1998, by and between Kudelski S A, EchoStar and ESC
{mcorporsted by refzrence to Exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Repont ou Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31,
1998, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Licease and OEM Manufacturing Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, between EchoStar Satellite Corporation, EchaStar
Technologies Corporation and Thoreson multimedia, Iuc. (incorporated by referancr to Exhibit 10.1 o the Quarterty Repon
on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, Commission File No. 0-26176).

Amendment No. 19 to Liczose and OEM Manufacturing Agroement, dated Juty 1, 2002, between EchoStar Satellite
Corporation, EchoSur Technologies Corporatien and Thomson multimedia, luc. (incurporated by refarence to Exbibit 10.57
10 the Amnual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the year ended Docember 31, 2602, Coramission File Na.0-26176).

Satellite Service Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2003, betworn SES Americom, inc., EchoStar Satcllitc Carporation zad
EchoSter Commumications Corporetion (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterty Repart o Form 10-Q of
EchoStar for the querter ended March 31, 2003, Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 1 to Satellite Service Agreement dated March 31, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EchoStar
(mcarporaled by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quercrly Report o Porm 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003, Commission Fike No.0-26176).

Satellite Service Agreement dated as of August 13, 2003 between SES Americom Inc. and EcboSter (incarporated by
reference to Exbibit 10.2 o the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter eaded September 30, 2003,
Commigsion File No.0-26176). . '

Satelfile Savice Agreement, dated February 19, 2004, betwetn SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar (mcarporated by reference

1o Exhibil 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Commissios File
No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 1 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated March 10, 2004, between SES Amencom, Inc. and EchoStar

(incorporatzd by reference to Exhibit 102 to the Quartecly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31,
2004, Commssxion File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 3 to Satcllite Service Agrocment, dated February 19, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(mcorporated by reforence t Exhibit 10.3 to the Quanerty Repont on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31,
2004, Commissian File No.0-26176).

Whole RF Channel Service Agrocment, dated February 4, 2004, between Telcsat Canada and EchoStar (incorporated by
wference 1o Exbibit 10 4 to the Quaricrly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2004,
Commission File No.0-26176).

Letiq Amendment to Whole RF Chanmel Service Agreement, dated March 25, 2004, betwoen Telcsat Canada and EchoStar

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Repart on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended March 31,
2004, Commission File No.0-26176). ' :

Amendment No. 2 to Satcllite Service Agreement, dated April 30, 2004, between SES Aimericom, Inc. and EchoStar

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report 0a Form 10-Q of BchoStar far the quarter ended June 30,
2004, Commuission File No.0-26176).

SwomdAmaxhncmebokRFCIunnelSa\nc:Agreunm;dnndMnyS,ZOM,bwweenTclemCaudndechcsw

(mcorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 10.2 to the Quasterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended Junc 30,
2004, Commiss:on File No.0-26}76).
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10.26¢

1027*

10.28*

1029

130+

1031

10.32¢

10.33*

1034

Third Amendment to Whele RF Chamnel Service Agreament, dated October 12, 2004, between Telesat Canada and EchoStar
(incorporaled by reference 1o Exhribit 10.22 to the Armual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the yesr ended December 31,
2004, Commiasion File No.0-26176).

Amendmen No. 4 to Satetlite Service Agreement, dated October 21, 2004, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 10.23 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EchoStar for the yesr coded December 31,
2004, Commmission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 3 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated November 19, 2004 beaween SES Americam, Inc. and EchoStar
(incarporated by refesence to Exhibit 10.24 to the Anmual Repart on Form 10-K of EchoStar far the year ended December 31,
2004, Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. § to Satellite Service Agreement, dated November 19, 2004, between SES Amencom, Inc. and BchoStar
(mcorparated by reference to Exhibil 10.25 to the Annual Report on Form 16-K of EchoStar for the year ended December 31,
2004, Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 6 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated Docember 20, 2004, besween SES Americong, Inc. and BchoStar
(incorparated by reference 1o Exhibit 1026 to the Annual Report on Form 10-X of EchoStar for the year ended December 31,
2004, Commission File No.0-26176).

Description of the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated January 26, 2003 (incorporated by refercnce to Exhibit 10.! to the
Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q of BchoStar for the quarter ended March 31, 2605, Conmission File No.0-26176). **

Description of the 2005 Cash locentive Plan dated January 22, 2008 (incorporeted by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar far the quanter ended March 31, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). **

Seulement Agreement and Release cffective February 25, 2005 between EchoSter Satellite LL.C., EchoStar DBS
Carporstics and the insurance carriers for the BehoStar IV satellite (fncarporated by reference to Exbibit 10.3 to the Quarterdy
Report on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the guarter ended March 31, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendment No. 4 to Satellite Service Agreement, dated April 6, 2005, betwees SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterty Repost on Form 10-Q of EchoStar for the quarter ended June 30,
2005, Commission File No.0-26176).

Amendoent No. 5 to Satcllite Scrvice Agreament, dated June 20, 2005, between SES Americom, Inc. and EchoStar
(incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EchnSter for the querter ended June 30,
2005, Commiss:on File No.0-26176).

lncentive Stock Option Agreemeat (Form A) (incorporated by refarcnee 10 Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission Fik No.0-26176). **

Incentive Stock Ophion Agma;umt (Ferm B) (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibir 99.2 to the Current Report on Form B-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). ™* ’

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (For A) {incorpatated by refercnce to Exhibit 9.3 to the Current Repost on Form 8-K of
EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). **
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n.35* Restricted Stock Unit Agreemeat (Form B) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the Current Report on Form 8K of
' EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commussion File No.0-26176). **
10.36* Incentive Stock Option Agreement (1999 Lorg-Term Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference o Exhibit 99.5 to the Current
Report on Furn 8-K of EchaStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). ¢
1037 Noaemployee Director Stock Option A greement (incorporated by refereace to Exhibit 99.6 to the Current Repont on Form &
X of EchoSar filed Joly 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). ** .. .
1038+ Nonqualifying Stock Option Agrecment (2005 Long-Term [ncentive Phan (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 99.7w the
Current Report on Form 8-K of EchoStar filed Juty 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-256176). **
10.39° Restricted Stock Unit A greement (2005 Long-Tenm Incentive Plan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.8 to the Current
Repert on Form 8-K of EchoStar filed July 7, 2005, Commission File No.0-26176). **
21 Subsidiaries of EchoStar Communications Carporstion.
3.1 Censent of KPMG LLP, Independeut Registered Public Accounting Firm.
4.1 Powers of Attomey authorizing signature of Michacl T. Dugan, Cantey Exrgen, Steven R Goodbarn, Gary Howard, Tom A-
Orwolf, C. Michael Sckroeder and Carl E. Vogel.
3Ll Section 302 Certification by Chairman snd Chief Executive Offica.
N2 Section 302 Cemiification by Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officar.
YAl Section 906 Certification by Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
122 Scetion 906 Certification by Executive Vice President and Chief Pinancial Officer.
Fited herewith,

*  Incorporaicd by reference.

**  Coastitules a mansgement contract or

mpcnsatory plan or arrang
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SIGNATURES
Jssusnt to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant bas duly wmedﬂ:iswpbnmbe

signed on its behaH by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 15, 2006

Puryant to the r:vquiruumls of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons oa behalf of

ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By: /s DavidJ. Reaymer

David ). Rayver

Execative Vice Presidznt and Chief Finmneial Officer -

the registrant and in the capatities and on the dates indicated.

Sigmtore Tide Dute

Iv/ Charles W. Ergen Chief Executive Officer end Chzinnan March 15, 2006

Charles W. Ergen (Principal Executive Officer)

I/ David J.. Rayner Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 15, 2006

David J. Reyner (Principal Financial and Accountmg Officer)

1s/ James DeFranco Director March 15, 2006

James DeFranco

I/ David K. Moskowitz Direstar March 15, 2006

David K. Moskowitz

¢ Director March 15, 2006
chael T. Dugan ‘

d Director March 13, 2006

Caotey Ergen

. Director March 18, 2006

QGary Howard

hd Director March 15,2006

Steven R. Goodbam

. Director March 15, 2006

Tom A_ Ostolf

. Duoector March 15, 2006

C. Michae! Schroeder

. Dwector March 15, 2006

Cad E. Vogel

* By: A/ David K Mokowiz

David K. Moskowitz
Atiorney-in-Fact
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’ REPORT OF INDEFENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

¢ Board of Directors and Swckholders
cchoStar Communications Corporation:
We have sudited the accompanying consolidated balance gheets of EchoStar Communications Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operntions and comprehensive income (logs), changes in stockholders’ equnity
(deficit), snd cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period auded Decemba 31, 2005, Thesc cansolidesed financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Omr responsibibity is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statemeants based
an our sudits. .

We conducted our audits 1o sccordance with the andevds of the Public Company Acoounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the sudit to obtain reasorable assarance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstaternerd. An audit includes cxamining, on & test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the (inancial statements. An
sudit aleo includes assesyg the accounting principks used and aignificant estimates roade by mansgement, as well as evatuating the overall
fmancia! statement presentation. We bebeve that our audits provide & reasonable basis foc our opinion.

In our opinian, the cousoliduted fmancia! smtements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EchaStar
Commumications Corporstion and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the resuks of thedr operations and their cash flow for
each of the yeam in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally acoepted sccounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness
of EchoStar Commupications Corporatian's internal control over financial reporting a3 of December 31, 2005, based o criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Commitice of Spansoring Orgeaizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our

repant dated March 14, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, intemal control

ovet finencial reporting. - .
KPMG LLP
Daver, Colorado
March 14, 2006 !
F-2
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: ECHOSTAR COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)
As of Decrasber 31
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Accumulaicd other comprebansive mcom:{lou) . 53,418
?mnnula::;:nmmsx(ddﬁm) T A L & - (3334,937) - . R,904,477)
reasury stock, at cost _ 038319 (1,000,00)
otal stockholders® equity (deficy) | o STk {866.624) - i (207R,212)
Total lisbilities snd sloch:oldcrs‘ equty (dcfx:l) $ 7,410,210 $ 6029277
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The accompanying notes arc an integral part of these cansolidated financial statemens.

F3




